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The information contained in this Offering Memorandum is intended only for the persons to whom it is transmitted for the purposes of evaluating the securities offered hereby.  
Prospective investors should only rely on the information in this Offering Memorandum.  No persons are authorized to give any information or make any representations in 
respect of the Issuers or the securities offered herein and any such information or representation must not be relied upon. 

 
OFFERING MEMORANDUM 

 
No securities regulatory authority has assessed the merits of these securities or reviewed this Offering Memorandum.  Any representation to the 
contrary is an offence.  The information disclosed on this page is a summary only.  Purchasers should read the entire Offering Memorandum for 
full details about the Offering.  This is a risky investment.  See Item 10 “Risk Factors”. 

Date: February 28, 2017 

Issuers: WestStone (Innovation) Trust (the “Trust”) 
WestStone (Innovation) Limited Partnership (the “Partnership”) 
(each an “Issuer” and collectively the “Issuers”) 

Head Office: 300 – 10090 152nd Street, Surrey, BC  V3R 8X8 
Tel: 604-498-1958   Fax: 604-498-1959 
Email:   info@innovationbyweststone.com 

Currently Listed or Quoted: No. These securities do not trade on any exchange or market. 

Reporting Issuer: No 

SEDAR Filer: No 

THE OFFERINGS: 

Securities Offered: Units of the Trust ("Trust Units") and Units of the Partnership ("LP Units"), each, a “Unit” and 
together, the “Units”) having the attributes and characteristics as set out in "Item 7 – Description of 
Units". 

Price Per Security: $1.00 per Unit.  

Minimum/Maximum Offering: $0 (0 Units) / $28,588,000 (28,588,000 Units). The Issuers have already received aggregate gross 
proceeds under the Offerings of $6,412,000, so the Issuers intend to raise total aggregate gross 
proceeds (including funds raised to date) totalling $35,000,000. Accordingly, there is no minimum 
amount for the current Offering, you could be the only purchaser in the current Offering. – 
Funds available under this Offering may not be sufficient to accomplish our proposed objectives. 

Minimum Subscription Amount: $500, unless waived. 

Payment Terms: Personal cheque, certified cheque, bank draft, wire transfer or electronic funds transfer.  All dollar 
amounts in this Offering Memorandum are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated. See 
"Item 7—Description of Units - Subscription Procedure". 

Closing Date(s): The Offerings shall be completed in multiple tranches and the closings (the “Closings”) of such 
tranches may occur from time to time and at any time on such dates as each of the Trustee and General 
Partner determines provided that the final Closing will occur no later than March 31, 2018.  If certain 
conditions have not been satisfied or waived on or before the date selected by the Trustee (in respect of 
Trust Units) and the General Partner (in respect of LP Units), in their respective sole discretion in 
respect of a Closing, subscriptions and subscription funds will be returned to subscribers without 
interest or deduction. 

Purpose: The Partnership has acquired a 21.74% interest in a 5.1 acre real estate development property located 
at 9525 King George Boulevard, Surrey, British Columbia described herein as the "Property" and 
intends to acquire additional such interests (see Item 2 "Material Agreements—Earn-In Agreement").  
The activities of the Trust are limited to investing in the Partnership.  Investors that desire to invest 
through an RRSP, RESP, RDSP, RRIF, TFSA or other Deferred Plans will be required to invest in the 
Trust (which will in turn invest in the Partnership), whereas investors who are Canadian residents that 
do not need to invest through Deferred Plans may prefer to invest directly into the Partnership. The 
Trust may accept up to 45% of its investment from "offshore investors" who are non-residents of 
Canada. See "Item 8 – Canadian Federal Income Tax Consequences and RRSP Eligibility". 

Tax Consequences: There are important tax consequences relating to the ownership of these securities.  All investors will 
be responsible for the preparation and filing of their own tax returns in respect of this investment.  See 
"Item 8 – Canadian Federal Income Tax Consequences and RRSP Eligibility". 

Selling Agents: Yes. The Issuers intend to retain Selling Agents, including Capital Street Group Investment Services 
Inc. as the exclusive lead Selling Agent with its designated registered dealers, as the case may be, to 
sell Trust Units and LP Units.  The Issuers may pay Selling Commissions (inclusive of Trailer Fees) in 
an amount of up to 10% of the Gross Proceeds of the Offerings for Trust Units and LP Units sold by 
the Selling Agents.  The Issuers may also pay up to a further Administration Fee of up to 3% and a 
Marketing Fee of up to 3%.  See "Item 9—Compensation Paid to Sellers and Finders". 

Resale Restrictions: You will be restricted from selling your Trust Units and LP Units for an indefinite period.  There 
will be no market for the Trust Units or LP Units.  See "Item 12—Resale Restrictions". 

Purchasers' Rights: You have two Business Days to cancel your agreement to purchase the Trust Units or the LP 
Units.  If there is a misrepresentation in this Offering Memorandum, you have the right to sue 
either for damages or to cancel your agreement.  See "Item 13—Purchasers' Rights". 

Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined above have the meanings ascribed to them under "Glossary of Terms" in this confidential Offering 
Memorandum.  All dollar amounts in this Offering Memorandum are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated. 
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

Certain information regarding the Issuers set forth in this Offering Memorandum, including the Issuers’ future plans 
and business, contains forward-looking statements that involve substantial known and unknown risks and 
uncertainties. The use of any of the words “anticipate”, “believe”, “continue”, “estimate”, “expect”, “intend”, 
“plan”, “potential”, “predict”, “project”, “seek” or other similar words, or statements that certain events or 
conditions “may”, “might”, “could”, “should” or “will” occur are intended to identify forward looking statements.  
Such statements represent the Issuers’ internal projections, estimates or beliefs concerning, among other things, 
future growth, results of operations, business opportunities, future expenditures, plans for and results of business 
prospects and opportunities.  These statements are only predictions and actual events or results may differ 
materially.  Although that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, future results, 
levels of activity, performance or achievement cannot be guaranteed since such expectations are inherently subject 
to significant business, economic, competitive, political and social uncertainties and contingencies. Many factors 
could cause the Issuers’ actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied in any forward-looking 
statements made by, or on behalf of, the Issuers. 

Forward-looking statements included in this Offering Memorandum include, but are not limited to, statements with 
respect to: use of proceeds of the Offering; the business to be conducted by the Issuers; the ability to make and the 
timing and payment of distributions; payment of fees; the Issuers’ business objectives; treatment under 
governmental regulatory regimes and tax laws; financial and business prospects and financial outlook; and timing of 
dissolution of the Issuers; possibility of extension of the dissolution date of the Issuers; results of operations, the 
timing thereof and the methods of funding. 

These forward-looking statements are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, including but not limited to the 
risks discussed under “Item 10 - Risk Factors” and other factors, many of which are beyond the control of the 
Issuers. Readers are cautioned that the foregoing list of factors is not exhaustive. 

The forward-looking statements contained in this Offering Memorandum are based on a number of assumptions, 
including those relating to: the Issuers’ business strategy and operations; the ability of the Issuers to achieve or 
continue to achieve their business objectives; the Issuers’ expected financial performance, condition and ability to 
generate distributions; the Partnership, including its business strategy, operations, financial performance, condition 
and ability to generate distributions; factors and outcomes associated with the real estate sector in Surrey, British 
Columbia, including competition and competitive conditions; concentration in a single industry (being real estate 
development of the Project in Surrey, British Columbia); possibility of substantial redemptions of securities; 
taxation of the Issuers; the impact on the Issuers of future changes in applicable legislation; application of legislation 
and regulations applicable to the Issuers; and availability of and dependence upon certain key employees of the 
General Partner. 

Although the forward-looking statements contained in this Offering Memorandum are based upon assumptions 
believed to be reasonable, the Issuers cannot assure investors that actual results will be consistent with these 
forward-looking statements. 

The Issuers have included the above summary of risks related to forward-looking information provided in this 
Offering Memorandum in order to provide investors with a more complete perspective on the Issuers’ current and 
future operations and such information may not be appropriate for other purposes. The Issuers’ actual results, 
performance or achievement could differ materially from those expressed in, or implied by, these forward-looking 
statements and, accordingly, no assurance can be given that any of the events anticipated by the forward-looking 
statements will transpire or occur, or if any of them do so, what benefits the Issuers will derive therefrom. These 
forward-looking statements are made as of the date of this Offering Memorandum and the Issuers disclaim any 
intent or obligation to update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events 
or results or otherwise, other than as required by applicable laws. 
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 

Any documents of the type referred to in National Instrument 45-106 – Prospectus Exemptions to be incorporated by 
reference in an Offering Memorandum, including any marketing materials that are effective after the date of this 
Offering Memorandum and before the termination of the Offerings, are deemed to be incorporated by reference in 
this Offering Memorandum.  Copies of the documents incorporated herein by reference may be obtained on request 
without charge from the Issuers at their registered office at Suite 700 ‑ 595 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British 
Columbia, V7X 1S8. 

Any statement contained in this Offering Memorandum or in a document incorporated or deemed to be 
incorporated by reference herein is deemed to be modified or superseded for the purposes of this Offering 
Memorandum to the extent that a statement contained herein or in any other subsequently filed document 
which also is, or is deemed to be, incorporated by reference herein, modifies or supersedes such statement. 
The modifying or superseding statement need not state that it has modified or superseded a prior statement 
or include any other information set forth in the document that it modifies or supersedes. The making of a 
modifying or superseding statement is not deemed an admission for any purposes that the modified or 
superseded statement, when made, constituted a misrepresentation, an untrue statement of a material fact or 
an omission to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to make a statement not 
misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made. Any statement so modified or superseded is not 
deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of this Offering Memorandum. 

Information contained or otherwise accessed through the Issuers’ website or any website does not form part of this 
Offering Memorandum or the Offerings. 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

The following terms have the following meaning throughout this Offering Memorandum: 

"1027110" means 1027110 B.C. Ltd., a British Columbia corporation, affiliated with the WestStone Group, that 
holds the beneficial ownership of the Innovation Property, subject to the rights of the Fund to purchase up to a 100% 
beneficial interest in the Innovation Property pursuant to the Earn-in Agreement; 

"Administration Fee" means the fee of up to 3% of the Gross Proceeds raised in the Offerings payable by the Trust 
and the Partnership for administrative services in respect of the Offerings provided by arm’s length third parties as 
may be engaged by the General Partner; 

"Affiliate" has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 1 of the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia); 

"Aggregate Contributed Capital" means, with respect to the Partnership, the sum of the Capital Contributions of 
all of the Limited Partners, and with respect to the Trust the sum of the Capital Contributions of all of holders of 
Trust Units; 

"Applicable Laws" means all applicable provisions of law, domestic or foreign, including the Securities Act; 

"Approvals" means any directive, order, consent, exemption, waiver, consent order or decree of or from, or notice 
to, action by or filing with, any Governmental Authority; 

"associate" has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Securities Act; 

"Auditors" means Smythe LLP, or such other firm of chartered professional accountants as may be appointed as 
auditor or auditors of the Issuers from time to time; 

"Available Funds" means, at any time, such amounts as indicated in row D of the table under "Item 1.1 - Use of 
Available Funds"; 

"Bare Trust Agreement" means the Amended and Restated Declaration of Bare Trust Agreement dated January 
30, 2017 among 1027110, the Partnership and the Registered Owners wherein the Registered Owners agree to hold 
the Property beneficially in trust for 1027110 and the Partnership in accordance with their respective percentage 
beneficial ownership interests in the Property; 
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"BCA" means the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia), as amended from time to time; 

"BKR" means BKR Construction Ltd., a private company existing under the laws of British Columbia which is part 
of the WestStone Group and is responsible for the services provided under the Pre-Development Agreement to 
undertake the design and development of the Innovation Project; 

"Business Day" means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or statutory holiday in the Province of British 
Columbia; 

"Cash Flow of the Trust" means the cash flow of the Trust calculated in accordance with the Declaration of Trust 
and means the amount so calculated; 

"Closing" means a closing of the Offering; 

"CRA" means the Canada Revenue Agency; 

"Capital Contributions" means, with respect to each Limited Partner (including the Initial Limited Partner), the 
aggregate Subscription Price in respect of all of the Units held by such Limited Partner, and with respect to each 
holder of Trust Units, the aggregate Subscription Price in respect of all of the Trust Units held by such holder; 

"Capital Street" means Capital Street Group Investment Services Inc., a registered exempt market dealer and a 
Selling Agent for this Offering; 

"Carried Interest" means the incentive remuneration paid (or to be paid) to the General Partner pursuant to the 
Partnership Agreement.  See Item 5 “Securities Offered –Terms of Securities”; 

"Co-Investment Option" means the option of the General Partner to subscribe for an amount of Units equal to up 
to 10% of the outstanding Units of the Partnership each closing in addition to the initial purchase of LP Units by the 
General Partner; 

"Co-Owners" has the meaning given to that term under "Item 4 Material Agreements – Co-Ownership 
Agreement"; 

"Co-Ownership Agreement" means the agreement dated January 29, 2016 between the General Partner, for and on 
behalf of the Partnership, and the other Co-Owners, governing the relationship of the parties as it relates to holding 
the Property and the development, sale and leasing of the Property, substantially as described in "Item 4 Material 
Agreements – Co-Ownership Agreement"; 

"Declaration of Trust" means the Declaration of Trust dated as of January 31, 2016 between the Trustee and 
1027110 as the initial Trust Unit holder, and all persons who thereafter become holders of Trust Units, governing 
the business and affairs of the Trust, and as may be amended, supplemented or restated from time to time, a copy of 
which is available for examination at the registered office of the Issuers at Suite 700 – 595 Burrard Street, 
Vancouver, British Columbia, V7X 1S8; 

"Deferred Plan" means a trust governed by a registered retirement savings plan, registered retirement income fund, 
registered education savings plan, registered disabilities savings plan, or tax-free savings account; 

"discretion" means sole, absolute, and unfettered discretion; 

"Distributable Cash" means, with respect to a particular period, the amount by which the Partnership's cash on 
hand or to be received in respect of that period (excluding any proceeds from any Financing) exceeds; 

(a) unpaid administrative expenses of the Partnership, including any unpaid amounts with respect to the 
Management Fee; 

(b) amounts required for the business and operations of the Partnership, including operating expenses and 
capital expenses; 

(c) amounts required in order to meet all debts, liabilities and obligations in respect of any Financing, 
including any reserves to ensure compliance with agreements or obligations of the Partnership; and 
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(d) any amounts by which the General Partner, in its discretion, determines is necessary to satisfy the 
Partnership's current and anticipated requirements of the Partnership and its commitments and anticipated 
commitments, debts, liabilities and obligations, and to comply with applicable laws; 

"Distribution Payment Date" means, in respect of a Distribution Period, on the tenth business day immediately 
following the end of the Distribution Period or such other date determined from time to time by the Trustee, in the 
case of the Trust, or the General Partner, in the case of the Partnership; 

"Distribution Period" means each semi-annual period ending on June 30 and December 31, or such other periods 
as may be determined from time to time by the Trustee, in the case of the Trust, or the General Partner, in the case of 
the Partnership, from and including the first day thereof and to and including the last day thereof; 

"Distribution Record Date" means the last Business Day of each Distribution Period, or such other date 
determined from time to time y the Trustee, in the case of the Trust, or the General Partner, in the case of the 
Partnership; 

"Earn-in Agreement" means the option to purchase and earn-in agreement dated January 29, 2016 and amended 
January 3, 2017 as among the General Partner, in its capacity as general partner of the Partnership, the Registered 
Owners, and 1027110, pursuant to which the Partnership has the option to acquire up to a 100% beneficial interest in 
the Property; 

"EMD" means a person or company registered as an exempt market dealer pursuant to NI 31-103; 

"Final Closing date" means the earlier of March 31, 2018 and the date on which the Partnership acquires 100% 
beneficial ownership of the Property; 

"Financing" means any credit facility granted or extended to or for the benefit of, or investment by way of debt in, 
the Partnership, whereby or pursuant to which money, credit or other financial accommodation has been or may be 
provided, made available or extended to the Partnership by way of borrowed money, the purchase of debt 
instruments or securities, bankers acceptances, letters of credit, overdraft or other forms of credit and financial 
accommodation, and includes any and all trust deeds, indentures, mortgages, bonds, or debentures (whether issued 
and delivered as security or sold to a purchaser), security agreements and other deeds, instruments or documents in 
respect thereof; 

"First Mortgage" means the first mortgage on title of the Property funded by Timber Creek Servicing Ltd. and 
registered under charge number CA4259156 in favour of Computershare Trust Company of Canada, which secures 
the principal amount of $7,500,000; 

"Fiscal Period" means: 

(a) in the case of the first “Fiscal Period”, the period commencing on the date of formation of an Issuer and 
ending on January 31, 2016; and 

(b) thereafter, each Fiscal Period shall commence on January 1 and end on December 31 of each calendar year 
or such other date as determined, with respect to the Partnership by the General Partner, and with respect to 
the Trust by the Trustee; 

"Funding Agreement" means the agreement entered into between the Trust and the Partnership dated January 31, 
2016, which provides that the Partnership will pay all costs, fees, Selling Commissions and expenses incurred by the 
Trust in connection with the Trust Offering; 

"General Partner" means WestStone (Innovation) GP Ltd., a British Columbia corporation, in its capacity as and 
for so long as it remains general partner of the Fund, and any successor or permitted assignee thereof.  See "Item 4 
Material Agreements – Partnership Agreement"; 

"General Partner Fees" means the Management Fee and the Carried Interest remuneration of the General Partner; 
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"Governmental Authority" means (i) any nation, province, territory, state, county, city or other jurisdiction; (ii) 
any federal, provincial, territorial, state, local, municipal, foreign or other government; (iii) any governmental or 
quasi-governmental authority of any nature (including any agency, branch, department, board, commission, court, 
tribunal, or other entity exercising governmental or quasi-governmental power); (iv) anybody exercising, or entitled 
or purporting to exercise, any administrative, executive, judicial, legislative, regulatory or taxing authority or power; 
or (v) any official of the foregoing; 

"Gross Proceeds" means, at any time, the aggregate gross proceeds of the Trust Offering or the Partnership 
Offering, as applicable; 

"GST" means any applicable Canadian federal or provincial goods and services tax or harmonized sales tax; 

"include", "including" and "includes" means "include, without limitation", "including, without limitation", amd 
"includes, without limitation", respectively; 

"Income of the Trust" for any taxation year of the Trust, means the net income for the year determined pursuant to 
the provisions of the Tax Act (other than subsection 104(6) and paragraph 82(1)(b)) having regard to the provisions 
thereof, which relate to the calculation of the income of a trust, and taking into account such adjustments thereto as 
are determined by the Trustee in respect of dividends received from taxable Canadian corporations, amounts paid or 
payable by the Trust to Trust Unit holders and such other amounts as may be determined in the discretion of the 
Trustee; provided, however, that capital gains and capital losses shall be excluded from the computation of net 
income; 

"Initial Trust Unit" means the one Trust Unit issued to 1027110 upon settlement of the Trust; 

"Insider of the Trust" means a person who would be an "insider of the Trust" as defined in Regulation 4803(1) of 
the Tax Act if the references to "corporation" were read as references to the Trust; 

"Issuers" means, collectively, the Trust and the Partnership; 

"Limited Partner" means any person who is admitted to the Partnership as a limited partner for so long as they are 
a registered holder of at least one LP Unit; 

"LP Unit" means a limited partnership unit representing a beneficial interest in the Partnership issued from time to 
time in accordance with the Partnership Agreement and having the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions as 
set out in the Partnership Agreement; 

"LP Unit Redemption Price" has the meaning ascribed thereto under "Item 4.2—Partnership Agreement"; 

"Management Fee" means the fee payable to the General partner each month, equal to one-twelfth (1/12) of one 
and eight-tenths (1.8%) percent of the Aggregate Contributed Capital (see "Item 4.2—Partnership Agreement"); 

"Marketing Fee" means the fee, up to a maximum of 3% of the Gross Proceeds raised in the Offerings payable by 
the Trust and the Partnership for marketing services in respect of the Offerings to marketing agents; 

"Maximum Offering" means the maximum current offering of Trust Units and LP Units for total aggregate Gross 
Proceeds (other than as payable from the Trust to the Partnership for the Partnership's purchase of LP Units) of up to 
$28,588,000 that is in addition to prior offerings totalling $6,412,000, which together totals an aggregate in the 
amount of $35,000,000; 

“Net Capital Contribution” means the net proceeds raised by the Trust or Partnership under the respective Trust 
Offering or Partnership Offering in respect of a Unit being redeemed by a Trust Unitholder or Limited partner, as 
the case may be, being the Gross Proceeds from the issuance of such Unit less the Selling Commissions and 
Offering Costs paid on or attributable to such Unit; 

"Net Operating Income" means the Partnership's operating income, for the preceding Fiscal Year, after credit 
losses and operating expenses (including management, legal, accounting, insurance, repairs, maintenance, supplies, 
utilities, and property taxes) are deducted, but before amortization of any loan payment, income taxes, capital 
expenditures, principal and interest, or depreciation are deducted; 

"Net Realized Capital Gains" of the Trust for any taxation year of the Trust shall be determined as the amount, if 
any, by which the aggregate of the capital gains of the Trust for the year exceeds: 
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(a) the aggregate of the capital losses of the Trust for the year; 

(b) any capital gains which are realized by the Trust as a result of a redemption of Trust Units; and 

(c) the amount determined by the Trustee in respect of any net capital losses for prior taxation years which the 
Trust is permitted by the Tax Act to deduct in computing the taxable income of the Trust for the year; 

"NI 31-103" means National Instrument 31-104 – Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant 
Obligations; 

"NI 45-106" means National Instrument 45-106 – Prospectus and Registration Exemptions; 

"Non-Registered Unitholder" means beneficial holders of Trust Units or LP Units who hold such Units through an 
intermediary, such as a financial institution, broker, or nominee; 

"Non-Resident" means a Person who is not a resident of Canada and a partnership that is not a Canadian 
partnership for the purposes of the Tax Act; 

"Offerings" means, collectively, the Trust Offering and the Partnership Offering; 

"Offering Costs" means and fees, costs and expenses incurred by or on behalf of the Trust or the Partnership, as the 
case may be, in connection with the Offerings and sale of Units from time to time, including legal, accounting, audit, 
printing, filing, Transfer Agent and other costs and fees associated with the Offerings, including the preparation of 
an offering memorandum; 

"Offering Memorandum" means this offering memorandum of the Issuers as the same may be amended, 
supplemented or replaced from time to time; 

"Partners" means the General Partner and all Limited Partners, and “Partner” means any one of the Partners; 

"Partnership" means the WestStone (Innovation) Limited Partnership, a limited partnership established under the 
laws of the Province of British Columbia, or any successor or permitted assignee thereof; 

"Partnership Act" means the Partnership Act (British Columbia), as amended and in force from time to time; 

"Partnership Agreement" means the limited partnership agreement dated January 29, 2016, respecting the 
Partnership, between the General Partner, 1027110 as the initial Limited Partner, and any Person who subsequently 
becomes a Limited Partner pursuant to the terms thereof, as may be amended, supplemented or restated from time to 
time, a copy of which is available at the registered offices of the Issuers at Suite 700 – 595 Burrard Street, 
Vancouver, British Columbia, V7X 1S8; 

"Partnership Offering" means the private placement of LP Units by the Partnership under this Offering 
Memorandum; 

"Permitted Investments" means all property, assets and rights which may be held from time to time by a "mutual 
fund trust" under the provisions of subsection 132(6) of the Tax Act, including without limitation: 

(a) the initial contribution made to the Trust by the initial Trust Unitholder; 

(b) all funds realized from the sale of Trust Units; 

(c) securities in the capital of the corporations and interests in limited partnerships or trusts, including without 
limitation, the Partnership; 

(d) debt or debt instruments issued by any issuer; 

(e) rights in and to any real property, provided that it is capital property; 

(f) any proceeds of disposition of any of the foregoing property; and 

(g) all income, interest, profit, gains and accretions and additional rights arising from or accruing to such 
foregoing property or such proceeds of disposition; 
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"Person" means any individual, company, corporation, limited partnership, general partnership, firm, joint venture, 
syndicate, trust, joint stock company, limited liability company, association, bank, pension fund, business trust, or 
other organization, whether or not a legal entity, and any governmental agency or political subdivision thereof or 
any other form of entity or organization; 

"Pre-Development Agreement" means an agreement signed between BKR and the Registered Owners and 
1027110 where BKR is providing all of the development and consulting services for the Innovation Project in 
exchange for a fee; 

"Preferred Return" means, in respect of a Unit, a return equal to 9% per annum, non-compounded, on the Capital 
Contribution of a Limited Partner from the date of contribution (see "Item 7 – Description of Units"); 

"Principals" means the principals of the General Partner being Brian Regehr, David Siebenga and Robert 
Dominick, or their replacements from time to time and “Principal” means any one of them; 

"Promoters" means 1008184 BC Ltd., the Trustee of the Trust, and the General Partner and 1027110, being the 
entities that took the initiative in founding and organizing the Partnership; 

"Property" means: 

(a) the approximately 5.1 acre real estate development lands situated at 9525 King George Boulevard, Surrey, 
British Columbia, and currently legally described as: 

Parcel identifier: 011-069-236 

Parcel "F" (Reference Plan 15821), Lot 2 Except: Part on Highway Statutory Right of Way Plan 62493; 
Section 32, Township 2, New Westminster District Plan 4312, 

as such lands and premises may be subdivided, consolidated, or stratified from time to time, together with 
all buildings, fixtures and improvements thereon, and all rights and benefits appurtenant thereto; and 

(b) any lands or interest therein acquired from time to time by the Partnership in connection with the 
development of the Property; 

"Proportionate Interest" of any amount at any time, means a fraction equal to the number of LP Units of which a 
Limited Partner is the registered holder at that time, divided by the total number of issued and outstanding LP Units 
at that time; 

"Proposed Amendments" means all specific proposals to amend the Tax Act that have been publicly announced 
by or on behalf of the Minister of Finance (Canada) prior to the date hereof; 

"pro rata share" of any particular amount in respect of a Trust Unitholder at any time shall be the product obtained 
by multiplying the number of Trust Units that are outstanding and owned by that Trust Unitholder at such time by 
the amount obtained when the particular amount is divided by the total number of all Trust Units that are issued and 
outstanding at that time; 

"Qualified Person" means a person in respect of whom, if such person were to become a Limited Partner, the 
representations of such person contained in the Partnership Agreement would be true; 

"Redemption Date" means the last Business day of any calendar quarter end upon which a Unit is redeemable; 

"Redemption Notes" means the promissory notes issued by an Issuer to Trust Unitholders or Limited Partners as 
payment for the Redemption Price for the Trust Units or LP Units in the circumstances where Trust Units or LP 
Units are not redeemed for cash; and such Redemption Notes shall be subject to the following terms and conditions: 

(a) unsecured and bearing interest from and including the issue date of each such note at a market rate 
determined at the time of issuance by the Trustee or General partners, as the case may be, based on the 
advice of an independent financial advisor, and payable annually in arrears; 

(b) subordinated and postponed to all senior indebtedness and which may be subject to specific subordination 
and postponement agreements to be entered into by the Issuer pursuant to the note indenture with holders of 
senior indebtedness; 
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(c) ranking pari passu with all unsecured indebtedness of the Issuer; 

(d) subject to earlier prepayment, being due and payable on or prior to four years after January 31, 2016; and 

(e) subject to such other standard terms and conditions as would be included in a note indenture for promissory 
notes of this kind, as may be approved by the Trustee or General Partner, as applicable. 

"Redemption Price" means the amount payable pursuant to a redemption of Unit(s) by an Issuer to a holder of 
Unit(s) equal to the lesser of: 

(a) 95% of the Net Capital Contribution of such Unit(s), until December 31 of the year in which the Final 
Closing takes place; 

(b) 97.5% of the Net Capital Contribution of such Unit(s), until December 31 in the year following the year in 
which the Final Closing takes place; and 

(c) 100% thereafter, 

less a redemption fee of $200; 

"Regehr Parties" means the General partner, any Affiliates and subcontractors of the General partner, BKR, 
1027110, and any directors, officers, employees and individual shareholders of the foregoing, and "Regehr Party" 
means any one of them; 

"Registered Owners" means collectively, WKGD One, WKGD Two and WKGD Three, who together are 
registered to title as the legal owners of the Property; 

"Second Mortgage" means the second mortgage registered on title of the Property under charge number CA308566 
in favour of 1027110, which secures the principal amount of $8,500,000; 

"Securities Act" means the Securities Act (British Columbia), as amended from time to time, together with all 
regulations, rules, policy statements, rulings, notices, orders or other instruments promulgated thereunder; 

"Selling Agent" means any person, entity or firm retained by any of the Issuers to promote the sale of Units by way 
of private placement or otherwise; 

"Selling Commissions" means the commissions of up to 10% (inclusive of the Trailer Fees) of the Gross Proceeds 
from the sale of the Trust Units or LP Units pursuant to the Offerings payable to the parties who sell the Trust Units 
and/or LP Units (as applicable), and who are entitled to receive such commissions under applicable securities laws 
(see "Item 9 – Compensation Paid to Sellers and Finders"); 

"Special Resolution" means: 

(a) in respect of the Trust: 
(i) a resolution passed by the affirmative votes of such number of the Trust Unitholders entitled to vote on the 
resolution, attending in person or by proxy, holding in the aggregate not less than 66-2/3% of the Trust Units of 
such Trust Unitholders, at a duly convened meeting of the Trust Unitholders or any adjournment thereof; or 
(ii) a written resolution signed in one or more counterparts by Trust Unitholders (or their lawful attorney) 
holding, in the aggregate, not less than 66-2/3% of the Trust Units then outstanding, notice of which has been 
given to all Trust Unitholders; 

(b) in respect of the Partnership: 
(i) a resolution passed by the affirmative votes of such number of the Partners entitled to vote on the resolution, 
attending in person or by proxy, holding in the aggregate not less than 75% of the Units of such Partners, at a 
duly convened meeting of the Partners or any adjournment thereof; or 
(ii) a written resolution signed in one or more counterparts by Partners (or their lawful attorney) holding, in the 
aggregate, not less than 75% of the Units then outstanding, notice of which has been given to all Partners; 

"Subscription Agreement" means a subscription agreement to be executed and delivered by each investor 
providing for the purchase by such investor of Trust Units or LP Units (as elected by the investor), in the form 
attached hereto as Schedule "A"; 
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"Subscription Price" means the amount of $1.00 per Unit to be contributed to the capital of the Trust or the 
Partnership, as the case may be, as consideration for the issuance of that Unit; 

"subsidiary" has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Securities Act; 

"Tax Act" means the Income Tax Act (Canada) and the regulations made thereunder, as amended from time to 
time; 

"Trailer Fee" means a fee (included in the 10% Selling Commissions) realized on the sale of Trust Units or LP 
Units by the EMD, dealer or dealing representative for Trust Units or LP Units outstanding after the second year of 
such Unit holder's subscription payable by the Trust or the Partnership (as applicable) to such dealer; 

"Transfer Agent" means such Person(s) as may from time to time be appointed by the Trust to act as registrar and 
transfer agent of the Trust Units and by the Partnership to act as registrar and transfer agent of the LP Units, together 
with any sub-transfer agent duly appointed by the Transfer Agent, who is currently Boughton Law Corporation, a 
law firm located at Suite 700 – 595 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V7X 1S8; 

"Trust" means the WestStone (Innovation) Trust, a trust constituted by the Declaration of Trust, as the same may 
be amended, supplemented or restated from time to time; 

"Trust Offering" means the private placement of Trust Units by the Trust under this Offering Memorandum; 

"Trust Property", at any time, shall mean the Permitted Investments that are at such time held by the Trustee for 
the benefit of the Trust Unitholders and for the purposes of the Trust under the Declaration of Trust; 

"Trust Unit" means a Class "A" unit of the Trust, which represents an interest in the Trust, as provided for in the 
Declaration of Trust, and has the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions set forth in the Declaration of Trust, 
and shall not include fractional Trust Units (see "Item 7 – Description of Units"); 

"Trust Unitholders" means, at any time, the Persons who are holders of record at that time of one or more Trust 
Units, as shown on the registers of such holders maintained by the Transfer Agent on behalf of the Trust; 

"Trust Unit Redemption Price" has the meaning ascribed thereto under "Item 4.1—Declaration of Trust"; 

"Trustee" means the trustee of the Trust at that time, so long as such Person remains as trustee, which is currently 
1008184 B.C. Ltd.; 

"Unanimous Resolution" means: 

(a) in respect of the Trust: 
(i) a resolution passed by the affirmative votes of such number of the Trust Unitholders entitled to vote on the 
resolution, attending in person or by proxy, holding in the aggregate not less than 100% of the Trust Units of 
such Trust Unitholders, at a duly convened meeting of the Trust Unitholders or any adjournment thereof; or 
(ii) a written resolution signed in one or more counterparts by Trust Unitholders (or their lawful attorney) 
holding, in the aggregate, not less than 100% of the Trust Units then outstanding, notice of which has been 
given to all Trust Unitholders; 

(b) in respect of the Partnership: 
(i) a resolution passed by the affirmative votes of such number of the Partners entitled to vote on the resolution, 
attending in person or by proxy, holding in the aggregate not less than 100% of the Units of such Partners, at a 
duly convened meeting of the Partners or any adjournment thereof; or 
(ii) a written resolution signed in one or more counterparts by Partners (or their lawful attorney) holding, in the 
aggregate, not less than 75% of the Units then outstanding, notice of which has been given to all Partners; 

"Unit" means a Trust Unit or a LP Unit, and “Units” means Trust Units and/or LP Units; 

"Unit Certificate" means a certificate evidencing one or more Trust Units or LP Units (as applicable), issued and 
certified in accordance with the provisions of the Declaration of Trust or the Partnership Agreement, as applicable;  
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"WestStone Group" means the WestStone Group of companies, which includes, among other entities, for purposes 
of this Offering Memorandum, the General Partner, BKR, 1027110 and the Registered Owners entities, as more 
particularly described under "Item 2 Business of the Fund – Structure"; 

"WKGD One" means WestStone One King George Developments Ltd.; 

"WKGD Two" means WestStone Two King George Developments Ltd.;  

"WKGD Three" means WestStone Three King George Developments Ltd.; and 

"$" means Canadian dollars. 
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ITEM 1: USE OF AVAILABLE FUNDS 

1.1 Funds 
  Assuming 

Maximum 
Offering 

A. Amount to be Raised by the Offerings(1) $28,588,000 

B. Selling Commissions and Fees(2) $4,574,080 

C. Estimated Offering Costs(3) $185,000 

D. Available Funds (D = A – (B + C) $23,828,920 

E. Additional sources of funding required See Note 4 

F. Working capital deficiency (surplus)(5) ($798,701) 

G. Total: G = (D+E) – F $24,627,621 
(1) As of February 28, 2017, the Issuers have raised aggregate gross proceeds of $6,412,000 under prior offerings of Units by the Issuers. So, 

assuming the Issuers complete the $28,588,000 Maximum Offering, the Issuers will have raised total aggregate gross proceeds of 
$35,000,000. 

(2) The Units will be offered for sale by Capital Street and such other registered dealers as may be appointed from time to time, which agents 
for the Issuers will be paid the Selling Commissions.  The maximum commission payable to such agents will be an up to 10% Selling 
Commission of the Gross Proceeds of the Units sold by such agents (which includes the Trailer Fees), up to 3% Marketing Fee and up to 
3% Administrative Fee.  See “Item 9 - Compensation paid to Sellers and Finders”.   

(3) All expenses, fees and Selling Commissions related to the Offering will be borne by the Partnership pursuant to the terms of the Funding 
Agreement. The estimated costs of the Offerings disclosed above are the aggregate of the costs estimated to be associated with the Trust 
Offering and the Partnership Offering. 

(4) Upon the acquisition of a beneficial interest in the Property the Partnership will engage such professionals or consultants necessary to 
commence development of development of the Property with the WestStone Group (see “Item 2.2 - Our Business”).  The Partnership may 
require additional Financing to participate in the development of the Property (see “Item 2.6 - Insufficient Funds”) and the amount of 
additional funding required will depend on numerous factors and future conditions including the Gross Proceeds raised by the Offerings. 

(5) As of February 28, 2017, the Trust and the Partnership did not have a working capital deficiency, but had positive working capital of 
$740,741. The current assets less current liabilities plus the $897,960 of net proceeds realized by the sale of 1,000,000 Units on January 30, 
2017 and 69,000 Units on February 28, 2017 equals positive working capital of $798,701. The sale of 1,000,000 Units on January 30, 2017 
and 69,000 Units on February 28, 2017 resulted in $1,069,000 gross proceeds less $171,040 in commissions, fees and expenses, for net 
proceeds of $897,960. 

1.2 Use of Available Funds 

The Trust will use the Gross Proceeds from the sale of Trust Units to purchase LP Units of the Partnership.  The 
Partnership will pay the costs and fees of the Offerings set out in “Item 1.1 – Available Funds” above for both the 
Trust and the Partnership. 

The Partnership will use the Available Funds as follows: 

Description of intended use of available funds listed in order of priority 

Assuming 
Maximum 
Offering 

Acquisition of beneficial interest in the Property(1) $18,000,000 

Development costs to obtain a development permit and register the subdivision(2) $2,550,000 

Relocate stream and provide site servicing(2) $900,000 

Management fees to the General Partner(3) $544,236 

Developer’s fee payable under Pre-Development Agreement(4) $500,000 

Reserve for distribution of preferred annual return on Contributed Capital to Unit holders(5) $907,060 

Working capital(6) $1,226,325 

Total $24,627,621 
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(1)  Pursuant to the Earn-In Agreement, the Partnership acquired the option to acquire up to 100% beneficial ownership of the Property for an 
aggregate total purchase price of $23,000,000, in one or more acquisitions in increments of $100,000 for every 1/230th (0.434%) of the Property 
from 1027110, which is a related party to the Issuers beneficially owned or controlled 80% by Brian Reghr, 10% by David Siebenga and 10% 
by Robert Dominick. As of February 28, 2017, the Partnership has already acquired 21.74% beneficial ownership in the Property for a purchase 
price of $5,000,000 under the Earn-In Agreement.  Accordingly, the Partnership may acquire remaining ownership of the Property up to 100% 
beneficial ownership of the Property for the remaining $18,000,000 purchase price. The Partnership intends to use the net proceeds from the 
Offering to acquire up to 100% beneficial ownership of the Property in one or more acquisitions in increments of $100,000 for every 1/230th 
(0.434%) of the Property. 

(2) These development costs are payable under the Co-Ownership Agreement, pro rata by the co-owners of the Property in proportion to their 
respective percentage of beneficial ownership of the Property. The Partnership currently only owns 21.74% of the Property, but this amount 
assumes that the Partnership immediately completes the maximum Offering and acquires the remaining beneficial interest in the Property 
and is then responsible for 100% of the development costs for the Property. 

(3) The General Partner is entitled to a 1.8% annual management fee (calculated on the total aggregate amount of cumulative capital 
contributions) plus the carried interest, and reimbursement for its expenses under the Partnership Agreement. During the period ended 
December 31, 2016, the Partnership incurred $97,094 in management fees.  Assuming that the Maximum Offering was completed 
immediately as of the date of this Offering Memorandum and that the General Partner continued to manage the Partnership through until the 
end of the 2017 fiscal year, then the management fees would be as much as $544,236.  The General Partner is a related party to the Issuers 
and is beneficially owned or controlled 80% by Brian Reghr, 10% by David Siebenga and 10% by Robert Dominick. 

(4) As the Partnership has acquired its initial 21.74% beneficial ownership interest in the Property on January 30, 2017, it is responsible for its 
corresponding share of the $50,000 per month developer’s fees payable to BKR under the Pre-Development Agreement and BKR is a 
related party as it is owned or controlled by Brian Reghr.  BKR is affiliated with all of the entities of the WestStone Group that are involved 
in the Offerings and is responsible for administration and development of the Innovation Development under the Pre-Development 
Agreement.  This amount assumed that the Partnership immediately completes the maximum Offering and acquires the remaining beneficial 
interest in the Property and is then responsible for 100% of this developer’s fee for the remaining 10 months of 2017. 

(6) Assuming completion of the maximum Offering, the Partnership will have additional working capital as stated herein. Consulting fees of 
$120,000 were paid to a company owned by the General Partner’s Chief Financial Officer, Robert Dominick during the year ended 
December 31, 2016 which were not originally anticipated because of additional unanticipated controller and administrative services 
provided by Mr. Dominick. The requirement for such additional services is now not anticipated during the current fiscal year, and the 
General Partner has agreed to pay (out of its management fees received from the Partnership) to Mr. Dominick for any such required 
services from him during the current fiscal year. The Partnership believes it will have sufficient funds to carry out its stated business 
objectives, but in the unanticipated event that the Partnership does not have sufficient funds for its share of the developer’s fee and 
development expenses, 1027110 will finance the Partnership’s share at an interest rate of 5% per annum due upon sale or refinancing of the 
Property. 

1.3 Reallocation 

The Issuers intends to spend the Available Funds as stated.  The Issuers will reallocate funds only for sound business 
reasons. 

1.4 Working Capital Deficiency 

As of February 28, 2017, the Issuers did not have a working capital deficiency. 
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ITEM 2: STRUCTURE OF THE ISSUERS 

2.1 Structure of the Issuers 

 
Notes: 

1. 1008184 B.C. Ltd. is the Trustee of the Trust. 

2. Investors under the Trust Offering will be Trust Unitholders and investors under the Partnership Offering will be Limited Partners. All of 
the Gross Proceeds of the Trust Offering will be used to acquire LP Units from the Partnership, and the net proceeds described as the 
Available Funds above (see “Item 1 – Use of Available Funds”) will be used to acquire the Property.  Under the Funding Agreement, the 
Partnership has agreed to pay all expenses of the Trust in consideration for the Trust investing all of its gross proceeds into the Partnership. 

3. WestStone (Innovation) GP Ltd. is the General Partner of the Partnership. 

4. The Partnership has acquired from 1027110, a 21.74% beneficial ownership interest in the 5.1 acre real estate development Property located 
at 9525 King George Boulevard, Surrey, British Columbia, pursuant to the Earn-In Agreement, and intends to acquire the remaining 
beneficial ownership interests in the Property pursuant to the Earn-In Agreement; and under the earn-In Agreement, all ownership and 
development of the Property is governed by the Co-Ownership Agreement while the Partnership owns less than 100% beneficial interest in 
the Property. Under the Co-Ownership Agreement, 1027110 is responsible for the management and development of the Property with 
development services provided through BKR under the Pre-Development Agreement. 
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2.2 The Trust and Trustee 

The Trust is an unincorporated, open-ended, limited purpose trust formed under the laws of the Province of British 
Columbia, formed as of January 31, 2016 pursuant to the Declaration of Trust, made between 1008184 BC Ltd. 
(the “Trustee”), as trustee, and 1027110 BC Ltd. as the initial Trust Unitholder, and governed by the laws of the 
Province of British Columbia and the federal laws of Canada applicable therein.  The principal place of business of 
the Trust is Surrey, British Columbia, Canada and the registered office of the Trust is located at Suite 700 – 595 
Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V7X 1S8.  A copy of the Declaration of Trust is available upon 
request at the registered offices of the Issuers. 

The beneficial interests of the Trust are divided into four classes of units, as Class “A”, Class “B”, Class “C”, and 
Class “D” units, which are entitled to the rights and subject to the limitations, restrictions and conditions set out in 
the Declaration of Trust, including the right to vote and to participate pro rata in any distributions from the Trust.  
Each class of units has identical rights, restrictions and conditions.  Each such unit of the Trust is without nominal or 
par value, entitles the holder thereof to one vote at all meetings of Trust Unitholders, entitles the holder thereof to 
the pro rata right to receive distribution and participate pro rata upon dissolution or liquidation, and entitles the 
holder to the right of redemption under the terms and conditions set forth in the Declaration of Trust.   

The Trust is authorized to issue an unlimited number of any class of units.  In order to establish the Trust, one Class 
“A” unit (the “Initial Trust Unit”) was issued for cash of $1.00 on January 31, 2016.  Under the Trust Offering, the 
Trust is offering for sale a maximum of up to 28,588,000 Class “A” units (the “Trust Units”) at a price of $1.00 per 
Trust Unit for Gross Proceeds of $28,588,000. 

The Trust has only issued Class “A” units of the Trust and does not anticipate issuing any other class of units, and if 
it were to issue any such other class of units, those units would have no different rights and restrictions than any 
other class, other than additional potential contractual restrictions in favour of the Trust. 

The Trustee, 1008184 BC Ltd., is a corporation existing pursuant to the laws of British Columbia owned directly or 
indirectly by the Principals, with Mr. Kendall Friesen as the sole director and officer, having its registered office 
located at Suite 700 – 595 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V7X 1S8.  In particular, the Trustee is 
owned 80% by the Regehr Family (2014) Trust (controlled by Brian Regehr), 10% by Robert Dominick Consulting 
Inc. (owned or controlled by Robert Dominick), and 10% by Strategic Gateways Corporation (owned or controlled 
by David Siebenga).  See “Item 5 – Directors, Management, Promoters and Principal Holders”. 

As trustee of the Trust, the Trustee has the full authority and responsibility to manage the business and affairs of the 
Trust.  Upon each Closing under the Trust Offering (which does not include the Initial Trust Unit), the Trust will use 
the entire Gross Proceeds raised from the issuance of Trust Units to acquire LP Units of the Partnership.  All 
expenses of the Trust Offering and the Partnership Offering will be borne by the Partnership pursuant to the Funding 
Agreement.  Likewise, all distributions received by the Trust from the Partnership shall, in turn, be forthwith 
distributed pro rata to the Trust Unitholders. 

As trustee of the Trust, responsible for management of the Trust, the Trustee may delegate certain of these duties 
from time to time.  

2.3 Partnership 

The Partnership is a limited partnership established under the laws of the Province of British Columbia on January 
29, 2016.  It was registered under the Partnership Act on January 29, 2016 in British Columbia upon filing of the 
Certificate of Limited Partnership.  The Partnership is governed by the Partnership Agreement and is subject to the 
provisions of the Partnership Act.  The Partnership was established to acquire up to a 100% interest in the real estate 
Property pursuant to the Earn-in Agreement and participate in the real estate development of the Property in 
collaboration with 1027110, a member of the WestStone Group, and any other Co-Owners, as described in more 
detail under “Item 3.2 – Business of the Partnership” and “Item 4 – Material Agreements”. 

The limited partners of the Partnership are the Trust and other Limited partners that acquire LP Units under the 
Partnership Offering or otherwise from time to time.  

The Partnership’s head office is located at Suite 700, 595 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V7X 1S8.  
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2.4 Management of the Partnership – General Partner 

The General Partner was incorporated on April 2, 2015 under the British Columbia Business Corporations Act.  The 
General Partner is owned and controlled by the Principals, 80% by the Regehr Family (2014) Trust (controlled by 
Brian Regehr), 10% by Robert Dominick Consulting Inc. (owned or controlled by Robert Dominick), and 10% by 
Strategic Gateways Corporation (owned or controlled by David Siebenga).  See “Item 5 – Directors, Management, 
Promoters and Principal Holders”.  The General Partner’s sole business is to manage the business of the 
Partnership.  The General Partner will not engage in any business other than acting as General Partner of the 
Partnership. 

The General Partner has, to the exclusion of the Limited Partners, the sole power and exclusive authority to manage 
the business and affairs of the Partnership, to make all decisions regarding the business of the Partnership and to 
bind the Partnership.  The General Partner is to exercise its powers and discharge its duties honestly, in good faith 
and in the best interests of the Limited Partners and the Partnership and the General Partner shall, in discharging its 
duties, exercise the degree of care, the diligence and the skill that a reasonably prudent manager of a partnership 
would exercise in similar circumstances.  The General Partner will oversee, administer and manage the Partnership 
and its investment in the Property and the development of the Property; however, pursuant to the terms of the 
Partnership Agreement, the General Partner may delegate its duties in this regard, including to Affiliates of the 
General Partner, without the approval of the Limited Partners.   

Certain restrictions are imposed on the General Partner and certain actions may not be taken by it without approval 
of the Limited Partners by Special Resolution.  The General Partner cannot dissolve the Partnership or wind-up its 
affairs except in accordance with the provisions of the Partnership Agreement.  See “Item 4 – Material 
Agreements”. 

Pursuant to the General Partner’s constating documents, articles and the BCA, any resolution of the directors of the 
General partner must be passed: (i) at a meeting of the directors of the General partner, by a majority of the directors 
entitled to vote on that resolution at such meeting; (ii) in writing by all the directors entitled to vote on that 
resolution at a meeting.  Currently, the board of directors is comprised of Brian Regehr, David Siebenga, and Robert 
Dominick.  See “Item 5 – Directors, Promoters and Principal Holders”. 

2.5 Selling Agents 

The General Partner will pay Selling Commissions to the Selling Agents of up to 10% (inclusive of Trailer Fees).  
See “Item 9 - Compensation paid to Sellers and Finders”.  A further Marketing Fee of up to 3% of the Gross 
Proceeds may be payable in respect of the Offerings to parties providing marketing services on behalf of the Issuers 
in respect of the Offerings, as well as an Administrative Fee of up to 3% of the Gross Proceeds to arm’s length third 
parties of the Issuers for administrative services in respect of the Offerings. 

Certain principals of the Selling Agent(s) may be the same as the General Partner.  See “Item 10 Risk Factors – 
Conflicts of Interest; Relationship Between the Fund, the General Partner and Potential Conflicts of Interest”.  
In the event that a Selling Agent directly or indirectly introduces a party who thereafter invests in an Issuer, that 
Selling Agent or its principal will be entitled to a Selling Commissions of up to 10%, as noted above. 

2.6 Auditors 

Smythe LLP are the independent auditors of the Issuers.  As Auditors, Smythe LLP provides assurance that the 
Issuers’ annual financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, its financial position, financial 
performance and its cash flows in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. Smythe LLP is 
independent of the Issuers, in accordance with the Code of Professional Conduct of the Chartered Professional 
Accountants of British Columbia. 
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ITEM 3: BUSINESS OF THE ISSUERS 

3.1 Business of the Trust 

The Trust’s primary purpose and sole business is to acquire LP Units in the Partnership, with the objective of 
generating returns to Trust Unitholders.  Upon each Closing under the Trust Offering, the Trust will use the entire 
Gross Proceeds raised from the issuance of Trust Units to acquire LP Units of the Partnership.  All expenses of the 
Trust Offering and the Partnership Offering will be borne by the Partnership pursuant to the Funding Agreement. 

In effect, the Trust allows investors to invest through Deferred Plans indirectly into the Partnership (see “Item 8.2—
Eligibility for Investment in Trust Units by Deferred Plans”).  Consequently, investors that purchase Trust Units 
should also review this Offering Memorandum with respect to the Partnership. 

3.2 Business of the Partnership 

Summary 

The Partnership was formed to generate returns for its Partners by acquiring the Property and participating in the 
real estate development, leasing and sales of the Property.  The General Partner believes that the Property is 
strategically located and that the Partnership will benefit from the proposed pre-development and development 
activities for the Property. 

Currently the Property is legally owned by WKGD One, WKGD Two, and WKGD Three to facilitate a 3 lot 
subdivision further described below.  All of WKGD One, WKGD Two, and WKGD Three have pledged all of the 
beneficial ownership in the Property to 1027110 (78.26%) and the Partnership (21.74%) pursuant to a Declaration of 
Bare Trust Agreement.  Currently, title to the Property is subject to two mortgages registered against it: (i) the First 
Mortgage funded by Timber Creek Servicing Ltd. (“Timber Creek”) in the principal amount of $7,500,000 and 
registered under the name of Computershare Trust Company of Canada; and (ii) the Second Mortgage in the 
principal amount of $8,500,000 is registered in the name of 1027110.  Prior written consent of the First Mortgage 
holder, Timber Creek, is required for any payment under the Second Mortgage to be made prior to repayment of the 
First Mortgage. 

Up to the date of this Offering Memorandum, the WestStone Group has undertaken the development of the Property, 
funding it with its own and other resources which are secured by way of the Second Mortgage.  The Second 
Mortgage provides that 1027110 may assign part of the Second Mortgage and terms and conditions it sees fit.   

Under the Earn-In Agreement, the Partnership obtained the option at any time until March 31, 2018 to acquire, in 
one or more acquisitions, from 1027110 up to a 100% beneficial interest in the Property (the “Acquired Interest”) 
for a total aggregate purchase price of $23,000,000, which may be acquired in one or more closings in increments of 
$100,000 or 1/230th (0.434%) beneficial interest in the Property (the “Acquired Property”) for every $100,000 of 
purchase price paid.  

On January 30, 2017, the Partnership acquired a 21.74% beneficial ownership interest as its first beneficial 
ownership interest in the Property from 1027110 under the Earn-In Agreement by payment of a $5 million purchase 
price ($5 million divided by $23 million = 21.74%), and in so doing the Partnership and 1027110 became co-owners 
of the Property, and their respective rights and obligations of such co-ownership and development of the Property 
are now governed pursuant to the terms of a co-ownership agreement between 1027110 and the Partnership dated 
January 29, 2016 (the “Co-Ownership Agreement”).  Under the Co-Ownership Agreement, each of 1027110 and 
the Partnership are responsible for their respective pro rata share of expenses and are entitled to their respective pro 
rata share of income less the expenses for the ownership and development of the Property.   

In particular, the development of the Property under the Co-Ownership Agreement is further governed by a pre-
development agreement between 1027110 and BKR Construction Ltd. (“BKR”) dated January 29, 2016 (the “Pre-
Development Agreement”).  Under the Pre-Development Agreement, BKR is entitled to be reimbursed for its 
development expenses as well as a developer’s fee of $50,000 per month plus applicable goods and services taxes.  
Once the Partnership acquires 100% beneficial ownership of the Property, the Partnership will become a party to 
and will assume all rights and obligations of 1027110 under the Pre-Development Agreement, although 1027110 
will also remain liable for any obligations that have accrued to it under the agreement. As on January 30, 2017, the 
Partnership has become responsible for its 21.74% share of the $50,000 per month development fee and other 
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development expenses under the Co-Ownership Agreement and Pre-Development Agreement.  In the event that the 
Partnership does not have sufficient funds for its share of the developer’s fee and development expenses, 1027110 
will finance the Partnership’s share at an interest rate of 5% per annum due upon sale or refinancing of the Property. 

The current intention is that WestStone and BKR will organize the development of the Property such that it can 
legally be subdivided into up to 3 commercial building lots.  At the time of subdivision, presuming it results into 3 
commercial lots further outlined below as Innovation I, Innovation II and Innovation III.  WKGD One, will become 
the registered owner of one lot, WKGD Two, will become the registered owner of a second lot and WKGD Three 
will become the registered owner of a third lot.  If less than 3 lots are created, then WKGD One and WKGD Two 
will own one lot and WKGD Three will own the other lot.  In December 2016, the City of Surrey passed its third 
reading approval of re-zoning development of the Property to re-zone into the three commercial lots as contemplated 
above.  The developer, the Weststone Group, is moving forward with its application process with the City of Surrey 
for the final fourth reading to formally obtain the final development permit for the Property at which time the 
building permit drawings will be used for development and construction.  Based on current timelines, it is 
anticipated that this formal 3 lot subdivision will occur by June 2017. 

At the time of subdivision, the Partnership will then in conjunction with 1027110 and BKR, under the Co-
Ownership Agreement and Pre-Development Agreement, determine the best approach for moving the Property 
development to completion.  The decisions of the Partnership will be determined by the General Partner acting in the 
best interests of the Partnership and may include construction of one or all buildings in series or together, or the 
disposition of one or more lots thereby creating profit, reducing risk and absorption to the Project or by joint 
venturing one or more lots with other parties.  The anticipated timelines to construction the six storey buildings is 
approximately 22 months each and the larger 12 storey building is anticipated to take approximately 30 months to 
construct which timeline includes the finalization of the building permits, offsite construction, tendering and 
completion of the buildings on each of the lots thereafter. 

Should the Partnership, together with its Co-Owner (if applicable), determine that it is in its best interest to dispose 
of one of the lots, then it is anticipated that the profits therefrom would be distributed back to the respective 
investors in the LP Units and Trust Units.  
 
The Property 
 
In 2014, WestStone KGD acquired the Property located at 9525 King George Boulevard in Surrey, British 
Columbia, a parcel of developable land adjacent to Surrey Memorial Hospital (“SMH”).  The Property is within the 
newly dedicated “Hospital Zone” and, in the opinion of the General Partner, offers some exceptional investment 
potential.  The Property was originally acquired by 1027110 (a related party to the Issuers) on February 27, 
2015 from an arm’s length third party at a price of $13,500,000 through the three Registered Owners who 
hold registered title to the Property as bare trustees, which enables each Registered Owner to individually 
hold title to one lot once the Property is subdivided into three lots. The Property was appraised (the “2015 
Appraisal”) on January 9, 2015 by certified Appraisal Institute of Canada land appraisers, Parkes & Company Ltd. 
of 1443 – 595 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V7X 1C4, as having a development permitted market 
value of $22,840,000.  The 2015 Appraisal is based on the premise that a development permit has been granted 
effective as of the date of the appraisal on January 9, 2015, assuming permitted development of buildings 
comprising a gross building area of 555,390 square feet.  This2015 Appraisal formed the basis for the $23 million 
option price under the Earn-In Agreement, which that granted the Partnership the option (not the obligation) to 
acquire up to 100% of the Property for $23 million at any time until March 31, 2018. 
 
At the time of the original purchase of the Property by 1027110, the Property’s existing use was that of an older 
trailer park with aging infrastructure.  Constructed approximately 40 years ago, the creek located on the Property 
was placed into culverts allowing various trailers to be located throughout the Property.  Now some 40 years later, 
certain portions of those culverts are in various stages of collapse as are the utilities located on the Property. 
 
In acquiring the Property, the 1027110 undertook a review and commenced discussions with various regulatory 
authorities having jurisdiction over the Property to deal with the following: 

 The status of the creek.  Due to the aging infrastructure, the WestStone Group applied for and received 
tentative approval to have the creek “re-diverted” by removing and readjusting the creek flow so as to 
enhance the ability of the creek to bear or enhance its salmon bearing capacity. The City of Surrey together 
with the Provincial British Columbia Government and Federal Government (Department of Fisheries and 
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Oceans) are supportive of plans to re-divert the creek because man-made obstructions (culverts from 1964) 
were causing the flooding and re-diverting will alleviate this issue. Written final authorization for the re-
diversion is expected within approximately 45 days and relocation of the creek is expected to physically 
occur sometime this summer before the end of September 2017. 
 

 Trees on the Property.  A tree survey was undertaken to review the state of the trees on the Property and to 
propose a development that would be in accordance with the environmental requirements imposed by those 
regulatory authorities.  The WestStone Group has received tentative approval based on its submissions 
regarding the trees on the Property. 
 

 Trailer park occupants.  1027110 acquired all 47 residential mobile home trailers on the Property for an 
aggregate amount of $1.8 million, which is inclusive of statutory payments in lieu of notice.  As of the date 
of this offering memorandum, 8 mobile homes remain occupied on the Property but all will be vacated by 
no later than June 30, 2017. 

 
The Property totals 5.1 acres (222,316 square feet) which allows for a 2.5 floor space ratio (555,790 square feet 
buildable). The Property’s immediate neighbour is SMH, which has recently undergone a $512-million expansion, is 
an affiliated University of British Columbia (UBC) teaching hospital, and acts as the hub for the 40-acre Surrey 
Health Campus, home to over 6,000 medical professionals and hundreds of medical and nursing students. 
 
The Property is also located in an area designated as “Innovation Boulevard” which is anchored by SMH, UBC and 
Simon Fraser University (SFU).  Innovation Boulevard is dedicated to healthcare technology and patient solutions. It 
is understood that a light rail transit station (LRT) will also be located immediately adjacent to the Property. 
 
The Partnership, together with the WestStone Group, intends to sub-divide the Property into four lots, consisting of 
one land creek lot, which will be controlled and transferred to appropriate regulatory authorities, and three distinct 
developable parcels (Innovation I, II and III) that will comprise the development of the Property (the “Innovation 
Development”).  The development parcels on the west side of the Property (Innovation II and III) are expected to 
accommodate two 6-storey wood frame buildings totalling approximately 220,000 square feet.  The General Partner 
anticipates that these buildings will be used for senior’s independent living or one or both could be rental buildings.  
Given the location, on the doorstep of Surrey Health Campus, the General Partner expects that demand will be high. 
 
Architectural Rendering of the Innovation Development [May 1, 2015]: 

 
 
The development parcel on the east side of the Property (Innovation I) will feature a 12-storey mid-rise, totalling 
approximately 335,390 square feet, with mixed medical use being considered as the most favourable option.  Uses 
of Innovation I are expected to range from complex care and assisted living for seniors to medical office, 
commercial and ground floor retail.  A pressing need exists for complex care with specific dedicated medical use in 
fields such as spinal injuries, neurological and dialysis care. 
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Site Plan of the Innovation Development [May 1, 2015]: 

The entire Innovation Development will be located in an urban forest setting, with the fourth lot being a stream 
running around its northern perimeter capable of carrying active salmon.  The WestStone Group has had initial 
consultations with accredited companies in the care management fields have indicated that the Innovation 
Development would provide an excellent location for such a community of care.   
 
 
Images of Trees and Creek on the Property [May 1, 2015]: 
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On June 15, 2015, the City of Surrey passed the proposed development plan for the Property by way of first and 
second reading, which has permitted the rezoning of the Property for the uses necessary under the Innovation 
Development.  On December 19, 2016, the City of Surrey passed its third reading approval of re-zoning 
development of the Property to re-zone into the three commercial lots as contemplated above.  The developer, the 
Weststone Group, is moving forward with its application process with the City of Surrey for the final fourth reading 
to formally obtain the final development permit for the Property at which time the building permit drawings will be 
used for development and construction.  Formal subdivision into the three lots occurs at fourth reading, which 
requires more detailing of the building exteriors as well as the legal agreements and statutory rights of way and 
transfer of land dedicated for the Creek, as contemplated in the third reading which has already provided substantive 
approval in principle.  Based on current timelines, it is anticipated that this formal three lot subdivision will occur by 
June 2017. 
 
The Partnership has no plans to operate a seniors living facility itself at the Property once built.  The Partnership 
expects that the Property will be sold at either the subdivision stage to developer/operators or, if built, to operators. 
The Most likely investment exit strategy for the Partnership would be the sale of the entire subdivided or built 
Property to a REIT or end user operator of assisted living or commercial premises. 

Current or Prospective Real Estate Property Competitors  
 
Although no other properties share the unique location and character for development as the Property, an analogous 
nearby property development is being developed by the Lark Group which is referred to as “City Center 2”.  Lark’s 
development consists of three phases. Phase I was completed in early 2014, comprised of approximately 180,000 
square feet with 11 storeys of office space and a ground floor of retail space. It is a mixed use facility with 600 
parking stalls in a multi-floor parkade and can accommodate teaching space, retail space, and medical and other 
professional offices. It is located on a portion of 9664 – 137 Street and a portion of 9661 and 9639 – 137A Street, 
Surrey, B.C. Phase I was completely pre-sold prior to completion and so does not represent competing real estate 
inventory for sale. 
 
Phase II of Lark Group’s development is expected to be completed in late 2017 and will also consist of 
approximately 180,000 square feet with 11 storeys of office space and a ground floor of retail space. It will also be a 
mixed use facility with 375 parking stalls in a multi-floor parkade. It uses will include teaching space, retail space 
and medical and other professional offices and will be located adjacent to Phase I just on its north side.  Phase III of 
Lark Group’s development has no specified construction start date and is subject to development approval.  It 
consists of approximately 116,000 square feet across 137A Street east from Phase I.  Although there is currently no 
additional information for this contemplated Phase II, it is assumed it will be intended to be a similar mixed use 
facility. 
 
Phase I was constructed with a floor area ratio (FAR) of 3.6 and the proposed density for Phase II will be a FAR of 
5.0. This compares with a FAR of 6.2 for Weststone’s proposed 12 story building (Innovation I) and a FAR of 2.5 
for each of the other two proposed Weststone buildings (Innovation II and III). The developments are compared as 
follows: 
 

 Innovation I Innovation II & III Lark Phase I Lark Phase II 
Building Type: 12-storey mid-rise 6-storey wood frame 12-storey mid rise 12-storey mid rise 
Square Feet: 335,390 220,000 sq. ft. 186,302 sq. ft. 180,000 sq. ft. 
Uses: Multiple unit 

residential; care 
facilities; office 
uses; retail stores; 
eating 
establishments; and 
professional services 

Multiple unit 
residential; care 
facilities 

Retail stores; 
professional 
services; eating 
establishments; 
neighbourhood pub; 
liquor store; office 
uses; university and 
colleges; community 
services; child care 

Possible 
office/retail 

FAR (max.): 6.2 2.5 3.6 5.0 
 
There is currently no occupancy rate data available for the only currently completed development (Lark Phase I). 
However, it is noted that Lark’s Phase I was 100% pre-sold prior to completion. 
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Payments by the Partnership used for Development of the Property 
 
Effective January 29, 2016, 1027110 entered into the Pre-Development Agreement with BKR Construction Ltd. 
pursuant to which BKR will provide all of the development management and coordination of the consultants to 
create the Innovation Development, including the right in the future to coordinate the building permit and, at its 
option the right to construct the buildings on the Property.  BKR’s mandate is to organize the Property to create up 
to 555,500 square feet of buildings for the Innovation Development.  BKR is being paid a $50,000 monthly fee for 
the providing of these services by the WestStone Group and upon acquisition of 100% of the Property under the 
Earn-In Agreement, the Partnership will acquire the rights and the responsibilities contained within the Pre-
Development Agreement. 
 
As the Partnership acquired its initial 21.74% beneficial ownership interest in the Property on January 30, 2017, it is 
responsible for its share of the $50,000 per month developer’s fees payable to BKR under the Pre-Development 
Agreement.  BKR is a related party as it is owned or controlled by Brian Reghr. So, BKR is affiliated with all of the 
entities of the WestStone Group that are involved in the Offerings and is responsible for administration and 
development of the Innovation Development under the Pre-Development Agreement.  In the event that the 
Partnership does not have sufficient funds for its share of the developer’s fee and development expenses, 1027110 
will finance the Partnership’s share at an interest rate of 5% per annum due upon sale or refinancing of the Property. 

Acquisition of an Interest in the Property by the Fund 

Effective January 29, 2016, the General Partner, on behalf of the Partnership, entered into the Earn-In Agreement 
with 1027110, pursuant to which 1027110 granted the Partnership the option to acquire up to 100% beneficial 
ownership in the Property, as described above.  On January 30, 2017, the Partnership acquired its first 21.74% 
beneficial ownership interest in the Property from 1027110 under the Earn-In Agreement for a purchase price of 
$5 million ($5 million divided by $23 million = 21.74%).   

The Trust and Partnership raised gross proceeds of $6,412,000 under the prior private placement offerings and the 
Partnership used $5,000,000 of the net proceeds of those offerings to acquire a 21.74% beneficial ownership interest 
in the Property.  As the Issuers complete additional amounts of the Offering, the Partnership will use the net 
proceeds from those tranches of the Offering to acquire successive amounts of the Property at a price of 1/230th 
(0.434%) per $100,000 under the Earn-In Agreement.  If the Maximum Offering is completed, the Partnership will 
acquire a 100% beneficial undivided interest in the Property for $23,000,000.   

See “Item 10 – Risk Factors – Neither the General Partner nor the Partnership will take registered title to the 
Property”. 

3.3 Development of the Business  

Neither the Trust, the Partnership nor the General Partner has engaged in active real estate investment and 
development to date other than the acquisition of the Partnership’s initial 21.74% beneficial ownership interest in the 
Property. 

The following are the major events that have occurred with respect to the business of the Issuers to the date of this 
Offering Memorandum: 

(a) the General Partner has been established; 

(b) the Partnership has been formed pursuant to the Partnership Agreement and Certificate of Limited 
Partnership; 

(c) the General Partner, in its capacity as general partner of the Partnership, has entered into the Earn-in 
Agreement; 

(d) the General Partner, in its capacity as general partner of the Fund, has entered into or assumed the 
payments of a Pre-Development Management Agreement with BKR Construction Management Ltd. to 
conduct all matters to do with the development of the Innovation Property and, contains the right of BKR to 
obtain the right to become the General Contractor for any building constructed on the Innovation Property;  

(e) The Trust was established pursuant to the Declaration of Trust; 

(f) The Partnership entered into the Funding Agreement with the Trust; 
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(g) 1027110 obtained third reading approval from the City of Surrey for the three lot subdivision rezoning 
development of the Property; 

(h) The Partnership, 1027110 and the Registered Ownership amended the earn-In Agreement to clarify that the 
Partnership may acquire ownership interests in the Property at incremental acquisitions of $100,000 for 
every 1/230th (0.434%) of the Property, exclusive of interests in the Second Mortgage; and 

(i) The Trust and Partnership raised gross proceeds of $6,412,000 under the prior private placement offerings 
and the Partnership used $5,000,000 of the net proceeds of those offerings to acquire a 21.74% beneficial 
ownership interest in the Property. The financial statements of the Partnership show $3,246,930 as 
advances for payment of the option price under the Earn-In Agreement, which together with $967,529 in 
deferred costs and $785,541 from the amounts advanced to 1027110 for its other development costs, 
formed payment of the $5,000,000 purchase price for the 21.74% beneficial ownership interest in the 
Property. 

As described in the audited financial statements of the Partnership, deferred costs of $967,539 were incurred during 
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 as advances to or on behalf of the developer, 1027110, in connection with 
the acquisition of the Property. These deferred costs consists of the following: 

Deferred Cost Item Amount ($) 

Deferred development costs: 
Development permit, fees and general site development expenses 
Engineering and geotechnical 
 

 
$61,458.92 
$53,090.00 
$114,548.92 

Other deferred costs: 
Costs for acquisition and removal of on-site mobile homes 
Development financing interest costs on the First Mortgage  
Costs for acquisition and removal of on-site mobile homes 

 
$630,345.66 
$154,687.50 
$36,072.74 
$821,105.90 

General and administrative expenses (accounting and legal expenses): $31,874.13 

Total: $967,528.95 

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, the Issuers distributed $17,819 to its Unit holders in respect of 
one-third of the 9% annual Preferred Return (i.e., being 3% per year on the Aggregate Contributed Capital, which is 
included as reserves for the Partnership). Under the Partnership Agreement, the Partnership is required to maintain a 
reserve for anticipated expenses and other reasonably foreseeable obligations and the Issuers intend to continue to 
provide in their reserves for the 3% annual preferential return. Accordingly, subject to unforeseen circumstances, 
prospective purchasers of Units may reasonably expect a similar distribution representing the 3% annual preferential 
return in 2017. Of course, if the Partnership experiences a greater liquidation event for its Property, Unit holders 
may then receive distributions amounting to the full 9% Preferred Return together with additional distributions as 
contemplated under the Partnership Agreement and the Declaration of Trust. 

The Issuers expect that they will enter into a number of distribution agreements with Selling Agents to affect the 
distribution of Units under the Offerings. 

There have been no unfavourable developments affecting the Issuers’ business since their inception. 

3.4 Long Term Objectives 

The Issuers’ purpose and business, and thus their long term objectives, is to generate returns for the Limited 
Partners, the Trust Unitholders, and the General Partner by raising up to $35,000,000 under the Offerings and 
acquiring up to 100% beneficial ownership of the Property.  Following the acquisition of the Partnership’s beneficial 
interest in the Property, the Partnership, as a Co-Owner or 100% owner (as applicable), intends to develop the 
Property in collaboration with the WestStone Group.  The Issuers will achieve these long-term objectives as set out 
below: 
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Date Target 

September 2017 to November 2020 Construction and/or disposition of one or more of the 
three lots 

September 2017 to December 2020 Distributions to the Limited Partners and Trust 
Unitholders of the proceeds of the sale of one or more of 
the three lots of the Innovation Development resulting 
from the development of the Property 

3.5 Short Term Objectives and How We Intend to Achieve Them 

The Issuers’ objectives for the next 12 months are to complete the maximum Offering of 28,588,000 Units and to 
purchase additional beneficial ownership interests in the Property so as to acquire up to 100% beneficial ownership 
of the Property. 
 

What we must do and how we 
must do it  

Target completion date or if not 
known, number of months to 
complete 

Our cost to complete  
 

Finalizing of the development 
permit for the Property and 
registration of the subdivision plan 
recognizing an up to 3 lot 
commercial subdivision of the 
Property; and evaluation of 
construction sequence priorities for 
Innovation I, II and III and/or the 
disposition of any one of the 3 lots 

Ongoing from now to August 
to September 2017 

$2,550,000(2) 

Begin construction of the first 
building or buildings on the 
Property (relocation of stream and 
provide site servicing) 

Ongoing from now to 
September 2017  

$900,000(2) 

Purchase additional beneficial 
ownership of the Property up to a 
100% beneficial ownership of the 
Property(1) 

Ongoing throughout the next 
12 months 

Up to $18,000,000 assuming 
a net aggregate amount of 
$18,000,000 from aggregate 
gross proceeds of 
$20,880,000 under the 
maximum Offering(3)(4) 

Notes: 
(1) Under the Earn-In Agreement, the Partnership may acquire up to 100% beneficial ownership of the Property from 

1027110 for $23,000,000. The Partnership has already acquired 21.74% beneficial ownership of the Property for 
$5,000,000 and may acquire up to the remaining ownership interest for $18,000,000. 

(2) Our share of these costs is currently only 21.74%, but as we increase our percentage ownership so does our share of the 
cost. The stated amount assumes the Partnership has 100% beneficial ownership in the Property and therefore is 
responsible for 100% of this cost. 

(3) Pursuant to the Earn-in Agreement, the Partnership has the right to acquire 100% beneficial ownership in the Property 
for $23,000,000 with the balance of the Available Funds used for development, property improvements, and as 
additional working capital of the Partnership.  The Partnership has already acquired a 21.74% beneficial interest in the 
Property for $5 million from $6,412,000 gross proceeds of prior private placement offerings net of the commissions, 
fees and transaction costs.  In the event that the Issuers are able to raise the maximum amount under the Offerings, the 
Issuers will have available funds of $18,000,000, and the Partnership will fund acquisition of the remaining beneficial 
ownership of the Property for a purchase price of $18,000,000 under the earn-In Agreement.  The remaining 
$7,777,000 will be used as working capital of the Partnership, for development costs and expenses of the Property, and 
as liquid reserves for distributions required under the Partnership Agreement and Declaration of Trust. 

(4) All expenses, fees and Selling Commissions related to the Trust Offering will be borne by the Partnership rather than 
the Trust pursuant to the Funding Agreement.  Includes the legal, audit, and administrative costs and disbursements of 
the Offerings, as well as the Selling Commissions (including Trailer Fees, if applicable), Marketing Fees and 
Administrative Fees.  Selling Commissions and, if applicable, Marketing Fees and Administrative Fes, will be paid 
directly from the Gross Proceeds of the Offerings. See “Item 9 Compensation Paid to Sellers and Finders”. 
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3.6 Insufficient Funds  

The proceeds of the Offerings may not be sufficient to accomplish all of the Partnership’s proposed objectives and 
there is no assurance that alternative financing to pay for such objectives will be available.  The Partnership will 
acquire up to a 100% beneficial interest in the Property using proceeds from the sale of Units under the Offerings.  
In order to develop the Property, the Partnership, the WestStone Group and Co-Owners, as applicable, will need to 
raise more funds and intends to do so through debt financing, including Financing as described below. 

In addition to the funding raised under this Offerings, the Partnership will have the right to incur or assume, without 
further Limited Partner approval, indebtedness from any person for any purpose, including without limitation: (i) 
Financing related to the Innovation Development of the Property; (ii) for the purpose of accelerating distributions to 
Limited Partners (and, by extension, to Trust Unitholders), if determined reasonable and appropriate to do so by the 
General Partner; and (iii) allowing the Partnership to commence the Innovation Development of the Property prior 
to obtaining Financing.  It is anticipated that such Financing will be secured by, among other things, a fixed and 
specific demand collateral land mortgage over the Property and a security interest in all present and after acquired 
personal property of the Partnership. 

It is anticipated that Financing for the Project will be obtained by the Partnership and any other Co-owners, as 
applicable, from one or more parties to fund the costs of the Innovation Development.  It is anticipated that any such 
Financing for the Innovation Development will consist of demand loans to pay for onsite and offsite construction 
costs, soft costs and certain other costs, and, potentially, demand letter of credit facilities for the purposes of issuing 
performance letters of credit.  As one of the short terms objectives will be the creation of an up to 3 lots commercial 
subdivision of the Property, 1027110 and the Partnership retain the discretion to separately sell, joint venture, or 
finance any one or all three lots to proceed with the Innovation Development of the Property.  It is anticipated that 
any such Financing will be secured by, among other things, a fixed and specific demand collateral land mortgage 
over the Property or any one or more lots thereof and a security interest in all present and after acquired personal 
property of the Partnership. 

It is anticipated that the amounts outstanding under any of the indebtedness referred to above will be paid down with 
the cash flow from the leasing or sale of the Innovation Development of the Property or any building, strata lot or air 
space parcel contained therein.  It is expected that the lenders of any of the financing referred to above and any other 
credit facilities, loans or borrowings entered into by the Partnership will, unless such lenders determine otherwise in 
their sole discretion, place restrictions on the Partnership’s ability to make distributions on the LP Units until such 
financing and/or such other credit facilities, loans and borrowing have been paid in full. 

The lenders under any Financing referred to above may be parties that are non-arm’s length to the Partnership, the 
General Partner, any member of the WestStone Group or other Limited Partners.  Any such Financing provided by 
Affiliates of the General Partner or the WestStone Group or Limited Partners or Trust Unitholders will be on terms 
that are commercially reasonable and generally consistent with the terms of Financing from arm’s length lenders for 
projects of this type. In particular, if the Issuers fail to raise sufficient proceeds under the Offerings to meet the 
Partnerhip’s obligations under the Co-Ownership Agreement and Pre-Development Agreement, then 1027110 may 
finance such obligations to proceed with development of the Property and charge the Partnership interest at a rate of 
5% per annum with such principal amount of financing and interest payable upon the sale or refinance of the 
Property. 

Such Financing will otherwise be on such terms and conditions as are agreed to with the other parties thereto and 
that the General Partner on behalf of the Partnership determined to be appropriate at that time. 

Any borrowings by the Partnership may be evidenced by promissory notes or other evidences of indebtedness.  Such 
borrowings may include securities offerings by the Partnership of indebtedness, such as notes or debentures, which 
may or may not be secured by the assets of the Partnership, including the Property.  Any further borrowings by the 
Partnership will likely take priority over distributions on the LP Units. 

There can be no guarantee that (i) any Financing will eventually be obtained from a lender or that a lender will not 
materially alter the terms of any Financing, (ii) any renewal of Financing, if required, will occur on similar terms 
thereof or at all, or (iii) the lender under any Financing will not demand repayment of the amounts owing thereunder 
at a time when the Partnership does not have the funds to repay this loan.  This will require alternate Financing 
which may be considerably more expensive or may not available at all. 
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There can be no assurances that the Partnership will be able to obtain Financing for its purposes when required or, if 
it can obtain such Financing, that such Financing will be on terms that are reasonable or acceptable to the General 
Partner.  The failure or inability of the Partnership to obtain such Financing will have a material negative effect on 
the ability of the Partnership to complete the Innovation Development of the Property on a timely basis, or at all, 
which could have a material negative effect on the value of the LP Units (and consequently on the Trust Units) and 
any return thereon. 

Charges, costs and fees associated with providing security and documenting the relationship of the Partnership with 
lenders under any Financing and any other credit facilities, loans or borrowings entered into by the Partnership 
which charges, costs and fees may be material and will have to be paid by the Partnership. 

ITEM 4: MATERIAL AGREEMENTS 

The following is a list of agreements which are material to this Offering and to the Fund, all of which are in effect: 

(a) the Declaration of Trust, as described below and as described further in Item 5.1 “Terms of Securities”; 

(b) the Partnership Agreement as described below and as described further in Item 5.1 “Terms of 
Securities”; 

(c) the Earn-in Agreement, as described below;  

(d) the Co-Ownership Agreement, described below; 

(e) the Pre-Development Agreement between 1027110 and BKR Construction Ltd., which was entered into 
pursuant to the Co-Ownership Agreement, described below; and 

(f) the Funding Agreement, described below. 

Copies of these agreements may be inspected during normal business hours at the registered office of the Issuers, 
Suite 700, 595 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia. 

4.1 Declaration of Trust 

General 

The Trust is an unicorporated open-ended, limited purpose, commercial trust governed by the laws of the Province 
of British Columbia and created by the Declaration of Trust.  Following completion of the requirements under the 
Tax Act, it is intended that at all times the Trust qualify as a “mutual fund trust”.  See “Item 8.1 – Income Tax 
Consequences Relating to the Trust”. 

The Declaration of Trust, which is dated as of January 31, 2016, as may be amended, contains the terms and 
conditions governing the relationship between the Trustee, as trustee, and the Trust Unitholders, as beneficiaries of 
the Trust Property. 

The following is a summary of certain provisions of the Declaration of Trust.  The summary does not purport to be 
complete and is subject to the more detailed provisions of the Declaration of Trust.  Prospective subscribers should 
review the complete text of the Declaration of Trust, a copy of which is available from the Issuers. 

Purpose and Nature of the Trust 

The Trust was created primarily for the purpose of investing its funds in LP Units and Permitted Investments, 
provided, however, that the Trust will not undertake any activity, or acquire or retain or hold any investment, that 
would result in the Trust not being considered a “mutual fund trust” for the purposes of the Tax Act or that would 
result in the Trust being a “SIFT trust” for the purposes of the Tax Act. 

Trust Units 

The beneficial interests of the Trust are divided into four classes of units, as Class “A”, Class “B”, Class “C”, and 
Class “D” units, which are issuable in series and entitled to the rights and subject to the limitations, restrictions and 
conditions set out in the Declaration of Trust, including the right to vote and to participate pro rata in any 
distributions from the Trust.  Each class of units has identical rights, restrictions and conditions.  Each such unit of 
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the Trust is without nominal or par value, entitles the holder thereof to one vote at all meetings of Trust Unitholders, 
entitles the holder thereof to the pro rata right to receive distribution and participate pro rata upon dissolution or 
liquidation, and entitles the holder to the right of redemption under the terms and conditions set forth in the 
Declaration of Trust.   

The Trust is authorized to issue an unlimited number of any class of units.  In order to establish the Trust, one Class 
“A” unit (the “Initial Trust Unit”) was issued for cash of $1.00 on January 31, 2016.  The Trust is now offering by 
way of a private placement Class “A” units of the Trust (the “Trust Units”) pursuant to the Trust Offering.  At any 
time following the issuance of one or more additional Trust Units, the Trust may redeem the Initial Trust Unit for a 
purchase price of $1.00 and, upon the completion of such purchase and sale, the Initial Trust Unit shall be cancelled 
and shall no longer be outstanding. Each holder of a Trust Unit shall be entitled to the rights and be subject to the 
limitations, restrictions and conditions pertaining to the Trust Units as set out in the Declaration of Trust and the 
interest of each Unitholder shall be determined by the number of Trust Units registered in the name of such holder. 

Each Trust Unit outstanding from time to time represents an equal undivided beneficial interest in the net asset of 
the Trust and each Unitholder shall be entitled to a Proportionate Share of (i) all distributions respecting the Trust 
Units, when and as declared, and (ii) the proceeds of liquidation of the Trust Property, after satisfaction of all 
liabilities of the Trust. 

All Trust Units will rank among themselves equally and ratably without discrimination, preference or priority. Each 
Trust Unit entitles the holder to one vote at all meetings of Unitholders and for written resolutions of Unitholders if 
any. Except as set out in the Declaration of Trust, the Trust Units have no conversion, retraction or redemption or 
pre-emptive rights. 

Trust Unit Distributions 

The Trustee, may on or before each Distribution Record Date, declare payable to the holders of Trust Units on such 
Distribution Record Date all or any part of the Cash Flow of the Trust for the Distribution Period which includes 
such Distribution Record Date. 

The Trustee intends to allocate, distribute and make payable to Trust Unitholders all of the Income of the Trust, Net 
Realized Capital Gains and any other applicable amounts so that the Trust will not have any liability for tax under 
Part I of the Tax Act in any taxation year and such amounts will be due and payable to Unitholders of record 
immediately before the end of December 31 in each year, in accordance with the Declaration of Trust.  In particular, 
the Trustee intends to pay, within ten Business days after each Distribution Period ending June 30 and December 31, 
a distribution of one-third of the annual 9% Preferred Return (i.e., being a return equal to 3% per year on the Trust 
Unitholders’ respective Aggregate Contributed Capital).  

If the Trustee determines that the Trust does not have sufficient cash to make the full amount of the distribution 
which has been declared, the Trustee has the option to pay equivalent distributions in the form of the pro rata share 
issuance of additional Trust Units. 

The Trustee may deduct or withhold from distributions payable to any Trust Unitholder all amounts required under 
the Tax Act or other applicable laws, which amounts shall be withheld from such distributions whether those 
distributions are in the form of cash, additional Trust Units, or otherwise. 

Trust Unit Certificates 

Unit Certificates will be issued to Trust Unitholders and a register of Trust Unitholders will be kept at the head 
office of the Trust or the Transfer Agent, setting out the particulars of the Unit Certificates.  Only Trust Unitholders 
with recorded Unit Certificates on the register are entitled to receive distributions or exercise rights of a Trust 
Unitholder. 
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Redemptions of Trust Units 

Trust Units are redeemable by the Trust Unitholder by delivering to the Trust, or its Transfer Agent, a duly 
completed and properly executed notice requiring the Trust to redeem Trust Units, in a form approved by the 
Trustee, together with written instructions as to the number of Trust Units to be redeemed and the Unit Certificate(s) 
representing the Trust Units to be redeemed.  Trust Units are redeemable on the last Business Day of any calendar 
quarter end (the “Redemption Date”) and the Trust shall pay the Redemption Price within 60 days after the 
Redemption Date.  The notice, Unit Certificate(s) and all other supporting documentation or evidence must be 
received by the Trust, or its Transfer Agent, to the satisfaction of the Trustee, not less than 30 days prior to the 
applicable Redemption Date.  On receipt of a notice to redeem Trust Units, the Trust Unitholder will no longer have 
any rights with respect to the Trust Units other than to receive any distribution accrued prior to receipt of the notice 
and the redemption amount. 

Within 60 days of the Redemption Date, the Trust Unitholder of the Trust Units tendered for redemption shall be 
entitled to receive a redemption price (the “Redemption Price”) equal to the lesser of: 

(a) 95% of the Net Capital Contribution of such Trust Units, until December 31 of the year in which the Final 
Closing takes place; 

(b) 97.5% of the Net Capital Contribution of such Trust Units, until December 31 in the year following the 
year in which the Final Closing takes place; and 

(c) 100% thereafter, 
less a redemption fee of $200. 

The Redemption Price may be paid by the Trust in cash or, at the election of the Trustee, by distributing or issuing 
any combination of cash and/or Redemption Notes having an aggregate fair market value equal to the aggregate 
Redemption Price, as applicable for the Trust Units tendered for redemption. 

The Redemption Notes are subject to the following terms and conditions: 

(a) unsecured and bearing interest from and including the issue date of each such note at a market rate 
determined at the time of issuance by the Trustee or General partners, as the case may be, based on the 
advice of an independent financial advisor, and payable annually in arrears; 

(b) subordinated and postponed to all senior indebtedness and which may be subject to specific subordination 
and postponement agreements to be entered into by the Issuer pursuant to the note indenture with holders of 
senior indebtedness; 

(c) ranking pari passu with all unsecured indebtedness of the Issuer; 

(d) subject to earlier prepayment, being due and payable on or prior to four years after January 31, 2016; and 

(e) subject to such other standard terms and conditions as would be included in a note indenture for promissory 
notes of this kind, as may be approved by the Trustee or General Partner, as applicable. 

Except as determined by the Trustee, the maximum aggregate number of Trust Units that may be redeemed by the 
Trust shall not exceed 10% of the total number of Trust Units issued and outstanding at the beginning of a fiscal 
quarter.  The Trustee shall exercise such limitation and any cutbacks on a proportionate basis with respect to the 
aggregate number of Trust Units represented by redemption notices.  The Trust may suspend the redemption of 
Trust Units or postpose the date of payment of Redeemed Trust Units in such circumstances as the Trustee may 
reasonably determine.  Such circumstances may include: (i) the assets of the Trust are invested in such a manner so 
as to not reasonably permit immediate liquidation of such assets; or (ii) there exists a state of affairs that constitutes 
circumstances under which liquidation by the Trust of part or all its investments is not reasonable or practicable, or 
would be prejudicial to the Trust or the Trust Unitholders, generally; or (iii) not suspending redemptions would have 
an adverse effect on the continuing Trust Unitholders.  The Trust may also suspend the redemption of Trust Units 
upon an announcement by the Trustee that the Trust will be terminated and dissolved. 

At the Trustee’s discretion, the Trust may, at any time, cause any Trust Unitholder to redeem all or part of its Trust 
Units at the applicable Redemption Price by providing notice to such Trust Unitholder, if such Trust Unitholder is a 
Non-Resident or that the continued undiminished membership of the Trust Unitholder in the Trust would (i) 
constitute or give rise to a violation of applicable law, or (ii) otherwise subject the Trust or the Trustee to material 
onerous legal, tax, or other regulatory requirements that cannot be reasonably avoided. 
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The Trust may, at any time, purchase for cancellation some or all of the Trust Units by private agreement or 
pursuant to tenders received by the Trust upon request for tenders addressed to all Trust Unitholders, provided that 
the Trustee determines such purchases are in the best interests of the trust.  All Trust Units so purchased and 
redeemed shall no longer be outstanding. 

Other than as provided above, there are no conversion, retraction, redemption or pre-emptive rights attaching to the 
Trust Units. 

Transfer of Trust Units 

Trust Units may only be transferred with the prior written consent of the Trustee, who shall have the sole discretion 
with respect to such transfer, or in connection with bankruptcy, death or mental incompetence, and then only to legal 
representatives of the Trust Unitholder.  Further, the transfer of Trust Units will not be permitted if, as a result of the 
transfer, the Trust would cease to qualify as a “mutual fund trust” or a “unit trust” as defined in the Tax Act. No 
transfer of Trust Units is effective against the Trustee or the trust until the transfer is recorded in the register of Trust 
Unitholders. 

As the Trust is not currently a reporting issuer in any jurisdiction, nor does it intend to become one, the Trust Units 
are subject to resale restrictions pursuant to applicable securities laws.  See “Item 12 – Resale Restrictions”. 

Restriction on Non-Resident Ownership 

In order for the Trust to maintain its status as a “mutual fund trust” under the Tax Act, the Trust must not be 
established or maintained primarily for the benefit of Non-Residents.  Accordingly, at no time may Non-Residents 
be the beneficial owners of more than 45% of all outstanding Trust Units on both a non-diluted basis and fully-
diluted basis. The Declaration of Trust provides that the Trustee shall use commercially reasonable efforts to 
monitor the beneficial ownership of the Trust Units.  The Trustee will require declarations in the Subscription 
Agreement as to the jurisdictions in which the beneficial owners of Trust Units are resident.  If the Trustee becomes 
aware that the beneficial owners of 45% of the Trust Units then outstanding are, or may be, Non-Residents or that 
such a situation is imminent, the Trustee may notify Trust Unitholders thereof and shall not accept a subscription for 
Trust Units from, or issue or register a transfer of Trust Units to, a Person unless the Person provides a declaration 
that the Person in not a Non-Resident and does not hold the Trust Units for the benefit of Non-Residents. 

If, notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Trustee determines that 45% or more of all Trust Units (including any class 
of trust units) are held by Non-Residents, the Trustee may send a notice to such Non-Resident holders of Trust 
Units, chosen in inverse order to the order of acquisition or registration or in such manner as the trustee may 
consider equitable and practicable, requiring them to sell or tender their Trust Units (or a portion thereof) for 
redemption within a required period of not less than 30 days, and if the Trust Unitholders receiving such notice have 
not, within the required period, sold or tendered their Trust Units to the Trust, or otherwise provided satisfactory 
evidence that the beneficial owners of such Trust Units are not Non-Residents, the Trustee may, as agent and 
attorney acting on behalf of such Trust Unitholders and/or such beneficial owners, sell or redeem the Trust Units at 
the Redemption Price, as contemplated in the Declaration of Trust. 

Until sale or redemption, the Trustee shall suspend the voting and distribution rights attached to or associated with 
such Trust Units held by Non-Residents, and upon the sale or redemption of such Trust Units, the affected Trust 
Unitholders shall cease to be holders of the Trust Units in question and their rights shall be limited to receiving the 
net proceeds of such sale or redemption upon surrender of the Unit Certificates representing such Trust Units. 

Trustee 

Subject to any restrictions set out in the Declaration of Trust, the Trustee has, without further or other action or 
consent, and free from any power or control on the part of the Trust Unitholders, full, absolute and exclusive power, 
control and authority over the Trust Property and over the affairs of the Trust to the same extent as if the Trustee 
was the sole and absolute beneficial owner of the Trust Property in its own right, to do all acts and things as in its 
sole discretion are necessary or incidental to, or desirable for, carrying out the purposes of the Trust created under 
the Declaration of Trust. Subject to limitations, the Trustee may delegate any of those duties of the Trustee granted 
or reserved to it under the Declaration of Trust that it deems appropriate. 

The Trustee has and may from time to time exercise the power and authority to, among other things: 
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(a) the Trustee may exercise from time to time in respect of the Trust Property and the investments and 
affairs of the Trust any and all rights, powers and privileges that could be exercised by a legal and 
beneficial owner thereof; 

(b) the Trustee has, without further or other action or consent, and free from any power of control on the 
part of the Trust Unitholders, full, absolute and exclusive power, control and authority over the Trust 
Property and over, and management of, the affairs of the Trust to the same extent as if the Trustee were 
the sole and absolute beneficial owner of the Trust Property in its own right, to do all such acts and 
things as in its sole judgment and discretion are necessary or incidental to, or desirable for, carrying 
out the trust created under the Declaration of Trust. In construing the provisions of the Declaration of 
Trust, presumption shall be in favour of the granted powers and authority to the Trustee. The 
enumeration of any specific power or authority in the Declaration of Trust shall not be construed as 
limiting the general powers or authority or any other specified power or authority conferred herein on 
the Trustee. To the maximum extent permitted by law the Trustee shall, in carrying out investment 
activities, not be in any way restricted by the provisions of the laws of any jurisdiction limiting or 
purporting to limit investments which may be made by trustees; 

(c) to take any action it considers necessary to ensure that the Trust retains its status as a “mutual fund 
Trust” under the Tax Act and to not qualify as a “SIFT trust” as defined in the Tax Act; 

(d) except as expressly prohibited by law, the Trustee may grant or delegate to any person the authority 
and the powers of the Trustee under the Declaration of Trust as the Trustee may in its discretion deem 
appropriate, necessary or desirable to carry out and effect the actual management and administration of 
the duties of the Trustee under the Declaration of Trust, without regard to whether the authority is 
normally granted or delegated by trustees; and 

(e) the Trustee is authorized to delegate its authority and to appoint a delegate (the “Delegate”) to act for 
and on behalf of the Trust in accordance with those powers and authorities granted to the Delegate 
under the terms of such agreement, and the Trustee may delegate to such person all of those duties of 
the Trustee under the Declaration of Trust that the Trustee deem appropriate. The Trustee may grant 
broad discretion to the Delegate to administer and manage the day-to-day operations of the Trust, to 
act as agent for the Trust, to execute documents on behalf of the Trust, and to make decisions on behalf 
of the Trust. The Delegate may be given, without limitation, the power to further delegate management 
and administration of the Trust, as well as the power to retain and instruct such appropriate experts or 
advisors to perform those duties and obligations which it is not best suited to perform. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Trustee shall not have the power, under any circumstances whatsoever, to effect, 
authorize or vote securities held by the Trust to authorize: 

(a) any amalgamation, arrangement or other merger of any subsidiary of the Trust with any other Person, 
except with one or more direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries or affiliates of the Trust or in 
conjunction with an internal reorganization with an affiliate or subsidiary of the Trust; 

(b) the winding-up or dissolution of the Partnership prior to the end of the term of such entity, except in 
conjunction with an internal reorganization with an affiliate or subsidiary of the Trust or the Partnership; 

(c) any sale, lease or exchange of all or substantially all of the Trust Property, other than pursuant to any security 
granted by the Trust or pursuant to any internal reorganization of the direct or indirect assets of the Trust as 
a result of which the Trust has the same interest, whether direct or indirect, in the assets as the interest, 
whether direct or indirect, that it had prior to the reorganization, and other than any such sale, lease or 
exchange effected between or among the Trust and any one or more of: 

(i) any corporation, partnership, firm or other form of legal entity or organization that is, directly or 
indirectly, wholly-owned by the Trust; 

(ii) any trust or trusts, the sole beneficiaries of which are the Trust and/or any of the Persons referred 
to above; 

(iii) any partnership, the only partners of which are Persons referred to in (i) and (ii) above; or 

(d) any sale, lease or exchange of all or substantially all of the assets of a subsidiary of the Trust except 
pursuant to any security granted by the subsidiary of the Trust or pursuant to any internal 
reorganization with an affiliate or subsidiary of the Trust and other than any such sale, lease or 
exchange effected between or among any one or more of: 
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(i) the Trust; 

(ii) any corporation, partnership, firm or other form of legal entity or organization that is, directly or 
indirectly, wholly-owned by the Trust; 

(iii) any trust or trusts, the sole beneficiaries of which are the Trust and/or any of the Persons referred 
to in (i) and (ii) above; and 

(iv) any partnership, the only partners of which are Persons referred to in (i), (ii) and (iii) above, 

in each case, without the approval of the Trust Unitholders by Special Resolution at a meeting of Trust 
Unitholders called for that purpose or adopted in writing. 

Power of Attorney 

The Declaration of Trust includes an irrevocable power of attorney authorizing the Trustee, on behalf of the Trust 
Unitholders, to execute, under seal or otherwise, swear to, acknowledge, deliver, make or file or record, as and 
where required: (i) the Declaration of Trust, any amendment or supplement to this Declaration of Trust, and any 
other instrument required or desirable to qualify, continue and keep in good standing, the Trust as a “mutual fund 
trust”; (ii) any instrument, deed, agreement, or document in connection with carrying on the activities and affairs of 
the Trust as authorized in the Declaration of Trust, including all conveyances, transfers and other documents 
required to facilitate any authorized transfer, sale or disposition of Trust Units required therein; (iii) all conveyances 
and other documents required in connection with the dissolution or liquidation of the trust in accordance with the 
terms of the Declaration of Trust; (iv) any and all elections, determinations or designations, whether jointly with 
third parties or otherwise, under the tax Act, or any other taxation or other legislation or similar laws of Canada or of 
any jurisdiction in respect of the affairs of the trust or of a Trust Unitholder’s interest in the Trust; (v) any 
instrument, certificate and other documents necessary or appropriate to reflect and give effect to any amendment to 
the Declaration of Trust, which is authorized from time to time as contemplated in the Declaration of Trust; and (vi) 
all transfers, conveyances and other documents required to facilitate the acquisition of Trust Units pursuant to the 
Declaration of Trust. 

Trust Expenses and Trust Fees 

The Trustee is entitled to reimbursement from the Trust of any of its expenses incurred in acting as Trustee. The 
Trustee on behalf of the Trust may pay or cause to be paid reasonable expenses incurred in connection with the 
administration and management of the Trust, including without limitation fees and expenses of auditors, lawyers, 
appraisers and other agents, consultants and professional advisers employed by or on behalf of the Trust and the cost 
of reporting or giving notices to Trust Unitholders. All costs, charges and expenses properly incurred by the Trustee 
on behalf of the Trust shall be payable out of the Trust Property. The Trustee on behalf of the Trust may pay or 
cause to be paid brokerage commissions at prevailing rates in receipt of the acquisition and disposition of any 
securities acquired or disposed of by the Trust to brokers. 

Limitations on Liabilities of Trustee and Trust Officers 

The Trustee and the officers of the Trust shall not be liable to any Trust Unitholder for any action taken or not taken 
in good faith in reliance on any documents that are, prima facie, properly executed; any depreciation of, or loss to, 
the Trust incurred by reason of the sale of any asset; the loss or disposition of monies or securities; or any other 
action or failure to act including, without limitation, the failure to compel in any way any former Trustee to 
redress any breach of trust or any failure by any Person to perform the duties delegated to it under this 
Declaration of Trust, except for actions constituting gross negligence, fraud or wilful misconduct. 

The Trustee, officers of the Trust and any agent thereof, shall not be liable whatsoever, in tort , contract or 
otherwise, in connection with the Trust Property or the affairs of the Trust, including in respect of any loss or 
diminution in value of any Trust Property, to the Trust or to the Trust Unitholders or to any other Person for 
anything done or permitted to be done by the Trustee.  The Trustee shall not be subject to any liability for any debts, 
liabilities, obligations, claims, demands, judgments, costs, charges or expenses against or with respect to the Trust 
arising out of anything done or permitted or omitted to be done in respect of the execution of the duties of the office 
of Trustee for or in respect to the affairs of the Trust.  No property or assets of the Trustee, owned in its own 
capacity or otherwise, will be subject to any levy, execution or other enforcement  procedure with regard to any 
obligations under the Declaration of Trust or under any other related agreements. No recourse may be had or taken, 
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directly or indirectly, against the Trustee in its own capacity or any successor of the Trustee.  The Trust shall be 
solely liable therefor and resort shall be had solely to the Trust Property for payment or performance thereof. 

Meetings of Trust Unitholders 

The Trust shall not be required to hold regular annual meetings of the Trust Unitholders.  Meetings of the Trust 
Unitholders may be called at any time by the Trustee and shall be called by the Trustee upon a written request of 
Trust Unitholders holding in the aggregate not less than fifty (50%) percent of all votes entitled to be voted at any 
meetings of the Trust Unitholders, such request to be sent to the Trustee at the head office of the Trust specifying in 
reasonable detail the purpose or purposes for which such meeting is to be called.  The chairman of any meeting shall 
be the chairman of the Trustee or any other Person specified by the Trustee or, in the absence of any Trustee, any 
Person appointed as chairman of the meeting by a majority of the Trust Unitholders present at the meeting.  Upon 
receiving the requisition described above, the Trustee will call a meeting of the Trust Unitholders to transact the 
business referred to in the requisition, in accordance with the Declaration of Trust. 

At any meeting of Trust Unitholders, a quorum consists of two or more Persons present in person either holding 
personally or representing as proxies in aggregate not less than 10% of the outstanding Trust Units.  Only Trust 
Unitholders of record shall be entitled to vote and each Trust Unit shall entitle the holder or holders of that Trust 
Unit on a poll vote at any meeting of Trust Unitholders to the voting rights set out in the Declaration of Trust. 

The Declaration of Trust provides that Trust Unitholders shall be entitled to pass resolutions that will bind the 
trustee only with respect to the following matters: 

(a) the election or removal of a Trustee; 

(b) amendments of the Declaration of Trust; 

(c) termination of the trust; 

(d) authorizing: (A) any amalgamation, arrangement or other merger of any subsidiary of the Trust with any 
other Person, except with one or more direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries or affiliates of the Trust 
or in conjunction with an internal reorganization with an affiliate or subsidiary of the Trust; (B) the 
winding-up or dissolution of the Partnership prior to the end of the term of the Partnership, except in 
conjunction with an internal reorganization with an affiliate or subsidiary of the Trust or the partnership; 
(C) any sale, lease or exchange of all or substantially all of the Trust Property, other than pursuant to any 
security granted by the Trust or pursuant to an internal reorganization of the direct or indirect assets of the 
Trust, as a result of which the Trust has the same interest, whether direct or indirect, in the assets that it had 
prior to the reorganization; and (D) any sale, lease or exchange of all or substantially all of the assets of a 
subsidiary of the Trust, except pursuant to any security granted by the Trust or pursuant to an internal 
reorganization with an affiliate or subsidiary of the Trust; 

(e) the appointment or removal of the Auditors; and 

(f) other matters as may be required by applicable laws to be submitted to Trust Unitholders for approval. 

Any action taken or resolution passed in respect of any matter at a meeting of Trust Unitholders shall be by 
Special Resolution, unless the contrary is otherwise expressly provided under any specific provision of this 
Declaration of Trust and except for the matters set out in subsections (e) and (f) above, which matters may be 
dealt with by a resolution passed by a majority of the votes cast by Trust Unitholders represented at the 
meeting. 

Indemnification of Trustee and Trust Officers 

The Trustee and the officers of the Trust shall be entitled to be and shall be indemnified and reimbursed out of the 
Trust Property in respect of any and all taxes (other than taxes on compensation), penalties or interest in respect of 
unpaid taxes or other governmental charges imposed upon the Trustee, former Trustee, officer or former officer in 
consequence of his or her performance of his or her duties. 
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Conflicts of Interest 

Pursuant to the Declaration of Trust, the Trust Unitholders acknowledge that the Trustee, the Partnership, the 
General Partner, 1027110, their respective Affiliates and subcontractors, and any directors, officers, employees and 
shareholders of any of them (collectively, the “Interested Parties”) may be and are permitted to be engaged in and 
intend to continue to operate other businesses which the Trust of the Partnership will not have an interest  and which 
may be competitive with the activities of the Trust or Partnership and, without limitation, the Interested Parties, may 
be and are permitted to act as a partner, shareholder, director, officer, employee, consultant, joint venture, advisor or 
in any other capacity or role whatsoever of, with, or to, other entities, which may be engaged in all or some of the 
aspects of the business of the Trust of the Partnership and may be in competition with the Trust or the Partnership.  
Any such Interested Parties may enter into material contracts and material transactions with the Trust and the Trust’s 
affiliates and associates, as well as any other Interested Parties.  Similarly, the Trust may enter into material 
contracts and material transactions with an Interested Party.  As a result of the foregoing, a possibility exists for the 
Interested Parties to be in a conflict of interest as it relates to the Trust. 

Pursuant to the Declaration of Trust, the Trust Unitholders agree that the activities and facts as set forth in the 
previous paragraph shall not constitute a conflict of interest or a breach of fiduciary duty to the Trust or the Trust 
Unitholders, and, pursuant to the Declaration of Trust, the Trust Unitholders consent to such activities, and waive, 
relinquish and renounce any rights to participate in any claim whatsoever with respect to any such activities, and the 
Trust Unitholders agree that none of the Interested Parties will be required to account to the Trust or any Trust 
Unitholder for any benefit or profit derived from such activities or from any similar or competing activity or any 
transaction relating thereto by reason of any conflict of interest or any fiduciary relationship that may be created by 
virtue of a position of an Interested Party with respect to the Trust. 

Amendments to the Declaration of Trust 

The Declaration of Trust may be amended or altered from time to time by the Trustee.  The Trustee may amend 
certain provisions of the Declaration of Trust at any time without the consent, approval or ratification of the Trust 
Unitholders or any other Person in certain circumstances.  The amendments will only be made if it is determined by 
the Trustee, in its sole discretion and acting reasonably, that a particular amendment is required for the overall 
benefit of the Trust and not making the change would be a greater detriment to the Trust Unitholders than making 
the amendment.  All other amendments may be made by Special Resolution.  For instance, the Trustee may amend 
the Declaration of Trust if the amendments are necessary in order for the Trust to continue to qualify as a “mutual 
fund trust” under the Tax Act or to not qualify as a “SIFT trust” under the Tax Act.  Reference should be made to 
the Declaration of Trust for specific authorizations or limitations that apply to such amendments to the Declaration 
of Trust. 

Term of the Trust 

Subject to the other provisions of this Declaration of Trust, the Trust shall continue for a term ending January 1, 
2041 provided the Trustee may, in its sole discretion, extend the term of the Trust for two additional one year 
periods. For the purpose of terminating the Trust by such date, the Trustee shall commence winding- up the affairs 
of the Trust on such date as may be determined by the Trustee, being not more than two years prior to the end of the 
term of the Trust. 

The Trustee, may at any time terminate and dissolve the Trust by delivering to each Trust Unitholder written 
notice of its intention to terminate at least ninety (90) days before the date on which the Trust is to be Terminated.  
Additionally, the Trust Unitholders may vote by Special Resolution to terminate the Trust at any meeting of Trust 
Unitholders duly called by the Trustee for the purpose of considering termination of the Trust. 

Financial Year End 

Following its first fiscal year, the Trust shall use the 31st day of December in each year as its fiscal year end and the 
first fiscal year of the Trust shall end on December 31, 2016. 
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Auditors of the Trust 

The Auditors of the Trust shall be an independent firm of chartered professional accountants which has an office in 
Canada, and shall initially be Smythe LLP.  The Auditors will receive such remuneration as may be approved by the 
Trustee. The Auditor shall audit the accounts of the trust at least once each year and a report of the Auditor with 
respect to annual financial statements of the trust shall be provided to each Unitholder.  The Auditors may, at any 
time, be removed by the Trustee with the approval of a majority of the votes cast by Trust Unitholders as a meeting 
of Trust Unitholders. 

Financial Disclosure 

The Trust will sent to Trust Unitholders within 120 days after the end of each fiscal year (or such shorter time as 
may be required by applicable securities law), the audited financial statements of the Trust for that fiscal year, 
together with the comparative audited financial statements for the preceding fiscal year, if any, and the report of the 
Auditor thereon, all prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

4.2 Partnership Agreement 

General 

The Partnership Agreement, which is dated as of January 26, 2016, as may be amended, contains the terms and 
conditions governing the relationship between the General Partner and the Limited Partners of the Partnership 
(including the Trust, as a Limited Partner). For additional information, see “Item 2.3 – Partnership”. 

The Partnership was formed for the purposes of (i) undertaking the Partnership Offering; (ii) using the net proceeds 
of the Partnership Offering to purchase interests in the Property; (iii) potentially constructing and developing the 
Property, either alone or with the other Co-Owners or through the entering into or use of contractual arrangements 
such as joint ventures or other agreements and/or entities such as corporations or limited partnerships (a “Venture”) 
with one or more third parties, in each case who may be Related Parties of the General Partner; (iv) managing, or 
utilizing a third party (who may be a Related Party of the General Partner) to manage, the development of the 
Property referred to in (iii) above, including without limitation, the rental or lease of such properties and/or 
structures, (v) eventually selling or otherwise disposing of its interests in the Property (which may be sold from time 
to time as a whole or in parts, including as lots) as entitled or partially entitled land or as fully or partially developed 
land; (vi) distributing the net sale proceeds to the Limited Partners; and (vii) performing such other activities as may 
be necessary, incidental, ancillary or convenient to or arising from the foregoing purposes as may be reasonably 
determined by the General Partner (collectively, the “Partnership Business”). 

The General Partner is owned and controlled by the Principals, 80% by the Regehr Family (2014) Trust (controlled 
by Brian Regehr), 10% by Robert Dominick Consulting Inc. (owned or controlled by Robert Dominick), and 10% 
by Strategic Gateways Corporation (owned or controlled by David Siebenga).  For more information with respect to 
the management of the General Partner, see “Item 2.4 – Management of the Partnership – The General Partner” 
and “Item 5 – Directors, Management, Promoters and Principal Holders”. 

The following is a summary of certain provisions of the Partnership Agreement of the Partnership.  The summary 
does not purport to be complete and is subject to the more detailed provisions of the partnership Agreement.  
Prospective subscribers should review the complete text of the Partnership Agreement, a copy of which is available 
from the Issuers. 

LP Units 

The Partnership’s authorized capital consists of an unlimited number of partnership units.  During the period ended 
January 31, 2016, the Partnership issued 10 LP Units to the General Partner for cash consideration of $10.00, and 
10 LP Units to 1027110 as the initial Limited Partner for cash consideration of $10. 

Each of the LP Units has identical rights and restrictions. Each LP Unit entitles the holder thereof to one vote at all 
meetings of Limited Partners, entitles the holder thereof to the pro rata right to be paid a share of the profits or 
allocated a portion of the loss of the Partnership or receive compensation by income or otherwise in respect of their 
respective capital contributions, and entitles the holder to receive their pro rate share of the distributions under the 
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Partnership Agreement, and entitles the holder to the right of redemption under the terms set forth in the Partnership 
Agreement. 

The General Partner will issue certificates to evidence the LP Units held by the Limited Partners within a reasonable 
period of time after the acceptance by the General Partner of the applicable subscription for such LP Units and 
receipt of payment by the General Partner of the capital contribution for such LP Units. Each Unit Certificate will be 
in such form as is from time to time approved by the General Partner and will be signed by the General Partner. 
Each and every Limited Partner will be entitled to receive a Unit Certificate to evidence the LP Units held by such 
Limited Partner. 

Limited Partners 

Each Subscriber whose subscription is accepted by the General Partner will become a Limited Partner effective 
upon the performance of certain formalities by the General Partner. Subsequent purchasers of LP Units will become 
Limited Partners upon compliance with the conditions of transfer set out in the Partnership Agreement, upon the 
General Partner entering the prescribed information on the records of the Partnership and performance of certain 
formalities by the General Partner. 

The ownership of all property of the Partnership of every description and the rights to conduct the affairs of the 
Partnership are vested exclusively in the General Partner and the Limited Partners have no interest other than their 
beneficial interest in the Partnership. 

Subject to the Partnership Act and any specific assumption of liability by a Limited Partner, the liability of each 
Limited Partner for the debts, liabilities and obligations of the Partnership is limited to the amount of its capital 
contribution and the Limited Partners pro rata share of undistributed income from the Partnership and the Limited 
Partner will have no further personal liability for such debts, liabilities or obligations and after making payment of 
the full amount of his capital contribution to the Partnership. 

Under the Partnership Agreement, each Limited partner represents and warrants and covenants to each other Limited 
Partner and to the General partner that such Limited partner, among other things: (i) it is not a Non-Resident; (ii) if 
an individual, the Limited Partner is of the age of majority; and (iii) it has the requisite power and capacity to enter 
into and be bound by the Partnership Agreement and its execution and delivery of the Partnership Agreement has 
been duly authorized.  

If at any time a Limited Partner is or becomes a Non-Resident, the General Partner may require that Limited partner 
to transfer its LP Units to a resident or residents of Canada. If a Non-Resident Limited partner fails to transfer its LP 
Units to a resident of Canada who qualifies to hold LP Units under the terms of the Partnership Agreement within 30 
days of the giving of notice to such Non-Resident Limited partner to so transfer its LP Units, the General partner 
shall be entitled to sell such LP units on behalf of such Non-Resident Limited partner on such terms and conditions 
as the General partner considers reasonable. 

Capital Accounts.   

A capital account shall be established for each Partner, with respect to the LP Units, on the books of the Partnership 
(each a “Capital Account”) and such account shall be adjusted as provided for in the partnership Agreement.  A 
Partner’s Capital Account shall be credited with such Partner’s Partnership capital contributions and any net profits 
allocated to such partner pursuant to the Partnership Agreement and shall be debited with any net losses allocated to 
such partner, the amount of any capital withdrawals, and the amount of any distributions, all pursuant to the 
Partnership Agreement. A partner will not be entitled to receive repayment from its Capital Account or to receive 
any distribution except as provided in the Partnership Agreement. 

Meetings of Limited Partners. 

Meetings of the Limited Partners may be called at any time by the General partner and may be called upon written 
request of Limited Partners holding in the aggregate, not less than 50% of the outstanding LP Units.  Quorum at any 
meeting of Limited Partners consists of the Limited partners present, in person or represented by proxy, who 
collectively hold or represent by proxy the following percentages of issued and outstanding LP Units: (i) if called by 
Limited Partners, quorum shall be 50%; and (ii) if called by the General partner, quorum shall be 20%. 
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Powers and Duties of the General Partner.   

The General Partner has exclusive authority to manage, administer and operate the business and affairs of the 
Partnership and to bind the Partnership.  The General Partner is required to exercise its powers and discharge its 
duties honestly, in good faith and in the best interests of the Partnership and the Limited Partners and to exercise the 
care, diligence and skill that a reasonably prudent manager of a business similar to that of the Partnership would 
exercise in comparable circumstances.  Certain restrictions are imposed on the General Partner, including that it may 
not dissolve the Partnership or wind-up the Partnership affairs except in accordance with the provisions of the 
Partnership Agreement. 

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the General Partner has full power and authority for and on behalf 
of and in the name of the Partnership: 

• invest in, acquire and hold property, both real and personal, whether by freehold, leasehold or 
otherwise, and to enter into or renew any lease of any such property, including the Property; 

• enter into one or more Ventures or other forms of co-ownership in respect of any property, asset or 
undertaking of the Partnership, including the Property and, if the General Partner determines 
appropriate, to transfer or contribute portions of any property, asset or undertaking of the Partnership, 
including the Property, to such Ventures to be held by such Ventures for the purposes thereof; 

• develop, construct, improve, expand, tear down and re-build or alter any property or any 
improvement on any property, including the Property; 

• pay the Partnership's share of all real estate taxes or special assessments imposed on the Propertyor 
with respect to the Partnership's Interest therein; 

• operate and manage the Property and provide over-all management and financial and business 
planning for and on behalf of the Partnership, and to determine the investment policies, practices and 
objectives applicable to the Partnership including any restrictions on investments which the General 
Partner deems advisable, to implement such policies, practices and objectives and to purchase or 
otherwise acquire any property, assets and undertakings in accordance with such policies, practices 
and objectives; 

• enter into, perform or assume the obligations under any agreements for (or delegate, if the General 
Partner so chooses in its sole discretion) the management and operation of the business of the 
Partnership and the assets or undertakings of the Partnership, including the Property or its interest 
therein, and for the provision of all necessary services for and on behalf of the Partnership and to 
enter into the Co-Ownership Agreement or a similar agreement with any other person; 

• sell, convey, transfer, exchange and otherwise dispose of all or any portion of the properties, assets, 
undertakings and investments of the Partnership, including the Property or its interest therein, at any 
time and from time to time; 

• in the event that it is determined that the Partnership will participate in the development or 
redevelopment of all or any portion of the Property or its interest therein, reinvest all or any part of 
the income or assets of the Partnership received from the Property or its interest therein or any 
Venture or its interest therein or from the sale of portions thereof or its interest therein (and that 
would have otherwise been available for distribution to the Limited Partners hereunder) in such 
development or redevelopment; 

• lend money, whether secured or unsecured, on such terms and conditions as the General Partner 
deems reasonable; 

• exercise personally or by general or limited power of attorney all voting rights (if any) and all other 
rights attaching to or appurtenant to any property, assets, undertakings or investments of the 
Partnership; 
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• borrow money in such manner and amounts, and from such sources and on such terms and conditions 
as the General Partner deems appropriate including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, 
for the purpose of paying Partnership expenses and the Management Fees and financing the purchase 
and development of the Property, other capital expenditures and generally the business, operations 
and undertakings of the Partnership; 

• in connection with any borrowing referred to herein, execute without limit as to amount, draw, make, 
issue and deliver negotiable and non-negotiable instruments in evidence of indebtedness and secure 
the payment of money so borrowed including, without limit, pledging, or assigning in trust, any of 
the property, assets or undertaking of the Partnership and grant mortgages, liens, charges, 
encumbrances and other security interests on any property, assets or undertaking of the Partnership; 

• renew or extend or participate in the renewal or extension of any mortgage or other security interest 
upon such terms as the General Partner may deem advisable; 

• place registered title to any property or assets of the Partnership in the name of the General Partner or 
any other nominee or trustee or bare trustee, for the purpose of financing or other convenience for the 
benefit of the Partnership; 

• enter into any license or sub-license agreement with any other Person to obtain rights to technology, 
intellectual property or otherwise, in such manner and on such terms as the General Partner considers 
appropriate; 

• incur all reasonable expenses relating to the development, construction and operation of the business, 
property, assets and undertakings of the Partnership, including the Project Lands or which the 
General Partner deems are necessary or incidental to or desirable for carrying out the purposes of the 
Partnership or conducting the Partnership Business; 

• employ, retain or dismiss from employment all necessary personnel, agents, representatives or 
professionals with the powers and duties, upon the terms, at the places and for the compensation as in 
the discretion of the General Partner may be necessary or advisable in the carrying on of the business, 
operations and undertakings of the Partnership; 

• retain, dismiss and change legal counsel, accountants, auditors, experts, advisors, agents or 
consultants as the General Partner will consider appropriate and to rely upon the advice of such 
persons; 

• open accounts for the Partnership in the name of the General Partner or the Partnership, to designate, 
and from time to time to change, the signatories to the accounts, to execute loan and credit 
agreements on behalf of the Partnership, and to make deposits to any such account for and on behalf 
of the Partnership; 

• invest and hold funds not immediately required for the operation of the Partnership in a prudent 
manner; 

• decide in its sole and entire discretion the time when property or assets of the Partnership shall be 
distributed to the Partners and the amount of any such distribution; 

• where the General Partner determines that it is not appropriate or advisable for the assets of the 
Partnership to be held or registered in the name of the Partnership, to hold the assets of the 
Partnership in the name of the General Partner or an Affiliate of the General Partner or any other 
party that the General Partner determines appropriate for the sole benefit of the Partnership, or in the 
name of any other Person or entity as may be required by law for the sole benefit of the Partnership; 

• submit the Partnership to binding arbitration with respect to the matters pertaining to the assets and 
undertakings of the Partnership; 

• commence, defend and settle any action or proceeding in connection with the Partnership; 



- 37 - 

 
 

• file all returns and provide all other information required by any governmental or like authority; 

• enter into and perform all contracts, covenants and obligations of or relating to the Partnership; 

• obtain and account for all revenue of the Partnership; 

• disburse monies to the Partners in accordance with the Partnership Agreement; 

• obtain and maintain such insurance coverage as may be determined necessary by the General Partner; 

• attend to all matters relating to the sale, distribution and issuing of LP Units and to acquire any 
outstanding LP Unit on terms and conditions acceptable to the General Partner acting in its sole 
discretion or as otherwise authorized under the terms of the Partnership Agreement; 

• effect a subdivision of the outstanding number of LP Units into a greater number of LP Units or a 
consolidation of the outstanding number of LP Units into a lesser number of LP Units; 

• attend to all matters and execute all documents relating to the subscription, distribution, sale or 
transfer of LP Units pursuant to the Partnership Agreement, and to approve or reject any such 
subscription, distribution, sale or transfer; 

• make, execute, acknowledge and deliver, under seal or otherwise, any instrument, deed, agreement, 
contract, lease, mortgage, conveyance, guarantee, indemnity, covenant, waiver and other document 
and take any other steps as are necessary or desirable to effect the power and authority of the General 
Partner provided herein for and on behalf of and in the name of the Partnership; 

• enter into and perform any agreement to do any of the foregoing; and 

• generally to do all acts and things and to take all steps and proceedings and exercise all rights and 
privileges in connection with the property, assets and the undertakings of the Partnership which 
would customarily be carried out by a reasonable and prudent owner and operator in Canada having a 
like business. 

General Partner May Acquire LP Units 

The General Partner and/or its Related Parties may, at the initial Closing and any subsequent Closing, in conjunction 
with such Closing subscribe for LP Units representing in aggregate 10% or more of the total LP Units issued at such 
Closing. With respect to the LP Units so purchased, the General Partner and its Related Parties will have the same 
rights as any Limited Partner, including the right to receive allocations of income and losses and to receive 
distributions with respect to the LP Units held in the name of the General Partner or any of its Related Parties in 
accordance with the allocation and distribution provisions of the Partnership Agreement. 

Other Activities of General Partner 

The General Partner will not be required to devote its efforts exclusively to or for the benefit of the Partnership. The 
General Partner and its related parties will have the right to engage in, and to organize and operate other partnerships 
and to engage in other business ventures of any kind, including the operation and ownership of other partnerships or 
businesses engaged in a business similar to, or competitive with, that of the Partnership. In the absence of bad faith 
on the part of the General Partner or its related parties, any resolution of or course of action relating to any conflict 
of interest by the General Partner will be deemed fair and reasonable and will not constitute a breach of the 
Partnership Agreement or a duty owed by the General Partner to the Partnership. Engaging in any such activity by 
the General Partner will not be considered a breach of any duty that the General Partner and its related parties may 
have to the Partnership or to the Limited Partners, and the Partnership will have no interest in any profits that may 
be realized with respect to any such activity. 
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Conflicts of Interest 

Under the terms of the Partnership Agreement, the Limited Partners acknowledge that the General Partner’s 
associates, Affiliates and their respective directors and officers (including the directors and officers of the General 
Partner) may and are permitted to be engaged in and continue in other businesses in which the Fund will not have an 
interest and which may be competitive with the activities of the Partnership and, without limitation, the General 
Partner’s associates, Affiliates, and their respective directors and officers (including the directors and officers of the 
General Partner) may and are permitted to act in any capacity or role whatsoever of, with or to other entities, 
including limited partnerships, which may be engaged in all or some of the aspects of the affairs of the Partnership 
and may be in competition with the Partnership.  See “Item 10 Risk Factors – Conflicts of Interest”. 

Under the terms of the Partnership Agreement, the Limited Partners consent to such activities and the Limited 
Partners waive, relinquish and renounce any right to participate in, and any other claim whatsoever with respect to, 
any such activities.  See “Item 10 Risk Factors – Conflicts of Interest”. 

General Partner Fees 

The Partnership will pay to the General Partner a management fee (the “Management Fee”) each month during the 
Term of the Partnership equal to one-twelfth (1/12) of one and eight-tenths of one percent (1.8%) of Aggregate 
Contributed Capital as at the relevant payment date. 

The General Partner is also entitled to the Carried Interest.  See “Item 7.2 Securities Offered – Terms of LP Units”. 

The General Partner will generally be reimbursed for all reasonable costs and expenses incurred by the General 
Partner on behalf of the Partnership in respect of the Offerings and in the ordinary course of business, and other 
costs and expenses incidental to acting as General Partner. 

The Partnership Agreement provides that the Partnership will indemnify the General Partner against all expenses, 
including legal fees, judgments and amounts paid in settlement, actually and reasonably incurred by the General 
Partner in connection with the Partnership provided such expenses were not the result of gross negligence or wilful 
misconduct on the part of the General Partner. 

Removal of General Partner 

The Limited Partners may, by Special Resolution (excluding any LP Units held by the General Partner and its 
Principals and Affiliates), and only with cause, remove the General Partner and appoint a new Person to be the 
General Partner, and cause shall be limited to the occurrence of any of the following events: 

(a) the General Partner has wilfully breached a material obligation or a fiduciary duty it has under the 
Partnership Agreement, which breach is conclusively determined by a final and non-appealable judgement 
of a court of competent jurisdiction, and such breach is not remedied within sixty (60) days (or in the 
process of being cured within sixty (60) days and is cured within one hundred twenty (120) days) after such 
conclusive determination; 

(b) gross negligence, fraud or willful misconduct on the part of the General Partner, which gross negligence, 
fraud or willful misconduct is conclusively determined by a final and non-appealable judgement of a court 
of competent jurisdiction; or 

(c) the General Partner files a voluntary petition in bankruptcy, is involuntarily dissolved or commences its 
winding up, consents or acquiesces to the appointment of a trustee, receiver or liquidator of the General 
Partner, or has entered against it an order for relief in a federal bankruptcy proceeding which order is not 
stayed, vacated or dismissed within ninety (90) days; 

and, in all cases, only if the Limited Partners appoint by Special Resolution (excluding any LP Units held by the 
General Partner and its Principals and Affiliates), concurrently with such removal, a Person to act as General 
Partner who, from the date of such removal, assumes all of the responsibilities and obligations of the removed 
General Partner, including without limitation, liabilities with regard to financing provided to the Partnership. 
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Resignation of General Partner. 

The General Partner may at any time resign as the General Partner with the consent of the Limited Partners by 
Special Resolution (excluding any Units held by the General Partner and its Principals and Affiliates), provided, 
however, such resignation will only be effective upon the admission and appointment of another Person, appointed 
by Special Resolution, to act as the General Partner.  Further, a resigning General Partner will be entitled to be paid 
the balance in its capital account as of the date of resignation, such payment to be made on the effective date of 
resignation. 

Distributions of the Partnership. 

The General Partner of the Partnership is responsible for calculating and determining the Partnership’s distributable 
cash at least annually within 120 days of each fiscal year end and at such other times as it may determine in its 
discretion. 

Pursuant to the Partnership Agreement, the Partnership will distribute its distributable cash in the following order of 
priority: 

(a) first, to repay any loans to the Partnership made by the General Partner or any Limited Partners; 

(b) second, to distribute to the Limited Partners pro rata according to their respective capital contributions 
until the amount so distributed equals each respective Limited Partner’s aggregate capital contribution; 

(c) third, to distribute to the Limited Partners pro rata according to their respective unpaid 9% cumulative 
annual preferred return until such amount of preferred return has been paid, wherein one-third of the 
annual return will be payable every six months on June 30 and Dec 31 each year and two-thirds shall 
be payable annually as determined by the General Partner; 

(d) fourth, the amount equal to the distributions in (iii) above shall be paid as incentive remuneration to the 
General Partner; 

(e) fifth, thereafter 50% as a distribution to the Limited Partners pro rata according to their respective 
capital contributions, and 50% as an additional paid as incentive remuneration to the General Partner; 
and 

(f) sixth, the balance thereafter will be allocated: 50% thereof as a distribution to the Limited Partners pro 
rata according to their respective capital contributions; and 50% thereof as a further incentive 
remuneration to the General Partner, 

(the distributions to the General Partner pursuant to (d), (e) and (f) above, together with all amounts paid to the 
General Partner on liquidation of the Partnership in accordance with the Partnership Agreement, are collectively the 
“Carried Interest”). 

Allocation of Net Profits and Net Losses. 

Subject to the adjustment of allocations as provided in the Partnership Agreement, for each fiscal year, net profits or 
net losses (and investment gains, investment losses, net operating profits or net operating losses included therein) for 
both accounting and for tax purposes, shall be allocated among the Limited Partners and General Partner in a 
manner consistent with the distributions set forth in the Partnership Agreement, and for accounting purposes, shall 
be allocated for each fiscal year, and for income purposes, shall be allocated as at the end of the fiscal year, the net 
profits or net losses, as applicable, for tax purposes shall be allocated among Limited partners in accordance with 
their pro rata share. 
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Non-Transferability, Right of First Refusal, and Mandatory Sale.. 

Except as provided in the Partnership Agreement or as may be consented to in writing by the General partner in its 
sole discretion, a Partner will not transfer, assign, pledge, encumber or dispose of its LP Units. No Partner may sell, 
transfer or dispose of less than all of its LP Units or less than 100% of its legal or beneficial interest in and to the 
Partnership, including its Capital Account, right to receive income or the return of capital, or any other right or 
interest whatsoever at any time. 

Under the Partnership Agreement, a Limited Partner may, upon receipt of a bona fide third party offer the acquire all 
but not less than all of its LP Units, offer all of its LP Units to all other Limited Partners under the same terms as the 
third party offer, and then to the General Partner if not accepted by any of the other Limited Partners. If neither the 
other Limited Partners nor the General Partner accept the offer within the time periods in the Partnership 
Agreement, then the selling Limited partner may sell to the third party within the time periods in the Partnership 
Agreement, provided that the third party qualifies as a Limited Partner under the partnership Agreement. 

If the General Partner receives a bona fide offer from a Person dealing at arm’s length with the Partnership, to 
purchase all or substantially all of the LP Units owned by all of the Partners and which offer is accepted by the 
General Partner and authorized by Special Resolution (excluding any LP Units held by the General Partner and its 
related parties), all Limited Partners will be bound to sell all of their LP Units to the General Partner at the price per 
LP Unit and on the payment terms set forth in the offer received by the General Partner, conditional upon, and to be 
completed at the time of completion of, the sale of the LP Units to the purchaser. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Limited Partner may sell or transfer its LP Units to an Affiliate, provided that such 
Affiliate has qualified to be a Limited Partner under the Partnership Agreement. 

Redemption. 

LP Units are redeemable by the Limited Partners by delivering to the Partnership, or the General partner on behalf 
of the Partnership, a duly completed and properly executed notice requiring the Partnership to redeem LP Units, in a 
form approved by the General partner, together with written instructions as to the number of LP Units to be 
redeemed and the Unit Certificate(s) representing the LP Units to be redeemed.  LP Units are redeemable on the last 
Business Day of any calendar quarter end (the “Redemption Date”) and the Partnership shall pay the Redemption 
Price within 60 days after the Redemption Date.  The notice, Unit Certificate(s) and all other supporting 
documentation or evidence must be received by the Partnership, or the General partner on behalf of the Partnership, 
to the satisfaction of the General Partner, not less than 30 days prior to the applicable Redemption Date.  On receipt 
of a notice to redeem LP Units, the Limited Partner will no longer have any rights with respect to the LP Units other 
than to receive any distribution accrued prior to receipt of the notice and the redemption amount. 

Within 60 days of the Redemption Date, the Limited Partner holding the LP Units tendered for redemption shall be 
entitled to receive a redemption price (the “Redemption Price”) equal to the lesser of: 

(a) 95% of the Net Capital Contribution of such LP Units, until December 31 of the year in which the Final 
Closing takes place; 

(b) 97.5% of the Net Capital Contribution of such LP Units, until December 31 in the year following the year 
in which the Final Closing takes place; and 

(c) 100% thereafter, 
less a redemption fee of $200. 

The Redemption Price may be paid by the Partnership in cash or, at the election of the General Partner, by 
distributing or issuing any combination of cash and/or Redemption Notes (see Glossary of Terms—“Redemption 
Notes” on page 7 for a description of terms and conditions for the Redemption Notes) having an aggregate fair 
market value equal to the aggregate Redemption Price, as applicable for the LP Units tendered for redemption. 

Except as determined by the General Partner, the maximum aggregate number of LP Units that may be redeemed by 
the Partnership shall not exceed 10% of the total number of LP Units issued and outstanding at the beginning of a 
fiscal quarter.  The General Partner shall exercise such limitation and any cutbacks on a proportionate basis with 
respect to the aggregate number of LP Units represented by redemption notices.  The Partnership may suspend the 
redemption of LP Units or postpose the date of payment of redeemed LP Units in such circumstances as the General 
Partner may reasonably determine.  Such circumstances may include: (i) the assets of the Partnership are invested in 
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such a manner so as to not reasonably permit immediate liquidation of such assets; or (ii) there exists a state of 
affairs that constitutes circumstances under which liquidation by the Partnership of part or all its investments is not 
reasonable or practicable, or would be prejudicial to the Partnership or the Limited partners, generally; or (iii) not 
suspending redemptions would have an adverse effect on the continuing Limited Partners.  The Partnership may also 
suspend the redemption of LP Units upon an announcement by the General Partner that the Partnershipwill be 
terminated and dissolved. 

At the General Partner’s discretion, the Partnership may, at any time, cause any Limited Partner to redeem all or part 
of its LP Units at the applicable Redemption Price by providing notice to such Limited Partner, if such Limited 
Partner is a Non-Resident or that the continued undiminished membership of the Limited Partner in the Partnership 
would (i) constitute or give rise to a violation of applicable law, or (ii) otherwise subject the Partnership or the 
General Partner to material onerous legal, tax, or other regulatory requirements that cannot be reasonably avoided. 

The Partnership may, at any time, purchase for cancellation some or all of the LP Units by private agreement or 
pursuant to tenders received by the Partnership upon request for tenders addressed to all Limited Partners, provided 
that the General Partner determines such purchases are in the best interests of the Partnership.  All LP Units so 
purchased and redeemed shall no longer be outstanding. 

Term and Termination of Partnership. 

The Partnership will continue until terminated in accordance with the terms of the Partnership Agreement.   Upon 
the dissolution of the Partnership, the General Partner will, after payment or provision for the payment of the debts 
and liabilities, including contingent liabilities, of the Partnership and liquidation expenses, distribute the remaining 
assets of the Partnership pursuant to the Partnership Agreement. 

Power of Attorney. 

The Partnership Agreement includes an irrevocable power of attorney authorizing the General Partner on behalf of 
the Limited Partners to, among other things, execute the Partnership Agreement, any amendments to the Partnership 
Agreement and all instruments necessary to continue or keep in good standing the Fund as well as any elections, or 
declarations under the Tax Act or taxation legislation of any province. 

Amendments. 

The Partnership Agreement may be amended by the General Partner, without prior notice to or consent of any 
Limited Partner, in order to reflect the admission, resignation, withdrawal or other change of any Partner or the 
transfer or assignment of a LP Unit under or pursuant to the provisions of the Partnership Agreement.  The 
Partnership Agreement may otherwise be amended by the General Partner with the authorization and consent of the 
Partners given by Special Resolution.  In addition, the General Partner may, without prior notice to or consent from 
any Limited Partners, amend any provisions of the partnership Agreement from time to time: 

(i) for the purpose of adding to the Partnership Agreement any further covenants, restrictions, deletions or 
provisions which, in the written opinion of counsel to the General Partner, are for the protection of the 
Limited Partners as a group; or 

(ii) to cure any ambiguity or to correct or to supplement any provision or typographical error contained 
herein which, in the written opinion of counsel to the General Partner, may be defective or inconsistent 
with any other provision contained herein, provided, in the written opinion of such counsel, the cure, 
correction or supplemental provision does not in a material way adversely affect the rights of the 
Limited Partners as a group; or 

(iii) to make such other provisions in regards to matters or questions arising under the Partnership 
Agreement which in the written opinion of counsel to the General Partner, do not in a material way 
adversely affect the rights of the Limited Partners as a group, 

provided that all Limited Partners are notified of full details of any amendments to the Partnership 
Agreement within thirty (30) days of the effective date of the amendment. 
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Accounting and Reporting. 

Not later than One Hundred and Twenty (120) days after the end of each fiscal year of the Partnership, the General 
Partner will furnish to each Limited Partner an annual report of the business and operations of the Partnership during 
such year and such report will constitute the accounting of the General Partner for such year. Such report will 
contain a copy of the annual financial statements of the Partnership showing the Partnership’s gross receipts and 
expenses and the Partnership’s profits or loss for the year and the allocation allowed to each LP Unit, and will 
otherwise be in such form and have such content as the General Partner deems proper. The statement will also 
contain a complete statement of amounts paid during the year by the Partnership to the General Partner, its Affiliates 
and subcontractors and all necessary tax information.  The Partnership will use December 31 in each year, or such 
other date as the General Partner determines, as its fiscal year end.  See “Item 11 Reporting Obligations”. 

4.3 Earn-In Agreement 

The Earn-In Agreement is an agreement among the Partnership, 1027110 and the Registered Owners dated January 
29, 2016 as amended on January 3, 2017, granting the Partnership the option to invest in the 5.1 acre real estate 
development property (the “Property”) located at 9525 King George Boulevard, Surrey, B.C., legally described as 
PID No. 011-069-236, Parcel “F” (Reference Plan 15821), Lot 2 Except part on Highway Statutory Right of Way 
Plan 62493, Section 32, Township 2, New Westminster District Plan 4312.  The Property is encumbered by the 
following financial charges: 

(i) a first mortgage registered under charge number CA259156 in favour of Computershare Trust 
Company of Canada, which secures the principal amount of $7,500,000 (the “First Mortgage”); and 

(ii) a second mortgage registered under charge number CA308566 in favour of 1027110, which secures 
the principal amount of $8,500,000 (the “Second Mortgage”), and 

the terms and conditions of the First Mortgage and the Second Mortgage are described below. 

Under the Earn-In Agreement, the Partnership obtained the option at any time until March 31, 2018 to acquire from 
1027110 up to a 100% beneficial interest in the Property (the “Acquired Interest”) for a total aggregate purchase 
price of $23,000,000, which may be acquired in one or more closings in increments of $100,000 for every 1/230th of 
the Property. 

First Mortgage 

Principal amount: $7,500,000. 

Interest: 8.25% per annum, compounded semi-annually, not in advance. 

Due date: April 1, 2017 with an option to extend for an additional term of 12 months; and the lender has confirmed 
willingness to refinance with a larger amount to payout the First Mortgage and Second Mortgage. 

Prepayment: The principal and interest may be prepaid at any time provided, however, that the interest for the 
remaining portion of the term shall be paid as well. 

Second Mortgage 

Principal amount: $8,500,000. 

Interest: not more than 5% per annum, compounded semi-annually, not in advance. 

Due date: April 1, 2017 with an option to extend for an additional term of 12 months. 

Prepayment: The principal and interest may be prepaid at any time provided, however, that prior written consent of 
the First Mortgage lender is necessary before any prepayment prior to the First Mortgage. 
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4.4 Co-Ownership Agreement 

Effective January 29, 2016, the Partnership entered into the Co-Ownership Agreement with 1027110.  Upon 
acquiring an interest in the Property from 1027110 under the Earn-In Agreement, the Partnership and 1027110 will 
become co-owners of the Property, and their respective rights and obligations of such co-ownership and 
development of the Property will be governed pursuant to the terms of the Co-Ownership Agreement.  Under the 
Co-Ownership Agreement, each of 1027110 and the Partnership are responsible for their respective pro rata share of 
expenses and are entitled to their respective pro rata share of income less the expenses for the ownership and 
development of the Property.  

Reporting 

1027110 shall prepare: (i) monthly management financial statements, within 10 days of each calendar month end, 
reflecting a sufficient level of detail as to the revenue and expenses of the management, development and co-
ownership of the Property; (ii) within 60 days of the end of the calendar quarter, quarterly financial statements 
prepared by the auditor on a review engagement basis; and (iii) within 90 days of the calendar year end, audited 
annual financial statements. 

Major Decisions 

Each of 1027110 and the Partnership shall have a veto on all “major decisions” as to the co-ownership, management 
and development of the Property, which require unanimous decisions, as follows: 

(a) any material change to the Property development plans and specifications; 

(b) increase or decrease of the number of floors of the Property development; 

(c) the selection and/or replacement of the project manager, the construction manager and the marketing team 
for the Property development and the terms and conditions of their respective contracts, unless already 
retained as at the date hereof; 

(d) the selection and approval of all other consultants, professional advisors and major subcontractors, as well 
as the terms and conditions of employment, unless already retained as at the date hereof; 

(e) if applicable, the terms and conditions upon which the condominium units are to be offered for sale to 
prospective purchasers, including the pricing of the condominium units, and any proposed sale not 
substantially meeting the criteria previously approved; 

(f) the terms and conditions of any construction or other financing for the Property development including the 
choice of construction lenders; 

(g) the terms and conditions of any development, financial or other similar agreements to be entered into with 
governmental authorities relating to the Property development; 

(h) the sale of the Property development, in whole or in part, other than as a sale of strata units in the ordinary 
course of business and subject to a minimum sale price agreed by both parties; 

(i) any non-arm’s length contracts; 

(j) the timing or phasing of the Property development, if any, both from a marketing and a construction 
commencement perspective; 

(k) any guarantees to be provided; 

(l) the establishment or approval of, and any material amendment or deviation from the budget (the “Budget”) 
for the Property development; and 

(m) any change to the business plan, Budget and Property development cash flow forecast previously approved 
by the parties. 



- 44 - 

 
 

Expenses 

In addition to unanimously decided matters outlined above, the following expenses in relation to the Property shall 
be borne by the Co-Owners in proportion to their then applicable respective ownership interest in the Property: 

(a) rates and assessments payable to any applicable Governmental Authority; 

(b) property management fees pursuant to the Pre-Development Agreement (see below); 

(c) property taxes; 

(d) insurance premiums; 

(e) expenses associated with the maintenance of or repairs to the Property, subject to the limitations in the Cor-
Ownership Agreement (i.e., as to matters to be decided unanimously); 

(f) utilities; 

(g) development costs and expenses, as approved in the Budget (which must be unanimously approved); and 

(h) all other costs payable in respect of the property which is the responsibility of the owner of the Property. 

Term 

The term of the Co-Ownership Agreement shall continue from January 29, 2016 until: (a) the sale of the Property by 
the Co-Owners; (b) termination of the agreement by mutual agreement of the Co-owners; or (c) the Partnership 
acquires 100% beneficial interest in the Property pursuant to the earn-In Agreement. 

4.5 Pre-Development Agreement 

Effective January 29, 2016, 1027110 entered into the Pre-Development Agreement with BKR, pursuant to the Co-
Ownership Agreement wherein BKR agrees to provide development services for the development of the Property 
for 1027110.  Under the Pre-Development Agreement, BKR is entitled to be reimbursed for its development 
expenses as well as a developer’s fee of $50,000 per month plus applicable goods and services taxes.  Under the Co-
Ownership Agreement, the Partnership is responsible for its proportionate share of development expenses including 
the expenses incurred under the Pre-Development Agreement.  Upon acquisition by the Partnership of 100% of the 
Property under the Earn-In Agreement, the Partnership will acquire the rights and the responsibilities contained 
within the Pre-Development Agreement but 1027110 will remain liable for obligations that it had accrued under the 
Pre-Development Agreement. 

4.6 Funding Agreement 

Effective January 31, 2016, the Trust and the Partnership entered into the Funding Agreement, which provides that 
the Partnership will pay all costs, fees, Selling Commissions and expenses incurred by the Trust in connection with 
the Trust Offering in consideration for the Trust using all of its Gross Proceeds from the Trust Offering to acquire 
LP Units under the Partnership Offering. 
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ITEM 5 - INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS, MANAGEMENT, PROMOTERS AND PRINCIPAL HOLDERS 

5.1 Compensation and Securities Held 

The following table sets out information about each director and officer of the Trustee, the General Partner, each 
promoter of the Trust and the Partnership and each person who directly or indirectly beneficially owns or controls 
10% or more of the Units of the Trust and the Partnership.  

 
Name and municipality of 
principal residence 

 
Positions held and 
the date of obtaining 
that position 

 
Compensation paid 
by the Issuers 
during the fiscal 
year ended 
December 31, 2016 
and compensation 
anticipated to be 
paid for the current 
fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2017 

 
Number and 
percentage of 
Units held after 
completion of min. 
Offerings 

 
Number and 
percentage of Units 
held after 
completion of max. 
Offerings 

FOR THE TRUST:     
1008184 B.C. LTD. (1) 
SURREY, BC 

Trustee of the Trust 2016 – Nil 

2017 – Nil  
Nil Nil 

KENDALL BOYD FRIESEN (2) 
SURREY, BC 

President and 
Director of the 
Trustee 

2016 – Nil 

2017 – Nil 
Nil Nil 

1027110 B.C. LTD. (3) 
SURREY, BC 

Promoter of the 
Trust 

2016 – Nil 
2017 – Nil 

Nil Nil 

BRIAN KEITH REGEHR (4) 
SURREY, BC 

Director, President 
and Chief Executive 
Officer of 1027110 

2016 – Nil 
2017 – Nil 

Nil Nil 

ROBERT CHARLES 
DOMINICK (4) (5) 
SURREY, BC 

Director and Chief 
Financial Officer of 
1027110 

2016 – Nil 
2017 – Nil 

Nil Nil 

DAVID JACOB SIEBENGA (4) 
SURREY, BC 
 

Director and 
Corporate Secretary 
1027110 

2016 – Nil 
2017 – Nil 

Nil Nil 

FOR THE PARTNERSHIP:     
WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) 
GP LTD.(6) 

SURREY, BC 

General Partner of 
the Partnership 

2016 – $97,094 

2017 – $544,236 
10 

LP Units(7) 
10 

LP Units(7) 

1027110 B.C. LTD.(8) 
SURREY, BC 

Promoter of the 
Partnership 

2016 – Nil 
2017 – Nil 

Nil Nil 

BRIAN KEITH REGEHR(9)(10) 
SURREY, BC 
 

Director, President 
and Chief Executive 
Officer of each of 
the General Partner 
and 1027110 

2016 – Nil 
2017 – Nil 

Nil Nil 

ROBERT CHARLES 
DOMINICK(5)(9)(10) 
SURREY, BC 

Director and Chief 
Financial Officer of 
each of the General 
Partner and 1027110 
 
 

2016 – $120,000 
2017 – Nil 

Nil Nil 
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Name and municipality of 
principal residence 

 
Positions held and 
the date of obtaining 
that position 

 
Compensation paid 
by the Issuers 
during the fiscal 
year ended 
December 31, 2016 
and compensation 
anticipated to be 
paid for the current 
fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2017 

 
Number and 
percentage of 
Units held after 
completion of min. 
Offerings 

 
Number and 
percentage of Units 
held after 
completion of max. 
Offerings 

DAVID JACOB 
SIEBENGA(9)(10) 
SURREY, BC 
 

Director and 
Corporate Secretary 
of each of the 
General Partner and 
1027110 

2016 – Nil 
2017 – Nil 

Nil Nil 

Notes: 

(1) 1008184 BC Ltd. is the trustee of the Trust and received no compensation during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, and is not 
expected to receive any compensation during 2017, but the Partnership will pay for the expenses of the trustee on behalf of the Trust 
pursuant to the Funding Agreement. 

(2) Kendall Friesen is the sole director and officer of 1008184 BC Ltd. and has received no compensation during the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2016, and is not expected to receive any compensation during 2017.   

(3) 1027110 BC Ltd. is the initial Trust Unit holder of the Trust acquiring one Trust Unit for $1.00, and is therefore a promoter of the Trust. 
Upon the initial closing of the Trust Offering, the Trust repurchased the initial Trust Unit issued to 1027110 BC Ltd. for $1.00 and that 
Trust Unit was be cancelled. 

(4) Brian Regehr beneficially owns or controls 80% of the voting rights of the Trustee as well as 80% of the voting rights of 1027110 BC Ltd..  
Each of Robert Dominick and David Siebenga beneficially owns or controls 10% of the voting rights of the Trustee and 1027110 BC Ltd. 
and is a director and officer of 1027110 BC Ltd. 

(5) During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, consulting fees of $120,000 were paid by the Partnership to a company owned by the 
General Partner’s Chief Financial Officer, Robert Dominick, which were not originally anticipated because of additional unanticipated 
controller and administrative services provided by Mr. Dominick. The requirement for such additional services is now not anticipated 
during the current fiscal year, and the General Partner has agreed to pay (out of its management fees received from the Partnership) to 
Mr. Dominick for any such required services from him during the current fiscal year. So, Mr. Dominick is not expected to receive any 
compensation from the Issuers during 2017. 

(6) The General Partner, Weststone (Innovation) GP Ltd., is entitled to a 1.8% annual management fee (calculated on the total aggregate 
amount of cumulative capital contributions) plus the carried interest, and reimbursement for its expenses under the Partnership Agreement. 
During the period ended December 31, 2016, the Partnership incurred $97,094 in management fees.  Assuming that the Maximum Offering 
was completed immediately as of the date of this Offering Memorandum and that the General Partner continued to manage the Partnership 
through until the end of the 2017 fiscal year, then the management fees would be as much as $544,236.  The General Partner is a related 
party to the Issuers and is beneficially owned or controlled 80% by Brian Reghr, 10% by David Siebenga and 10% by Robert Dominick.  See 
“Item 4.2 Material Agreements – Partnership Agreement”. 

(7) Pursuant to the Partnership Agreement, the General Partner may purchase up to 10% of the Units issued under the Offerings, in addition to 
the 10 LP Units acquired by the General partner at $1.00 per LP Unit upon establishing the Partnership.  The General Partner does not 
intend to purchase any additional Units.  See “Item 4.2 Material Agreements – Partnership Agreement”. 

(8) 1027110 B.C. Ltd. was the initial Limited Partner of the Partnership and is accordingly a promoter of the Partnership. Upon first closing of 
the Partnership Offering, the initial 10 LP Units that were issued to 1027110 BC Ltd. for $1.00 per LP Unit were repurchased by the 
Partnership at $1.00 per LP Unit and were cancelled.  See “Item 4.2 Material Agreements – Partnership Agreement”. 

(9) This individual is a director and/or officer and/or shareholder of the General Partner. Although he does not receive compensation from the 
Fund, the General Partner does receive a Management Fee for its services. See “Item 4.2 Material Agreements – Partnership Agreement”.  

(10) As a shareholder of the General Partner, this individual will have an indirect interest in the Units held by the General Partner.  

5.2 Management Experience 

The senior management of the Trustee and the General Partner have a broad background of real estate investment, 
finance and development experience which will be brought to bear on the activities undertaken by the Trustee on behalf 
of the Trust as well as the General Partner on behalf of the Partnership.  The following table discloses the principal 
occupations of the directors and senior officers of the Trustee and the General Partner over the past five years. 

Name Principal occupations and related experience 

KENDALL BOYD 
FRIESEN 
 
President and Director 
of the Trustee 

Kendall Friesen has over 20 years’ experience in the real estate construction and 
development industry beginning with hands on construction experience and into 
management.  Mr. Friesen was responsible for project and personnel management for 
one of a large concrete construction companies in British Columbia, and was director of 
operations for a privately owned utility maintenance and repair company.  In the course 
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Name Principal occupations and related experience 

 of this work, he worked directly in coordination and communication with municipality 
leaders, mayors, and council members. 

In 2006, Mr. Friesen founded a small family business with his brother, before joining 
the WestStone Group to participate real estate development activities in Arizona.  
During that time, Mr. Friesen was directly involved on behalf of the WestStone Group 
with the acquisition, development and sale of a number of communities in the Phoenix 
market.  Since then, Mr. Friesen’s involvement with the WestStone Group has been 
wide ranging with involvement in construction, design and project development.  Mr. 
Friesen’s experience has cultivated leadership and experience in team environments, 
both in collaborative boardroom settings and in niche entrepreneurial environments.  
Mr. Friesen is currently the Chief Operating Officer for the WestStone Group in 
Phoenix, USA. 

 
BRIAN KEITH REGEHR 
 
Director, President and 
Chief Executive Officer 
of the General Partner 

Brian Regehr, Founder, President and CEO of the WestStone Group, started real estate 
development during the early 90’s in British Columbia’s scenic Okanagan region.  His 
first venture was a two-phase development of 80 multi-family homes, and by the late 
90’s he had successfully completed some 500 homes in the Okanagan.   

During 1998 Brian participated in development projects in Calgary.  In 1999 Brian 
completed the 203-unit River Grande Estates, an inner-city condominium project.  

During 2001, Brian opened a division of the WestStone Group in Phoenix, Arizona.  
With its head office in Scottsdale, the WestStone Group has since successfully 
completed over 1,000 multi-family homes in the Phoenix metropolitan area. 

In parallel with its expansion into the US marketplace, WestStone also commenced 
developments in the Lower Mainland area of British Columbia.  Initially building 
single-family homes in the Fraser Valley, WestStone moved forward to complete many 
award winning multi-family and town home developments. 

In 2006 Brian, completed acquisition of a large land parcel assembly in Surrey, British 
Columbia in a coveted location adjacent to Surrey’s new City Hall, Civic Plaza, Library 
and future Performing Arts Centre, the SkyTrain rapid transit system and both Simon 
Fraser and Kwantlen Polytechnic Universities. This new emerging City Centre is 
designated as British Columbia’s next great Metro Centre. 

The WestStone Group is currently very involved in the build-out of the Metro Centre 
land assembly with its $1-billion, 2,500-unit West Village, a master-planned 
community comprising of several high-rise towers, low-rise multi-family buildings, 
town homes and commercial/retail units. 

Brian was also a founder and co-owner of Eagle West Cranes, the largest crane 
company in British Columbia, with an annual turnover of more than $100-million and 
Rite-Way Fencing, one of Canada’s largest fencing companies, with annual revenues of 
over $30-million.  Rite-way has eight branches spread across Western Canada and the 
Prairie Provinces and was selected to provide fencing for the 2010 Vancouver Olympic 
Games.  

DAVID JACOB 
SIEBENGA, 

Director and Secretary 
of the General Partner 

David Siebenga has been legal counsel for the WestStone Group since 2013.  At this 
time David is also the director an officer of a series of other companies including being 
a Director for Aartha America Consulting Ltd. and an international director for 
AAGUSA Inc., a consulting organization involved with international finance and trade 
between the United States, Canada, India and China.  Mr. Siebenga has previously held 
the position of legal compliance and technology officer for a medical company as well 
as director and CEO of Sea2Sky Corporation, an OTCBB public corporation targeting 
renewable technologies and assignments between Europe, North America and Asia.  
Since 2004, David has been Senior Counsel and Partner with Siebenga King, a law firm 
which operates four offices throughout the lower mainland of British Columbia.  David 
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Name Principal occupations and related experience 

holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of Calgary and a Bachelor of 
Laws from the University of British Columbia.  Mr. Siebenga was admitted to the Law 
Society of British Columbia in 1987. 

ROBERT CHARLES 
DOMINICK  
 
Director and Chief 
Financial Officer 
of the General Partner 

During the 1980’s, after relocating from the UK, Robert (Bob) Dominick studied 
various applied real estate and urban land subjects at Niagara College and McMaster 
University in Ontario.  He became professionally qualified as a real estate broker, a 
mortgage broker, a property manager and an appraiser licensed by the Canadian Real 
Estate Association and practiced in the Niagara Region of Ontario for Re/Max. In 1990 
– 1992 he managed a Re/Max office of 70 Realtors. 
 
In 1992, Robert relocated to Vancouver where he had been selected to become the 
Project Director of a multi-family development group for Re/Max. Robert was 
responsible for the project feasibly studies, land acquisition, sales and 
marketing.  During the period 1992 – 1998 he was accountable for closing over 3,000 
strata lots. 
 
In 1998, Robert was selected by a US digital cinema corporation, Lightyear Digital 
Theatre, to become its Chief Operating Officer.  He was responsible for overseeing 
comprehensive feasibility studies and estimating for site acquisition and development of 
motion picture studios and state-of-the-art digital cinemas throughout North America.  
He expanded Lightyear to encompass digital exhibition and distribution which included 
the acquisition of a legendary showcase theatre on Rodeo Drive in Beverly Hills.  In 
2001, Robert acquired a majority shareholding of Lightyear and became its President 
and CEO and in 2010 Lightyear donated a 200-seat digital, high-definition and 3-D 
theatre to Simon Fraser University’s Surrey Campus and the School of Interactive Arts 
and Technology. 
 
In 2003, Robert’s passion for the real estate industry led him to become a Sales 
Manager for Park Lane Homes. He successfully sold and closed many of Park Lane’s 
new multi-family developments in the Port Moody, Heritage Mountain and South 
Surrey areas. 
 
In 2005, Robert Dominick joined WestStone Properties as General Manager of Sales 
and Acquisitions, responsible for all sales initiatives and land acquisitions. In 2006 
Robert took on the role of acquiring 29 single-family homes in North Surrey that would 
become one of Weststone’s most important land assemblies. Once the assembly was 
complete the development of what is now known as West Village, a master-planned 
community of some 2,500 homes was commenced. In 2007, Robert was appointed Vice 
President Sales & Acquisitions.  During the period 2006 – 2012 he was responsible for 
the successful sales and marketing of over 750 condominiums in the city centre, 
including successfully closing over 200 strata lots during the recession in 2009.   
 
As Vice President of the WestStone Group, Robert applies his decades of real estate 
experience to acquisition of development sites and managing them through the various 
stages of development approvals.  
 
Robert gives back to Surrey City Centre by donating his time in several directions. He 
serves as a Director and is a Past-President of the Downtown Surrey Business 
Improvement Association.  He was appointed Chairman of the Surrey City Centre 
Economic Development and Culture Committee in 2008 and has been re-elected by his 
peers for five consecutive terms to continue in that role. 
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Historical Performance of the WestStone Group 
 
The WestStone Group has been building quality family sub-division homes, custom signature homes, town homes 
and multi-family low-rise and high-rise developments for well over two decades.  With a significant track record of 
projects, the WestStone Group is proud of its responsible and perceptive approach towards building. 
 
The WestStone Group active in the Lower Mainland region of British Columbia, particularly south of the Fraser 
River and as well has a presence in the greater metropolitan area of Phoenix, Arizona.  The company has also 
successfully built developments in Alberta and in British Colombia’s Okanagan region. 
 
Brian Regehr is the driving force behind the WestStone Group and provides the overall vision and direction for the 
WestStone Group. Brian is a life-long entrepreneur with a successful track record in a variety of industries spanning 
both Canada and the United States.  
 
The WestStone Group has a strong track record of innovation and successful business operations. The company 
operates in a variety of markets and applies time tested management methodologies to each of its operations.  Key 
areas of focus are: 

• Recruiting, retaining and developing the best people in the industry. 
• Stressing local accountability in each of its operations. 
• Constant monitoring and reporting of performance. 
• Using extensive research and utilization of expert industry consultants to fully understand each operational 

market place. 
• Focusing on providing the best quality solutions for customers. 
• Providing investors with high-return and unique developments 
• Delivering ‘best-in class’ customer satisfaction. 
• Earning the trust and support of employees, suppliers, investors and customers by operating with high 

ethical standards and integrity. 
 
After studying housing market dynamics, demographics and population trends, including macro-economic factors, 
the WestStone Group entered the residential development market in the Lower Mainland of British Columbia in 
1991.  Development programs took place in the Okanagan region of British Columbia and in the Fraser Valley and 
Lower Mainland areas of British Columbia. 
 
During the mid-90’s, noticing some early signs of economic decline in British Columbia, the WestStone Group 
turned its attention to Alberta, specifically focusing on the high-growth Calgary market. Applying the same research 
disciplines and acquiring the services of local real estate experts and planners, the WestStone Group leveraged its 
experience in British Columbia and created a large comprehensive residential development program in Calgary with 
its River Grande Estates development in Calgary.  
 
The WestStone Group continued to look for additional development opportunities and began studying markets in the 
United States, eventually focusing on the Phoenix, Arizona metropolitan area.  The WestStone Group identified this 
as an excellent development location because of its growing population and emerging cultural diversity. Phoenix is 
currently the fifth largest city in the United States. 
 
The WestStone Group focused on creating innovative home solutions that fulfilled the needs of a variety of lifestyles 
for urban professionals of diverse backgrounds.  Following intensive analysis, including soliciting input from the 
leading residential experts in the area, the WestStone Group finalized the concept for another major residential 
development program and has now successfully completed over 1,000 multi-family homes in the Phoenix area. 
 
Brian Regehr’s forward approach and insight into multiple market segments has made it possible for the WestStone 
Group to remain in the Arizona real estate market despite the economic downturn of recent years. Brian is optimistic 
about the Arizona recovery and continues to acquire and expand in the Phoenix Metropolitan area. As a testament to 
his tenacity the “Phoenix Business Journal” cited the WestStone Group as one of the few remaining local 
homebuilders still in operation.  
 
In tandem with its expansion into the USA, the WestStone Group re-entered into a structured development program 
within British Columbia and WestStone Group has become one of the largest developers operating south of the 
Fraser River.  Today, the WestStone Group has several thousand multi-family homes in various stages of 
development and the company has become an acknowledged household name.   
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The WestStone Group’s mission is to continue with expansion and remain consistent with its effort to provide 
building quality, innovation and appealing multi-family homes.  

5.3 Penalties, Sanctions and Bankruptcy 

Other than as disclosed below regarding Mr. David Siebenga, there are no penalties, sanctions, declarations of 
bankruptcy, voluntary assignments in bankruptcy, proposals under any bankruptcy or insolvency legislation or 
proceedings, arrangements or compromises with creditors, appointments of a receiver, receiver manager or trustee to 
hold assets, that have been in effect during the last ten years against or in connection with any of the directors, senior 
officers or control persons of the Trust, the Trustee, the Partnership or the General Partner or any issuer of which 
any director, senior officer or control person of the Trust, the Trustee, the Partnership or the General Partner was a 
director, senior officer or control person. 

Pursuant to a decision issued on September 30, 2015 by the Law Society of British Columbia, David Siebenga was 
found that his conduct as a lawyer in two related litigation matters constituted an abuse of process and amounted to 
professional misconduct. Siebenga acted for a client in two court actions: the first was a debt action in which 
Siebenga filed affidavits attesting that his client had no legal or beneficial interest in a piece of property; in the 
second action, Siebenga filed an amended notice of civil claim asserting that his client had an equitable interest in 
the same piece of property.  The filing of the claim was found to be an abuse of process, and in filing such claim, 
Siebenga was in breach of his duty to the court. The client may have had views of his entitlement to the property, 
but those were views that were not capable of being legitimately asserted in a notice of claim. Siebenga ought not to 
have taken his client’s instructions to commence the action. He was therefore disciplined by the Law Society of BC 
with a 30-day suspension from practising law in BC and ordered to pay costs in the matter of $6,172.50.  (See 
https://www.lawsociety.bc.ca/apps/hearing_decisions/viewreport.cfm?hearing_id=844&t=Siebenga-Decision-on-
Facts,-Determination-and-Disciplinary-Action.) 

5.4 Loans 
 
There are no loans due to or from the directors, management, promoters and principal holders of the Trustee or 
General Partner in respect of the Issuers. 

ITEM 6 - CAPITAL STRUCTURE 

6.1 Capital of the Issuers 

Description of 
security 

Number authorized 
to be issued 

Price per 
security 

Number 
outstanding as at 
January 31, 2017 

Number outstanding after 
Maximum Offerings 

Trust Units(1) Unlimited $1.00 1,356,000 33,644,000(2) 

LP Units(3) Unlimited $1.00 6,343,010 35,000,000 

(1) The attributes and characteristics of the Trust Units is set forth under the heading “Item 7.1 Securities Offered - Terms of Trust Units”. 
(2) Assuming that the all of the remaining Maximum Offering was completed by way of issuance of Trust Units. 
(3) The attributes and characteristics of the LP Units is set forth under the heading “Item 7.2 Securities Offered - Terms of LP Units”. 

6.2 Long Term Debt Securities 

The Issuers currently have no outstanding long term debt.  However, see Item 2 “Business of the Fund – Insufficient 
Funds” for information on the potential for the Issuers to borrow long term debt in the future. 

6.3 Prior Sales 

In connection with the establishment of the Trust, 1027110 BC Ltd. contributed $1.00 in return for 1 Trust Unit and 
the initial Trust Unitholder pursuant to the Declaration of Trust.  Upon the initial closing of the Trust Offering, the 
Trust repurchased the initial Trust Unit from 1027110 BC Ltd. and 1027110 BC Ltd. ceased to be a Trust 



- 51 - 

 
 

Unitholder.  See “Item 4.1 – Declaration of Trust”.  The only security issued by the Trust has been Trust Units, and 
the following table lists all of the Trust Units issued by the Trust within the last 12 months: 

Date of Issuance Type of Security 
Issued 

Number of 
Securities Issued 

Price Per Security Total Funds 
Received 

January 31, 2016 Trust Units 1* $1.00 $1 

July 15, 2016 Trust Units 141,000 $1.00 $141,000 

August 31, 2016 Trust Units 516,500 $1.00 $516,500 

September 23, 2016 Trust Units 86,000 $1.00 $86,000 

December 8, 2016 Trust Units 282,700 $1.00 $282,700 

December 14, 2016 Trust Units 50,000 $1.00 $50,000 

December 30, 2016 Trust Units 279,800 $1.00 $279,800 

February 28, 2017 Trust Units 69,000 $1.00 $69,000 

Totals:  1,425,001  $1,425,001 
*This initial single Trust Unit was redeemed on July 15, 2016 pursuant to the terms of the Declaration of Trust. 

In connection with the formation of the Partnership (i) the Initial Limited Partner contributed $10.00 to the 
Partnership as the initial capital contribution in return for 10 LP Units, and (ii) the General Partner contributed 
$10.00 to the capital of the Partnership in return for 10 LP Units.  Upon the Initial Closing and the Subscriber(s) 
becoming Limited Partners, the Partnership paid $10.00 to the Initial Limited Partner as a return of capital 
whereupon the Initial Limited Partner ceased to be a Limited Partner.  See “Item 4.2 – Partnership Agreement”. 
The only security issued by the Partnership has been LP Units, and the following table lists all of the LP Units 
issued by the Partnership within the last 12 months: 

Date of Issuance Type of Security 
Issued 

Number of 
Securities Issued 

Price Per Security Total Funds 
Received 

January 29, 2016 LP Units 20* $1.00 $20 

July 15, 2016 LP Units 918,000 $1.00 $918,000 

August 31, 2016 LP Units 2,316,500 $1.00 $2,316,500 

September 23, 2016 LP Units 726,000 $1.00 $726,000 

December 8, 2016 LP Units 952,700 $1.00 $952,700 

December 30, 2016 LP Units 429,800 $1.00 $429,800 

January 30, 2017 LP Units 1,000,000 $1.00 $1,000,000 

February 28, 2017 LP Units 69,000 $1.00 $69,000 

Totals:  6,412,020  $6,412,020 
*Of these 20 LP Units, 10 LP Units were redeemed on July 15, 2016 pursuant to the terms of the Partnership Agreement. 
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ITEM 7 - SECURITIES OFFERED 

We are offering for sale a maximum of 28,588,000 Units (the Units are comprised of Trust Units and LP Units).  
The holder of any Trust Unit will be Trust Unitholder in accordance with the Declaration of Trust and the holder of 
any LP Unit will be a Limited Partner in accordance with the partnership Agreement.  By subscribing for Units, you 
are agreeing to be bound by the Declaration of Trust (with respect to Trust Units) or the Partnership Agreement 
(with respect to LP Units). 

You are advised to obtain independent legal advice regarding the terms and conditions of the Partnership Agreement 
prior to subscribing for any Units. 

7.1 Terms of Trust Units 

The information in this Item 7.1 reflects the terms of the Declaration of Trust.  Reference should be made to the 
entirety of the Declaration of Trust, a copy of which is available upon request from the Issuers.  

General 

The securities being offered pursuant to the Trust Offering are Trust Units.  The beneficial interests of the Trust are 
divided into four classes of units, as Class “A”, Class “B”, Class “C”, and Class “D” units, which are issuable in 
series and entitled to the rights and subject to the limitations, restrictions and conditions set out in the Declaration of 
Trust, including the right to vote and to participate pro rata in any distributions from the Trust.  Each class of units 
has identical rights, restrictions and conditions.  Each such unit of the Trust is without nominal or par value, entitles 
the holder thereof to one vote at all meetings of Trust Unitholders, entitles the holder thereof to the pro rata right to 
receive distribution and participate pro rata upon dissolution or liquidation, and entitles the holder to the right of 
redemption under the terms and conditions set forth in the Declaration of Trust. 

The Trust is authorized to issue an unlimited number of any class of units.  In order to establish the Trust, one Class 
“A” unit (the “Initial Trust Unit”) was issued for cash of $1.00 on January 31, 2016.  The Trust is now offering by 
way of a private placement Class “A” units of the Trust (the “Trust Units”) pursuant to the Trust Offering.  At any 
time following the issuance of one or more additional Trust Units, the Trust may redeem the Initial Trust Unit for a 
purchase price of $1.00 and, upon the completion of such purchase and sale, the Initial Trust Unit shall be cancelled 
and shall no longer be outstanding. Each holder of a Trust Unit shall be entitled to the rights and be subject to the 
limitations, restrictions and conditions pertaining to the Trust Units as set out in the Declaration of Trust and the 
interest of each Unitholder shall be determined by the number of Trust Units registered in the name of such holder. 

Each Trust Unit outstanding from time to time represents an equal undivided beneficial interest in the net asset of 
the Trust and each Unitholder shall be entitled to a Proportionate Share of (i) all distributions respecting the Trust 
Units, when and as declared, and (ii) the proceeds of liquidation of the Trust Property, after satisfaction of all 
liabilities of the Trust. 

All Trust Units will rank among themselves equally and rateably without discrimination, preference or priority. Each 
Trust Unit entitles the holder to one vote at all meetings of Unitholders and for written resolutions of Unitholders if 
any. Except as set out in the Declaration of Trust, the Trust Units have no conversion, retraction or redemption or 
pre-emptive rights. 

Certificates 

Unit Certificates will be issued to Trust Unitholders and a register of Trust Unitholders will be kept at the head 
office of the Trust or the Transfer Agent, setting out the particulars of the Unit Certificates.  Only Trust Unitholders 
with recorded Unit Certificates on the register are entitled to receive distributions or exercise rights of a Trust 
Unitholder.  
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Capital Contribution 

In connection with the subscription for Trust Units under the Trust Offering, each subscriber will contribute to the 
capital of the Trust at the purchase price of $1.00 per Trust Unit for each Trust Unit subscribed for.  No Trust 
Unitholder will be required to make any contribution to the capital of the Trust in excess of that amount.  On the 
date of formation of the Trust, 1027110 contributed, as the initial Trust Unitholder, $1.00 to the capital of the Trust 
in return for acquiring 1 Trust Unit. 

Distributions & Preferred Return 

The Trustee, may on or before each Distribution Record Date, declare payable to the holders of Trust Units on such 
Distribution Record Date all or any part of the Cash Flow of the Trust for the Distribution Period which includes 
such Distribution Record Date. 

The Trustee intends to allocate, distribute and make payable to Trust Unitholders all of the Income of the Trust, Net 
Realized Capital Gains and any other applicable amounts so that the Trust will not have any liability for tax under 
Part I of the Tax Act in any taxation year and such amounts will be due and payable to Unitholders of record 
immediately before the end of December 31 in each year, in accordance with the Declaration of Trust.  In particular, 
the Trustee intends to pay, within ten Business days after each Distribution Period ending June 30 and December 31, 
a distribution of one-third of the annual 9% Preferred Return (i.e., being a return equal to 3% per year on the Trust 
Unitholders’ respective Aggregate Contributed Capital).  

If the Trustee determines that the Trust does not have sufficient cash to make the full amount of the distribution 
which has been declared, the Trustee has the option to pay equivalent distributions in the form of the pro rata share 
issuance of additional Trust Units. 

The Trustee may deduct or withhold from distributions payable to any Trust Unitholder all amounts required under 
the Tax Act or other applicable laws, which amounts shall be withheld from such distributions whether those 
distributions are in the form of cash, additional Trust Units, or otherwise. 

Transfer of Trust Units 

Trust Units may only be transferred with the prior written consent of the Trustee, who shall have the sole discretion 
with respect to such transfer, or in connection with bankruptcy, death or mental incompetence, and then only to legal 
representatives of the Trust Unitholder.  Further, the transfer of Trust Units will not be permitted if, as a result of the 
transfer, the Trust would cease to qualify as a “mutual fund trust” or a “unit trust” as defined in the Tax Act. No 
transfer of Trust Units is effective against the Trustee or the trust until the transfer is recorded in the register of Trust 
Unitholders. 

As the Trust is not currently a reporting issuer in any jurisdiction, nor does it intend to become one, the Trust Units 
are subject to resale restrictions pursuant to applicable securities laws.  See “Item 12 – Resale Restrictions”. 

Restriction on Non-Resident Ownership 

In order for the Trust to maintain its status as a “mutual fund trust” under the Tax Act, the Trust must not be 
established or maintained primarily for the benefit of Non-Residents.  Accordingly, at no time may Non-Residents 
be the beneficial owners of more than 45% of all outstanding Trust Units on both a non-diluted basis and fully-
diluted basis. The Declaration of Trust provides that the Trustee shall use commercially reasonable efforts to 
monitor the beneficial ownership of the Trust Units.  The Trustee will require declarations in the Subscription 
Agreement as to the jurisdictions in which the beneficial owners of Trust Units are resident.  If the Trustee becomes 
aware that the beneficial owners of 45% of the Trust Units then outstanding are, or may be, Non-Residents or that 
such a situation is imminent, the Trustee may notify Trust Unitholders thereof and shall not accept a subscription for 
Trust Units from, or issue or register a transfer of Trust Units to, a Person unless the Person provides a declaration 
that the Person in not a Non-Resident and does not hold the Trust Units for the benefit of Non-Residents. 

If, notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Trustee determines that 45% or more of all Trust Units (including any class 
of trust units) are held by Non-Residents, the Trustee may send a notice to such Non-Resident holders of Trust 
Units, chosen in inverse order to the order of acquisition or registration or in such manner as the trustee may 
consider equitable and practicable, requiring them to sell or tender their Trust Units (or a portion thereof) for 
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redemption within a required period of not less than 30 days, and if the Trust Unitholders receiving such notice have 
not, within the required period, sold or tendered their Trust Units to the Trust, or otherwise provided satisfactory 
evidence that the beneficial owners of such Trust Units are not Non-Residents, the Trustee may, as agent and 
attorney acting on behalf of such Trust Unitholders and/or such beneficial owners, sell or redeem the Trust Units at 
the Redemption Price, as contemplated in the Declaration of Trust. 

Until sale or redemption, the Trustee shall suspend the voting and distribution rights attached to or associated with 
such Trust Units held by Non-Residents, and upon the sale or redemption of such Trust Units, the affected Trust 
Unitholders shall cease to be holders of the Trust Units in question and their rights shall be limited to receiving the 
net proceeds of such sale or redemption upon surrender of the Unit Certificates representing such Trust Units. 

Redemption of Trust Units 

The Declaration of Trust contemplates a redemption of Trust Units in the following manner. The Redemption Price 
for Trust Units shall be paid no later than thirty (30) days following the last day of the calendar month in which the 
Trust Units were surrendered for redemption. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Trust may suspend the redemption 
of Trust Units or postpose the date of redeemed Trust Units in such circumstances as the Trustee may reasonably 
determine.  The Trustee may, in its discretion, charge any redeeming Trust Unitholder a redemption fee of $200 in 
connection with the redemption of such Trust Units, and such fee shall reduce the amount of the redemption price 
payable. 

The Redemption Price may be paid by the Trust in cash or, at the election of the Trustee, by distributing or issuing 
any combination of cash and/or Redemption Notes payable by the Trust, having an aggregate fair market value 
equal to the Redemption Price.  

Terms of the Redemption Notes shall be determined in accordance with the Declaration of trust.  There is no 
guarantee of repayment of Redemption Notes.  See "Item 10 - Risk Factors”.  Redemption Notes will not 
qualify as a "qualified investment" for Deferred Plans.  See "Item 8 - Income Tax Consequences" and "Item 
10 - Risk Factors".  

The redemption price per Trust Unit ("Redemption Price") shall be equal to: 

(a) if the Redemption Date is prior to January 1, 2018, ninety-five (95%) percent of the subscription price less 
commissions paid in respect of the Unit redeemed; 

(b) if the Redemption Date is on or after January 1, 2018 but prior to January 1, 2019, ninety-seven and one-
half (97.5%) percent of the subscription price less commissions paid in respect of the Unit redeemed; and 

(c) if the Redemption Date is on or after January 1, 2019, one hundred (100%) percent of the subscription price 
less commissions paid in respect of the Unit redeemed, and 

any such redemption may be subject to a redemption fee of $200, which would be deducted from the Redemption 
Price. 

See "Item 4.1 – Declaration of Trust" and "Item 8 - Risk Factors". 

Voting at Meetings of Trust Unitholders 

No annual meetings of the Trust Unitholders are proposed to be held.  However, the Declaration of Trust provides 
for the ability to convene meetings of Trust Unitholders by the Trustee at any time and upon the written request of 
one or more Trust Unitholders holding not less than 50% of the number of all issued and outstanding Trust Units.  
Certain actions of the Trustee and/or the Trust require the approval of the Trust Unitholders which may be obtained 
at a meeting of the Trust Unitholders or by way of a resolution in writing of the Trust Unitholders.  Except as 
otherwise specified in the Declaration of Trust, on any question submitted at a meeting of Trust Unitholders or by 
way of a resolution in writing, each Trust Unitholders shall be entitled to one vote per Trust Unit held.  Any 
resolution of Trust Unitholders passed in accordance with the Declaration of Trust will be binding on all Trust 
Unitholders whether or not such Trust Unitholders was present or represented by proxy at the meeting at which such 
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resolution was passed and whether or not such Trust Unitholders voted against such resolutions.  See “Item 4.1 – 
Declaration of Trust”. 

Other 

For further information on terms contained in the Declaration of Trust which affect the rights of Trust Unitholders 
see “Item 4.1 Declaration of Trust” or refer directly to the Declaration of Trust, a copy of which may be obtained 
from the Issuers. 

7.2 Terms of LP Units 

The information in this Item 7.2 reflects the terms of the Partnership Agreement.  Reference should be made to the 
entirety of the Partnership Agreement, a copy of which is available upon request from the Issuers.  

General 

The securities being offered pursuant to the Partnership Offering are LP Units.  The Partnership is authorized to 
issue an unlimited number of a single class of LP Units.  Each LP Unit has attached thereto the same rights and 
obligations as, and ranks equally with, each other LP Unit with respect to distributions, allocations and voting.  Each 
LP Unit entitles the Limited Partner holding such LP Unit to (subject to the terms of the Partnership Agreement): 

(a) one vote in respect of such LP Unit; 

(b) be paid a share of the profits or allocated a portion of the loss of the Partnership, or to receive compensation 
by way of income or otherwise in respect of their capital contributions; 

(c) redeem such LP Unit, pursuant to the Redemption Right, as set out in the Partnership Agreement; 

(d) to receive the Preferred Return in accordance with the Partnership Agreement; and 

(e) to receive a return of their Capital Contribution. 

Certificates 

The General Partner will issue certificates to evidence the LP Units held by a Limited Partner within a reasonable 
period of time after the acceptance by the General Partner of the applicable subscription for such LP Units and 
receipt of payment by the General Partner of the Capital Contribution for such LP Units.   

Capital Contribution 

In connection with the subscription for LP Units under the Partnership Offering, each Limited Partner will 
contribute to the capital of the Partnership at the $1.00 purchase price per LP Unit for each LP Unit subscribed for.  
No Limited Partner will be required to make any contribution to the capital of the Partnership in excess of that 
amount.  On the date of formation of the Partnership, the General Partner contributed $10.00 to the capital of the 
Partnership and the Initial Limited Partner also contributed $10.00 to the capital of the Partnership. 

Preferred Return 

A Limited Partner shall be entitled to receive a 9% per annum, non-compounded, return on the Capital Contribution 
of such Limited Partner from the date of contribution (the “Preferred Return”).  The Preferred Return will be paid 
in accordance with the distribution procedures in Partnership Agreement, summarized below in “Allocations and 
Distributions”. 
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Distributions 

Distributions from the Partnership may be made at any time as determined by the General Partner.  Net income for 
each fiscal year of the Partnership will be distributed in accordance with the following order of priority and, in all 
cases, without duplication: 

(a) first, to repay any loans to the Partnership made by the General Partner or any Limited Partners; 

(b) second, to distribute to the Limited Partners pro rata according to their respective capital contributions until 
the amount so distributed equals each respective Limited Partner’s aggregate capital contribution; 

(c) third, to distribute to the Limited Partners pro rata according to their respective unpaid 9% cumulative 
annual preferred return until such amount of preferred return has been paid, wherein one-third of the annual 
return (i.e., a 3% cumulative annual preferred return) will be payable every six months on June 30 and Dec 
31 each year and two-thirds (i.e., a 6% cumulative annual preferred return) shall be payable annually as 
determined by the General Partner; 

(d) fourth, the amount equal to the distributions in (iii) above shall be paid as incentive remuneration to the 
General Partner; 

(e) fifth, thereafter 50% as a distribution to the Limited Partners pro rata according to their respective capital 
contributions, and 50% as an additional paid as incentive remuneration to the General Partner; and 

(f) sixth, the balance thereafter will be allocated: 50% thereof as a distribution to the Limited Partners pro rata 
according to their respective capital contributions; and 50% thereof as a further incentive remuneration to 
the General Partner, 

(the distributions to the General Partner pursuant to (d), (e) and (f) above, together with all amounts paid to 
the General Partner on liquidation of the Fund in accordance with the Partnership Agreement, are 
collectively the “Carried Interest”). 

For certainty, where Limited Partners’ Capital Contributions are fully returned, the pro rata distribution of Net 
Income amongst Limited Partners shall be made based on the number of LP Units held instead of Capital 
Contributions. 

The Partnership may set off any of its obligations to make distributions to any of the Limited Partners against any 
liabilities or obligations of such Limited Partner to the Partnership. 

Non-Transferability and Right of First Refusal.. 

Except as provided in the Partnership Agreement or as may be consented to in writing by the General partner in its 
sole discretion, a Partner will not transfer, assign, pledge, encumber or dispose of its LP Units. No Partner may sell, 
transfer or dispose of less than all of its LP Units or less than 100% of its legal or beneficial interest in and to the 
Partnership, including its Capital Account, right to receive income or the return of capital, or any other right or 
interest whatsoever at any time. 

Under the Partnership Agreement, a Limited Partner may, upon receipt of a bona fide third party offer the acquire all 
but not less than all of its LP Units, offer all of its LP Units to all other Limited Partners under the same terms as the 
third party offer, and then to the General Partner if not accepted by any of the other Limited Partners. If neither the 
other Limited Partners nor the General Partner accept the offer within the time periods in the Partnership 
Agreement, then the selling Limited partner may sell to the third party within the time periods in the Partnership 
Agreement, provided that the third party qualifies as a Limited Partner under the partnership Agreement. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Limited Partner may sell or transfer its LP Units to an Affiliate, provided that such 
Affiliate has qualified to be a Limited Partner under the Partnership Agreement. 
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Mandatory Sale of Units 

If the General Partner receives a bona fide offer from a Person dealing at arm’s length with the Partnership, to 
purchase all or substantially all of the LP Units owned by all of the Partners and which offer is accepted by the 
General Partner and authorized by Special Resolution (excluding any LP Units held by the General Partner and its 
related parties), all Limited Partners will be bound to sell all of their LP Units to the General Partner at the price per 
LP Unit and on the payment terms set forth in the offer received by the General Partner, conditional upon, and to be 
completed at the time of completion of, the sale of the LP Units to the purchaser. 

Redemption of Units 

The General Partner and the Partnership Agreement contemplate a redemption of LP Units in the following manner. 
The Redemption Price for LP Units shall be paid no later than thirty (30) days following the last day of the calendar 
month in which the LP Units were surrendered for redemption. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Partnership may 
suspend the redemption of LP Units or postpose the date of redeemed LP Units in such circumstances as the General 
Partner may reasonably determine.  The General Partner may, in its discretion, charge any redeeming Limited 
Partner a redemption fee of $200 in connection with the redemption of such LP Units, and such fee shall reduce the 
amount of the redemption price payable. 

The Redemption Price may be paid by the Partnership in cash or, at the election of the General Partner, by 
distributing or issuing any combination of cash and/or Redemption Notes payable by the Partnership, having an 
aggregate fair market value equal to Redemption Price of the LP Units tendered for redemption.  

Terms of the Redemption Notes shall be determined by the General Partner pursuant to the Partnership 
Agreement.  There is no guarantee of repayment of Redemption Notes.  See "Item 8 - Risk 
Factors".  Redemption Notes will not qualify as a "qualified investment" for Deferred Plans.  See "Item 8 - 
Income Tax Consequences" and "Item 10 - Risk Factors".  

The redemption price per LP Unit ("Redemption Price") shall be equal to: 

(a) if the Redemption Date is prior to January 1, 2018, ninety-five (95%) percent of the subscription price less 
commissions paid in respect of the LP Unit redeemed; 

(b) if the Redemption Date is on or after January 1, 2018 but prior to January 1, 2019, ninety-seven and one-
half (97.5%) percent of the subscription price less commissions paid in respect of the LP Unit redeemed; and 

(c) if the Redemption Date is on or after January 1, 2019, one hundred (100%) percent of the subscription price 
less commissions paid in respect of the LP Unit redeemed, and 

any such redemption may be subject to a redemption fee of $200, which would be deducted from the Redemption 
Price. 

See "Item 8 - Risk Factors". 

Voting at Meetings of Limited Partners 

No annual meetings of the Limited Partners are proposed to be held.  However, the Partnership Agreement provides 
for the ability to convene meetings of Limited Partners by the General Partner at any time and upon the written 
request of one or more Limited Partners holding not less than 50% of the number of all issued and outstanding LP 
Units.  Certain actions of the General Partner and/or the Partnership require the approval of the Limited Partners 
which may be obtained at a meeting of the Limited Partners or by way of a resolution in writing of the Limited 
Partners.  Except as otherwise specified in the Partnership Agreement, on any question submitted at a meeting of 
Limited Partners or by way of a resolution in writing, each Limited Partner shall be entitled to one vote per LP Unit 
held.  Any resolution of Limited Partners passed in accordance with the Partnership Agreement will be binding on 
all Limited Partners whether or not such Limited Partner was present or represented by proxy at the meeting at 
which such resolution was passed and whether or not such Limited Partner voted against such resolutions.  See 
“Item 4.2 – Partnership Agreement”. 
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Liability and Limitation on Authority of Limited Partners 

Under the terms of the Partnership Agreement, the Limited Partners agree that they will comply with the provisions 
of all applicable legislation, including the Partnership Act, in force or in effect from time to time and will not take 
any action which will jeopardize or eliminate the status of the Partnership as a limited partnership.  Upon dissolution 
of the Partnership, the Limited Partners may receive undivided interests in the Partnership assets and will thereafter 
no longer have limited liability with respect to the ownership of such assets.  See “Item 4.2 – Partnership 
Agreement”. 

Other 

For further information on terms contained in the Partnership Agreement which affect the rights of Limited Partners 
see “Item 4.2 – Partnership Agreement” or refer directly to the Partnership Agreement, a copy of which may be 
obtained upon request from the Issuers. 

7.3 Subscription Procedure 

Subscriptions for Trust Units or LP Units may be placed by investors through registered dealers in the Offering 
jurisdictions, as may be required or permitted by applicable securities laws.  Prospective investors who wish to 
subscribe for Trust Units or LP Units must complete, execute and deliver the Subscription Agreement which 
accompanies this Offering Memorandum, including all applicable exhibits and/or schedules thereto to the Issuers or 
an agent and tender the purchase price in an manner acceptable to the Issuers.. 

Subscriptions are expected to be processed on the first business day of each month and on such other days as the 
Issuers may permit (each, a “Subscription Date”).  A fully completed Subscription Agreement and subscription 
proceeds must be received by the Issuers no later than 4:00 p.m. (Vancouver time) at least two business days prior to 
the relevant Subscription Date in order for the subscription to be accepted as at that date; otherwise, the subscription 
will be processed at the next Subscription Date.   

The Unit price for the Offerings is $1.00 per Trust Unit and $1.00 per LP Unit. 

If the investor delivers all or part of the aggregate subscription price to the Issuers, or to the Issuers’ legal counsel, 
Boughton Law Corporation, before Closing, such monies will be for all purposes a loan to the Issuers by the 
investor, which loan will not bear interest and may be released by Boughton Law Corporation immediately to the 
Issuers prior to Closing, and at the Closing, upon delivery of the Unit Certificate(s) evidencing the investor's Units, 
the loan will be repaid in full. 

All subscriptions for Trust Units or LP Units are subject to acceptance or rejection by the Issuers and the right is 
reserved to reject any subscription.  All subscriptions for Trust Units or LP Units are to be forwarded by dealers, 
without charge, the same day that they are received, to the Issuers.  The decision to accept or reject a subscription 
for Trust Units or LP Units will be made promptly. In the event that a subscription  for Trust Units of LP Units is 
rejected, all money received with the subscription will be returned immediately to the subscriber without interest or 
deduction. 

An investor will become a Trust Unitholder or a Limited partner (as applicable) following the acceptance of a 
Subscription Agreement by the Issuers and the issuance of Trust Units or LP Units (as applicable) to such investor.  
If a subscription is withdrawn or is not accepted by the Issuers, all documents will be returned to the investor within 
30 days following such withdrawal or rejection without interest of deduction. 

Neither the Issuers, the Trustee, the General partner nor any Regehr Party or affiliate or associate of the 
foregoing is responsible for, and undertakes no obligation to, determine the general investment needs and 
objectives of a potential investor and the suitability of the Trust Units or LP Units having regard to any such 
investment needs and the objectives of the potential investor.  In addition, Boughton Law Corporation is legal 
counsel only for the Issuers, the Trustee and the General Partner, and is not legal counsel for a prospective 
investor in respect of the Offerings. 
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ITEM 8 – INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES AND RRSP ELIGIBILITY 

8.1 Income Tax Consequences Relating to the Trust 

You should consult your own professional advisers to obtain advice on the income tax consequences that 
apply to you.  All Investors will be responsible for the preparation and filing of their own tax returns in 
respect of this investment.   

In the opinion of the Trustee upon consultation from legal counsel, the following summary, as of the date of this 
Offering Memorandum, describes the principal Canadian federal income tax considerations generally applicable 
under the Tax Act to a person who acquires Trust Units pursuant to this Offering Memorandum and who, for 
purposes of the Tax Act, is resident in Canada (or if the person is a partnership, is a “Canadian partnership” for 
purposes of the Tax Act), deals at arm’s length and is not affiliated with the Trust or the Trustee and holds the Trust 
Units as capital property (all for purposes of the Tax Act). Generally, Trust Units will be considered to be capital 
property to a Trust Unitholder provided that the Trust Unitholder does not hold the Trust Units in the course of 
carrying on a business and has not acquired them in one or more transactions considered to be an adventure in the 
nature of trade. Certain Trust Unitholders who might not otherwise be considered to hold their Trust Units as capital 
property may, in certain circumstances, be entitled to have them treated as capital property by making the 
irrevocable election permitted by subsection 39(4) of the Tax Act. This summary is not applicable to a Trust 
Unitholder (i) that is a “financial institution” (as defined in the Tax Act for purposes of the mark-to-market rules), 
(ii) that is a “specified financial institution” (as defined in the Tax Act), (iii) an interest in which is a “tax shelter 
investment” (as defined in the Tax Act) or (iv) to whom the functional currency reporting rules in section 261 of the 
Tax Act apply. In addition, this summary does not address the deductibility of interest by a Trust Unitholder who 
has borrowed money to acquire Trust Units. 

This summary is based upon the facts set out in this Offering Memorandum, the provisions of the Tax Act in force 
as of the date of hereof, all specific proposals to amend the Tax Act that have been publicly announced prior to the 
date hereof by the Minister of Finance (Canada) (“Tax Proposals”) and the Trust’s understanding of the current 
administrative policies and assessing practices of the Canada Revenue Agency (“CRA”) publicly available prior to 
the date of this Offering Memorandum. This summary is not exhaustive of all possible Canadian federal income tax 
considerations, and does not take into account or anticipate any changes in the law, other than the Tax Proposals, 
whether by legislative, governmental or judicial action, nor does it take into account provincial, territorial or foreign 
tax considerations, which may differ significantly from those discussed herein. 

This summary is of a general nature only and is not intended to be legal or tax advice to any particular 
purchaser of Trust Units. Consequently, prospective purchasers should seek independent professional advice 
regarding the tax consequences of investing in the Trust Units, based upon their own particular 
circumstances. 

As noted, this summary does not address any Canadian federal income tax considerations applicable to non-
residents of Canada, and non-residents should consult their own tax advisors regarding the tax consequences of 
acquiring and holding Trust Units. All payments to non-residents of Canada of distributions on the Trust Units will 
be net of any applicable withholding taxes. 

Status of the Trust – Mutual Fund Trust 

This summary is based on the assumption that the Trust will qualify as a “unit trust” and a “mutual fund trust”, as 
these terms are defined in the Tax Act, from the beginning of its first taxation year and will thereafter continuously 
qualify as a unit trust and a mutual fund trust at all relevant times. The qualification of the Trust as a mutual fund 
trust from the beginning of its first taxation year requires that the Trust elect to be deemed to be a “mutual fund 
trust” from the date it is established and that certain factual conditions generally be met throughout its existence. The 
Trust has advised that it intends to make such an election and that the ongoing requirements will be satisfied so that 
the Trust will so qualify. If the Trust were not to qualify as a mutual fund trust, the income tax considerations 
described herein would, in some respects, be materially different. 

In order for the Trust to qualify as a mutual fund trust, it must satisfy various requirements, including a requirement 
that the Trust must not have been established or maintained primarily for the benefit of non-residents of Canada. If 
at any time this requirement is not satisfied, the Tax Act does not currently provide any means of rectifying a loss of 
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mutual fund trust status. As such if, at any time, the Trust loses its mutual fund trust status as a result of the 
application of this provision in the Tax Act, the Trust would permanently cease to be a mutual fund trust.  

One of the requirements for the Trust to qualify as a mutual fund trust is that it will have at least 150 separate 
holders of Trust Units, each holding no less than one block of units (meaning 100 Trust Units if the Fair Market 
Value of one Trust Unit is less than $25), with an aggregate value of at least $500 worth of Trust Units. The Trust 
may hold Closings of the Trust Offering prior to this requirement being met and there is no guarantee that this 
requirement will be met. See “Item 10 - Risk Factors”. 

This summary also assumes that the Trust will at no time be a “SIFT trust” as defined in the Tax Act. If the Trust is 
a SIFT trust, then there may be adverse tax consequences. One of the conditions for a trust to be a SIFT trust is that 
investments in the trust must be listed or traded on a stock exchange or other public market, which includes a trading 
system or other organized facility on which securities that are qualified for public distribution are listed or traded, 
but does not include a facility that is operated solely to carry out the issuance of a security or its redemption, 
acquisition or cancellation by the issuer. The Trust intends that the Trust Units will not be listed or traded on a stock 
exchange or other public market. Based on this and assuming the Trust Units will not otherwise be listed or traded 
on such a system or facility, the Trust should not be a SIFT trust. 

Taxation of the Trust 

The Tax Act requires that the Trust compute its income or loss for a taxation year as though it were an individual 
resident in Canada. The taxation year of the Trust is the calendar year. In each taxation year, the Trust will be 
subject to tax under Part I of the Tax Act on its taxable income for the year, including income allocated to it by the 
Partnership and net realized taxable capital gains less the portion thereof that it deducts in respect of the amounts 
paid or payable in the year to Trust Unitholders and is otherwise deductible under the Tax Act. An amount will not 
be considered to be payable to a Trust Unitholder in a taxation year unless the Trust Unitholder is entitled in that 
year to enforce payment of the amount. 

In computing its income for purposes of the Tax Act, the Trust may deduct reasonable administrative costs, interest 
and other expenses incurred by it for the purpose of earning income. 

Each year, the Trust intends to make sufficient distributions of its net income for tax purposes and net realized 
taxable capital gains so that the Trust will generally not be liable in that year for income tax under Part I of the Tax 
Act other than such tax on net realized capital gains that will be recoverable by the Trust in respect of such year by 
reason of the capital gains refund mechanism. Losses incurred by the Trust cannot be allocated to Trust Unitholders 
but may be deducted by the Trust subject to and in accordance with the Tax Act. 

In general, if, at any time, the Trust does not qualify as a mutual fund trust and one or more Trust Unitholders are 
not resident in Canada, the Trust may be required to pay a tax under Part XII.2 of the Tax Act if it allocates certain 
types of income (including income from real or immovable properties in Canada, other than Canadian resource 
properties) to a Trust Unitholder. 

Taxation of the Partnership 

The Partnership is not itself liable for income tax, however, it is required to compute its income or loss for each of 
its fiscal periods as if it were a separate person resident in Canada. The fiscal period of the Partnership ends on 
December 31 of each year. 

In computing its income or loss the Partnership will be entitled to deduct expenses incurred by it in the fiscal period 
in which they are incurred to the extent such expenses are reasonable in amount and their deduction is permitted by 
the Tax Act. In some cases, outlays and expenses may have to be capitalized and added to the cost amount of its 
property. 

Taxation of Trust Unitholders 

Distributions 

A Trust Unitholder will generally be required to include in income for a particular taxation year the portion of the 
net income of the Trust for a taxation year, including the taxable portion of net realized capital gains, that is paid or 
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payable to the Trust Unitholder in the particular taxation year, whether that amount is received in cash, additional 
Trust Units, promissory notes, in specie distributions or otherwise. Income of a Trust Unitholder from the Trust 
Units will generally be considered to be income from property. Any loss of the Trust for purposes of the Tax Act 
cannot be allocated to, or treated as a loss of, a Trust Unitholder. Provided that appropriate designations are made by 
the Trust, such portion of (i) the net realized taxable capital gains of the Trust, and (ii) taxable dividends received or 
deemed to be received by the Trust on shares of taxable Canadian corporations, as is paid or becomes payable to a 
Trust Unitholder will effectively retain their character and will be treated as such in the hands of the Trust 
Unitholder for purposes of the Tax Act. Such dividends will be subject, inter alia, to the gross-up and dividend tax 
credit provisions in respect of individuals, the refundable tax under Part IV of the Tax Act applicable to “private 
corporations” and “subject corporations” (as defined under the Tax Act), and the deduction in computing taxable in 
respect of dividends received by taxable Canadian corporations.  An additional 10⅔% tax will be payable by a Trust 
Unitholder that is a “Canadian-controlled private corporation” (as defined in the Tax Act) in certain circumstances. 

The non-taxable portion of any net realized capital gains of the Trust that is paid or payable to a Trust Unitholder in 
a taxation year will not be included in computing the Trust Unitholder’s income for the year. Any other amount in 
excess of the net income of the Trust that is paid or payable to a Trust Unitholder in that year will not generally be 
included in the Trust Unitholder’s income for the year. However, where such an amount is paid or payable to a Trust 
Unitholder (other than as proceeds in respect of the redemption of Trust Units), the Trust Unitholder will be required 
to reduce the adjusted cost base of the Trust Units by that amount, except to the extent that the amount represents the 
Trust Unitholder’s share of the non-taxable portion of the net realized capital gains of the Trust for the year, the 
taxable portion of which was designated by the Trust in respect of the Trust Unitholder. To the extent that the 
adjusted cost base of a Trust Unit would otherwise be a negative amount, the negative amount will be deemed to be 
a capital gain and the adjusted cost base of the Trust Unit to the Trust Unitholder will then be nil. 

Trust Units issued to a Trust Unitholder as a non-cash distribution of income will have a cost amount equal to the 
amount of such income and will be averaged with the adjusted cost base of all other Trust Units held by the Trust 
Unitholder at that time as capital property in order to determine the adjusted cost base of each Trust Unit. 

Disposition of Trust Units 

On the disposition or deemed disposition of a Trust Unit, whether on a redemption or otherwise, the Trust 
Unitholder who holds the Trust Units as capital property will realize a capital gain (or a capital loss) equal to the 
amount by which the Trust Unitholder’s proceeds of disposition exceed (or are less than) the aggregate of the 
adjusted cost base of the Trust Unit and any reasonable costs of disposition. Proceeds of disposition generally do not 
include an amount payable by the Trust that is otherwise required to be included in the Trust Unitholder’s income, 
including any capital gain realized by the Trust in connection with a redemption which has been designated by the 
Trust as having been paid to the redeeming Trust Unitholder. 

The adjusted cost base of a Trust Unit to a Trust Unitholder will include all amounts paid or payable by the Trust 
Unitholder for the Trust Unit, with certain adjustments. The cost to a Trust Unitholder of additional Trust Units 
received in lieu of a cash distribution of income will be the amount of income distributed by the issue of those Trust 
Units. For the purpose of determining the adjusted cost base to a Trust Unitholder of Trust Units, when a Trust Unit 
is acquired, the cost of the newly-acquired Trust Unit will be averaged with the adjusted cost base of all of the Trust 
Units owned by Trust Unitholder as capital property immediately before that acquisition. A consolidation of Trust 
Units following a distribution paid in the form of additional Trust Units will not be regarded as a disposition of Trust 
Units. 

The redemption of Trust Units in consideration for cash or promissory notes, whether issued by the Trust, or the 
Partnership, as the case may be, will be a disposition of such Trust Units for proceeds of disposition equal to the 
amount of such cash or the Fair Market Value of such notes. In addition to such proceeds of disposition, a Trust 
Unitholder may also receive a distribution out of the income of the Trust. Where Trust Units are redeemed and the 
redemption price is paid by the delivery of Trust Property to the redeeming Trust Unitholder, the proceeds of 
disposition to the Trust Unitholder of the Trust Units will be equal to the Fair Market Value of the Trust Property so 
distributed. Where any income or capital gain realized by the Trust in connection with the distribution of Trust 
Property on the redemption of Trust Units has been designated by the Trust to a redeeming Trust Unitholder, the 
Trust Unitholder will be required to include in income the income or taxable portion of the capital gain so 
designated. 
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The receipt of Trust Property in substitution for Trust Units may result in a change in the income tax 
characterization of distributions. Holders of promissory notes received on a redemption of Trust Units generally will 
be required to include in income interest that is received or receivable on such promissory notes. The cost to a Trust 
Unitholder of any Trust Property distributed to a Trust Unitholder by the Trust will be deemed to be equal to the Fair 
Market Value of such property at the time of distribution less, in certain circumstances, any interest which has 
accrued on notes distributed by the Trust. Trust Unitholders should consult with their own tax advisors as to the 
consequences of receiving Trust Property on a redemption. 

Trust Unitholders are advised to consult their own tax advisors prior to exercising their redemption rights. 

Capital Gains and Capital Losses 

One-half of any capital gain (a “taxable capital gain”) realized by a Trust Unitholder on a disposition or deemed 
disposition of Trust Units and the amount of any net taxable capital gains designated by the Trust in respect of a 
Trust Unitholder will be included in the Trust Unitholder’s income as a taxable capital gain. One-half of any capital 
loss realized by a Trust Unitholder on a disposition or deemed disposition of Trust Units may generally be deducted 
only from taxable capital gains of the Trust Unitholder in accordance with the provisions of the Tax Act. A Trust 
Unitholder that is a “Canadian-controlled private corporation” (as defined in the Tax Act) may be liable to pay a 
refundable tax of 10⅔% on certain investment income, including taxable capital gains. 

Alternative Minimum Tax 

In general terms, net income of the Trust paid or payable to a Trust Unitholder who is an individual that is 
designated as net taxable capital gains or eligible dividends and capital gains realized on the disposition of Trust 
Units may increase the Trust Unitholder’s liability for alternative minimum tax. 

8.2 Eligibility for Investment in Trust Units by Deferred Plans 

Provided the Trust qualifies as a mutual fund trust within the meaning of the Tax Act, the Trust Units, when issued, 
will each be a qualified investment under the Tax Act for Deferred Plans.  If that is the case, Deferred Plans will 
generally be exempt from tax in respect of any distributions paid or payable on Trust Units or gains realized upon a 
disposition or deemed disposition of Trust Units. 

Generally, if the Trust does not qualify or ceases to qualify as a mutual fund trust at any time, the Trust Units will 
not be, or will cease to be, qualified investments for Deferred Plans at that time. One of the requirements for the 
Trust to qualify as a mutual fund trust is that it will have at least 150 separate holders of Trust Units, each holding 
no less than one block of Trust Units as defined in the Tax Act. The Trust may hold Closings of the Trust Offering 
prior to this requirement being met and there is no guarantee that this requirement will be met. Promissory notes and 
Trust Property received as a result of redemptions of Trust Units may not be qualified investments for Deferred 
Plans. Where a Deferred Plan acquires a promissory note or a Trust Property that is not a qualified investment, or 
acquires or holds a Trust Unit that is not, or that ceases to be, a qualified investment, adverse tax consequences may 
arise to the Deferred Plan and the annuitant under the Deferred Plan. Accordingly, Deferred Plans that propose to 
invest in Trust Units should consult their own tax advisors before deciding to purchase Trust Units and again before 
deciding to exercise their redemption rights attached to such Trust Units.  

If at any time the Trust Units are a prohibited investment for a Deferred Plan, the annuitant may be subject to 
adverse tax consequences. Generally, Trust Units should not be a prohibited investment under the Tax Act for an 
Deferred Plan provided that the annuitant deals (i) at “arm’s length” with the Trust, and (ii) does not have a 
“significant interest” in the Trust. Generally, an annuitant will not have a significant interest in the Trust or any 
corporation, partnership or trust that does not deal at arm’s length with the Trust, provided the annuitant, or the 
annuitant together with persons and partnerships with whom the annuitant does not deal at arm’s length, does not 
own (nor is deemed to own pursuant to the Tax Act), directly or indirectly, 10% or more of the issued Trust Units or 
of the shares of or interests in any corporation, partnership or trust that does not deal at arm’s length with the Trust 
(all for purposes of the Tax Act). 
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8.3 Income Tax Consequences Relating to the Partnership 

You should consult your own professional advisers to obtain advice on the income tax consequences that 
apply to you.  All Investors will be responsible for the preparation and filing of their own tax returns in 
respect of this investment.   

In the opinion of the General Partner upon consultation from legal counsel, the following summary, as of the date of 
this Offering Memorandum, describes the principal Canadian federal income tax considerations of acquiring, 
holding and disposing of LP Units generally applicable to an investor (who acquires LP Units under this Offering 
Memorandum) who is an individual, other than a trust, and who, for the purposes of the Tax Act is, or is deemed to 
be, a resident of Canada, deals at arm’s length with the Partnership and is not affiliated with the Partnership, holds 
the LP Units as capital property and has not made a foreign currency reporting election under the Tax Act. 
Generally, LP Units will be considered to be capital property to an investor provided the investor does not hold the 
LP Units in the course of carrying on a business and has not acquired the LP Units in one or more transactions 
considered to be an adventure in the nature of trade. 

This summary assumes that at all material times no interest in any investor will be a “tax shelter investment” as 
defined in the Tax Act, that LP Units will not be acquired with financing for which recourse is, or is deemed to be, 
limited for purposes of the Tax Act and that no more than 50% of the LP Units will be held by “financial 
institutions” as defined in the Tax Act. Financing is deemed to be limited recourse for purposes of the Tax Act 
unless: (i) bona fide arrangements were made in writing at the time the financing was obtained providing for 
repayment within a reasonable period, not exceeding 10 years; (ii) interest is payable at least annually at a rate that is 
not less than the rate prescribed under the Tax Act; and (iii) interest is paid no later than 60 days after the end of 
each taxation year. If an interest in an investor becomes a tax shelter investment, an investor finances an acquisition 
of LP Units with limited recourse financing or if more than 50% of the LP Units are held by “financial institutions” 
there may be adverse tax consequences to the Partnership and its members. 

This summary assumes that at all material times the Partnership will not be a “SIFT partnership” as defined in the 
Tax Act. If investments in the Partnership are listed or traded on a stock exchange or other public market then the 
Partnership, if it holds one or more non-portfolio properties, which generally does not include real property situated 
outside of Canada, may be a SIFT partnership and the Canadian federal income tax considerations described below 
will be materially different. This summary also assumes that the LP Units will not be listed or traded on a stock 
exchange or other public market for the purposes of the Tax Act. 

This summary is based upon the facts set out in this Offering Memorandum, the provisions of the Tax Act in force 
as of the date hereof, all specific proposals to amend the Tax Act that have been publicly announced prior to the date 
hereof by the Minister of Finance (Canada) (the “Tax Proposals”) and the Partnership’s understanding of the 
current administrative policies and assessing practices of the Canada Revenue Agency publicly available prior to the 
date hereof. This summary is not exhaustive of all possible Canadian federal income tax considerations and, except 
for the Tax Proposals, does not take into account or anticipate any changes in the law, whether by legislative, 
governmental or judicial action, nor does it take into account provincial, territorial or foreign tax considerations, 
which may differ significantly from those discussed herein. 

This summary is of a general nature only and is not intended to be legal or tax advice to any particular purchaser of 
LP Units. Consequently, prospective purchasers should seek independent professional advice regarding the income 
tax consequences of investing in the LP Units, having regard to their own particular circumstances. 

References to “income” or “loss” in this summary mean income or loss as determined for purposes of the Tax Act. 

Computation of Income 

The Partnership is not itself generally liable for income tax. However, the Partnership must compute its income or 
loss for each fiscal period as though it was a separate person resident in Canada and file an annual information 
return. The fiscal period of the Partnership ends on December 31 each year. Subject to the comments below, each 
Limited Partner will be required to include (or be entitled to deduct) in computing his income (or loss), his share of 
the income (or loss) of the Partnership allocated to him pursuant to the Partnership Agreement for the fiscal period 
of the Partnership ending in the Limited Partner’s taxation year, regardless of whether any cash or other assets have 
been distributed to him. 
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The income of the Partnership as determined for purposes of the Tax Act may differ from its income as determined 
for accounting purposes and may not be matched by cash distributions. In computing the income or loss of the 
Partnership for purposes of the Tax Act, deductions may be claimed in respect of reasonable administrative costs, 
interest and other expenses incurred by the Partnership for the purposes of earning income, subject to the relevant 
provisions of the Tax Act. 

Losses allocated by the Partnership to a Limited Partner are deductible only to the extent the Limited Partner has an 
“at-risk amount” (within the meaning of the Tax Act) in respect of the Limited Partner’s interest in the Partnership. 
Losses from the Partnership that are not deductible by a Limited Partner because they exceed the Limited Partner’s 
at-risk amount at the particular time generally may be carried forward indefinitely and may be deducted against 
income only to the extent the Limited Partner has an at risk amount in a subsequent year. In general, a Limited 
Partner’s at-risk amount will be the adjusted cost base of his LP Units at the relevant time (plus, where that time is 
the end of the Partnership’s fiscal period, income allocated to the Limited Partner for that fiscal period), less any 
amounts owing by the Limited Partner (or by a person or partnership that does not deal at arm’s length with the 
Limited Partner) to the Partnership (or to a person or partnership that does not deal at arm’s length with the 
Partnership) and less any amount or benefit provided to the Limited Partner (or to a person or partnership that does 
not deal at arm’s length with the Limited Partner) for the purpose of protecting the Limited Partner against any loss 
the Limited Partner may sustain as a consequence of being a member of the Partnership or holding or disposing of 
an LP Unit.  

Subject to the comments above, a Limited Partner may apply his share of non-capital losses allocated to him by the 
Partnership to reduce net income for the relevant taxation year and, to the extent such non-capital losses exceed net 
income for the year, they may generally be applied in the three previous taxation years or the 20 subsequent taxation 
years. 

Disposition of LP Units 

A disposition or deemed disposition by an investor of his LP Units should generally result in a capital gain (or 
capital loss) to the investor to the extent the proceeds of disposition of such LP Units, net of reasonable disposition 
costs, exceed (or are exceeded by) the adjusted cost base of the LP Units. In general, the adjusted cost base of a 
Limited Partner’s LP Units at a particular time will be equal to the subscription price of the LP Units, plus income of 
the Partnership that has been allocated to the Limited Partner for completed fiscal periods, minus losses of the 
Partnership allocated to the Limited Partner for completed fiscal periods and minus distributions received by the 
Limited Partner from the Partnership. Where a Limited Partner disposes of all of its LP Units in a fiscal period of the 
Partnership, any income or loss allocated to the Limited Partner for such fiscal period will be taken into account in 
determining the adjusted cost base of the Limited Partner’s LP Units. Losses which are not deductible because a 
Limited Partner does not have a sufficient at-risk amount will not reduce the adjusted cost base of LP Units. 

If a Limited Partner disposes of LP Units and a person who is exempt from tax under the Tax Act, or who is a 
nonresident of Canada for purposes of the Tax Act, directly or indirectly through a partnership or a trust of which a 
tax exempt person or non-resident is a member or a beneficiary, as the case may be, acquires the LP Units as part of 
a transaction or event, or series of transactions or events, then the gain may be taxed as ordinary income of the 
Limited Partner. 

If, at the end of any fiscal period of the Partnership, the deductions in computing the adjusted cost base of a Limited 
Partner’s LP Units exceed the subscription price and additions in computing such adjusted cost base, such negative 
amount will be deemed to be a capital gain of the Limited Partner from a disposition of the LP Units and the 
adjusted cost base of the Limited Partner’s LP Units will be nil at the beginning of the next fiscal period of the 
Partnership. 

Capital Gains and Losses 

One-half of the capital gain realized by a holder from a disposition or deemed disposition of LP Units must be 
included in computing the holder’s income as a taxable capital gain. One-half of a capital loss realized in a taxation 
year from a disposition or deemed disposition of LP Units will be deductible as an allowable capital loss against 
taxable capital gains realized in that year, and to the extent such allowable capital losses exceed taxable capital gains 
in the year, may be applied in the three previous taxation years or any subsequent taxation year, subject to certain 
restrictions contained in the Tax Act. 
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A holder may be liable to pay alternative minimum tax as a result of realizing a capital gain. 

8.4 LP Units are Not Eligible for Deferred Plans 

The LP Units will not constitute a qualified investment for the purposes of the Tax Act for Deferred Plans such as a 
trust governed by a registered retirement savings plan (including a locked-in retirement account or a locked-in 
retirement savings plan), a registered retirement income fund (including a life income fund or a locked-in retirement 
income fund), a registered education savings plan, a deferred profit sharing plan, a registered disability savings plan 
and a tax-free savings account and, in order to avoid adverse tax consequences, should not be acquired by such 
plans. 

ITEM 9 - COMPENSATION PAID TO SELLERS AND FINDERS 

The Units will be offered for sale by Capital Street as exclusive lead Selling Agent, together with its designated 
registered dealers, as the case may be, to sell Units in compliance with all applicable securities laws, as agents for 
the Issuers (see “Item 1 - Use of Available Funds”).  Any referral sources used by the agents in connection with the 
sale of Units to Subscribers, if any (which referral sources may include, but are not limited to, firms and 
representatives of such firms who are registered in certain of the Canadian provinces or territories as insurance 
brokers, real estate brokers and or mortgage brokers), will be compensated by the payment of referral fees in an 
amount to be determined between the applicable agents and the referral sources, which amounts will be paid out of 
the commissions, marketing fees and administrative fees payable to the agents under the Offerings and will not 
exceed the commissions, marketing fees and administrative fees payable to such agents.  The maximum amount of 
the Selling Commissions payable under the Maximum Offering will be $2,858,800 in addition to $857,640 
Marketing Fees and $857,640 Administrative Fees, being the Selling Commission of up to 10% of the Gross 
Proceeds, the Marketing Fees of up to 3% of the Gross Proceeds, and the Administrative Fees of up to 3% of the 
Gross Proceeds of the Maximum Offering, respectively. 

The Selling Commissions, Marketing Fees and Administrative Fees payable under the Offerings from the sale of the 
Units will be paid by the Partnership. 

Capital Street is registered as an EMD in certain jurisdictions of Canada.  The dealing representatives of Capital 
Street are (subject to obtaining and necessary relief and compliance with certain provincial securities laws) 
permitted to sell Units in accordance with the terms of their respective registrations and pursuant to available 
exemptions from the registration requirements of applicable securities laws in jurisdictions where it can lawfully 
operate. 

The Issuers may enter into additional agreements with Selling Agents from time to time during these Offerings. 

The EMDs and dealers appointed by the Issuers to sell Trust Units and LP Units may be reimbursed for reasonable 
expenses incurred in connection with the Offerings. 

All expenses of the Offerings, including the Selling Commissions and Marketing Fees and the Administrative Fee, 
will be borne by the Partnership pursuant to the Funding Agreement. See “Item 4.3 – Funding Agreement”. 

ITEM 10 - RISK FACTORS 

An investment in the Trust is speculative and contains certain risks. Prospective investors should carefully 
consider, among other factors, the matters described below, each of which could have an adverse effect on the 
value of the Trust Units. As a result of these factors, as well as other risks inherent in any investment, there 
can be no assurance that the Issuers will meet their business objectives. The Issuers’ returns may be 
unpredictable and, accordingly, the Trust Units and LP Units are not suitable as the sole investment vehicle 
for an investor or for an investor that is looking for a predictable source of cash flow. An investor should only 
invest in the Issuers as part of an overall investment strategy. Based on, among others, the factors described 
below, the possibility of partial or total loss of capital will exist and investors should not subscribe unless they 
can readily bear the consequences of such loss. 



- 66 - 

 
 

Investment Risks 

No Assurance of Investment Returns 

An investment in the Trust and Partnership requires a long-term commitment, with no certainty of return. 
Investments made by the Trust and the Partnership, may not generate current income. The success of the Trust, 
accordingly, a return on investment for a purchaser of Trust Units of LP Units, is entirely dependent upon the 
success of the Partnership’s real estate investment strategy. There is no assurance or guarantee that the Trust and, 
correspondingly, the Trust Unitholders and Limited Partners will earn a return on their investment. Trust 
Unitholders and Limited Partners could lose the entire amount of their investment. 

Single type of asset 

The Issuers were formed solely for the purposes of the acquisition of an interest in the Property and the subsequent 
Innovation Development of the Property.  The Property and the Innovation Development will represent the only 
significant assets of the Issuers and therefore the Issuers’ financial performance will be directly tied to the 
performance of the Property and the Innovation Development. 

Highly speculative 

The purchase of Units is highly speculative.  A potential investor should purchase Units only if it is able to bear the 
risk of the entire loss of its investment.  An investment in the Units should not constitute a significant portion of an 
investor’s portfolio. 

Restrictions on Redemption and Transfer; Illiquidity of Trust Units 

It is intended that the Trust will continue for an indefinite term. As a result, a Trust Unitholder will have 
limited sources of liquidity for its Trust Units. Trust Unitholders should be aware that redemption rights in their 
favour are subject to significant limitations and restrictions. There will be no public market for the Trust Units and 
an application for listing of the Trust Units on a stock exchange will not be made. Trust Units are highly illiquid 
investments and should only be acquired by investors able to bear the economic risk of an investment in the 
Trust Units for an indefinite period of time. The Trust Units are being sold on a “private placement” basis in 
reliance upon exemptions from prospectus requirements of applicable securities laws and therefore are subject to 
significant statutory restrictions on transfer or sale. The Trust Units will be subject to “hold periods” under 
applicable securities legislation and, as the Trust is currently not a “reporting issuer” in any province or 
territory in Canada, the “hold periods” may never expire. Additionally, Trust Unitholders will not be permitted to 
transfer or sell their Trust Units without the consent of the Trustee, which may be withheld in the Trustee’s sole 
discretion, and may be subject to the satisfaction of certain other conditions, including the provision of an 
opinion of counsel that such a transfer would not subject the Trust or the Trust Unitholders to any regulatory or 
tax burdens or result in violation of any applicable law or governmental regulation. Investments in the Trust 
should be considered long-term in nature.  

Restrictions on redemption and transfer; Illiquidity of LP Units 

It is intended that the Partnership will continue until March 15, 2041. As a result, a Limited Partners will have 
limited sources of liquidity for its LP Units. Limited Partners should be aware that redemption rights in their 
favour are subject to significant limitations and restrictions. There will be no public market for the LP Units 
and an application for listing of the LP Units on a stock exchange will not be made. LP Units in the Partnership 
are highly illiquid investments and should only be acquired by investors able to bear the economic risk of an 
investment in the LP Units for an indefinite period of time. The LP Units are being sold on a “private 
placement” basis in reliance upon exemptions from prospectus requirements of applicable securities laws and 
therefore are subject to significant statutory restrictions on transfer or sale. The LP Units will be subject to “hold 
periods” under applicable securities legislation and, as the Partnership is currently not a “reporting issuer” in any 
province or territory in Canada, the “hold periods” may never expire. Additionally, Limited Partners will not be 
permitted to transfer their LP Units without first offering to sell the subject LP Units to the General Partner in 
accordance with the Partnership Agreement, subject to certain exceptions, including the provision of an opinion of 
counsel that such a transfer would not subject the Partnership or the Limited Partners to any regulatory or tax 
burdens or result in violation of any applicable law or governmental regulation. Investments in the Partnership 
should be considered long-term in nature. 
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Distribution of Income 

The Trust will distribute Trust income and Trust capital gains for each taxation year, so that Trust income and Trust 
capital gains may be taxable to Trust Unitholders and the Trust will not have any obligation to pay tax under the 
Tax Act. Payment of distributions is intended to be made in cash, but the Trust may, in certain circumstances, make 
distributions by distributing additional Trust Units. See “Item 4.1 - Declaration of Trust”. In addition, The 
General Partner will make distributions to the Limited Partners. In the event that the Issuers do not make cash 
distributions, then investors will have to rely solely on the redemption of their Trust Units or LP Units to obtain a 
cash return on their investment. 

The return on an investment in the Trust Units and LP Units is not comparable to the return on an investment 
in fixed-income securities. Cash distributions are not guaranteed and are not fixed obligations of the Issuers. 

Nature of Trust Units 

Each Trust Unit represents an equal undivided beneficial interest in the Trust. The Trust Units do not represent debt 
instruments and there is no principal amount owing to Trust Unitholders under the Trust Units, and the Trust 
Units are not insured against loss through the Canadian Deposit Insurance Corporation. 

Nature of LP Units 

Each LP Unit represents an equal undivided beneficial interest in the Partnership. The LP Units do not 
represent debt instruments and there is no principal amount owing to Limited Partners under the LP Units, and 
the LP Units are not insured against loss through the Canadian Deposit Insurance Corporation. 

There are no restrictions on the number of Units that can be acquired 

The Issuers do not place restrictions on the number of Units that any one Subscriber can acquire under the Offerings.  
As a result, any one Subscriber could end up controlling a large number of Units of the Issuers which may impact 
the voting on important matters that affect the Issuers, the Property and the Innovation Development. 

Limited voting rights for Limited Partners and Trust Unitholders 

The Partnership Agreement and the Declaration of Trust provides that there is no requirement on the part of the 
General Partner and the Trustee, respectively,to hold annual general meetings of the Limited Partners and the Trust 
Unitholders, and the General Partner and Trustee has no present intention to convene any such meetings.  Subject to 
the limited voting rights provided to the Limited Partners in the Partnership Agreement and to the Trust Unitholders 
in the Declaration or Trust, Limited Partners must rely on the General Partner and Trust Unitholders must rely on 
the Trustee to manage and control the affairs of the Partnership and the Trust, respectively.  In order for Limited 
Partners to request a meeting of the Limited Partners, Limited Partners holding not less than 50% of the number of 
all issued and outstanding LP Units must make a written request in respect of same to the General Partner.  In order 
for Trust Unitholders to request a meeting of the Trust Unitholders, Trust Unitholders holding not less than 50% of 
the number of all issued and outstanding Trust Units must make a written request in respect of same to the Trustee.  
See “Item 4 Material Agreements”. 

Possible loss of limited liability and liability for return of capital 

Maintenance of limited liability of a Limited Partner requires compliance with certain legal requirements in 
jurisdictions in which the Partnership will operate.  There is a risk that Limited Partners could lose their limited 
liability in certain circumstances and be liable beyond their contribution and share of undistributed net income of the 
Partnership. 

Where a Limited Partner has received a distribution from the Partnership, such Limited Partner may be liable to 
return to the Partnership or, if the Partnership is dissolved, to its creditors, any amount, not in excess of the amount 
distributed to such Limited Partner with interest, as may be necessary to discharge the liabilities of the Partnership to 
all creditors who extended credit or whose claims otherwise arose before such distribution.  
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Statutory rights related to Units 

The Units do not represent a traditional investment and should not be viewed by investors as “shares” of the Issuers.  
Corporate law does not govern the Partnership or the Trust, the rights of Limited Partners as limited partners of the 
Partnership, or the rights of the Trust Unitholders of the Trust.  The Limited Partners, as limited partners of the 
Partnership, and the Trust Unitholders of the trust will not have the statutory rights normally associated with 
ownership of shares of a corporation, including, for example, the right to bring “oppression” or “derivative” actions.  
The rights of Limited Partners, as limited partners of the Partnership, are specifically set forth in the Partnership 
Agreement.  The rights of the Trust Unitholders are specifically set out in the Declaration of Trust.  In addition, 
partnerships and trusts are not defined as recognized entities within the definitions of legislation such as the 
Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada) and the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act (Canada).  As a result, in 
the event of an insolvency or restructuring, the Limited Partners’ position as limited partners of the Partnership and 
the Trust Unitholders’ position as Trust beneficiaries may be quite different than that of a shareholder of a 
corporation. 

Representations – Qualified Person 

Each Limited Partner will represent that such Limited Partner is a Qualified Person.  There is no assurance now or in 
the future a Limited Partner will not be found to be an Unqualified Limited Partner.  In the event that the General 
Partner determines that a Limited Partner has become an Unqualified Limited Partner, then such Unqualified 
Limited Partner shall be deemed to have ceased to be a Limited Partner effective immediately prior to the date of 
contravention and will not be entitled to any voting rights after such date or distributions of the Partnership which 
accrue after that date and the LP Units of that Unqualified Limited Partner will be deemed not to be outstanding 
until acquired by a Qualified Person and, in certain circumstances, the General Partner will be entitled to sell those 
LP Units on behalf of such Unqualified Limited Partners on such terms and conditions as the General Partner deems 
reasonable and may acquire those LP Units.  

Trust Units are intended to be held by Taxable and Tax Exempt Investors 

The Trust Units are intended to be held by taxable and tax exempt investors. Taxable investors may be subject to 
tax as a result of holding Trust Units. The Trust intends to make all taxable income of the Trust payable to Trust 
Unitholders each year and to distribute such income by distributing cash or Trust Units. In addition, income 
allocated by the Trust to Trust Unitholders may exceed the amount payable to them on a redemption of their Trust 
Units. Investors should consult their own tax advisors respecting the tax consequences of owning the Trust Units. 

Mutual Fund Trust Status 

To qualify as a mutual fund trust, the sole undertaking of the Trust must be the investing of its funds in 
property (other than certain real property or interests in real property), the Trust must comply on  a continuous 
basis with certain requirements relating to maintaining a diversity of investments, the qualification of the Trust 
Units for distribution to the public, the number of Trust Unitholders and the dispersal of ownership of Trust 
Units and the Trust must not be reasonably considered to have been established or maintained primarily for the 
benefit of non- residents of Canada. If the Trust fails or ceases to qualify as a “mutual fund trust”, there may be 
adverse tax consequences to the Trust and Trust Unitholders. 

Eligibility of Trust Units for Investment by Deferred Plans 

If the Trust fails or ceases to qualify as a “mutual fund trust” the Trust Units may not be or may cease to be 
qualified investments for Deferred Plans which will have adverse tax consequences to Deferred Plans and their 
annuitants, holders or beneficiaries. If the Trust Units are or become a prohibited investment for trusts governed by 
the Deferred Plans, adverse tax consequences may result to the holder of the Deferred Plans. 

One of the requirements for the Trust to qualify as a mutual fund trust is that it will have at least 150 separate 
holders of Trust Units, each holding no less than one block of units (meaning 10 Trust Units if the Fair Market 
Value is at least $100 per Trust Unit), with an aggregate value of at least $500 worth of Trust Units. The Trust may 
hold Closings of the Trust Offering prior to this requirement being met and there is no guarantee that this 
requirement will be met. 
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Trust Property or Redemption Notes received as a result of a distribution or redemption of Trust Units may not be 
a qualified investment for Deferred Plans, which may give rise to adverse consequences to a Deferred Plan or the 
annuitant, holder or beneficiary thereunder. 

Tax Treatment of Trust Units and Trust Unitholders 

Canadian federal or provincial income tax legislation may be amended, or their interpretation changed, so as to 
alter fundamentally the tax consequences of holding or disposing of Trust Units or the investments held by the 
Trust. The alternative minimum tax could limit tax benefits available to Trust Unitholders. There is no assurance 
that income tax laws or administrative practices of tax officials in the various jurisdictions of Canada will not be 
changed in a manner which will adversely alter the tax treatment of Trust Unitholders. 

Tax Characterization of Trust Income and Trust Capital Gains 

The designation of income or gains realized by the Trust to Trust Unitholders, including the designation of 
gains realized on the disposition of investments as capital gains will depend largely on factual considerations. 
The Trust will endeavor to make appropriate characterizations of income or gains realized by the Trust for 
purposes of designating such income or gains to Trust Unitholders based on information reasonably available to 
it. However, there is no certainty that the manner in which the Trust characterizes such income or gains will be 
accepted by the CRA. If it is subsequently determined that the Trust’s characterization of a particular amount 
was incorrect, Trust Unitholders might suffer material adverse tax consequences as a result. 

SIFT Status 

If investments in the Trust are listed or traded on a stock exchange or other public market, the Trust may be 
taxable as a “SIFT trust” under the Tax Act, which will have adverse tax consequences to the Trust 
Unitholders and the Trust and the Canadian federal income tax considerations of investing in the Trust will be 
materially different from those described herein. 

Tax Aspects relating to LP Units 

Canadian federal and provincial tax aspects should be considered prior to investing in the LP Units (see “Item 8 
- Canadian Federal Income Tax Consequences and RRSP Eligibility”). The return on a Limited Partner’s 
investment in LP Units may be affected by changes in Canadian tax laws. The discussion of income tax 
considerations in this Offering Memorandum is based upon current income tax laws and regulations. There can 
be no assurance that (a) tax laws, regulations or judicial or administrative interpretations will not be changed, 
(b) applicable tax authorities will not take a different view as to the interpretation or the application of tax laws 
and regulations than the Partnership or than as set out in this Offering Memorandum, (c) applicable tax 
authorities will not challenge allocations by the Partnership of income, losses, gains or deductions or disallow 
certain deductions against income, or (d) the facts upon which the tax discussions set out in this Offering 
Memorandum are materially correct. Any of the preceding may fundamentally alter, in a negative way, the tax 
consequences to investors of holding or disposing of LP Units. 

If an interest in a Limited Partner is or becomes a “tax shelter investment”, if a Limited Partner finances the 
acquisition of its LP Units with limited recourse financing, or if more than 50% of the LP Units are held 
by “financial institutions” for the purposes of the Tax Act, there may be adverse tax consequences to all 
Limited Partners and the Partnership. If investments in the Partnership are listed or traded on a stock exchange 
or other public market and the Partnership holds one or more “non-portfolio properties”, as defined in the Tax Act, 
then the Partnership may be a SIFT Partnership and the Canadian federal income tax considerations will be 
materially different than those described herein. 

The discussion of certain Canadian federal income tax considerations contained in this Offering Memorandum 
is provided for information purposes only and is not a complete analysis or discussion of all potential tax 
considerations that may be relevant to the acquisition of LP Units. Prospective investors are urged to consult 
their own tax advisors, prior to investing in the Partnership, with respect to the specific tax consequences to 
them from the acquisition of LP Units. 
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Risks Relating to Redemption 

If holders of a substantial number of Trust Units exercise their redemption rights, the number of Trust Units 
outstanding could be significantly reduced. In any such circumstance, the Trustee may at any time terminate 
the Trust without the approval of the Trust Unitholders if, in the opinion of the Trustee, it is no longer 
economically feasible to continue the Trust or the Trustee determines that it would be in the best interests of Trust 
Unitholders to terminate the Trust. 

Liability for Return of Distributions 

Generally, the Trust Unitholders do not have personal liability for the obligations of the Trust. However, under 
applicable law, Trust Unitholders could be required to return distributions previously made by the Trust if it is 
determined that such distributions were wrongfully made or in certain other circumstances under the terms of 
the Declaration of Trust. Where a Trust Unitholder has received the return of all or part of the amount contributed 
to the Trust, the Trust Unitholder is nevertheless liable to the Trust or, where the Trust is terminated, to its 
creditors for any amount, not in excess of the amount returned with interest, necessary to discharge the liabilities 
of the Trust to all creditors who extended credit or whose claims otherwise arose before the return of the 
contribution. Additionally, Trust Unitholders may have to return all or a portion of distributions made to them to 
the extent the Trust has an obligation to withhold any amounts from such distribution for tax purposes. 

Dilution/Concentration 

The Trust and Partnership are each authorized to issue an unlimited number of Trust Units and LP Units (as 
applicable). Any issuance of additional Trust Units or LP Units may have a dilutive or concentrative effect on 
the value of Trust Units or LP Units. Investors who invest after a particular Property is acquired will be 
entitled to receive the same distributions as an investor who invested before such Property was acquired and will 
therefore be entitled to the equivalent benefits or disadvantages as each other Trust Unitholder or Limited Partner 
(as applicable). 

Additional Limited Partners 

The Trust is not the only Limited Partner in the Partnership. The Partnership is seeking additional investments 
by Persons other than the Trust directly into the Partnership. The direct investment by Persons other than the Trust 
may dilute the Trust’s interest in the Partnership. 

Recourse to the Trust’s Assets 

The Trust’s assets, including any investments made by the Trust and any capital held by the Trust, are available 
to satisfy all liabilities and other obligations of the Trust. If the Trust itself becomes subject to a liability, 
parties seeking to have the liability satisfied may have recourse to the Trust’s assets generally and not be 
limited to any particular asset, such as the investment giving rise to the liability. 

Indemnification 

The Trustee, each former Trustee and each officer of the Trust and each former officer of the Trust is entitled 
to indemnification and reimbursement out of the Trust Property, except under certain circumstances, from the 
Trust. Such indemnification obligations could decrease the returns which would otherwise be available to the Trust 
Unitholders. 

Effect of Expenses on Returns 

The Trustee, each former Trustee and each director and officer of the Trustee and each former director and officer of 
the Trustee is entitled to indemnification and reimbursement out of the Trust Property, except under certain 
circumstances, from the Trust. Such indemnification obligations could decrease the returns which would otherwise 
be available to the Trust Unitholders. 
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Risks Relating to Redemption of LP Units 

If holders of a substantial number of LP Units exercise their redemption rights, the number of LP Units outstanding 
could be significantly reduced and the Partnership may not be able to meet its investment objectives. 

The Risk of Uninsured Losses will be Borne by the Partnership 

The Partnership expects to maintain insurance coverage against liability to third parties and property damage as 
is customary for similar businesses, insofar as the General Partner deems the same necessary or appropriate, in its 
sole discretion. There can be no assurance that insurance will be available or sufficient to cover all such risks. 
Insurance against certain risks may be unavailable or commercially infeasible. Uninsured losses will be borne by 
the Partnership. 

Securities Regulatory Risks 

In the ordinary course of business, the Issuers may be subject to ongoing reviews by the securities regulators, 
who have broad powers to pass, interpret, amend and change the interpretation of securities laws from time to 
time and broad powers to protect the public interest and to impose terms, conditions, restrictions or requirements 
regarding registration under securities laws. Further, the securities regulators have the authority to retroactively 
deny the benefit of an exemption from prospectus or registration requirements otherwise provided for in the 
securities laws where the regulator considers it necessary to do so to protect investors or the public interest. It is 
possible that securities matters may be reviewed and challenged by the securities authorities. If such challenge 
were to succeed, it could have a material adverse effect on the Issuers. There is no assurance that applicable 
securities laws or the securities regulators interpretation thereof or the practices of the securities regulators will not 
be changed or re- interpreted in a manner that adversely affects the Issuers. 

Disclosure of Personal Information  

Investors are advised that their names and other specified information, including the number and aggregate value 
of the Trust Units and LP Units owned: (i) will be disclosed to the relevant securities regulatory authorities and 
may become available to the public in accordance with the requirements of applicable securities and freedom of 
information laws and the investor consents to the disclosure of such information; (ii) is being collected indirectly 
by the applicable securities regulatory authority under the authority granted to it in securities legislation; and 
(iii) is being collected for the purposes of the administration and enforcement of the applicable securities 
legislation. 

Issuers Risks 

Required loans may not be provided, may terminate or may not be sufficient 

Separate financing for each building comprising the Innovation Development of the Property may be required.  
Also, the Partnership may wish to borrow funds for other reasons.  There can be no guarantee that any such 
financing or any other loans can or will be obtained on reasonable or acceptable terms, or at all. 

There can be no guarantee that (i) any financing will eventually be obtained from a lender or that a lender will not 
materially alter the terms of any financing, (ii) any required renewal of any financing, if required, will occur on 
similar terms thereof or at all, or (iii) the lender under any financing will not demand repayment of the amounts 
owing thereunder at a time when the Partnership does not have the funds to repay this loan.  This will require 
alternate financing which may be considerably more expensive or may not be available. 

The Partnership has the authority to negotiate and obtain other loans or loan facilities for the purposes of carrying 
out its operations and to grant security against its assets, including the Property and the Innovation Development, 
without obtaining approval of the Limited Partners.  The Partnership may exercise this power in a number of 
circumstances.  Any such borrowing and the granting of security, which may be from arm’s length third parties 
and/or, subject to compliance with all applicable laws and receipt of all required regulatory approvals (if any), from 
affiliates of the Partnership or from Limited Partners, will be on such terms as the General Partner deems to be 
appropriate.  Any such borrowings may be evidenced by promissory notes or other evidence of indebtedness.  Such 
borrowings may include securities offerings by the Partnership of indebtedness, such as notes or debentures, which 
may or may not be secured by the Partnership’s assets, including the Property and the Innovation Development. 
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There can be no assurances that the Partnership will be able to obtain financing for its purposes when required or, if 
it can obtain such financing, that such financing will be on terms that are reasonable or acceptable to the Partnership.  
The failure or inability of the Partnership to obtain such financing will have a material negative effect on the ability 
of the Partnership to develop the Property, in whole or in part, on a timely basis, or at all, which may have a material 
negative effect on the value of the Units and any return thereon.  Charges, costs and fees will be associated with 
providing security and documenting the relationship of the Partnership with the lenders under any financing and any 
other credit facilities, loans or borrowings entered into by the Partnership, which charges, costs and fees may be 
material and will have to be paid by the Partnership. 

Lack of Operating History 

The Trust and the Partnership have no operating history and no history of earnings. The past performance of any of 
the Regehr Parties in the real estate investment business in British Columbia should not be construed as a guarantee 
or expectation of future results of any investment in the Issuers. Accordingly, there is no operating history upon 
which to base an evaluation of the Issuers or their business or prospects. The Issuers are in the early stages of their 
business and therefore are subject to the risks associated with early stage entities, including start-up losses, 
uncertainty of revenues, markets and profitability, the need to raise additional funding, the evolving and 
unpredictable nature of their business and the ability to identify, attract and retain qualified personnel. There can be 
no assurance that the Issuers will be successful in doing what they are required to do to overcome these risks. No 
assurance can be given that the Issuers’ business activities will be successful. Total loss of an investment in Trust 
Units or LP Units is possible.  

The Partnership has no operating history and its operating policies and strategies are untried. The Partnership will be 
dependent upon the experience and expertise of the General Partner in administering its day-to-day operations. The 
General Partner and its affiliates have experience investing in and managing real estate-related assets; however, 
there can be no assurance that the General Partner will be able to implement successfully the strategies that the 
Partnership intends to pursue. 

Past Performance not a Predictor of Future Results.   

The examples of historical successes of past projects developed by the WestStone Group discussed elsewhere in this 
Offering Memorandum are, for the most part, based on different investment models and relate to properties located 
in different locations than the Property.  These historical successes cannot, and should not, be viewed as indicative 
of future performance of the Issuers and the Units offered under this Offering Memorandum and must not be relied 
upon as a forecast or projection of the anticipated returns, if any, on an investment in the Units. 

Neither the General Partner nor the Partnership will take registered title to the Property 

To facilitate administration of the Property, the legal title to the Property as a whole, will be registered in the name 
of WKGD One, WKGD Two and WKGD Three.  WKGD One, WKGD Two and WKGD Three will hold such title 
for the benefit of the Partnership (based on the number of LP Units sold under the Offerings and the corresponding 
percentage of the beneficial interest purchased by the Partnership) under the terms of the Earn-in Agreement.  The 
Partnership will not hold legal title to its percentage undivided interest in the Property and will only hold a beneficial 
interest therein.  In addition, under the terms of the Co-Ownership Agreement, the Co-Owners, including the 
Partnership, are not permitted to register a caveat in respect of their beneficial undivided interest in the Property 
against the registered title to the Property.  As a result, the Partnership will not have available to it the protections 
that would arise from holding legal title to the Property or from registering a caveat against such legal title.  The 
Partnership must rely on WKGD One, WKGD Two and WKGD Three, as the holders of the legal title, to protect its 
interest in that regard, in accordance with the terms of the Earn-in Agreement and the Co-Ownership Agreement. 

The Innovation Development of the Partnership may require modifying the existing Property zoning and 
obtaining other approval from local government agencies 

On December 19, 2016, Surrey City Council by way of third reading passed a resolutions that "Surrey Official 
Community Plan Bylaw, 2013, No. 18020, Amendment Bylaw, 2015, No. 18472" pass its third reading which is 
understood to rezone the property from its former zoning Tourist Commercial to Comprehensive Development (CD 
Zone). Final approval is expected form the City of Surrey by June 2017, but there is no assurances that approval will 
be secured by that time or at all, as expected. 1027110 has further applied to the City of Surrey to obtain a 
development permit under the CD Zoning of the Property to allow for the Project to be constructed. As part of 
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obtaining a development permit process, the Partnership may update the zoning designations to fit the Innovation 
Development of the Property and also obtain other associated required approvals from local or other government 
agencies.  The process of obtaining these approvals (which may require certain environmental impact studies) may 
take many months or years and the costs of holding the Property will accrue while regulatory approvals are being 
sought.  These approvals may not be received in a timely manner or may not be received in a manner that is 
acceptable to the General Partner.  Failure to obtain acceptable approvals in a timely manner could have a significant 
negative effect on the value of the Property and the Innovation Development of the Property and, in turn, on the 
value of the Units. 

Default of registered mortgages 

The WestStone Group has owned the Property by way of registering a first and second mortgage (the “Mortgages”) 
in favour of funders of the Property.  These Mortgages contain common lending conditions including restrictions on 
disposing of equity, waste, destroying buildings or removing tenants thereby reducing rental income.  Any 
infringement of these conditions allows the lender, at its option, to call its mortgage due.  A part of the development 
process requires the elimination of tenants and other buildings which the WestStone Group has done.  These actions 
of the WestStone Group, including the registration of the Second Mortgage, could cause either one of the Mortgage 
to call its loan due during the period of the Partnership acquiring the Property.  The WestStone Group has agreed 
that it will, during this time period should any Mortgagee call its loan due, indemnify the Partnership for any cost or 
loss pertaining thereto.  However, if in such event the WestStone Group is unable to perform on its indemnity, or 
defaults in the repayment of any indebtedness, or becomes insolvent, the Partnership in holding such indebtedness 
will be entitled to exercise available legal remedies against the WestStone Group for its rights under these 
agreements.  As the Partnership’s funding is subordinate to the first and second mortgage, there is no assurance that 
there will be assets available to recover any portion of the Partnership’s investment of funds in the Property. 

No guarantee that an investment in the Units will be successful 

There can be no guarantee that investors will not realize losses from an investment in Units and there can be no 
assurance that the Issuer’s strategy in relation to the Innovation Development of the Property will be successful or 
that the objective of earning a profit will be achieved.  Real estate investment involves a high degree of risk that 
even the combination of experience and knowledge may not be able to avoid.  Success in these objectives will 
depend to a certain extent on the experience and knowledge of the General Partner and the WestStone Group and on 
a number of other external factors, such as, among other things, the development of the residential and commercial 
real estate market in the vicinity of the Property and the general political and economic conditions that may prevail 
from time to time, which factors are beyond the control of the General Partner and the WestStone Group. 

The likelihood of success of the Issuers must be considered in light of the problems, expenses, difficulties, 
complications and delays frequently encountered in connection with the establishment of any real estate investment.  
If the General Partner fails to address any of these risks or difficulties adequately, the Partnership’s performance 
likely will suffer.  Future profits, if any, will depend upon various factors, including the growth of the City of 
Surrey, and in particular the areas surrounding the Property, the success, if any, of the development and 
marketability of the Innovation Development of the Property, the receipt of applicable government approvals, the 
application of government regulations and enforcement of such regulations and general political and economic 
conditions.  There is no assurance that the Issuers can operate profitably or that the Issuers will successfully 
implement its plans. 

Potential regulation of the Issuers 

As a result of recent highly publicized financial scandals and ongoing financial turmoil, investors, regulators and the 
general public have expressed concerns over the integrity of both the financial markets and the regulatory oversight 
of these markets and their participants.  As a result, the regulatory environment in which the Issuers will operate is 
subject to heightened regulation.  With respect to alternative asset management funds, in recent years there has been 
debate in both the Canadian and non-Canadian governments about new rules or regulations to be applicable to hedge 
funds, private equity funds or other alternative investment products and the advisers thereto.  It is impossible to 
determine the scope and extent of the impact of any new laws, regulations or initiatives that may be proposed, 
whether any of the proposals will become law or whether if enacted, any such laws, regulations or initiatives would 
apply to the Issuers.  Compliance with any new laws or regulations could make compliance more difficult and 
expensive and affect the manner in which the Issuers operates.  Moreover, as calls for additional regulation have 
increased, there may be a related increase in regulatory investigations of the investment activities of alternative asset 
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management funds, including the Issuers.  Such investigations may impose additional expenses on the Issuers and 
may require the attention of senior management and may result in fines if either of the Issuers are deemed to have 
violated any regulations. 

Partnership purchasing Property on an “as is, where is” basis 

Under the terms of the Earn-in Agreement, the Partnership has agreed that its beneficial interest in the Property will 
be purchased in its “as-is, where is” condition with respect to the physical and environmental condition of the 
Property and that 1027110 makes no representation or warranty to the Partnership with respect to the physical or 
environmental condition of the Property. 

If the Partnership is unable to acquire an interest in the Property, it will dissolve, however amounts returned to 
Limited Partner may be less than the amounts they invested 

If one or more closings of this Offerings have occurred but the Partnership is not able to acquire an interest in the 
Property for any reason, the General Partner will wind-up and dissolve the Partnership and distribute its assets in 
accordance with the Partnership Agreement.  In those circumstances, the Issuers will have expenses related to, 
among other things, the formation of the Partnership and the Trust, the Offerings and its operations to the date of 
wind-up and dissolution and, accordingly, the amounts returned to the Limited Partners and Trust Unitholders will 
be less than the purchase price paid for the Units under this Offerings.  

The Partnership may have substantial amounts of debt 

The Partnership may have substantial debt.  This debt could result in an increased risk of potential insolvency of the 
Partnership, which will have a significant material impact on the Partnership and its ability to continue its 
operations.  It is expected that the lenders of any debt financing entered into by the Partnership will, unless such 
lenders determine otherwise in their sole discretion, place restrictions on the Partnership’s ability to make 
distributions on the Units until such financing has been paid in full.  In addition, lenders providing Financing with 
respect to the Innovation Development of the Property may require that the Partnership provide to such lenders 
security in the Property and the Innovation Development and other assets of the Partnership to secure the 
indebtedness of the Partnership under any such lender’s financing.  This may further delay the Issuers’ ability to 
make distributions on the Units. 

Default on indebtedness prior to completion 

In the event that the Partnership acquires a portion of its beneficial interest or exercises its option to acquire a 
portion of the Second Mortgage and then thereafter the WestStone Group defaults in the repayment of any 
indebtedness, or becomes insolvent, the Partnership in holding such indebtedness will be entitled to exercise 
available legal remedies against the WestStone Group for its rights under these agreements.  As the Second 
Mortgage is a subordinate charge to the first mortgage, there is no assurance that there will be assets available to 
recover any portion of the Partnership’s investment of funds in acquiring the portion of the Second Mortgage, which 
would negatively affect the value of the Units. 

Default on indebtedness 

If the Partnership defaults in the repayment of any indebtedness, or becomes insolvent, the creditors holding such 
indebtedness will be entitled to exercise available legal remedies against the Partnership, including among other 
things, preventing any distributions on the Units, declaring the full amounts of such loans immediately repayable 
and exercising their rights against the assets of the Partnership, including the Property and the Innovation 
Development.  There is no assurance that there will be assets available to recover any portion of a Limited Partner’s 
investment. 

Accounting Estimates 

International Financial Reporting Standards used in connection with the accounting and auditing of the Trust, the 
Partnership and the General Partner requires that management apply certain accounting policies and make certain 
estimates and assumptions that affected reported amounts in their respective financial statements.  Those 
assumptions may affect the reported amounts in the financial statements.  The accounting policies may result in non-
cash charges to net income and adjustments to net assets in the financial statements.  Such non-cash charges and 
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adjustments may be viewed unfavourably by the market and may result in a decline in the value of the Units.  The 
carrying value of the Property is one of the items which is subject to valuation and potential non-cash adjustments. 

General Partner has limited assets 

The General Partner has unlimited liability for the obligations of the Partnership.  The General Partner will 
indemnify and hold harmless the Partnership from and against all costs incurred and damages suffered by the 
Partnership as a result of negligence, a breach of its standard of care, wilful misconduct or a fraudulent act by the 
General Partner, or as a result of an act or omission by the General Partner not believed to be in good faith or within 
the scope of authority of the General Partner conferred by the Partnership Agreement.  The General Partner has, and 
will continue to have, limited financial resources and will only have limited assets, which will affect its ability to 
indemnify the Partnership.  The amount of any such indemnity will be limited to the extent of the assets of the 
General Partner and will not include, under any circumstance, the assets of an affiliate of the General Partner. 

Business Risk 

While the General Partner and Trustee believe that the Partnership will be successful over the long term in acquiring 
its interest in the Property and developing the Innovation Development, there can be no guarantee against losses 
resulting from an investment in the Units and there can be no assurance that the Issuers’ investment approaches will 
be successful or that its investment objectives will be attained.  No assurance can be given that the Innovation 
Development of the Property will generate any income or will appreciate in value.  The Issuers could realize 
substantial losses, rather than gains, from its investments. 

No Assurance of Return 

Although the General Partner will use its best efforts to achieve superior rates of return for the Partnership, no 
assurance can be given in this regard.  An investment in Units should be considered as speculative and investors 
must be able to bear the risk of a complete loss of their investment. 

Limited Resources of General Partner 

The General Partner has no obligation to fund any operating deficits resulting from the business of the Partnership or 
to advance funds to continue the business operations of the Partnership. Even if the General Partner should elect to 
do so voluntarily or be held individually accountable by Partnership creditors, there is no assurance that the 
available assets will be adequate to satisfy the capital needs of continuing business operations.  If Partnership 
revenues are insufficient to pay Partnership expenses after expending the funds obtained from the Offerings and if 
the General Partner does not advance such additional funds as may be needed by the Partnership, the Partnership 
may not be able to continue its business operations in the absence of an alternative source of financing, and there can 
be no assurance that such financing will be available to the Partnership. 

Dependence on Key Personnel 

The success of the Issuers will be entirely dependent upon the efforts of the General Partner and, in particular, the 
efforts, knowledge and expertise of the General Partners management team, who have substantial discretionary 
authority for the Partnership and the Innovation Development of the Property.  The Trust and other Limited Partners 
have no right or power to take part in the management of the Partnership.  Accordingly, no one should invest in 
Units unless they are willing to entrust all aspects of the management and all decisions of the Partnership to the 
General Partner and its management team.   

Termination of the Trust 

Although the Trust is expected to continue until 2041, Trust Unitholders may, by Extraordinary Resolution, vote to 
terminate the Trust at any meeting of Trust Unitholders duly called by the Trustee or the Trust Unitholders for the 
purpose of considering termination of the Trust, following which the Trustee will commence winding-up of 
the Trust. Such Extraordinary Resolution may contain directions to the Trustee as the Trust Unitholders determine, 
including a direction to distribute the securities held by the Trust, in specie. If the termination occurs earlier than 
the term of the Trust, the Trust may not have been in existence for the period of time necessary to achieve the 
business objectives of the Trust.  
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Possible Conflicts of Interest 

The Issuers may be subject to various conflicts of interest.   

The WestStone Group is engaged in a wide variety of real estate investment and development activities and certain 
of the directors and officers of the General Partner are also directors and or officers of one or more members of the 
WestStone Group or other real estate entities.  Although the General Partner will have various obligations to the 
Partnership, situations may arise where the interests of the directors, officers, employees and shareholders of the 
General Partner (being the promoter of the Partnership) could conflict with the interests of the Partnership. 
 
The General Partner and its respective officers, directors, employees, and shareholders are not limited or affected in 
their ability to carry on other business ventures for their own account, or for the account of others, and may be 
engaged in the development of, investment in, or management of businesses that may compete with the business of 
the Partnership. 
 
The Partnership will not have an independent review committee or any other form of management oversight and will 
rely exclusively upon the General Partner to manage the business of the Partnership and to provide managerial skill. 
The directors, officers, employees and shareholders of the General Partner may have a conflict of interest in 
allocating their time between the business of the General Partner and the Partnership, and other businesses or 
projects in which they may become involved. The directors and officers of the General Partner have, however, 
agreed to devote as much time to the Partnership as is required for the effective management of the Partnership. 
 
The WestStone Group as well as employees, directors and officers of the WestStone Group may invest their own 
money in the Partnership and may, from time to time, have substantial holdings in the Partnership. 

The Partnership pays the General Partner the Management Fee and a Carried Interest (ultimately borne by the 
holders of the Units as discussed elsewhere in this Offering Memorandum).  

There may be occasions when the Regehr Parties encounter conflicts of interest in connection with the 
Issuers’ activities. There may be conflicts in allocating business opportunities among the Partnership and other 
Regehr Parties. In a bankruptcy proceeding, it is possible that the Trust’s interests may be subordinated or 
otherwise adversely affected by virtue of the involvement or actions of such other participants. 

Broad Authority of the General Partner 

The Partnership Agreement gives the General Partner broad discretion over the conduct of the Partnership’s business 
including the Partnership’s participation in the development of the Innovation Development of the Property. 

Competition for Services 

The Partnership will not have independent management and will rely upon the General Partner to manage the 
business of the Partnership and to provide investment managerial skill. The directors and officers of the General 
Partner may have a conflict of interest in allocating their time among the business of the General Partner and the 
Partnership, and other businesses or projects in which they may become involved. The directors and officers of the 
General Partner have, however, agreed to devote as much time to the Partnership as is required for the effective 
management of the Partnership. 

No Obligation to Devote Full Time Efforts 

The General Partner will devote such time as it believes, in its discretion, is necessary to carry out the operations 
of the Partnership. Moreover, officers and employees of the General Partner and its affiliates are not 
obligated to devote full time efforts to the Partnership’s efforts, and they may have conflicts in their allocation of 
time between the Partnership and other unrelated activities. 

The Partnership’s Success is Dependent on Key Personnel 

The Partnership believes that its success will depend to a significant extent upon the experience of key 
management personnel of the General Partner. The continued service of some of these key management personnel 
cannot be guaranteed. However, while the General Partner believes that it could replace these key personnel, the 
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loss of any such persons or the loss of all of such persons at a single point in time could have a material adverse 
effect on the operations of the Partnership through a diminished ability to obtain investment opportunities and to 
structure and execute the Partnership’s potential investments and business plan. In addition, the Partnership may 
not successfully recruit additional personnel and any additional personnel that are recruited may not have the 
requisite skills; knowledge or experience necessary or desirable to enhance the incumbent management. 

Joint Ventures 

The Partnership may enter into one or more joint ventures with strategic partners, including with affiliates of 
the General Partner. Investments with joint venture partners may involve carried interests and/or fees payable to 
such joint venture partners, as the General Partner may deem appropriate, in its sole discretion. Any joint venture 
contemplated by the Partnership will be reviewed and shall only proceed if approved by the board of directors of 
the General Partner, which shall require the approval of both independent members of the board of directors of the 
General Partner. 

Lack of independent counsel representing Trust Unitholders and Limited Partners 

The Trust and Partnership has consulted with and retained for its benefit legal counsel to advise them in connection 
with the formation and terms of the Trust and the offering of Trust Units. Trust Unitholders and Limited Partners 
(other than the Trust) have not, however, as a group been represented by independent legal counsel. Therefore, to 
the extent that such Trust Unitholders and Limited Partners could benefit by an independent review, such benefit 
will not be available unless such Trust Unitholders and Limited Partners retain their own legal counsel. 

Real Estate Industry Risks 

Risks of real property ownership and development 

Real estate investments are generally subject to varying degrees of risk depending on the nature of the property.  
Such risks include the highly competitive nature of the real estate industry, changes in general economic conditions 
(such as the availability and costs of mortgage funds), local conditions (such as the supply of office and retail space 
or the demand for residential real estate in the area), government regulations and changes therein (such as zoning, 
taxation of property and environmental legislation), changes in governments and the attractiveness of property to 
potential purchasers, developers and renters.  In addition, each segment in the real estate development industry is 
capital intensive and is typically sensitive to interest rates and economic conditions.  The income generated by the 
Innovation Development of the Property, if any, is dependent upon general economic conditions and, accordingly, 
the return to Limited Partners may be affected by changes in those conditions.  There is also no assurance that the 
Innovation Development of the Property can be expected to be leased or sold profitably.  Economic conditions may 
also affect the municipalities and their ability and willingness to fund infrastructure projects and support 
development.  The market for real property can be affected adversely by economic factors, which may be regional, 
national or international in scope. 

The Partnership will be required to make certain expenditures in respect of its activities, including, but not limited 
to, the payment of property taxes, maintenance costs, insurance costs and related charges regardless of whether or 
not the Innovation Development of the Property is producing sufficient income to service such expenses.  If the 
Partnership is unable or unwilling to meet such payment obligations, losses could be sustained as a result of the 
exercise by creditors of rights of foreclosure or sale. 

Various factors affect the timing and profitably real estate development and construction.  The Partnership will be 
subject to risks inherent in the development of real estate including: (i) construction and other unforeseen delays; (ii) 
cost overruns; (iii) the inability to secure the appropriate development and other necessary approvals in a timely and 
cost effective manner; and (iv) fluctuations in demand and supply for developed properties. 

Risk of Investment in Real Properties 

The success of the Issuers is to a substantial extent dependent upon the General Partner’s abilities to attract tenants 
to generate net income from the Innovation Development of the Property. 



- 78 - 

 
 

Construction Costs 

The real estate industry is significantly impacted by fluctuations in the costs of construction and servicing of land.  
Any material increase in construction and/or servicing costs may have a materially adverse effect on the Issuers and 
on the timing and costs of completion of the Innovation Development of the Property. 

Regulatory Approvals 

From time to time the development of the Property will or may require re-zoning, environmental and other 
approvals from Provincial and local government agencies.  The process of obtaining such approvals may take many 
months and there can be no assurance that the necessary approvals for the Innovation Development of the Property 
will be obtained.  Holding costs accrue while regulatory approvals are being sought and delays can render real estate 
investments uneconomic at any given period. 

Environmental Matters 

The Weststone Group has received a Stage 1 environmental report that confirms that there is no contamination on 
the Property and states that there is no need for a Stage 2 report.   

Notwithstanding the foregoing, under various environmental laws, ordinances and regulations, the current or 
previous owner or operator of real property may be liable for the costs of removal or rededication of hazardous or 
toxic substances on, under or in such property.  Such laws could impose liability whether or not the Partnership 
knew of, or was responsible for, the presence of such hazardous or toxic substances.  The presence of hazardous or 
toxic substances, or the failure to remove or rededicate such substances, if any, could adversely affect the 
Partnership’s ability to sell such real estate or to borrow using such real estate as collateral and could potentially also 
result in claims against the Partnership. 

General Real Estate Risks 

Various factors can affect the timing and profitability of real estate investment.  While the General Partner has made 
certain plans for applying an effective strategy to the acquisition and development of the Property, there is no 
assurance that such plans will be met on a timely basis or at all.  There is also no assurance that the Innovation 
Development of the Property can be leased profitably.  The Issuers will be subject to risks inherent in the ownership 
of real estate intended for generating sustainable net rental income, and for future resale. 

Builder contract risk 

The success of any development project is to a certain extent dependent upon the ability of BKR to attract 
builders/contractors with successful track records in construction.  In the event that any of the builders/contractors 
that are contracted with in connection with the Innovation Development of the Property should not comply with 
their obligations to the Issuers under the applicable agreements, the financial performance of the Issuers will in part 
depend upon the Partnership’s ability to find replacement builders/contractors.  There can be no guarantee that the 
Partnership will find suitable builders/contractors on a timely basis or on terms that are advantageous to the 
Partnership.  

The development industry is highly competitive 

The real estate development industry is highly competitive.  The Partnership will compete against land development 
companies, land speculators, numerous local, regional and national builders and others in the real estate business.  
Leasing of the Innovation Development of the Property will also compete with the existing rental market.  The 
Partnership may compete for financing, raw materials and skilled labour with entities that possess greater financial, 
marketing and other resources. 

Competition 

The Partnership competes with other investors, developers and owners of properties for the rental of commercial, 
retail and residential real estate.  Some of the commercial, retail and residential properties of the competitors of the 
Partnership are better located and better capitalized than the Property.  Certain of these competitors have greater 
financial and other resources and greater operating flexibility and efficiencies than the Partnership.  The existence of 
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competing developers and owners could have a material adverse effect on the ability of the Partnership and the 
WestStone Group to market the Innovation Development of the Property, and could adversely affect the profitability 
for the Issuers. 

The future political and economic climate in British Columbia cannot be predicted 

British Columbia and the City of Surrey present social, economic and political conditions that are reasonably stable.  
However, these levels of government and the federal government could implement policies that could have a 
material adverse effect on the value of the Property and the Innovation Development. 

Examples of such policies include tax reform, land use restrictions, land ownership restrictions, transportation 
policies, development moratoriums, annexation proceedings or other adverse economic or monetary policies. 

In addition, the success of the Partnership will be highly dependent on the economy of the Province of British 
Columbia and the City of Surrey.  The British Columbia economy may not sustain recent levels of growth and 
projections regarding its future growth may not be accurate.  If the economy of British Columbia or the City of 
Surrey declines, this could have a material adverse impact on the value of the Partnership and the ability of the 
Partnership to carry out its proposed activities with respect to the Property and Innovation Development of the 
Property and return to investors their investment in the Partnership. 

Changes in legislation and policies 

There can be no assurances that provincial or municipal legislation will not be implemented or policies and 
frameworks will not be implemented by the applicable municipal bodies or other government regulators having 
jurisdiction over the Property which places new restrictions on the ability to develop the Property or which generally 
has the effect of significantly reducing the value, or the potential value, of the Property and the Innovation 
Development. 

The foregoing list of risk factors does not purport to be a complete enumeration or explanation of the risks 
involved in an investment in the Issuers. Prospective investors should read this entire Offering Memorandum 
and consult their own counsel and financial advisors before deciding to invest in the Trust. 

Neither the Issuers, the Trustee, the General Partner, Administrator nor any other Regehr Party or any 
affiliate or associate of the foregoing is responsible for, and undertakes no obligation to, determine the 
general or specific investment needs and objectives of a potential investor and the suitability of the Trust 
Units or LP Units having regard to any such investment needs and objectives of the potential investor. 

ITEM 11 - REPORTING OBLIGATIONS 

The Trust will send to Trust Unitholders within six months of the Fiscal Year end and, in any event, on or before 
any earlier date prescribed by Applicable Laws, annual financial statements of the Trust for the Fiscal Year ended 
immediately prior to such period, which information shall consist of a balance sheet, income statement and 
statement of cash flows, which are audited and prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). 

The Trustee will, within the time frame required under the Tax Act, forward to each Trust Unitholder who received 
distributions from the Trust in the prior calendar year, such information and forms as may be needed by the Trust 
Unitholder in order to complete its income tax return in respect of the prior calendar year under the Tax Act and 
equivalent provincial legislation in Canada.  

The Partnership will send to Limited Partners within 90 days of the Fiscal Year end and, in any event, on or before 
any earlier date prescribed by Applicable Laws, annual financial statements of the Partnership for the Fiscal Year 
ended immediately prior to such period, which information shall consist of a balance sheet, income statement and 
statement of cash flows, which are audited and prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS).  

The General Partner will, within the time frame required under the Tax Act, forward to each Limited Partner who 
received distributions from the Partnership in the prior calendar year, such information and forms as may be needed 
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by the Limited Partner in order to complete its income tax return in respect of the prior calendar year under the Tax 
Act and equivalent provincial legislation in Canada.  

The Issuers will make reasonably available to Trust Unitholders and Limited Partners such other information as 
required by applicable securities laws for a non-reporting issuer that distributes securities using the “offering 
memorandum” exemption (including audited annual financial statements, annual notices of use of proceeds and 
notices of certain key events, if and when applicable). Generally, disclosure documents will be considered to have 
been “made reasonably available” if the documents are mailed to Trust Unitholders and Limited Partners, or if they 
receive notice that the disclosure documents can be viewed on a public website of the Issuers or a website accessible 
by all Trust Unitholders and Limited Partners (such as a password-protected website). 

None of the Issuers is a “reporting issuer” or equivalent under the securities legislation of any jurisdiction. 
Accordingly, the Issuers are not subject to the “continuous disclosure” requirements of a reporting issuer under 
securities legislation. Other than the documents described above, we are not required to send you any 
documents on an annual or ongoing basis. 

The Issuers will deliver to prospective investors certain documents, including this Offering Memorandum, a 
subscription agreement and any updates or amendments to the Offering Memorandum required by law, from time to 
time by way of facsimile or e-mail. In accordance with the terms of the subscription agreement provided to 
prospective investors, delivery of such documents by email or facsimile shall constitute valid and effective delivery 
of such documents unless the Issuers receive actual notice that such electronic delivery failed. Unless the Issuers 
receive actual notice that the electronic delivery failed, the Issuers are entitled assume that the facsimile or e-mail 
and the attached documents were actually received by the prospective investor and the Issuers will have no 
obligation to verify actual receipt of such electronic delivery by the prospective investor. 

ITEM 12 - RESALE RESTRICTIONS 

12.1 General 

The Trust Units and LP Units will be subject to a number of resale restrictions, including restrictions on trading. 
Until the restriction on trading expires, you will not be able to trade the Trust Units or LP Units unless you comply 
with an exemption from the prospectus requirements under securities legislation. Additionally, investors will not be 
permitted to transfer their Trust Units or LP Units without the consent of the Trustee or General Partner (as 
applicable). 

12.2 Restricted Period 

Unless permitted under securities legislation, a holder cannot trade the Trust Units or LP Units before the date that is 
four months and a day after the date the Trust or Partnership (as applicable) becomes a reporting issuer in any 
province or territory in Canada. Since the Issuers are not reporting issuers in any province or territory, the applicable 
hold period may never expire, and if no further exemption may be relied upon and if no discretionary order is 
obtained, this could result in an investor having to hold the Trust Units or LP Units acquired under the Offerings for 
an indefinite period of time. 

12.3 Manitoba Resale Restrictions 

In addition to the above, for subscribers resident in Manitoba, unless permitted under securities legislation, a holder 
must not trade the Trust Units or LP Units without the prior written consent of the regulator in Manitoba, unless: 

(a) the Trust or Partnership (as applicable) has filed a prospectus with the regulator in Manitoba with respect to 
the Trust Units or LP Units (as applicable) and the regulator in Manitoba has issued a receipt for that 
prospectus, or 

(b) the holder has held the Trust Units or LP Units for at least 12 months. 

The regulator in Manitoba will consent to such a trade if the regulator is of the opinion that to do so is not prejudicial 
to the public interest. 
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The Administrator must approve of any proposed disposition of Trust Units and the General Partner must approve 
any proposed disposition of LP Units. It is the responsibility of each individual holder to ensure that all forms 
required by the applicable securities legislation are filed as required upon disposition of the Trust Units or LP Units. 

The foregoing is a summary only of resale restrictions relevant to an investor of the securities offered hereunder. It 
is not intended to be exhaustive. All investors under this Offering should consult with their legal advisors to 
determine the applicable restrictions governing resale of the securities purchased hereunder including the extent of 
the applicable hold period and the possibilities of utilizing any further statutory exemptions or obtaining a 
discretionary order. 

ITEM 13 - PURCHASERS’ RIGHTS 

If you purchase Trust Units or LP Units you will have certain rights, some of which are described below. For 
information about your rights you should consult a lawyer. 

13.1 Two Day Cancellation Right 

You can cancel your agreement to purchase these Trust Units or LP Units. To do so, you must send a notice 
to us by midnight on the second business day after you sign the agreement to buy the Trust Units or LP Units 
(as applicable). 

13.2 Statutory Rights of Action in the Event of a Misrepresentation 

Securities legislation in certain of the provinces of Canada provides purchasers with a statutory right of action for 
damages or rescission in cases where an offering memorandum or any amendment thereto contains an untrue 
statement of a material fact or omits to state a material fact that is required to be stated or is necessary to make any 
statement contained therein not misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made (a 
“misrepresentation”). These rights, or notice with respect thereto, must be exercised or delivered, as the case may 
be, by purchasers within the time limits prescribed and are subject to the defences and limitations contained under 
the applicable securities legislation. Purchasers of Trust Units or LP Units resident in provinces of Canada that do 
not provide for such statutory rights will be granted a contractual right similar to the statutory right of action and 
rescission described below for purchasers resident in Ontario and such right will form part of the subscription 
agreement to be entered into between each such purchaser and the Issuers in connection with these Offerings. 

The following summaries are subject to the express provisions of the securities legislation applicable in each of the 
provinces of Canada and the regulations, rules and policy statements thereunder. Purchasers should refer to the 
securities legislation applicable in their province along with the regulations, rules and policy statements thereunder 
for the complete text of these provisions or should consult with their legal advisor. The contractual and statutory 
rights of action described in this Offering Memorandum are in addition to and without derogation from any other 
right or remedy that purchasers may have at law. 

13.3 Rights of Purchasers in Alberta 

If you are a resident of Alberta, and if there is a misrepresentation in this Offering Memorandum, you have a 
statutory right to sue: 

(a) the Issuers to cancel your agreement to buy these securities, or 

(b) for damages against the Issuers, every person who was a director or acting in a similar capacity of the 
Issuers at the date of this Offering Memorandum and every other person who signed this Offering 
Memorandum. 

This statutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the misrepresentation. However, there are 
various defences available to the persons or companies that you have a right to sue. In particular, they have a 
defence if you knew of the misrepresentation when you purchased the securities. Additionally, if you elect to 
exercise a right of rescission against the Issuers, you will have no right of action against the persons described in (b) 
above.  
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If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict time limitations. You 
must commence your action to cancel the agreement within 180 days after the date that you purchased the securities. 
You must commence your action for damages within the earlier of 180 days after you first had knowledge of the 
facts giving rise to the cause of action and three years after the day you purchased the securities. 

13.4 Rights of Purchasers in British Columbia 

If you are a resident of British Columbia, and if there is a misrepresentation in this Offering Memorandum, you have 
a statutory right to sue: 

(a) the Issuers to cancel your agreement to buy these securities, or 

(b) for damages against the Issuers, every person who was a director or acting in a similar capacity of the 
Issuers at the date of this Offering Memorandum and every other person who signed this Offering 
Memorandum. 

This statutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the misrepresentation. However, there are 
various defences available to the persons or companies that you have a right to sue. In particular, they have a 
defence if you knew of the misrepresentation when you purchased the securities. Additionally, if you elect to 
exercise a right of rescission against the Issuers, you will have no right of action against the persons described in (b) 
above. 

If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict time limitations. You 
must commence your action to cancel the agreement within 180 days after the date that you purchased the securities. 
You must commence your action for damages within the earlier of 180 days after you first had knowledge of the 
facts giving rise to the cause of action and three years after the day you purchased the securities. 

13.5 Rights of Purchasers in Saskatchewan 

If you are a resident of Saskatchewan, and if there is a misrepresentation in this Offering Memorandum, you have a 
statutory right to sue: 

(a) the Issuers to cancel your agreement to buy these securities, or 

(b) for damages against the Issuers, every promoter of the Issuers, every person who was a director or acting in 
a similar capacity of the Issuers at the date of this Offering Memorandum, every person whose consent has 
been filed respecting the offering but only with respect to reports, opinions and statements made by that 
person, and every other person who signed this Offering Memorandum. 

This statutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the misrepresentation. However, there are 
various defences available to the persons or companies that you have a right to sue. In particular, they have a 
defence if you knew of the misrepresentation when you purchased the securities. Additionally, if you elect to 
exercise a right of rescission against the Issuers, you will have no right of action against the persons described in (b) 
above. 

If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict time limitations. You 
must commence your action to cancel the agreement within 180 days after the date that you purchased the securities. 
You must commence your action for damages within the earlier of 180 days after you first had knowledge of the 
facts giving rise to the cause of action and three years after the day you purchased the securities. 

13.6 Rights of Purchasers in Manitoba 

If you are a resident of Manitoba, and if there is a misrepresentation in this Offering Memorandum, you have a 
statutory right to sue: 

(a) the Issuers to rescind your agreement to buy these securities, or 
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(b) for damages against the Issuers, every person who was a director or acting in a similar capacity of the 
Issuers at the date of this Offering Memorandum and every other person who signed this Offering 
Memorandum. 

This statutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the misrepresentation. However, there are 
various defences available to the persons or companies that you have a right to sue. In particular, they have a 
defence if you knew of the misrepresentation when you purchased the securities. Additionally, if you elect to 
exercise a right of rescission against the Issuers, you will have no right of action against the persons described in (b) 
above. 

If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict time limitations. You 
must commence your action to rescind the agreement within 180 days after the date that you purchased the 
securities. You must commence your action for damages within the earlier of 180 days after you first had knowledge 
of the facts giving rise to the cause of action and three years after the day you purchased the securities. 

13.7 Rights of Purchasers in Ontario 

If you are a resident of Ontario, and if there is a misrepresentation in this Offering Memorandum, a purchaser who 
purchases a security offered by this Offering Memorandum during the period of distribution has, without regard to 
whether the purchaser relied on the misrepresentation, the following rights: 

(a) the purchaser has a right of action for damages against the Issuers, or 

(b) where the purchaser purchased the securities from a person or the Issuers referred to in clause (a), the 
purchaser may elect to exercise a right of rescission against the person or the Issuers, in which case the 
purchaser has no right of action for damages against such person or the Issuers. 

The Issuers will not be held liable under this paragraph if the subscriber purchased the securities with the knowledge 
of the misrepresentation. In an action for damages, the Issuers will not be liable for all or any portion of such 
damages that it proves do not represent the depreciation in value of the securities as a result of the misrepresentation 
relied upon and in no case will the amount recoverable under this paragraph exceed the price at which the securities 
were sold to the subscriber. 

If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict time limitations. You 
must commence your action to cancel the agreement within 180 days after the date that you purchased the securities. 
You must commence your action for damages within the earlier of 180 days after you first had knowledge of the 
facts giving rise to the cause of action and three years after the day you purchased the securities. 

13.8 Rights of Purchasers in Quebec 

In addition to any other right or remedy available to you at law, if this Offering Memorandum is delivered to an 
investor resident in Québec and contains a misrepresentation, the investor will have: (1) statutory rights under 
Québec legislation; or (2) contractual rights in circumstances where the Québec legislation does not provide such 
rights, as follows: 

(a) a right of action for damages against the Issuers, every person acting in a capacity with respect to the 
Issuers which is similar to that of a director of officer of a company, any expert whose opinion, containing 
a misrepresentation, appeared, with his consent, in this Offering Memorandum, the dealer (if any) under 
contract to the Issuers and any person who is required to sign the certificate of attestation in this Offering 
Memorandum; or 

(b) a right of action against the Issuers for rescission of the purchase contract or revision of the price at which 
Trust Units or LP Units (as applicable) were sold to the investor. 

However, there are various defences available to the persons or companies that you have a right to sue. Among other 
defences, no person or company will be liable if it proves that: 

(a) the investor purchased the Trust Units with knowledge of the misrepresentation; or 
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(b) in an action for damages, that they acted prudently and diligently (except in an action brought against the 
Issuers). 

No action may be commenced to enforce such a right of action: 

(a) for rescission or revision of price more than three years after the date of the purchase; or 

(b) for damages later than the earlier of: 

(i) three years after the purchaser first had knowledge of the facts giving rise to the cause of action, except 
on proof of tardy knowledge imputable to the negligence of the purchaser; or 

(ii) five years from the filing of this Offering Memorandum with the Autorité des marches financiers de 
Québec. 

13.9 Rights of Purchasers in Nova Scotia 

If you are a resident of Nova Scotia, and if there is a misrepresentation in this Offering Memorandum, or any 
amendment thereto, you have a statutory right to sue: 

(a) the Issuers to cancel your agreement to buy these securities, or 

(b) for damages against the Issuers, every person who was a director or acting in a similar capacity of the 
Issuers at the date of this Offering Memorandum and every other person who signed this Offering 
Memorandum. 

This statutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the misrepresentation. However, there are 
various defences available to the persons or companies that you have a right to sue. In particular, they have a 
defence if you knew of the misrepresentation when you purchased the securities. Additionally, if you elect to 
exercise a right of rescission against the Issuers, you will have no right of action against the persons described in (b) 
above. 

If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict time limitations. You 
must commence your action to cancel the agreement within 180 days after the date that you purchased the securities. 
You must commence your action for damages within the earlier of 180 days after you first had knowledge of the 
facts giving rise to the cause of action and three years after the day you purchased the securities. 

13.10 Rights of Purchasers in New Brunswick 

If you are a resident of Nova Scotia, and if there is a misrepresentation in this Offering Memorandum, you have a 
statutory right to sue: 

(a) the Issuers to cancel your agreement to buy these securities, or 

(b) for damages against the Issuers or the seller. 

The Issuers will not be held liable under this paragraph if the subscriber purchased the securities with the knowledge 
of the misrepresentation. In an action for damages, the Issuers will not be liable for all or any portion of such 
damages that they prove do not represent the depreciation in value of the securities as a result of the 
misrepresentation relied upon and in no case will the amount recoverable under this paragraph exceed the price at 
which the securities were sold to the subscriber. Additionally, if you elect to exercise a right of rescission against the 
Issuers, you will have no right of action against the persons described in (b) above. 

If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict time limitations. You 
must commence your action to cancel the agreement within 180 days after the date that you purchased the securities. 
You must commence your action for damages within the earlier of 180 days after you first had knowledge of the 
facts giving rise to the cause of action and six years after the day you purchased the securities. 
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13.11 Rights of Purchasers in Newfoundland and Labrador, Nunavut or Prince Edward Island 

If you are a resident of Newfoundland and Labrador, Nunavut or Prince Edward Island, and if there is a 
misrepresentation in this Offering Memorandum, you have a statutory right to sue: 

(a) the Issuers to rescind your agreement to buy these securities, or 

(b) for damages against the Issuers, every person who was a director or acting in a similar capacity of the 
Issuers at the date of this Offering Memorandum and every other person who signed this Offering 
Memorandum. 

This statutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the misrepresentation. However, there are 
various defences available to the persons or companies that you have a right to sue. In particular, they have a 
defence if you knew of the misrepresentation when you purchased the securities. Additionally, if you elect to 
exercise a right of rescission against the Issuers, you will have no right of action against the persons described in (b) 
above. 

If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict time limitations. You 
must commence your action to cancel the agreement within 180 days after the date that you purchased the securities. 
You must commence your action for damages within the earlier of 180 days after you first had knowledge of the 
facts giving rise to the cause of action and three years after the day you purchased the securities. 

 

ITEM 14 – FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

The following financial statements are provided as part of this Offering Memorandum: 

(a) in respect of the General Partner, audited financial statements prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards for the year ended December 31, 2016 and the period from incorporation on 
April 2, 2015 to December 31, 2015; 

(b) in respect of the Partnership, audited financial statements prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards for the period from inception on January 29, 2016 to December 31, 2016; 
and 

(c) in respect of the Trust, audited financial statements prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards for the period from inception on January 31, 2016 to December 31, 2016. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

 

TO THE DIRECTORS OF WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) GP LTD.  
 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of WestStone (Innovation) GP Ltd., which comprise the 

statement of financial position as at December 31, 2016 and the statements of income (loss) and comprehensive 

income (loss), changes in shareholders’ deficiency and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of 

significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 

enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

Auditors’ Responsibility  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit 

in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with 

ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 

statements are free from material misstatement. 

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 

material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 

auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 

in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 

accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 

the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinion. 

 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of WestStone 

(Innovation) GP Ltd. as at December 31, 2016 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended 

in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

 

Emphasis of Matter 

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to note 1 in the financial statements, which describes matters and 

conditions that indicate the existence of material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the Corporation’s 

ability to continue as a going concern. 

 

Other Matter 

The financial statements of WestStone (Innovation) GP Ltd. as at December 31, 2015 and for the period then ended were 

audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on March 4, 2016.  

 

 

 

 

Chartered Professional Accountants 

 

Vancouver, British Columbia 

February 28, 2017 
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WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) GP LTD.  

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

 

As at December 31, 

 

 

2016 

 

 

2015 

   

   

ASSETS   

   

Current   

 Cash  $ 347,344 $ 632 

 Receivables -   4,086 

 Prepaid expenses   -  10,000 

 Due from Partnership (note 4)   97,074  - 

   

  444,418  14,718 

Non-current   

 Investment in Partnership (note 4)  10  - 

   

 $ 444,428 $ 14,718 

   

   

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' DEFICIENCY   

   

Current   

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $ 3,780 $ 10,264 

 Related party payables (note 6)  155,411  150,411 

 Due to Partnership (note 4)  342,585  - 

   

  501,776  160,675 

Shareholders’ deficiency   

 Share capital (note 5)  100  100 

 Deficit  (57,448)  (146,057) 

   

  (57,348)  (145,957) 

   

 $ 444,428 $ 14,718 

 

 

 

Approved on behalf of the Board:    

    

    

“Brian Regehr” Director “Robert Dominic” Director 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) GP LTD. 

STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS) AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

 

 

YEAR ENDED 

DECEMBER 31, 

2016 

  

PERIOD FROM 

INCORPORATION 

ON APRIL 2, 2015 

TO DECEMBER 31, 

2015 

    

    

MANAGEMENT FEES (note 4) $   97,074  $ - 

    

EXPENSES    

 Advertising and promotion     -   18,005 

 Investor relations -  20,100 

 Office  599   118 

 Write-off of receivables 4,086  - 

 Professional fees (note 6) 3,780   107,834 

 8,465  146,057 

    

Net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) for the period $ 88,609  $ (146,057) 

    

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) GP LTD.  

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

 

YEAR ENDED 

DECEMBER 31, 2016 

  

PERIOD FROM 

INCORPORATION 

ON APRIL 2, 2015 TO 

DECEMBER 31, 2015 

    

    

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Net income (loss) for the period $                     88,609  $               (146,057) 

Item not affecting cash:    

 Write-off of receivables 4,086  - 

    

Changes in non-cash working capital items:    

 Receivables -   (4,086) 

 Prepaid expenses 10,000   (10,000) 

 Due from related parties (97,074)  - 

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (6,484)   10,264 

 Due to related parties 5,000  150,411 

    

 Net cash provided by operating activities  4,137   532 

    

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

 Proceeds from the issuance of common shares  -   100 

 Advances from Partnership  342,585   - 

    

 Net cash provided by financing activities  342,585   100 

    

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITY    

 Investment in Partnership  (10)   - 

    

 Net cash used in investing activity  (10)   - 

    

    

Change in cash during the period  346,712   632 

    

Cash, beginning of period  632   - 

    

Cash, end of period     $                   347,344  $                         632 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) GP LTD.  

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIENCY 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

      

 Common shares 

 Number of 

shares 

 

Amount  Deficit  Total 

        

Issued on incorporation, April 2, 2015  100 $ 100 $ - $ 100 

        

  Net loss                   -                    -        (146,057)       (146,057) 

        

Balance, December 31, 2015 100  100  (146,057)  (145,957) 

        

  Net income                   -                    -            88,609           88,609 

        

Balance, December 31, 2016 100 $ 100 $ (57,448) $   (57,348) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND  

THE PERIOD FROM INCORPORATION ON APRIL 2, 2015 TO DECEMBER 31, 2015 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
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1. Nature of operations and going concern 

 

WestStone (Innovation) GP Ltd. (the “Corporation”) was incorporated under the laws of the Province of 

British Columbia on April 2, 2015 as WestStone Real Estate GP Ltd. and changed its name to WestStone 

(Innovation) GP Ltd. on September 15, 2015. The Corporation was formed to operate as the general partner 

for WestStone (Innovation) Limited Partnership (the “Partnership”). 

 

The Partnership was established as a limited partnership under the laws of the Province of British Columbia 

on January 29, 2016, pursuant to a Certificate of Limited Partnership under the Partnership Act (British 

Columbia), with the Partnership being governed by the limited partnership agreement (the “Partnership 

Agreement”) among the Corporation, 1027110 B.C. Ltd. (“1027110”) and each additional party who, from 

time to time, is accepted as a limited partner (each, a “Limited Partner”) of the Partnership. The 

Partnership was formed under the Partnership Agreement with 1027110 as the initial Limited Partner and 

the Corporation as the general partner of the partnership. 

 

The address of the Corporation is 300 – 10092 152 Street, Surrey, British Columbia, V3R 8X8 and its 

registered records office is located at 700 – 595 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V7X 1S8. 

 

These financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting principles applicable to a going 

concern, which assumes the Corporation will be able to continue in operation for the foreseeable future and 

will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of 

business.  

 

For the year ended December 31, 2016, the Corporation has net income of $88,609 (2015 - net loss of 

$146,057) and as at December 31, 2016 had an accumulated deficit of $57,448 (2015 - $146,057).  

 

The application of the going concern concept is dependent upon the Corporation’s ability to generate future 

profitable operations and receive continued financial support from its shareholders, related parties or debt 

holders. These material uncertainties may cast significant doubt about the Corporation’s ability to continue 

as a going concern. These financial statements do not include any adjustments to the recoverability and 

classification of recorded asset amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the 

Corporation be unable to continue as a going concern. 

 

2. Significant accounting policies 

 

Statement of compliance 

 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and 

interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee. 

 

These financial statements were authorized for issue by the directors of the Corporation on February 28, 

2017. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (cont’d…) 

 

Basis of presentation 

 

These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial 

instruments classified at fair value through profit or loss, which are stated at fair value. In addition, these 

financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting, except for cash flow 

information.  

 

Functional and presentation currency 

 

These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Corporation’s functional 

currency. 

 

Use of estimates and judgments 

 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments, 

estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of 

assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may vary from these estimates. 

 

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 

including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

Accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the actual results. Revisions to accounting estimates 

are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future years affected. 

 

Income taxes 

 

In assessing the probability of realizing income tax assets, management makes estimates related to 

expectations of future taxable income, applicable tax opportunities, expected timing of reversals of existing 

temporary differences and the likelihood that tax positions taken will be sustained upon examination by 

applicable tax authorities. In making its assessments, management gives additional weight to positive and 

negative evidence that can be objectively verified.  

 

Going concern 

 

The assessment of whether the concern assumption is appropriate requires management to take into account 

all available information about the future, which is at least, but not limited to, 12 months from the end of 

the reporting period. The Corporation is aware that material uncertainties exist related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Corporation’s ability to continue as a going concern.  

 

Fair value of Partnership 

 

Management assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there had been any impairment on its 

investment using objective evidence to determine if the investment in Partnership has been impaired.  
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2. Significant accounting policies (cont’d…) 

 

Use of estimates and judgments (cont’d…) 

 

Assessment of control  

 

In determining whether the Corporation controls the Partnership, management is required to consider and 

assess the definition of control in accordance with IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements.   The 

Corporation has assessed that while the Partnership Agreement between the General Partner and the 

Limited Partners provides the General Partner with the ability to direct all relevant activities of the 

Partnership, and the General Partner can only be removed as General Partner of the Partnership if it enters 

bankruptcy or receivership, or the occurrence of any gross negligence, willful misconduct or fraud on the 

part of the General Partner, and the Limited Partners pass a special resolution to remove the General Partner 

as the General Partner, the General Partner is acting as an agent of the Limited Partners. There is judgment 

required to determine whether the rights of the Corporation result in control of the Partnership, and whether 

the General Partner meets the definition of an agent.  The Corporation has significant influence over the 

Partnership and accounts for the investment using the equity method, as it does not have control over the 

Partnership.  

 
Financial instruments 

 

Financial assets 

 

The Corporation classifies its financial assets into one of the following categories as follows: 

 

Fair value through profit or loss – This category comprises derivatives and financial assets acquired 

principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. They are carried at fair value with 

changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.  

 

Loans and receivables – These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 

payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are carried at amortized cost using the effective 

interest method less any provision for impairment.  

 

Held-to-maturity investments – These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 

payments and fixed maturities that the Corporation's management has the positive intention and ability to 

hold to maturity. These assets are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method less any 

provision for impairment. If there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, determined by reference 

to external credit ratings and other relevant indicators, the financial asset is measured at the present value 

of estimated future cash flows. Any changes to the carrying amount of the investment, including impairment 

losses, are recognized in profit or loss. 

 

Available-for-sale – Non-derivative financial assets not included in the above categories are classified as 

available-for-sale. They are carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in other 

comprehensive income (loss). Where a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset 

constitutes objective evidence of impairment, the amount of the loss is removed from accumulated other 

comprehensive income (loss) and recognized in profit or loss. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (cont’d…) 

 

Financial instruments (cont’d…) 

 

Financial assets (cont’d…) 

 

All financial assets, except those measured at fair value through profit or loss, are subject to review for 

impairment at least at each reporting date. Financial assets are impaired when there is objective evidence 

of impairment as a result of one or more events that have occurred after initial recognition of the asset and 

that event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial 

assets. 

 

The Corporation has classified its cash as fair value through profit or loss and due from Partnership as loans 

and receivables. 

 

Financial liabilities 

 

The Corporation classifies its financial liabilities into one of two categories as follows:  

 

Fair value through profit or loss – This category comprises derivatives and financial liabilities incurred 

principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. They are carried at fair value with 

changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.  

 

Other financial liabilities – This category consists of liabilities carried at amortized cost using the effective 

interest method. 

 

The Corporation classified its accounts payable and accrued liabilities, related party payables and due to 

Partnership as other financial liabilities. 

 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

 

The carrying amounts of the Corporation’s non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets, are reviewed 

at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication 

exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

 

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In 

assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 

discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 

the asset. An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated 

recoverable amount. 

 

Impairment of financial assets 

 

At each reporting date, the Corporation assesses whether there is objective evidence that financial assets 

not carried at fair value through profit or loss are impaired. A financial asset or group of financial assets is 

impaired when objective evidence demonstrates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition 

of the asset, and that the loss event has an impact on the future cash flows of the asset that can be estimated 

reliably. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (cont’d…) 

 

Impairment of financial assets (cont’d…) 

 

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include significant financial difficulty of the 

borrower or issuer, default or delinquency by a borrower, restructuring of a loan or receivable by the 

Corporation on terms that the Corporation would not otherwise consider, indications that a borrower or 

issuer will enter bankruptcy, or other observable data relating to a group of assets such as adverse changes 

in the payment status of borrowers or issuers in the group, or economic conditions that correlate with 

defaults in the group. 

 

The Corporation considers evidence of impairment for loans and receivables at both a specific asset and 

collective level. The Corporation has no impairment loss from financial assets. 

 

Investment in Partnership 

 

The Corporation accounts for its investment in the Partnership using the equity method, whereby the 

investment is recorded based on capital contributions made less distributions received and adjusted for the 

Corporation’s share of net income (loss) of the Partnership. These financial statements do not reflect the 

Corporation’s share of the assets, liabilities, revenue or expenses of the Partnership. 

 

Income taxes 

 

Income tax expense comprises of current and deferred taxes. Current taxes and deferred taxes are 

recognized in net income (loss), except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items 

recognized directly in equity or in comprehensive income (loss). 

 

Current income taxes are recognized for the estimated income taxes payable or receivable on taxable 

income or loss for the current year and any adjustment to income taxes payable in respect of previous years. 

Current income taxes are determined using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted by the year-end date. 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized where the carrying amount of an asset or liability differs 

from its tax base, except for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill and 

temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not 

a business combination and at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting or taxable profit or loss. 

 

Recognition of deferred tax assets for unused tax losses, tax credits, and deductible temporary differences 

is restricted to those instances where it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which 

the deferred tax asset can be utilized. At the end of each reporting period, the Corporation reassesses 

unrecognized deferred tax assets. The Corporation recognizes a previously unrecognized deferred tax asset 

to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be 

recovered. 

 

The amount of the deferred tax asset or liability is measured at the amount expected to be recovered from 

or paid to the taxation authorities. This amount is determined using tax rates and tax laws that have been 

enacted or substantively enacted by the year end date and are expected to apply when the liabilities (assets) 

are settled (recovered). 
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2. Significant accounting policies (cont’d…) 

 

Revenue recognition 

 

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the Corporation 

and the revenue can be reliably measured. Management fees are based upon 1.8% of total cumulative capital 

contributions received by the Partnership from Limited Partners (note 4) and recognized on the accrual 

basis as the capital contributions are received by the Partnership. Additionally, the Partnership will 

distribute any distributable cash in order of priority, which includes a 9% distribution to the Corporation, 

followed by a 50% distribution to the Corporation after other distributions are made accordingly (note 4).  

 

New standards, interpretations and amendments not yet adopted 

 

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been issued but are not yet 

effective for the year ended December 31, 2016, and have not been applied in preparing these financial 

statements. None of these are expected to have an effect on the financial statements of the Corporation, 

with the exception of: 

 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments was issued by the IASB on October 28, 2010, and will replace IAS 39 

Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 uses a single approach and IFRS 9 is based 

on how an entity manages its financial instruments in the context of its business model and the contractual 

cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 

January 1, 2018. The Corporation is currently evaluating the impact of IFRS 9 on its financial statements. 

 

3. Capital management 

 

The Corporation’s capital is comprised of shareholders’ deficiency. The Corporation’s capital management 

policy is to maintain a strong capital base that optimizes the Corporation’s ability to grow, maintain 

confidence of the Limited Partners and the Corporation’s creditors (if any), and to provide a platform to 

create value for its shareholders. The Corporation intends to maintain a flexible capital structure to 

maximize its ability to pursue additional investment opportunities, which considers the Corporation’s early 

stage of development and the requirement to sustain future development of the business of the Corporation. 

 

The Corporation will manage its capital structure and make changes to it in light of changes to economic 

conditions and the risk characteristics of the nature of the business. In order to maintain or adjust the capital 

structure, the Corporation may from time to time issue shares, seek debt financing and adjust its capital 

spending to manage its current and projected capital structure. 

 

The Corporation is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements and did not change its approach 

to capital management during the year ended December 31, 2016. 
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4. Investment in Partnership 

 

The Corporation was formed to operate as the general partner for the Partnership. Under the Partnership 

Agreement, the Corporation has: 

 

i. Unlimited liability for the debts, liabilities and obligations of the Partnership; and 

ii. The full and exclusive right, power and authority on behalf of the Partnership and in the name of 

the partners to manage, control, administer and operate the business and affairs of the Partnership 

and to make decisions regarding the undertaking and business of the Partnership.  

 

The Corporation’s investment in the Partnership consists of 10 units at a price of $1.00 per unit, representing 

0.0002% ownership of the Partnership.  

 

The investment is as follows: 

 

   

Initial investment  $ 10 

 

The Corporation is entitled to an annual management fee equal to 1.8% of total cumulative capital 

contributions received by the Partnership from Limited Partners and reimbursement for its expenses under 

the Partnership Agreement. As at December 31, 2016, the due to Partnership balance of $342,585 (2015 - 

$nil) pertains to funds received from the Partnership for future expenditures and due from Partnership of 

$97,074 (2015 - $nil) relates to the annual management fees accrued for the year. Amounts due to or from 

the Partnership are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and without fixed terms of repayment.  

 

Summary of financial information of the Partnership: 

 

   

As at December 31,  2016 
   
Assets   
Cash  $                                  20 
Other current assets  934,204 
Non-current assets  4,214,459 
  $                      5,148,683 

   
Liabilities   
Current liabilities  $                      1,033,483 

 

  FROM INCEPTION ON 
  JANUARY 29, 2016 to 

  DECEMBER 31, 2016 
   
Expenses  $                         295,851 
Net loss   $                      (295,851) 

 



WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) GP LTD.  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND  

THE PERIOD FROM INCORPORATION ON APRIL 2, 2015 TO DECEMBER 31, 2015 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

13 

5. Share capital 

 

Authorized 

 

Unlimited number of Class A common shares 

 

Issued 

 

100 Class A common shares 

 

The Corporation was incorporated on April 2, 2015 with 100 common shares issued at $1 per share. 

 

6. Related party transactions 

 

Key management personnel include those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, 

directing and controlling the activities of the Corporation. The Corporation has determined that key 

management personnel consist of executive and non-executive members of the Corporation’s Board of 

Directors and corporate officers. Key management personnel compensation is as follows: 

 

     

  

YEAR ENDED 

DECEMBER 31, 2016 

 PERIOD FROM 

INCORPORATION ON 

APRIL 2, 2015 TO 

DECEMBER 31, 2015 
     
Professional fees  $                                -  $                    42,934 
     
Total remuneration    $                                -  $                    42,934 

 

Related party payables include advances of $155,411 (2015 - $150,411) from a company controlled by a 

director of the Corporation. The advances are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and without fixed terms of 

repayment.  

 

7. Financial instruments and risk management 
 

Financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are classified in the fair value hierarchy according to the lowest level of input 
that is significant to the fair value measurement. Assessment of the significance of a particular input to the 
fair value measurement requires judgment and may affect placement within the fair value hierarchy levels. 

The hierarchy is as follows: 
 

 Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

 Level 2: inputs other than quotes prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the  

asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from  
prices). 

 Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market  

data (unobservable inputs). 
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7. Financial Instruments and risk management (cont’d) 

 
Financial instruments (cont’d…) 
 
The carrying values of cash, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, related party payables and due to/from 
Partnership approximate fair values due to the short-term nature of the financial instruments.  

 

Risk management 

 

The Corporation is exposed to various financial instrument risks and assesses the impact and likelihood of 

this exposure to be insignificant.  

 

Credit risk  

 

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations. As 

at December 31, 2016, the Corporation had a balance of $97,074 due from Partnership.  

 

Liquidity risk  

 

The Corporation’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to 

meet liabilities when due. As of December 31, 2016, the Corporation had cash balance of $347,344 to settle 

current liabilities of $501,776. The Corporation will need to raise additional funds through equity or debt 

to continue its operations. Accounts payable are due for payments within 90 days of December 31, 2016.  

 

Market risk 

 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 

changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and 

other price risk. The Corporation is not exposed to any significant market risk. 

 

8. Income taxes 

 

A reconciliation of income taxes at statutory rates with the reported taxes is as follows: 

 

 

 

YEAR ENDED 

DECEMBER 31, 2016 

 

PERIOD OF 

INCORPORATION 

ON APRIL 2, 2015 

TO 

DECEMBER 31, 

2015 

   

Net income (loss) before income taxes $                 88,609 $ (146,057) 

   

Expected income tax (recovery) $                 23,038   $ (37,000) 

Benefit of tax losses (recognized) not recognized                 (23,038)             37,000 

   

Total income tax expense  $                           - $                   - 
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8. Income taxes (cont’d) 

 

The Corporation’s non-capital losses of $57,448 will expire in 2035. Tax attributes are subject to review 

and potential adjustments by tax authorities.  

 

9. Segmented reporting 

 

The Corporation’s sole business is to manage the business of the Partnership. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 
 

TO THE DIRECTORS OF WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) GP LTD. IN ITS CAPACITY 

AS GENERAL PARTNER OF WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) LIMITED 

PARTNERSHIP  
 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of WestStone (Innovation) Limited Partnership, which 

comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2016 and the statements of loss, changes in partners’ 

equity and cash flows for the period from inception on January 29, 2016 to December 31, 2016, and a summary of 

significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 

enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

Auditors’ Responsibility  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit 

in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with 

ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 

statements are free from material misstatement. 

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 

material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 

the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 

appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, 

as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinion. 

 

Opinion 

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of WestStone 

(Innovation) Limited Partnership as at December 31, 2016 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the 

period from inception on January 29, 2016 to December 31, 2016 in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards. 

 

Emphasis of Matter 

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to note 1 in the financial statements, which describes matters and 

conditions that indicate the existence of material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the Partnership’s 

ability to continue as a going concern.  

 

 

 

 

Chartered Professional Accountants 

 

Vancouver, British Columbia 

February 28, 2017
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WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

As at December 31, 2016 

  

  

ASSETS  

  

Current  

 Cash  $ 20 

 Accounts receivable  16,850 

 Due from related parties (note 5) 917,354 

 934,224 

  

Non-current  

 Advances on Earn-In (notes 1 and 5) 3,246,930 

 Deferred costs (note 5) 967,529 

  

 $         5,148,683 

  

  

LIABILITIES AND PARTNERS’ EQUITY   

  

Current  

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $              14,312 

 Related party payables (note 5) 1,001,450 

 Distributions payable (note 3) 17,721 

 1,033,483 

  

Partners’ Equity (note 3)  4,115,200 

  

 $       5,148,683 

  

 

 

 
Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors of the General Partner of WestStone (Innovation) Limited 

Partnership: 

 

 

   

“Brian Regehr” Director “Robert Dominic” Director 

    

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
STATEMENT OF LOSS  

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

    

PERIOD FROM 

INCEPTION ON 

JANUARY 29, 2016 

TO DECEMBER 31, 

2016 

    

EXPENSES    

Advertising and promotion    $   8,932 

Consulting (note 5)   122,840 

Management fees (note 5)   97,074 

Professional fees     67,005 

    

Net loss for the period   $ (295,851) 

    

    

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

PERIOD FROM 

INCEPTION ON  

JANUARY 29, 2016 TO  

DECEMBER 31, 2016 

 

   

   

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   

 Net loss for the period $               (295,851)  

 Changes in non-cash working capital:   

  Accounts receivable (16,850)  

  Due from related parties (917,354)  

  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 14,312  

  Related party payables 97,099  

   

 Net cash used in operating activities  (1,118,644)  

   

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES   

 Proceeds from the issuance of partnership equity  5,343,020  

 Unit subscription received 50,000  

 Unit issue costs (946,429)  

 Distributions paid to unitholders (17,819)  

   

 Net cash provided by financing activities  4,428,772  

   

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES   

 Funds advanced for Earn-In (3,246,930)  

 Deferred costs (63,178)  

   

 Net cash used in investing activities  (3,310,108)  

   

   

Change in cash during the period  20  

   

Cash, beginning of period  -  

   

Cash, end of period     $                              20  

   

Supplemental cash flow information    

 Related party payables related to deferred costs     $                  904,351  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN PARTNERS’ EQUITY 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

    

 

Number of units  Partners’ Equity  

    

Issued on inception on January 29, 2016  20 $ 20 

    

Issuance of partnership units 5,343,000  5,343,000 

Unit issue costs -  (946,429) 

Distributions declared -  (35,540) 

Unit subscription received -  50,000 

Net loss for the period                  -   (295,851) 

    

Balance, December 31, 2016 5,343,020 $   4,115,200 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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1. Structure, nature of operations and going concern 

 

WestStone (Innovation) Limited Partnership (the “Partnership”) is a limited partnership established 

under the laws of the Province of British Columbia on January 29, 2016, pursuant to a Certificate of 

Limited Partnership under the Partnership Act (British Columbia). The Partnership is governed by the 

limited partnership agreement (the “Partnership Agreement”) among WestStone (Innovation) GP Ltd. 

(“WestStone GP” or the “General Partner”), 1027110 B.C. Ltd. (“1027110”) and each additional party 

who, from time to time, is accepted as a limited partner (each, a “Limited Partner”) of the Partnership, 

dated January 29, 2016. The Partnership was formed under the Partnership Agreement with 1027110 as 

the initial Limited Partner and WestStone GP as the General Partner of the Partnership. 

 

The term of the Partnership (the “Term”) commenced on its formation date, subject to early termination 

in accordance with the Partnership Agreement, shall continue until the date that is 25 years after the first 

closing of the sale of Units to the initial Limited Partner and the General Partner (the “Initial Term”). 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the General Partner shall be entitled, by delivering notice in writing to the 

Limited Partners not less than thirty days prior to the end of the Initial Term or the first extension term, as 

the case may be, to cause the term of the Partnership to be extended for two additional two-year periods. 

Thereafter, the Term of the Partnership Agreement may only be extended with the approval of both the 

General Partner and a special resolution of the Limited Partners (excluding the votes attached to any Units 

held by the General Partner, and its principals and/or their affiliates). 

 

The address of the Partnership is Suite 300, 10092 152 Street, Surrey, British Columbia, V3R 8X8 and its 

registered office is located at Suite 700, 595 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, 

V7X 1S8. 

 

The Partnership was established for the purposes of investing, pursuant to an earn-in agreement 

(the “Earn-In Agreement”) between the Partnership and 1027110 dated January 29, 2016, in the real 

estate development property (the “Property”) located at 9525 King George Boulevard, Surrey, British 

Columbia. The Property is encumbered by the following financial charges: a first mortgage, which 

secures the principal amount of $7,500,000 (the “First Mortgage”), and a second mortgage, which 

secures the principal amount of $8,500,000 (the “Second Mortgage”).  

 

Under the Earn-In Agreement, the Partnership obtained the option at any time until March 31, 2018 to 

acquire from 1027110 up to a 100% beneficial interest in the Property or a portion of the Second 

Mortgage (the “Acquired Interest”) for a total aggregate purchase price of $23,000,000, which may be 

acquired in one or more closings in increments of $1,000,000. Such Acquired Interest may, at the election 

of 1027110 be a purchase and assignment of an amount equal to the portion under the Second Mortgage 

up to a maximum of $3,000,000 (the “Acquired Mortgage”), or may be an acquisition of a one-twenty-

third beneficial interest in the Property (the “Acquired Property”) for every $1,000,000 of purchase 

price paid. Once all of the $3,000,000 portion of the Second Mortgage is acquired and the remaining 

$4,500,000 of the Second Mortgage is paid out from the proceeds of purchase price amounts paid under 

the Earn-In Agreement (as 1027110 is required to do for proceeds paid for Acquired Property), the 

Acquired Mortgage shall be converted into Acquired Property at the rate of 1/23 for every $1,000,000. As 

at December 31, 2016, the Partnership has advanced $3,246,930 towards the total purchase price. 

Subsequent to December 31, 2016, the Earn-In agreement was amended and the Partnership acquired its 

initial beneficial ownership interest (note 9). 
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1. Structure, nature of operations and going concern (cont’d) 

 

Upon acquiring an interest in the Property from 1027110 under the Earn-In Agreement, the Partnership 

and 1027110 will become co-owners of the Property, and their respective rights and obligations of such 

co-ownership and development of the Property will be governed pursuant to the terms of a co-ownership 

agreement between 1027110 and the Partnership dated January 29, 2016 (the “Co-Ownership 

Agreement”). Under the Co-Ownership Agreement, each of 1027110 and the Partnership are responsible 

for their respective pro rata share of expenses and are entitled to their respective pro rata share of income 

less the expenses for the ownership and development of the Property. 

 

In particular, the development of the Property under the Co-Ownership Agreement is further governed by 

a pre-development agreement between 1027110 and BKR Construction Ltd. (“BKR”) dated January 29, 

2016 (the “Pre-Development Agreement”). Under the Pre-Development Agreement, BKR is entitled to 

be reimbursed for its development expenses as well as a developer’s fee of $50,000 per month plus 

applicable goods and services taxes. 

 

These financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting principles applicable to a going 

concern, which assumes the Partnership will be able to continue in operation for the foreseeable future 

and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of 

business.  

 

The application of the going concern concept is dependent upon the Partnership’s ability to generate 

future profitable operations and receive continued financial support from its unitholders. These material 

uncertainties may cast significant doubt about the Partnership’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

These financial statements do not include any adjustments to the recoverability and classification of 

recorded asset amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Partnership be 

unable to continue as a going concern. Such adjustments could be material.  

 

2. Significant accounting policies 

 

Statement of compliance 

 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and 

interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee.  

 

These financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors of the General Partner of 

WestStone (Innovation) Limited Partnership on February 28, 2017. 

 

Basis of presentation 

 

These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial 

instruments classified as financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, which are stated at fair 

value. In addition, these financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting, 

except for cash flow information.  
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2. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

 

Basis of presentation (cont’d) 

 

These financial statements present the financial position, loss, partners’ equity and cash flows of the 

Partnership. They do not include all of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the partners. No 

provision for income taxes has been included in these financial statements as the income tax liability is 

that of the partners and not the Partnership. 

 

Functional and presentation currency 

 

These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Partnership’s functional 

currency. 

 

Use of estimates and judgments 

 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 

judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported 

amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may vary from these estimates. 

 

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 

factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

Accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the actual results. Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future years affected. 

 

Impairment assessment 

 

At each financial position reporting date, the carrying amounts of the Partnership’s assets are reviewed to 

determine whether there is any indication that those assets are impaired. If any such indication exists, the 

recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of impairment, if any.  

 

Going concern 

 

The assessment of whether the concern assumption is appropriate requires management to take into 

account all available information about the future, which is at least, but not limited to, 12 months from the 

end of the reporting period. The Partnership is aware that material uncertainties exist related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Partnership’s ability to continue as a going concern.  

 

Financial instruments 
 

Financial assets 

 

The Partnership classifies its financial assets as fair value through profit or loss, and loans and 

receivables. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. 

Management determines the classification of financial assets at recognition.  

 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognized at fair value with changes in 

fair value recorded through profit or loss. Cash is included in this category of financial assets.  
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2. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

 

Financial instruments (cont’d) 

 

Loans and receivables 

 

Loans and receivables are initially recognized at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction cost. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective 

interest rate method, loss any impairment losses. Bad debts are written off during the period in which they 

are identified. Loans and receivables are comprised of due from related party.  

 

Impairment 

 

Financial assets measured at amortized cost are tested for impairment when there are indicators of 

impairment. The amount of the write-down is recognized in net loss. The previously recognized 

impairment loss may be reversed to the extent of the improvement, directly or by adjusting the allowance 

account, provided it is no greater than the amount that would have been reported at the date of the reversal 

had the impairment not been recognized previously. The amount of the reversal is recognized in net loss. 

 

Financial liabilities 

 

The Partnership classifies its financial liabilities as other financial liabilities.  

 

Other financial liabilities 

 

Other financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction 

cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and payables are measured at amortized cost. Any difference 

between the amounts originally received, net of transaction costs, and the redemption value is recognized 

in profit or loss over the period of maturity. Other financial liabilities are classified as current or non-

current based on their maturity date. Other financial liabilities include accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities, related party payables and distributions payable.  

 

Transaction costs 

 

The Partnership recognizes its transaction costs in net loss in the period incurred. However, the carrying 

amount of the financial instruments that will not be subsequently measured at fair value is adjusted by the 

transaction costs that are directly attributable to their origination, issuance or assumption. 

 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

 

The carrying amounts of the Partnership’s non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets, are 

reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such 

indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

 

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In 

assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-

tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 

to the asset. An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated 

recoverable amount. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

 

New standards, interpretations and amendments not yet adopted 

 

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been issued but are not yet 

effective for the period ended December 31, 2016, and have not been applied in preparing these financial 

statements. None of these are expected to have an effect on the financial statements of the Partnership, 

with the exception of: 

 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments was issued by the IASB on October 28, 2010, and will replace 

IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 uses a single approach and IFRS 9 

is based on how an entity manages its financial instruments in the context of its business model and the 

contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Partnership is currently evaluating the impact of IFRS 9 on its 

financial statements. 

 

3. Partnership Units 
 

The Partnership’s authorized capital consists of an unlimited number of partnership units.  

 

On January 29, 2016, the Partnership issued 10 units to the General Partner for cash consideration of $10, 

and 10 units to 1027110 as the initial Limited Partner for cash consideration of $10.  

 

During the period ended December 31, 2016, the Partnership issued 5,343,000 units for cash 

consideration of $5,343,000. Unit issuance costs of 16% of the total consideration received of $946,449 

were incurred in relation to the issuance.  

 

During the period ended December 31, 2016, the Partnership received $50,000 of unit subscriptions for a 

future financing.   

 

Each of the units have identical rights and restrictions. Each unit entitles the holder thereof to one vote at 

all meetings of unit-holders, entitles the holder thereof to the pro rata right to be paid a share of the profits 

or allocated a portion of the loss of the Partnership or receive compensation by income or otherwise in 

respect of their respective capital contributions, and entitles the holder to receive their pro rata share of 

the distributions. Each unitholder has the right of redemption under the terms set forth in the Partnership 

Agreement. 

 

During the period ended December 31, 2016, total distributions of $35,540 were declared. Of the total 

amount declared, $17,819 was paid prior to December 31, 2016 and $17,721 remained as distribution 

payable at December 31, 2016 (note 4).  

 

The liability of each Limited Partner for the debts, liabilities, obligations and losses of the Partnership 

will be limited to the amount of their capital contribution plus their share of any undistributed profits in 

the Partnership.  
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4. Distributions 

 

The General Partner of the Partnership is responsible for calculating and determining the Partnership’s 

distributable cash at least annually within 120 days of each fiscal year-end and at such other times as it 

may determine in its discretion. 

 

Pursuant to the Partnership Agreement, the Partnership will distribute its distributable cash in the 

following order of priority: 

 

(a) to repay any loans to the Partnership made by the General Partner or any Limited Partners; 

 

(b) to distribute to the Limited Partners pro rata according to their cumulative respective capital 

contributions until the amount so distributed equals each respective Limited Partner’s 

aggregate capital contribution; 

 

(c) to distribute to the Limited Partners pro rata according to their respective unpaid 9% 

cumulative annual preferred return until such amount of preferred return has been paid, 

wherein one-third of the annual return will be payable every six months on June 30 and 

December 31 each year and two-thirds shall be payable annually as determined by the 

General Partner; 

 

(d) the amount equal to the distributions in (c) above shall be paid as incentive remuneration to 

the General Partner; 

 

(e) thereafter 50% as a distribution to the Limited Partners pro rata according to their respective 

capital contributions, and 50% as an additional paid as incentive remuneration to the General 

Partner; and 

 

(f) the balance thereafter will be allocated: 50% thereof as a distribution to the Limited Partners 

pro-rata according to their respective capital contributions; and 50% thereof as a further 

incentive remuneration to the General Partner. 

 

5. Related party transactions 

 

The General Partner is entitled to a 1.8% annual management fee (calculated on the total aggregate 

amount of cumulative capital contributions) plus the carried interest, and reimbursement for its expenses 

under the Partnership Agreement. During the period ended December 31, 2016, the Partnership incurred 

$97,094 in management fees which is included in related party payables at December 31, 2016. In 

addition, the Partnership advanced $342,585 to the General Partner for reimbursement for future expenses 

and has included this in due from related parties. 

 

During the period ended December 31, 2016, the Partnership recorded $4,264 due from related party 

relating to funds advanced to WestStone (Innovation) Trust for expenses incurred.  

 

1027110 is a company owned or controlled 80% by Brian Regehr, 10% by Robert Dominick, and 10% by 

David Siebenga, all of whom are also directors of the General Partner. BKR is a company owned and 

controlled by Brian Regehr. BKR is a party to the Pre-Development Agreement between the Partnership 

and BKR. BKR’s responsibilities under this agreement is to engage any and all required consultants and 

trades to complete development of the Property. 1027110 is a party to the Co-Ownership Agreement 

between 1027110 and the Partnership, which governs the ownership of the Property (note 1).  
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5. Related party transactions (cont’d) 

 

During the period ended December 31, 2016, the Partnership advanced $420,000 to BKR and has 

included this in due from related parties, as beneficial ownership interest has not yet been obtained by the 

Partnership from 1027110. Also included in due from related parties is $150,504 in advances paid to other 

companies on behalf of 1027110. As at December 31, 2016, related party payables include $904,396 

owing to 1027110. 

 

Key management compensation 

 

Key management personnel include those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, 

directing and controlling the activities of the General Partner. The Partnership has determined that key 

management personnel consist of executive and non-executive members of the General Partner’s Board of 

Directors and corporate officers.  

 

Key management personnel compensation is as follows: 

 

     

  

 

 PERIOD FROM INCEPTION 

ON JANUARY 29, 2016 TO 

DECEMBER 31, 2016 

     

Consulting fees   $ 120,000 

 

Consulting fees of $120,000 were paid to a company owned by the General Partner’s Chief Financial 

Officer.  

 

Deferred costs of $967,529 were incurred in relation to the purchase of the land (note 1). Deferred costs 

of $63,178 and advances on earn-in payments for land (note 1) of $3,246,930 were paid to 1027110, a 

company controlled by the directors of the General Partner.  

 

6. Financial instruments and risk management 

 

Financial instruments 

 

Financial assets and liabilities are classified in the fair value hierarchy according to the lowest level of 

input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Assessment of the significance of a particular input 

to the fair value measurement requires judgment and may affect placement within the fair value hierarchy 

levels. The hierarchy is as follows: 

 

 Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

 Level 2: inputs other than quotes prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the  

asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from  

prices). 
 Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data  

(unobservable inputs). 
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6. Financial instruments and risk management (cont’d) 
 
Financial instruments (cont’d) 

 

The carrying values of cash, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, distributions payable and due 

to/from related parties approximate the fair values due to the short-term nature of the financial instrument.  

 

Risk management 

 

The Partnership is exposed to various financial instrument risks and assesses the impact and likelihood of 

this exposure.  

 

Credit risk 

 

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations. As 

at December 31, 2016, the Partnership’s maximum credit exposure is amounts due from the General 

Partner. 

 

Liquidity risk 

 

The Partnership’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to 

meet liabilities when due. As of December 31, 2016, the Partnership had a cash balance of $20, accounts 

receivable of $16,850 and related party receivables of $917,354 to settle current liabilities of $1,033,483. 

The Partnership will need to raise additional funds through equity or debt to continue its operations and 

investing in the earn-in agreement. Accounts payable are due for payment within 90 days of 

December 31, 2016. 

 

Market risk 

 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due 

to changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and 

other price risk. The Partnership is not exposed to any significant market risk. 

 

7. Capital management 

 

The Partnership defines its capital structure as current assets and partners’ equity. Capital requirements 

are driven by the Partnership’s property development activities. The General Partner’s objective is to 

ensure there are adequate capital resources to safeguard the Partnership’s ability to continue as a going 

concern. The General Partner reviews it capital management approach on an ongoing basis. 

 

Although the Partnership has been successful in raising funds during the period, it is uncertain whether it 

can continue this financing methodology.  

 

The Partnership is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements and the Partnership did not 

change its approach to capital management during the period ended December 31, 2016. 

 

8. Segmented reporting   

 

The Partnership operates in one geographic location (Surrey, British Columbia) and its sole business is to 

invest pursuant to the earn-in agreement with 1027110 in the Property. 
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9. Events after the reporting date 
 

Amendment of earn-in agreement 

 

On January 3, 2017, the Partnership, together with 1027110 and Weststone One King George 

Developments Ltd., Weststone Two King George Developments Ltd. and Weststone Three King George 

Developments Ltd. (collectively, the “Bare Trustees”), entered into an agreement (the “Amending 

Agreement”) to amend the Earn-In Agreement dated January 29, 2016 among those same parties. 

 

Under the Amending Agreement, the parties agreed that acquisition of the second mortgage would no 

longer be part of the earn-in option and that purchase of beneficial interest of the Property could be made 

in increments of $100,000 rather than $1,000,000, and that the earn-in option also extend to provide the 

further option to the Partnership to acquire any additional real estate property that is contiguous or 

otherwise related to the Property that 1027110 or its affiliates may acquire. 

 

Issuance of limited partnership units  

 

On January 30, 2017, the Partnership issued 1,000,000 units pursuant to subscriptions by two accredited 

investors (as such term is defined under National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus Exemptions) in British 

Columbia for units at a price of $1.00 per unit for aggregate gross proceeds received in the amount of 

$1,000,000. 

 

Acquisition of Partnership’s initial interest in the Property 

 

On January 30, 2017, the Partnership acquired its initial 21.739% beneficial ownership interest in the 

Property from 1027110 for a purchase price of $5,000,000 pursuant to the Earn-In Agreement, as 

amended by the Amending Agreement (the “Acquisition”). In connection with the Acquisition, the Bare 

Trustees hold legal title to the 21.739% beneficial ownership interest in the Property beneficially in trust 

for the Partnership and the other 78.261% beneficial ownership interest in the Property beneficially in 

trust for 1027110 pursuant to an amended and restated Declaration of Bare Trust Agreement dated 

January 30, 2017. In addition, 1027110 also transferred ownership of 21.739% of the issued and 

outstanding shares of the Bare Trustees to the Partnership. The $5,000,000 purchase price was satisfied 

through acceptance and acknowledgement by 1027110 of the advances made to it or payments made on 

behalf of it by the Partnership, including such advances and payments as listed in these financial 

statements together with a portion of the net proceeds of the sale of 1,000,000 units of the Partnership that 

closed on January 30, 2017 (noted above) immediately prior to this Property acquisition. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 
 

TO THE DIRECTORS OF 1008184 B.C. LTD. IN ITS CAPACITY AS TRUSTEE OF 

WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) TRUST  
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of WestStone (Innovation) Trust, which comprise the 

statement of financial position as at December 31, 2016 and the statements of loss, changes in unitholders’ equity and 

cash flows for the period from inception on January 31, 2016 to December 31, 2016, and a summary of significant 

accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 

enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

Auditors’ Responsibility  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit 

in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with 

ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 

statements are free from material misstatement. 

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 

material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 

auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 

in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 

accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 

the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinion. 

 

Opinion 

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of WestStone 

(Innovation) Trust as at December 31, 2016 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the period from 

inception on January 31, 2016 to December 31, 2016 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

 

Emphasis of Matter 

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to note 1 in the financial statements, which describes matters and 

conditions that indicate the existence of material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the Trust’s ability 

to continue as a going concern.  

 

 

 

 

Chartered Professional Accountants 

 

Vancouver, British Columbia 

February 28, 2017 
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WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) TRUST  
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

 

As at December 31, 2016 

  

  

ASSETS  

  

Non-current  

       Investment in Partnership (note 4)  $          1,281,612 

  

  $          1,281,612 

  

  

LIABILITIES AND UNITHOLDERS’ EQUITY   

  

Current  

       Due to Partnership (note 5) $                 4,264 

       Distributions payable (note 3)                    4,241 

                    8,505 

  

Unitholders’ equity (note 3)             1,273,107 

  

 $          1,281,612 

 

 

Approved on behalf of the Trustee of WestStone (Innovation) Trust: 
    

    

“Kendall Friesen” Director   

    

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) TRUST  
STATEMENT OF LOSS 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

    

PERIOD FROM 

INCEPTION ON 

JANUARY 31, 2016 

TO DECEMBER 31, 

2016 

    

Equity loss in Partnership (note 4)    $ 74,388 

    

Net loss for the period    $ (74,388) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) TRUST 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 PERIOD FROM 

INCEPTION ON 

JANUARY 31, 2016 

TO DECEMBER 31, 

2016 

 

   

   

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   

 Net loss for the period  $ 74,388  

 Item not involving cash:   

  Equity loss in Partnership   (74,388)  

 Changes in non-cash working capital item:   

  Due to Partnership   4,264  

   

 Net cash provided by operating activities   4,264  

   

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES   

 Proceeds from the issuance of unitholders’ equity   1,356,000  

 Distributions paid to unitholders   (4,264)  

   

 Net cash provided by financing activities   1,351,736  

   

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITY   

 Purchase of Partnership units   (1,356,000)  

   

 Net cash used in investing activity   (1,356,000)  

   

   

Change in cash during the period   -  

   

Cash, beginning of period   -  

   

Cash, end of period  $ -  

   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) TRUST 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN UNITHOLDERS’ EQUITY  

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

   

 Number of units  Unitholders’ Equity 

    

Issued on inception on January 31, 2016 1 $ 1 

    

    Issuance of trust units for cash 1,356,000  1,356,000 

    Distributions declared -  (8,505) 

    Redemption of trust unit of inception contribution (1)  (1) 

    Net loss for the period   (74,388) 

    

Balance, December 31, 2016 1,356,000 $ 1,273,107 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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1. Nature of operations and going concern 

 

WestStone (Innovation) Trust (the “Trust”) is an unicorporated investment trust established under the laws 

of the Province of British Columbia pursuant to the Declaration of Trust dated January 31, 2016, with the 

issuance of one trust unit that is intended to qualify as a “unit trust” and as a “mutual fund trust” under the 

provisions of the Income Tax Act (Canada) (the “Tax Act”). The address of the Trust is 300 – 10092 152 

Street, Surrey, British Columbia, V3R 8X8 and its registered office of the Trust is located at Suite 700, 595 

Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, V7X 1S8.  

 

The Trust was established for the purposes of investing indirectly, through the investment holding limited 

partnership, WestStone (Innovation) Limited Partnership (the “Partnership”), in investments including the 

5.1 acre real estate development property (the “Property”) located at 9525 King George Boulevard, Surrey, 

British Columbia, legally described as PID No. 011-069-236, Parcel “F” (Reference Plan 15821), Lot 2 

Except part on Highway Statutory Right of Way Plan 62493, Section 32, Township 2, New Westminster 

District Plan 4312. 

 

The trustee of the Trust is 1008184 B.C. Ltd. (the “Trustee”). 

 

These financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting principles applicable to a going 

concern, which assumes the Trust will be able to continue in operation for the foreseeable future and will 

be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business.  

 

The application of the going concern concept is dependent upon the Trust’s ability to generate future 

profitable operations and receive continued financial support from its unitholders. These material 

uncertainties may cast significant doubt about the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern. These 

financial statements do not include any adjustments to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset 

amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Trust be unable to continue as a 

going concern. Such adjustments could be material.  

 

2. Significant accounting policies 

 

Statement of compliance 

 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and 

interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee.  

 

These financial statements were authorized for issue by the Trustee of WestStone (Innovation) Trust on 

February 28, 2017.  

 

Basis of presentation 

 

These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial 

instruments classified as financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, which are stated at fair 

value. In addition, these financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting, 

except for cash flow information.  

 

Functional and presentation currency 
 

These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Trust’s functional currency. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (cont’d…) 

 

Use of estimates and judgments 

 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments, 

estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of 

assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may vary from these estimates. 

 

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 

including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

Accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the actual results. Revisions to accounting estimates 

are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future years affected. 

 

Going concern 

 

The assessment of whether the concern assumption is appropriate requires management to take into account 

all available information about the future, which is at least, but not limited to, 12 months from the end of 

the reporting period. The Trust is aware that material uncertainties exist related to events or conditions that 

may cast significant doubt upon the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern.  

 

Fair value of the Partnership 

 

Management assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there had been any impairment on its 

investment using objective evidence to determine if the investment in the Partnership has been impaired.  

 

Assessment of control  

 

In determining whether the Trust controls the Partnership, management is required to consider and assess 

the definition of significant influence in accordance with IAS 28 Investment in Associates and control in 

accordance with IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements. There is judgment required to determine 

whether the rights of the Trust result in control of the Partnership. 

 

Financial instruments 
 

Financial assets 

 

All financial assets are initially recorded at fair value and classified upon inception into one of the following 

four categories: FVTPL, loans and receivables, available-for-sale or at held-to-maturity.  

 

Fair value through profit or loss – This category comprises derivatives, or assets acquired or incurred 

principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term. They are carried in the statement 

of financial position at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.  

 

Loans and receivables – These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 

payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are carried at amortized cost less any provision for 

impairment. Individually significant receivables are considered for impairment when they are past due or 

when other objective evidence is received that a specific counterparty will default. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (cont’d…) 

 

Financial instruments (cont’d…) 

 

Financial assets (cont’d…) 

 

Held-to-maturity investments – These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 

payments and fixed maturities that the Trust has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. These 

assets are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. If there is objective evidence that 

the investment is impaired, determined by reference to external credit ratings and other relevant indicators, 

the financial asset is measured at the present value of estimated future cash flows. Any changes to the 

carrying amount of the investment including impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. 

 

Available-for-sale – Non-derivative financial assets not included in the above categories are classified as 

available-for-sale. They are carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognized directly in equity. 

Where a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset constitutes objective evidence of 

impairment, the amount of the loss is removed from equity and recognized through net income (loss).  

 

Financial liabilities 

 

The Trust classifies its financial liabilities into one of two categories as follows:  

 

Fair value through profit or loss – This category comprises derivatives and financial liabilities incurred 

principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. They are carried at fair value with 

changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.  

 

Other financial liabilities – This category consists of liabilities carried at amortized cost using the effective 

interest method. 

 

The Trust classified its due to Partnership and dividends payable as other financial liabilities.  

 

Measurement of financial instruments 
 

The Trust initially measures its financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value, except for certain non-

arm’s length transactions. 
 

The Trust subsequently measures all its financial assets and financial liabilities at amortized cost.  
 

Impairment 
 

Financial assets measured at cost are tested for impairment when there are indicators of impairment. The 

amount of the write-down is recognized in net income (loss). The previously recognized impairment loss 

may be reversed to the extent of the improvement, directly or by adjusting the allowance account, provided 

it is no greater than the amount that would have been reported at the date of the reversal had the impairment 

not been recognized previously. The amount of the reversal is recognized in net income (loss). 

 

Transaction costs 

 

The Trust recognizes its transaction costs in net income (loss) in the period incurred. However, the carrying 

amount of the financial instruments that will not be subsequently measured at fair value is adjusted by the 

transaction costs that are directly attributable to their origination, issuance or assumption. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (cont’d…) 

 

Impairment of non-financial assets 
 

The carrying amounts of the Trust’s non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets, are reviewed at 

each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, 

then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 
 

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In 

assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 

discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 

the asset. An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated 

recoverable amount. 
 

Income taxes 
 

The Trust is subject to income taxes under the Tax Act on the amount of taxable income for the year and is 

permitted a deduction in computing its income taxes for all amounts paid or payable to the Trust's 

beneficiary in determining income for tax purposes. No provision for income taxes has been reflected in 

these financial statements because the annual excess of revenue over expenses of the Trust will be 

distributed to the beneficiary at the end of each fiscal year. 

 

Investment in the Partnership 

 

The Trust accounts for its investment in the Partnership using the equity method, whereby the investment 

is recorded based on capital contributions made less distributions received and adjusted for the Trust’s share 

of net income (loss) of the Partnership. These financial statements do not reflect the Trust’s share of the 

assets, liabilities, revenue or expenses of the Partnership. 

 

New standards, interpretations and amendments not yet adopted 

 

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been issued but are not yet 

effective for the period ended December 31, 2016, and have not been applied in preparing these financial 

statements. None of these are expected to have an effect on the financial statements of the Trust, with the 

exception of: 

 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments was issued by the IASB on October 28, 2010, and will replace IAS 39 

Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 uses a single approach and IFRS 9 is based 

on how an entity manages its financial instruments in the context of its business model and the contractual 

cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 

January 1, 2018. The Trust is currently evaluating the impact of IFRS 9 on its financial statements. 

 

3. Trust units and distributions 

 

Obligation to unitholders 

 

The beneficial interest in the Trust’s Class A, Class B, Class C and Class D units described and designated 

as “Units”, and which are entitled to the rights and subject to the limitations, restrictions and conditions set 

out in the Declaration of Trust, including the right to vote and the right to participate pro rata in any 

distributions from the Trust no later than 120 days following December 31. The Trust is authorized to issue 

an unlimited number of Units. In order to establish the Trust, one Class A unit (the “Initial Unit”) was  
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3. Trust units and distributions (cont’d…) 

 

Obligation to unitholders (cont’d…) 

 

issued for cash of $1.00 on January 31, 2016. At the first closing of the issuance of Units, the interest of the 

holder of the initial Unit will be redeemed by the Trust in return for its initial capital contribution of $1.00. 

 

Trust units 

 

The following table sets out the capitalization of the Trust as at December 31, 2016. 

 

Class Outstanding Unit Unit price 

Class A Units 1,356,000 $1.00 

Class B Units - $1.00 

Class C Units - $1.00 

Class D Units - $1.00 

 

Each class of Units has identical rights and restrictions. Each Unit is without nominal or par value, entitles 

the holder thereof to one vote at all meetings of unitholders, entitles the holder thereof to the pro rata right 

to receive dividends and participate pro rata upon dissolution or liquidation, and entitles the holder to the 

right of redemption under the terms set forth in the Declaration of Trust. 

 

The Trust is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Units of each class. Upon declaration of the Trust 

on January 31, 2016, one Unit was issued for proceeds of $1.00. At the first closing of the issuance of Units, 

the interest of the holder of the initial Unit will be redeemed by the Trust in return for its initial capital 

contribution of $1.00. During the period ended December 31, 2016, 1,356,000 Units were issued for 

proceeds of $1,356,000.  

 

Although the Trust may issue an unlimited number of any class of Units for $1.00 per Unit, the Trust intends 

only to issue up to 35,000,000 Class A Units at a price of $1.00 per Unit for gross proceeds of up to 

$35,000,000. There is no minimum offering. 

 

Distributions 

 

The Trustee of the Trust is responsible for calculating and determining the Trust’s distributable cash for 

each six-month distribution period ending on June 30 and December 31 of each year, for distributions to be 

made on or about the last day of the next calendar month immediately following the end of the distribution 

period. 

 

In addition to the distribution of distributable cash, the Trustee may declare to be payable and make 

distributions, from time to time, out of income, net capital gains and the capital of the Trust or any other 

amounts received or held by the Trust in any year or distribution period thereof, in such amounts, and on 

such dates as the Trustee may determine. All such distributions payable to Unitholders pursuant to the 

Declaration of Trust shall be deemed to be distributions of income, net capital gains, trust capital or other 

items in such amounts as the Trustee, shall, in their absolute discretion, determine. 

 

During the period ended December 31, 2016, total distributions of $8,505 were declared. Of the total 

amount declared, $4,264 was paid prior to December 31, 2016 and $4,241 remained as distributions payable 

at December 31, 2016.  
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4. Investment in the Partnership 

 

The Trust has significant influence over the Partnership and accounts for the investment using the equity 

method, as it does not have control over the Partnership in accordance with IFRS 10. The Trust’s initial 

investment in the Partnership consisted of 1,356,000 units at a price of $1.00 per unit. 

 

The investment is as follows: 

 

   

Initial investment  $ 1,356,000 

Equity loss in Partnership  (74,388) 

Balance, December 31, 2016  $ 1,281,612 

 

Summary of financial information of the Partnership: 

 

   

As at December 31,  2016 
   
Assets   
Cash  $                                  20 
Other current assets  934,204 
Non-current assets  4,214,459 
  $                      5,148,683 

   
Liabilities   
Current liabilities  $                      1,033,483 

 

  FROM INCEPTION ON 
  JANUARY 29, 2016 to 

  DECEMBER 31, 2016 
   
Expenses  $                         295,851 
Net loss   $                      (295,851) 

 

5. Due to Partnership 

 

Due to Partnership includes $4,264 of distributions paid to unitholders on behalf of the Trust. The amounts 

are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and without fixed terms of repayment.  
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6. Financial instruments and risk management 

 

Financial instruments 
 

Financial assets and liabilities are classified in the fair value hierarchy according to the lowest level of input 
that is significant to the fair value measurement. Assessment of the significance of a particular input to the 
fair value measurement requires judgment and may affect placement within the fair value hierarchy levels. 
The hierarchy is as follows: 

 

 Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

 Level 2: inputs other than quotes prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from  
prices). 

 Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 

(unobservable inputs). 
 
The carrying values of due to Partnership and distributions payable approximate fair values due to the short-
term nature of the financial instruments. 

 

Risk management 

 

The Trust is exposed to various financial instrument risks and assesses the impact and likelihood of this 

exposure.  

 

Credit risk  

 

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with investment in the Partnership. There is a risk that the 

Partnership will not be successful in its venture and the Trust will not be able to recover its initial 

investment.  

 

Liquidity risk  

 

The Trust’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet 

liabilities when due. As of December 31, 2016, the Trust is not subject to any significant liquidity risk.  

 

Market risk 

 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 

changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and 

other price risk. The Trust is not exposed to any significant market risk. 

 

7. Capital management 

 

The Trust defines its capital structure as assets and unitholders’ equity. Capital requirements are driven by 

the Trust’s property development activities. Management’s objective is to ensure there are adequate capital 

resources to safeguard the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management reviews it capital 

management approach on an ongoing basis and believes its approach given the relative size of the Trust is 

reasonable.  
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7. Capital management (cont’d…) 
 
Although the Trust has been successful in raising funds during the period, it is uncertain whether it can 

continue this financing methodology.  

 

The Trust is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements and the Trust did no change its 

approach to capital management during the period ended December 31, 2016. 

 

8. Segmented reporting   

 

The Trust’s sole business is to acquire Partnership units with the objective of generating returns to the 

unitholders. 

 

9. Economic dependence   

 

The Trust’s revenue will be received exclusively from the operations of the Partnership. All revenues and 

expenses will be based on the success of its investment in the Partnership.  
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ITEM 15 – DATE AND CERTIFICATE 

Dated: February 28, 2017 

CERTIFICATE OF WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) TRUST 

 

This Offering Memorandum does not contain a misrepresentation. 

 

WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) TRUST, by its trustee, 
1008184 B.C. LTD. 

(signed) “Kendall Friesen” 
KENDALL FRIESEN 
President and Director 

 

PROMOTERS: 

 

(signed) “Brian Regehr” 
BRIAN REGEHR 

(signed) “Robert Dominick” 
ROBERT DOMINICK 

(signed) “David Siebenga” 
DAVID SIEBENGA 

 

1027110 B.C. LTD. 
By its Board of Directors 

(signed) “Brian Regehr” 
BRIAN REGEHR 

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director 

(signed) “Robert Dominick” 
ROBERT DOMINICK 

Chief Financial Officer and Director 

(signed) “David Siebenga” 
DAVID SIEBENGA 

Corporate Secretary and Director 
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Dated: February 28, 2017 

CERTIFICATE OF WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 

 

This Offering Memorandum does not contain a misrepresentation. 

 

WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, by its general partner, 
WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) GP LTD. 

 

(signed) “Brian Regehr” 
BRIAN REGEHR 

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director 

(signed) “Robert Dominick” 
ROBERT DOMINICK 

Chief Financial Officer and Director 

 
BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

OF WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) GP LTD. 
 

(signed) “Brian Regehr” 
BRIAN REGEHR 

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director 

(signed) “Robert Dominick” 
ROBERT DOMINICK 

Chief Financial Officer and Director 

(signed) “David Siebenga” 
DAVID SIEBENGA 

Corporate Secretary and Director 

 

 

PROMOTERS: 

 

(signed) “Brian Regehr” 
BRIAN REGEHR 

(signed) “Robert Dominick” 
ROBERT DOMINICK 

(signed) “David Siebenga” 
DAVID SIEBENGA 

 

1027110 B.C. LTD. 
By its Board of Directors 

(signed) “Brian Regehr” 
BRIAN REGEHR 

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director 

(signed) “Robert Dominick” 
ROBERT DOMINICK 

Chief Financial Officer and Director 

(signed) “David Siebenga” 
DAVID SIEBENGA 

Corporate Secretary and Director 
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SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT 

TO:  WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) TRUST (the “Trust”)  
WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) LIMITED PARTNERSHIP (the “Partnership”) 

The undersigned (the “Investor”) hereby irrevocably subscribes for and agrees to purchase the number of trust units of the Trust (“Trust Units”) 
or limited partnership units of the Partnership (the “LP Units”, and together with the Trust Units, the “Offered Units”) set forth below for the 
aggregate subscription price set forth below (the “Aggregate Subscription Price”), upon and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in 
“Terms and Conditions of Subscription for Offered Units” attached hereto (together with these first two pages and the attached Exhibits, the 
“Subscription Agreement”). By executing this Subscription Agreement, the Investor consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the 
Investor’s personal information in the manner described herein. In addition to this face page, the Investor must also complete the Exhibits 
attached hereto, if applicable (see page 2 for instructions). 

 Investor's Particulars   Number and Class of Offered Units (check and indicate number): 
     Trust Units 
 (Name of Investor – please print)    LP Units: 
By:     
 (Signature of Investor)  (Date)   Aggregate Subscription Price: 

     
  Official Capacity or Title – Please print)    

    If the Investor is signing as agent for a principal and is not deemed to be purchasing as principal 
pursuant to NI 45-106 (as defined herein) by virtue of being either (i) a trust company or trust 
corporation acting on behalf of a fully managed account managed by the trust company or trust 
corporation; or (ii) a person acting on behalf of a fully managed account managed by it, and in 
each case satisfying the criteria set forth in NI 45-106 or Section 73.3 of the Securities Act 
(Ontario), complete the following to ensure that the applicable Exhibits are completed in respect 
of such principal (“Disclosed Beneficial Purchaser”): 

 (Please print name of individual whose signature appears above if different than 
the name of the Investor printed above.) 

  

    
 (Investor's Address)   
       
     (Name of Principal)  
       
 (Telephone Number)  (E-mail Address)    (Principal’s Address including postal code)  
       
 (Social Insurance No/Business Identification No)    (Principal's Telephone Number  
       
      (Principal’s E-Mail Address)  
     
Register the Offered Units as set forth below (if different than above):   Deliver the Offered Units as set forth below (if different than registration address): 

       
 (Name)    (Name)  
       
 (Account reference, if applicable)    (Account reference, if applicable)  
       
 (Address)    (Contact Name)  
       
     (Address)  

Additional Investor Information – MUST BE COMPLETED BY RESIDENTS OF BRITISH COLUMBIA ONLY 
The Investor (check one)    is or   is not a registrant (as defined herein).  If you selected “is” to either of the categories on the left, then state the number and class of 

Offered Units held prior to this subscription: 
The Investor (check one)   is or   is not an insider (as defined herein).   ________________________  

 

[This space is intentionally blank. The next page is the acceptance signatures for the Trust and the Partnership.] 
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ACCEPTANCE: The Trust and the Partnership accept this Subscription Agreement, subject to the terms and conditions contained herein. 

WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) TRUST 
 
 
Per:   DATED: ________ day of __________________, 2017 
 Authorized Signatory 

WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 

 
Per:   DATED: ________ day of __________________, 2017 
 Authorized Signatory 
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INSTRUCTIONS 

The Investor must deliver a personal cheque, certified cheque, bank draft, wire transfer or electronic funds transfer payable 
to “Boughton Law Corporation, In Trust” or to “WestStone (Innovation) GP Ltd.” on behalf of either of the Issuers 
(please reference “Trust Units” or “LP Units” as applicable), for the aggregate subscription price or payment of the same 
amount in such other manner as is acceptable to the Issuers and must complete and execute this Subscription Agreement 
and all applicable Exhibits as described below: 

Offering Memorandum Exemption Exhibits 

(a) Exhibit 1 and 2 - All Investors subscribing under the “offering memorandum exemption”. 

(b) Exhibit 3 - Investors subscribing under the “offering memorandum exemption” that are resident in Alberta, 
Saskatchewan, Manitoba, Ontario, Northwest Territories, Nunavut, Yukon or Prince Edward Island whose 
acquisition cost exceeds $10,000. 

i. Note: Investors using the relationship of “close business associate” or “close personal friend” to establish 
that they are “eligible investors” must also complete Exhibit 7 and if the Investor is resident in 
Saskatchewan, then they must also complete Exhibit 8. 

ii. Note: Investors using the status of “accredited investor” to establish that they are “eligible investors” 
must also complete all applicable accredited-investor Exhibits, which are Exhibit 5 and Exhibit 6. 

iii. Note: If the Investor is subscribing for securities as an “eligible investor” or “accredited investor” then 
the person meeting with or providing information to the Investor must complete Exhibit 10 in respect of 
such investor. 

(c) Exhibit 4 – Investors subscribing under the “offering memorandum” exemption that are resident in Ontario and 
must complete both Schedules 1 and 2 of Exhibit 4 and meet the investment limits specified therein, AND if the 
Ontario Investor is relying on advice from a portfolio manager, investment dealer or exempt market dealer (each a 
“registrant”) in order to increase the Investor's investment limit to $100,000 in a 12-month period, then the dealing 
representative or advising representative of such registrant that provided such advice must complete section 2 of 
Schedule 2 of Exhibit 4. 

Accredited Investor Exemption Exhibits 

(d) Exhibit 5 – All Investors subscribing under the “accredited investor exemption”. 

(e) Exhibit 6 – All Investors subscribing under the “accredited investor exemption” who are individuals, (unless 
investing under category J.1 of “accredited investor” in which case Exhibit 6 is not required). 

Family, Friends and Business Associates Exemption Exhibits 

(f) Exhibit 7 - All Investors subscribing under the “family, friends and business associates” exemption, and if the 
Investor is a “close personal friend” or “close business associate” then the questionnaire in Exhibit 7 must be 
completed. 

(g) Exhibit 8 – all Saskatchewan Investors that are relying on a “close personal friend” or “close business associate” 
relationship. 

(h) Exhibit 9 – all Ontario Investors that are relying on the “family, friends and business associates” exemption. 

i. Note: Exhibit 9 must be signed by all of the following:(i) the Investor; (ii) an executive officer of the 
Issuers other than the Investor; (iii) if the Investor is a person referred to under category B on Exhibit 9, 
the director, executive officer or control person of the Issuers or an affiliate of the Issuers who has the 
specified relationship with the Investor; (iv) if the Investor is a person referred to under category (C), the 
director, executive officer or control person of the Issuers or an affiliate of the Issuers whose spouse has 
the specified relationship with the Investor; (v) if the Investor is a person referred to under paragraph 
4(D) or (E), the director, executive officer or control person of the Issuers or an affiliate of the Issuers 
who is a close personal friend or a close business associate of the Investor; and (vi) the founder of the 
Issuers, if the Investor is a person referred to in category (F) or (G) other than the founder of the Issuers. 

Salesperson Exhibit – Must be completed for all Accredited Investors and Eligible Investors 

(i) Exhibit 10 - If the Investor is subscribing for securities as an “eligible investor” or “accredited investor” then the 
person meeting with or providing information to the Investor must complete Exhibit 10 in respect of such investor. 
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF SUBSCRIPTION  
FOR OFFERED UNITS 

Definitions 

1. In this Subscription Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires: 

(a) “Closing” means the completion of the issue and sale by the Trust or Partnership (as applicable) and the 
purchase by the subscribers of Offered Units pursuant to the subscription agreements, substantially in the 
form of this Subscription Agreement, which may occur on one or more Closing Dates; 

(b) “Closing Date” means such date or dates as the Issuers may determine. The Investor acknowledges that 
multiple Closings may occur with multiple subscribers; 

(c) “Closing Time” means the closing time on the Closing Date as the Issuers may determine; 

(d) “insider” means: 

i. a director or officer of the Issuers; 

ii. a director or officer of a person or company that is itself an insider or subsidiary of the Issuers; 
or 

iii. a person that has: (A) beneficial ownership of, or control or direction over, directly or indirectly; 
or (B) a combination of beneficial ownership of and control or direction over, directly or 
indirectly, securities carrying more than 10% of the voting rights attached to all of the Issuers’ 
outstanding voting securities, excluding, for the purpose of the calculation of the percentage 
held, any securities held by the person or company as underwriter in the course of a distribution; 

(e) “Offered Units” has the meaning ascribed thereto on the face page of this Subscription Agreement; 

(f) “Offering” has the meaning ascribed thereto in subparagraph 2(a) hereof; and 

(g) “registrant” means a person registered or required to be registered pursuant to the Securities Laws 
applicable to such person. 

Terms of the Offering 

2. The Investor acknowledges that: 

(a) this subscription is subject to rejection or allotment by the Issuers in whole or in part; and 

(b) the Offered Units subscribed for by it hereunder form part of a larger issuance and sale by the Issuers of 
Offered Units (the “Offering”); and 

(c) the Offering is not subject to any minimum subscription level, as such, any funds invested will be 
available to the Issuers and will be paid to the Issuers on the Closing Date and need not be refunded to the 
Investor; and 

(d) in the event that the Issuers reject the Subscription Agreement, the subscription proceeds will be promptly 
returned to the Investor at the address of the Investor set out on the face page hereof, without interest or 
deduction; and 

(e) it acknowledges that: (i) the Issuers are not “reporting issuers” (or equivalent thereof) under the securities 
laws of any province or territory of Canada; (ii) there is no assurance that the Issuers will become a 
reporting issuer under the securities laws of any province or territory of Canada in the future and the 
Issuers have not made or given any such assurances; (iii) the Offered Units will be subject to a hold 
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period of four months and a day from the later of the applicable Closing Date and the date the Issuers 
become a reporting issuer under the securities laws of any province or territory of Canada (which it has 
no obligation to become), during which time the Investor may not trade the Offered Units without filing a 
prospectus or being able to rely on one of the limited exemptions from the requirement to file a 
prospectus under applicable securities laws; and (iv) any certificates or electronic records representing the 
Offered Units will bear a legend indicating that the resale of such securities is so restricted in the 
following form: 

“UNLESS PERMITTED UNDER SECURITIES LEGISLATION, THE HOLDER 
OF THIS SECURITY MUST NOT TRADE THE SECURITY BEFORE THE 
DATE THAT IS 4 MONTHS AND A DAY AFTER THE LATER OF: [THE 
DISTRIBUTION DATE], AND (ii) THE DATE THE ISSUER BECAME A 
REPORTING ISSUER IN ANY PROVINCE OR TERRITORY”; and 

(f) by executing this Subscription Agreement, the Investor agrees that if the Investor transfers such Offered 
Units during any applicable hold periods, the Investor will advise such transferee of the resale restrictions 
applicable to such Offered Units. 

Representations, Warranties and Covenants by Investor 

3. The Investor (on its own behalf and, if applicable, on behalf of each person on whose behalf the Investor is 
contracting hereunder) represents, warrants and covenants to the Issuers and their counsel (and acknowledges that 
the Issuers and their counsel are relying thereon) that both at the date hereof and at the Closing Time: 

(a) Offering Memorandum Exemption: the Investor is a resident of a province or territory of Canada other 
than Quebec; and: 

i. the Investor has received, reviewed and understands the Issuers’ confidential offering 
memorandum dated February 2017, as updated, amended or restated from time to time prior to 
the date of this subscription (the “Offering Memorandum”) it has completed and signed Exhibit 
1 in respect of acknowledging receipt of the Offering Memorandum. The Investor has reviewed 
and understands the , the disclosure set out under the heading Item 8 – Risk Factors, and has had 
an opportunity to ask and have answered all questions which it wished to raise regarding the 
business and affairs of the Issuers, the nature of its activities, the proposed use of the Offering 
proceeds, the Offered Units and this Subscription Agreement; and other than the Offering 
Memorandum and the brochure attached thereto, the Investor has not received, requested and 
does not have any need to receive, any offering memorandum, or any other document describing 
the Issuers that has been prepared for delivery to and review by, prospective subscribers in order 
to assist it in making an investment decision in respect of the Units; and 

ii. it has completed and signed two copies of the Risk Acknowledgement form attached as Exhibit 
2; and 

iii. the Investor is resident in British Columbia, New Brunswick, Nova Scotia or Newfoundland and 
Labrador; or 

iv. the Investor is resident in Alberta, Saskatchewan, Manitoba, Northwest Territories, Nunavut, 
Yukon or Prince Edward Island and either: 

(A) the acquisition cost to the Investor does not exceed $10,000; or 

(B) the Investor is an “eligible investor” as such term is defined in National Instrument 45-
106 - Prospectus Exemptions and it was not created or used solely to purchase or hold 
securities as an “eligible investor” in NI 45-106, and it has concurrently executed and 
delivered a Representation Letter in the form attached as Exhibit 3 hereto and has 
initialled in Appendix “A” thereto indicating that the Investor satisfies one of the 
categories of “eligible investor” set forth in such definition; or 
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v. the Investor is resident in Ontario and either: 

(A) the acquisition cost to the Investor does not exceed $10,000; or 

(B) the Investor is an “eligible investor” as such term is defined in National Instrument 45-
106 - Prospectus Exemptions and it was not created or used solely to purchase or hold 
securities as an “eligible investor” in NI 45-106, and it has concurrently executed and 
delivered a Representation Letter in the form attached as Exhibit 3 hereto and has 
initialled in Appendix “A” thereto indicating that the Investor satisfies one of the 
categories of “eligible investor” set forth in such definition; 

and in either case, the Investor has concurrently completed, executed and delivered, Exhibit 4 
and meets the investment limit described in Exhibit 4; or 

(b) Accredited Investor Exemption: the Investor is a resident of Quebec or otherwise relying on the 
“accredited investor” exemption and it is an “accredited investor”, as such term is defined in NI 45-106 or 
section 73.3 of the Securities Act (Ontario), and it was not created or used solely to purchase or hold 
securities as an accredited investor as described in paragraph (m) of the definition of “accredited 
investor” in NI 45-106, and it has concurrently executed and delivered a Representation Letter in the form 
attached as Exhibit 5 hereto and has initialled in Appendix “A” thereto indicating that the Investor 
satisfies one of the categories of “accredited investor” set forth in such definition and, if the Investor is an 
individual (unless investing under category J.1 of “accredited investor” set forth in Appendix “A” to 
Exhibit 5), has completed Exhibit 6 hereto; or 

(c) Family, Friends and Business Associates Exemption: the Investor is a resident of or otherwise subject to 
all applicable securities laws of a Province or Territory of Canada and it meets and has initialled one or 
more of the categories on Exhibit 7 (including completing the questionnaire therein) and if the Investor is 
resident in Saskatchewan or is otherwise subject to the applicable securities laws of Saskatchewan, it has 
completed Exhibit 8 hereto and in the case of an Investor resident in Ontario or otherwise subject to 
applicable securities laws of Ontario, then the Investor has completed and executed Exhibit 9, which has 
also been completed and executed by the other persons specified therein; and 

(d) No Undisclosed Beneficiaries and Jurisdiction: 

i. unless it is purchasing pursuant to subparagraph 3(e) hereof, it is purchasing the Offered Units as 
principal for its own account, not for the benefit of any other person, for investment only and not 
with a view to the resale or distribution of all or any of the Offered Units, it is resident in or 
otherwise subject to applicable securities laws of the jurisdiction set out as the “Investor’s 
Address” on the face page hereof and any act, solicitation, conduct or negotiation directly or 
indirectly in furtherance of such purchase and sale has occurred only in such jurisdiction; and 

ii. the Investor does not act jointly or in concert with any other person or company for the purposes 
of acquiring securities of the Issuers; and 

(e) Exempt Status of Disclosed Beneficial Purchaser: subject to securities laws applicable to the Investor, if it 
is acting as agent for one or more Disclosed Beneficial Purchasers, each of such Disclosed Beneficial 
Purchasers is purchasing as principal for its own account, not for the benefit of any other person, for 
investment only, and not with a view to distribution of all or any of the Offered Units, and each Disclosed 
Beneficial Purchaser complies with paragraph 3(a), 3(b) or 3(c) hereof as is applicable to it (including 
completion of applicable Exhibits hereto). The agent further acknowledges that the Issuers are required 
by law to disclose to certain regulatory authorities the identity of each Disclosed Beneficial Purchaser for 
whom it may be acting, it and each Disclosed Beneficial Purchaser is resident in or otherwise subject to 
the securities laws of the jurisdiction set out as the “Investor’s Address” and “Principal’s Address 
including postal code”, respectively, on the face page hereof; and 

(f) Risk Acknowledgment: it (and any Disclosed Beneficial Purchaser for whom it is acting) acknowledges 
that: 
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i. no securities commission or similar regulatory authority has reviewed or passed on the merits of 
the Offered Units; and 

ii. there is no government or other insurance covering the Offered Units; and 

iii. there are risks associated with the purchase of the Offered Units; and 

iv. there are restrictions on the Investor’s ability to resell the Offered Units and it is the 
responsibility of the Investor to find out what those restrictions are and to comply with them 
before selling such Offered Units; and 

v. the Issuers have advised the Investor that the Issuers are relying on an exemption from the 
requirements to provide the Investor with a prospectus and to sell securities through a person or 
company registered to sell securities under applicable securities laws and, as a consequence of 
acquiring Offered Units pursuant to this exemption, certain protections, rights and remedies 
provided by applicable securities laws, will not be available to the Investor; and 

vi. the investment in the Issuers is a highly speculative investment and involves a high degree of 
risk of loss of the entire investment; and 

vii. there is no guarantee that any gain will be realised from its investment in the Issuers; and 

viii. without limitation, no representation, guarantee or warranty has been made or given to the 
Investor by the Issuers, their officers, agents or employees or any other person, expressly or by 
implication, as to: 

(A) the approximate or exact length of time that the Investor will be required to remain as 
an investor in the Issuers; 

(B) the financial viability of the business of the Issuers; or 

(C) the future profitability of the business of the Issuers; and 

ix. it confirms that neither the Issuers nor any of its directors, trustees, officers, employees or 
representatives, has made any representations (oral or written) to the Investor: 

(A) that any person will resell or repurchase any of the Offered Units; 

(B) that any person will refund the purchase price of the Offered Units; or 

(C) as to the future price or value of the Offered Units; and 

x. it has such knowledge of financial and business affairs as to be capable of evaluating the merits 
and risks of its investment and is able to bear the economic risk of loss of its investments; and 

xi. except for this Subscription Agreement and the Offering Memorandum, it has not relied upon 
any oral or written representation as to fact or otherwise made by or on behalf of the Issuers; and 

xii. the Issuers have not provided or purported to provide any or all of the information which may be 
required to evaluate and make an informed assessment of an investment in the Issuers and the 
Investor is responsible for making its own investigations in respect of all such matters; and 

xiii. its offer to subscribe for Offered Units has not been induced by any representations with regard 
to the present or future worth of the Offered Units; and 

xiv. it, either alone or together with the Investor’s financial advisor, has sufficient financial 
knowledge and experience to evaluate the merit and risks of an investment in the Issuers on the 
basis of information presented to the Investor; and 
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xv. it understands, acknowledges and is aware that the Offered Units are being offered for sale only 
on a “private placement” basis and that the sale and delivery of the Offered Units is conditional 
upon such sale being exempt from the requirements under applicable Securities Laws as to the 
filing of a prospectus or upon the issuance of such orders, consents or approvals as may be 
required to permit such sale without the filing of a prospectus and, as a consequence: (i) it is 
restricted from using most of the civil remedies available under securities legislation; (ii) it may 
not receive information that would otherwise be required to be provided to it under securities 
legislation; and (iii) the Issuers are relieved from certain obligations that would otherwise apply 
under securities legislation; and 

xvi. the Investor understands that no securities commission, stock exchange, governmental agency, 
regulatory body or similar authority has made any finding or determination or expressed any 
opinion with respect to the merits of investing in the Offered Units; and 

xvii. it is capable of bearing the economic risks of an investment in the Offered Units and the 
Investor’s present financial condition is such that the Investor is under no present or 
contemplated future need to dispose of any of the Offered Units to satisfy any existing or 
contemplated undertaking, need or indebtedness; and 

(g) Restrictions on Resale: 

i. it has been independently advised as to restrictions with respect to trading in the Offered Units 
imposed by applicable securities laws in the jurisdiction in which it resides or is otherwise 
subject, confirms that no representation (written or oral) has been made to it by or on behalf of 
the Issuers with respect thereto, acknowledges that it is aware of the characteristics of the 
Offered Units, the risks relating to an investment therein and of the fact that it will not be able to 
resell the Offered Units except in accordance with limited exemptions under applicable 
securities legislation and regulatory policy until expiry of the applicable restricted period and 
compliance with the other requirements of applicable law; and it agrees that any certificates 
representing the Offered Units will bear a legend, indicating, or such electronic records shall 
indicate, that the resale of such Offered Units is restricted; the Investor further acknowledges 
that it should and has had the opportunity to consult its own legal counsel in its jurisdiction of 
residence for full particulars of the resale restrictions applicable to it; and 

ii. the Investor is aware that there is no market upon which the Offered Units trade and there is no 
assurance that the Offered Units will be listed and posted for trading on a stock exchange or 
dealer network in the future; and 

iii. the Investor is aware it may be subject to certain escrow requirements of a stock exchange or 
applicable securities laws which restrict the trading in the Offered Units for directors, officers, 
insiders and their affiliates in the event that the Issuers becomes a reporting issuer or obtains a 
stock listing and the Investor agrees to be subject to such escrow requirements, as may be 
applicable; and 

iv. it will not resell the Offered Units, except in accordance with the provisions of applicable 
securities legislation, regulations, rules, policies and orders and applicable stock exchange rules; 
and 

(h) No connection to U.S.: 

i. it is aware that the Offered Units have not been and will not be registered under the United 
States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (“U.S. Securities Act”) or the securities laws of any 
state of the United States and that these securities may not be offered or sold, directly or 
indirectly, in the United States without registration under the U.S. Securities Act or compliance 
with requirements of an exemption from registration and the applicable laws of all applicable 
states and acknowledges that the Issuers have no present intention of filing a registration 
statement under the U.S. Securities Act in respect of any of the Offered Units; and 
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ii. the Offered Units have not been offered to the Investor in the United States, and the individuals 
making the order to purchase the Offered Units and executing and delivering this Subscription 
Agreement on behalf of the Investor were not in the United States when the order was placed 
and this Subscription Agreement was executed and delivered; and 

iii. it is not a U.S. Person (as defined in Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act, which definition 
includes, but is not limited to, an individual resident in the United States, an estate or trust of 
which any executor or administrator or trustee, respectively, is a U.S. Person and any partnership 
or corporation organized or incorporated under the laws of the United States) and is not 
purchasing the Offered Units on behalf of, or for the account or benefit of, a person in the United 
States or a U.S. Person; and 

iv. it (and, if applicable, any Disclosed Beneficial Purchaser) undertakes and agrees that it will not 
offer or sell any of the Offered Units in the United States unless such securities are registered 
under the U.S. Securities Act and the securities laws of all applicable states of the United States 
or an exemption from such registration requirements is available and further that it will not resell 
the Offered Units except in accordance with the provisions of applicable securities legislation, 
regulations, rules, policies and orders and stock exchange rules, as applicable; 

(i) Existence of Investor & Authority to Subscribe: 

i. if it is a corporation, partnership, unincorporated association or other entity, it has been duly 
incorporated, formed or created and is valid and subsisting under the laws of the jurisdiction of 
its incorporation, formation or creation and it has the legal capacity to enter into and be bound by 
this Subscription Agreement and it further certifies that all necessary approvals of directors, 
shareholders or otherwise have been given and obtained; and 

ii. if an individual, it is of the full age of majority and is legally competent to execute this 
Subscription Agreement and take all action pursuant hereto; and 

iii. this Subscription Agreement has been duly and validly authorized, executed and delivered by 
and constitutes a legal, valid, binding and enforceable obligation of the Investor; and 

iv. in the case of the subscription by it for Offered Units acting as agent for a Disclosed Beneficial 
Purchaser, it is duly authorized to execute and deliver this Subscription Agreement and all other 
necessary documentation in connection with such subscription on behalf of such principal and 
this Subscription Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by or on behalf 
of, and constitutes a legal, valid, binding and enforceable agreement, of such principal; and 

v. the entering into of this Subscription Agreement and the completion of the transactions 
contemplated hereby do not and will not result in a violation of any of the terms or provisions of 
any law applicable to the Offered Units, and if the Investor is not a natural person, any of the 
Investor’s constating documents, or any agreement to which the Investor is a party or by which it 
is bound; and 

vi. no authorization, consent, order, approval or notice of any federal, provincial, territorial, 
municipal or foreign regulatory body or official must be obtained or given, and no waiting 
period must expire, in order that this Subscription Agreement and the transactions contemplated 
herein can be consummated by the Investor; and 

vii. it acknowledges that the Issuers may complete additional financings in the future in order to 
develop the business of the Issuers and to fund its ongoing development; that there is no 
assurance that such financings will be available and, if available, on reasonable terms; any such 
future financings may have a dilutive effect on current securityholders, including the Investor; 
that if such future financings are not available, the Issuers may be unable to fund its ongoing 
development; and the lack of capital resources may result in the failure of its business venture; 
and 
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(j) Further Assurances: if required by applicable securities laws, regulations, rules, policies or orders or by 
any securities commission, stock exchange or other regulatory authority, the Investor will execute, 
deliver, file and otherwise assist the Issuers in filing, such reports, undertakings and other documents with 
respect to the issue of the Offered Units including, without limitation, this duly completed and executed 
Subscription Agreement and all applicable Exhibits; and 

(k) Investor is not a Control Person: the acquisition of the Offered Units hereunder by the Investor will not 
result in the Investor becoming a “control person”, as defined under applicable securities laws; and 

(l) Independent Legal Advice: 

i. it acknowledges that the Issuers’ counsel is acting as counsel to the Issuers and not as counsel to 
the Investor; and 

ii. the Investor acknowledges that it has had the opportunity to obtain independent legal, income 
tax and investment advice with respect to its subscription for the Offered Units and accordingly, 
has had the opportunity to acquire an understanding of the meanings of all terms contained 
herein relevant to the Investor for purposes of giving representations, warranties and covenants 
under this Subscription Agreement and the Issuers does not bear any responsibility whatsoever 
for any such matter; and 

(m) Status under Tax Act: the Investor: 

i. is not a non-resident of Canada for purposes of the Income Tax Act (Canada), together with any 
and all regulations promulgated thereunder, as amended from time to time (the “Tax Act”); and 

ii. deals at arm’s length, within the meaning of the Tax Act, with the Partnership and will continue 
to deal at arm’s length with the Partnership at all material times; and 

iii. it is not a “tax shelter investment” within the meaning of the Tax Act; and 

iv. it has not financed its acquisition of Offered Units with a financing for which recourse is or is 
deemed to be limited within the meaning of the Tax Act and for the purposes hereof, limited 
recourse amount means the unpaid principal amount of any indebtedness for which recourse is 
limited, either immediately or in the future and either absolutely or contingently, and also 
includes any borrowing which is deemed to be a limited recourse amount. Borrowing will not be 
deemed to be a limited recourse amount if: 

v. bona fide arrangements, evidenced in writing, are made at the time the debt arose for the 
repayment by the borrower of the principal and interest on the debt within a reasonable period of 
time, not greater than 10 years; and 

vi. the debt is not a part of a series of loans and repayments that ends more than 10 years after it 
begins; and 

vii. interest on the debt is payable at least annually, and is actually paid no later than 60 days after 
the end of the borrower’s taxation year, at a rate equal or greater than the lesser of: 

viii. the prescribed interest rate for purposes of the Tax Act in effect at the time when the debt arose; 
and 

ix. the prescribed interest rate for purposes of the Tax Act applicable from time to time during the 
term of the debt; 

x. will maintain the status set out in (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) above during such time as the Offered 
Units are held; and 
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(n) Covenant of Investor Regarding No Market for Units: the Investor covenants and agrees not to take any 
actions or steps which are intended to or may result in there being any “public market” for the Units 
within the meaning of the Tax Act, including without limitation, any system that supports over-the-
counter, private or other trading of the Offered Units; and 

(o) Legitimate Source of Funds: the funds representing the Aggregate Subscription Price which will be 
advanced by the Investor to the Issuers hereunder will not represent proceeds of crime for the purposes of 
the Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act (Canada) (the “PCMLA”) or the 
Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct 
Terrorism Act (the “PATRIOT Act”) and the Investor acknowledges that the Issuers may in the future be 
required by law to disclose the Investor’s name and other information relating to this Subscription 
Agreement and the Investor’s subscription hereunder, on a confidential basis, pursuant to the PCMLA or 
the PATRIOT Act. To the best of its knowledge: (a) none of the subscription funds to be provided by the 
Investor: (i) have been or will be derived from or related to any activity that is deemed criminal under the 
law of Canada, the United States of America, or any other jurisdiction; or (ii) are being tendered on 
behalf of a person or entity who has not been identified to the Investor; and (b) it shall promptly notify 
the Issuers if the Investor discovers that any of such representations ceases to be true, and to provide the 
Issuers with appropriate information in connection therewith. 

Closing 

4. The Investor agrees that this Subscription Agreement (including applicable Exhibits) and a personal cheque, 
certified cheque, bank draft, wire transfer, or electronic funds transfer payable to “Boughton Law Corporation, 
In Trust” or “WestStone (Innovation) GP Ltd.” (please reference “Trust Units” or “LP Units” as applicable) for 
the aggregate subscription price or payment of the same amount in such other manner as is acceptable to the 
Issuers shall be delivered to WestStone (Innovation) Trust and WestStone (Innovation) Limited Partnership, c/o 
Boughton Law Corporation at Suite 700 – 595 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V7X 1S8 not later 
than 4:00 p.m. (Vancouver time) (the “Closing Time”) on the day that is not less than two business days prior to 
the applicable Closing Date. The Investor acknowledges and accepts that the conditions precedent to the closing of 
this Offering are for its benefit and that the Issuers may waive, in whole or in part, the completion or satisfaction 
of any of such conditions precedent on behalf of the Investor pursuant to section 11 hereof. 

5. The Issuer may complete the Offering in one or more Closings. At the Closing Time, the Issuer will deliver, or 
cause to be delivered, according to the instructions set out under Delivery Instructions herein confirmation of the 
issuance of the Units to the Investor, as registered in the name of the Investor or its nominee as set out under 
Registration Instructions, provided that the Investor shall have delivered to the Issuer the completed Subscription 
Agreement and the aggregate subscription amount. 

6. If the Investor delivers all or part of the aggregate subscription price to the Issuer, or to the Issuer’s legal counsel, 
Boughton Law Corporation, before Closing, such monies will be for all purposes a loan to the Issuer by the 
Investor, which loan will not bear interest and may be released by Boughton Law Corporation immediately to the 
Issuer prior to Closing, and at the Closing, upon delivery of the certificates evidencing the Investor's Units, the 
loan will be repaid in full.   

7. If this Subscription Agreement is rejected in whole or in part, the Investor acknowledges that the unused portion of 
the subscription amount will be promptly returned to it without interest or deduction. 

8. The sale of the Offered Units pursuant to this Subscription Agreement will be completed at the Closing 

Time and the Closing Date(s). 

9. The Trust shall be entitled to rely on delivery of a facsimile or electronically scanned (PDF) copy of executed 
Subscription Agreements, and acceptance by the Issuers of such facsimile or PDF subscriptions shall be legally 
effective to create a valid and binding agreement between the Investor and the Issuers in accordance with the terms 
hereof. In addition, this Subscription Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed 
to be an original and all of which shall constitute one and the same document. If less than a complete copy of this 
Subscription Agreement is delivered to the Issuers at the Closing Time, the Issuers shall be entitled to assume that 
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the Investor accepts and agrees with all of the terms and conditions of this Subscription Agreement on the pages 
not delivered at the Closing Time unaltered. 

General 

10. The Investor agrees that the representations, warranties and covenants of the Investor herein will be true and 
correct both as of the execution of this Subscription Agreement and as of the Closing Time and will survive the 
completion of the issuance of the Offered Units. The representations, warranties and covenants of the Investor 
herein are made with the intent that they be relied upon by the Issuers and their counsel in determining the 
eligibility of a purchaser of Offered Units and the Investor agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Issuers and 
its affiliates, shareholders, directors, trustees, officers, partners, employees and agents (including their respective 
legal counsel), from and against all losses, claims, costs, expenses and damages or liabilities which any of them 
may suffer or incur which are caused or arise from a breach thereof. The Investor undertakes to immediately notify 
the Issuers at WestStone (Innovation) Trust and WestStone (Innovation) Limited Partnership, c/o Boughton Law at 
Suite 700 – 595 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V7X 1S8 email: info@innovationbyweststone.com 
of any change in any statement or other information relating to the Investor set forth herein which takes place prior 
to the Closing Time. 

11. The Investor hereby irrevocably authorizes the Issuers, in their sole discretion: (a) to act as its representative at the 
Closing and to execute in its name and on its behalf all closing receipts and documents required; (b) to complete or 
correct any minor errors or omissions in any form or document, including this Subscription Agreement, provided 
by the Investor; (c) to receive on its behalf certificates representing the Offered Units purchased under this 
Subscription Agreement; and (d) to approve any opinions, certificates or other documents addressed to the 
Investor. This power of attorney is irrevocable, is coupled with an interest and has been given for valuable 
consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which is acknowledged. This power of attorney and other rights and 
privileges granted under this paragraph 9 will survive any legal or mental incapacity, dissolution, bankruptcy or 
death of the Investor. This power of attorney extends to the heirs, executors, administrators, other legal 
representatives and successors, transferees and assigns of the Investor. Any person dealing with the Issuers may 
conclusively presume and rely upon the fact that any document, instrument or agreement executed by the Issuers 
pursuant to this power of attorney is authorized and binding on the Investor, without further inquiry. The Investor 
agrees to be bound by any representations or actions made or taken by the Issuers pursuant to this power of 
attorney, and waives any and all defences that may be available to contest, negate or disaffirm any action of the 
Issuers taken in good faith under this power of attorney. 

12. The Investor acknowledges that this Subscription Agreement and the Exhibits hereto require the Investor to 
provide certain personal information (the “Information”) to the Issuers. Such Information is being collected by the 
Issuers for the purposes of completing the Offering, which includes, without limitation, determining the Investor’s 
eligibility to purchase the Offered Units under applicable securities legislation, preparing and registering any 
certificates representing securities to be issued to the Investor and completing filings required by any stock 
exchange or securities regulatory authority. The Information may be disclosed by the Issuers to: (a) applicable 
stock exchanges or securities regulatory authorities; (b) the registrar and transfer agent of the Issuers; (c) Canada 
Revenue Agency; and (d) any of the other parties involved in the Offering, including legal counsel to the Issuers, 
and may be included in record books in connection with the Offering. By executing this Subscription Agreement, 
the Investor consents to the foregoing collection, use and disclosure of the Information. The Investor also consents 
to the filing of copies or originals of any of the Investor’s documents described herein as may be required to be 
filed with any applicable stock exchange or securities regulatory authority in connection with the transactions 
contemplated hereby. 

13. The Investor acknowledges that the Issuers will be required to file a report of exempt distribution with all 
applicable securities regulatory authorities in one or more jurisdictions containing personal information about the 
Investor including the following personal information: 

(a) the full name, residential address and telephone number of the Investor; 

(b) whether the Investor is an insider or a registrant (as defined in applicable securities legislation);  

(c) the number and type of securities purchased; 
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(d) the total purchase price (in Canadian dollars); 

(e) the exemption relied on; and 

(f)  the date of distribution. 

14. Each Investor in Ontario authorizes the indirect collection of the Information by the Ontario Securities 
Commission and confirms that it has been notified by the Issuers: 

(a) that the Issuers will be delivering the Information to the Ontario Securities Commission;  

(b) that such Information is being collected indirectly by the Ontario Securities Commission under the 
authority granted to it in applicable securities laws; 

(c) that such Information is being collected for the purpose of the administration and enforcement of 
applicable securities laws; and 

(d)  that the title, business address and business telephone number of the public official in the Province of 
Ontario who can answer questions about the Ontario Securities Commissions indirect collection of such 
Information is as follows: 

Administrative Assistant to the Director of Corporate Finance 
Ontario Securities Commission 
Suite 1903, Box 55, 20 Queen Street West 
Toronto, Ontario M5H 2S8 
Telephone: (416) 593-8086 

15. If the Investor (or if applicable a Disclosed Beneficial Purchaser) is resident in or otherwise subject to the 
applicable securities laws of British Columbia, the Investor authorized the indirect collection of the Information by 
the British Columbia Securities Commission and is hereby notified that: 

(a) the Issuers may deliver to the British Columbia Securities Commission the Information; 

(b) the Information is being collected indirectly by the British Columbia Securities Commission under the 
authority granted to it in securities legislation; 

(c) the Information is being collected for the purposes of the administration and enforcement of the securities 
legislation of British Columbia; 

(d) certain of the Information pertaining to the Investor will be available for public inspection at the British 
Columbia Securities Commission during normal business hours, including the Investor’s full name, 
whether the Investor is an insider of Trust or a registrant, the number of Offered Units purchased by the 
Investor, and the total purchase price paid for such Offered Units, and, if the Investor is an insider or 
promoter of the Issuers, the number, type and total consideration paid for all securities of the Issuers 
beneficially owned or directly or indirectly controlled, on the applicable Closing Date, by such insider or 
promoter; and 

(e) the Investor may contact the following public official in British Columbia with respect to questions about 
the British Columbia Securities Commission’s indirect collection of such information at the following 
address and telephone number: 

British Columbia Securities Commission 
P.O. Box 10142, Pacific Centre 
701 West Georgia Street 
Vancouver, British Columbia V7Y 1L2  
Telephone: (604) 899-6500 
Toll free across Canada: 1-800-373-6393 Facsimile. (604) 899-6581 
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16. The obligations of the parties hereunder are subject to acceptance of the terms of the Offering by any required 
regulatory approvals. 

17. The Investor acknowledges and agrees that all costs incurred by the Investor (including any fees and 
disbursements of any special counsel retained by the Investor) relating to the sale of the Offered Units to the 
Investor shall be borne by the Investor. 

18. The contract arising out of this Subscription Agreement and all documents relating thereto, which by common 
accord has been or will be drafted in English, shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of 
the Province of British Columbia and the federal laws of Canada applicable therein. The parties irrevocably attorn 
to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the Province of British Columbia. 

19. This Subscription Agreement represents the entire agreement of the parties hereto relating to the subject matter 
hereof and there are no representations, covenants or other agreements relating to the subject matter hereof except 
as stated or referred to herein. 

20. The terms and provisions of this Subscription Agreement shall be binding upon and enure to the benefit of the 
Investor and the Issuers and their respective heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns; and this 
Subscription Agreement shall not be assignable by any party without prior written consent of the other parties. 

21. The Investor agrees that this subscription is made for valuable consideration and may not be withdrawn, cancelled, 
terminated or revoked by the Investor, on its own behalf and, if applicable, on behalf of others for whom it is 
contracting hereunder 

22. Subject to section 9, neither this Subscription Agreement nor any provision hereof shall be modified, changed, 
discharged or terminated except by an instrument in writing signed by the party against whom any waiver, change, 
discharge or termination is sought. 

23. The invalidity, illegality or unenforceability of any provision of this Subscription Agreement shall not affect the 
validity, legality or enforceability of any other provision hereof. 

24. The headings used in this Subscription Agreement have been inserted for convenience of reference only and shall 
not affect the meaning or interpretation of this Subscription Agreement or any provision hereof. 

25. The covenants, representations and warranties contained herein shall survive the closing of the transactions 
contemplated hereby. 

26. Time is of the essence hereof. 

27. In this Subscription Agreement (including the Exhibits attached hereto), references to dollar amounts are to 
Canadian dollars. 
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EXHIBIT 1 
RECEIPT OF OFFERING MEMORANDUM 

 

TO:  WestStone (Innovation) Trust (the “Trust”) and WestStone (Innovation) Limited Partnership (the “Partnership”) 

In connection with the purchase of trust units of the Trust or limited partnership units of the Partnership (as applicable) 
(collectively, the “Offered Units”), the undersigned investor (the “Investor”) hereby represents, warrants, covenants and 
certifies to the Trust and Partnership (collectively, the “Issuers”) (and acknowledges that the Issuers and their counsel are 
entitled to rely thereon) that the Investor has received a copy of the Issuers’ offering memorandum dated as of the ______ 
day of February, 2017. 

 

Dated: _____________________, 2017 

 
 
   
 Print name of Investor 

  
 
 
By:   
 Signature 

 
 
   
 Print name of Signatory (if different from Investor) 

 
 
   
 Title 
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EXHIBIT 2 
RISK ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

Form 45-106F4 

TO:  WestStone (Innovation) Trust and WestStone (Innovation) Limited Partnership (collectively, the “Issuers”)  

• I acknowledge that this is a risky investment. 

• I am investing entirely at my own risk. 

• No securities regulatory authority or regulator has evaluated or endorsed the merits of these 
securities or the disclosure in the Offering Memorandum. 

• I will not be able to sell these securities except in very limited circumstances. I may never 
be able to sell these securities. 

• The securities are redeemable, but I may only be able to redeem them in limited 
circumstances. 

• I could lose all the money I invest. 

I am investing $__________________ in total; this includes any amount I am obliged to pay in the future. I 
understand that the Issuers may pay up to ______% of this amount to ________________________ as fee or 
commission. 

I acknowledge that this is a risky investment and that I could lose all the money I invest. 

   
Date  Signature of Investor  Print Name of Investor 

   
Date Signature of Co-Investor 

(if applicable) 
Print Name of Co-Investor 
(if applicable) 

Sign 2 copies of this document. Keep one copy for your records. 
 

You have two business days to cancel your purchase. 

To do so, send a notice to WestStone (Innovation) Trust or WestStone (Innovation) Limited Partnership stating that you 
want to cancel your purchase. You must send the notice before midnight on the 2nd business day after you sign the 
agreement to purchase the securities. You can send the notice by fax or e-mail, or deliver it in person, to WestStone 
(Innovation) Trust to the address shown below. Keep a copy of the notice for your records. 

WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) TRUST and WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
c/o Boughton Law at Suite 700 – 595 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V7X 1S8 

Fax: 604-498-1959 
email: info@innovationbyweststone.com 

You are buying Exempt Market Securities 

They are called exempt market securities because two parts of securities law do not apply to them. If an issuer wants to sell 
exempt market securities to you: 

• the issuer does not have to give you a prospectus (a document that describes the investment in detail and gives you 
some legal protections); and 

• the securities do not have to be sold by an investment dealer registered with a securities regulatory authority or 
regulator. 

There are restrictions on your ability to resell exempt market securities. Exempt market securities are more risky than other 
securities. 
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You will receive an offering memorandum 

Read the offering memorandum carefully because it has important information about the Partnership and its securities. 
Keep the offering memorandum because you have rights based on it. Talk to a lawyer for details about these rights. 

The securities you are buying are not listed 

The securities you are buying are not listed on any stock exchange and they may never be listed. You may never be able to 
sell these securities. 

The issuer of your securities is a non-reporting issuer 

A non-reporting issuer does not have to publish financial information or notify the public of changes in its business. You 
may not receive on-going information about this issuer. 

For more information on exempt market securities, call your local securities regulatory authority. If you live in: 

British Columbia, 
contact the British Columbia Securities Commission at (604) 899-6500 (outside the local area, call toll-free at 
1-800 373-6393) or visit its website at www.bcsc.bc.ca; 

Alberta, 
contact the Alberta Securities Commission at (403) 297-6454 or visit its website at 
www.albertasecurities.com; 

Saskatchewan, 
contact the Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission at (306) 787-5879 or visit its website at 
www.sfsc.gov.sk.ca; 

Manitoba, 
contact the Manitoba Securities Commission at (204) 945-2548 or visit its website at www.msc.gov.mb.ca; 

Nova Scotia, 
contact the Nova Scotia Securities Commission at (902) 424-7768 or visit its website at 
www.nssc.novascotia.ca 

New Brunswick, 
contact the Financial and Consumer Services Commission at (506) 658-3060 or visit its website at 
http://www.fcnb.ca 

Newfoundland and Labrador, 
contact the Office of the Superintendent of Securities, Service Newfoundland and Labrador at (709) 729-4189 
or visit its website at www.gov.nl.ca/gs 

Prince Edward Island, 
contact the Office of the Superintendent of Securities, Consumer, Corporate and Insurance Services Division 
at (902) 368-4569 or visit its website at www.gov.pe.ca/securities 

Northwest Territories, 
contact the Office of the Superintendent of Securities, Northwest Territories, Department of Justice at (867) 
920-3318 or visit its website at www.justice.gov.nt.ca/ 

Nunavut, 
contact the Nunavut Securities Office, Department of Justice at (867) 975-6590 or visit its website at 
http://nunavutlegalregistries.ca/sr_index_en.shtml 

Yukon, 
contact the Office of the Yukon Superintendent of Securities at (867) 667-5225 or visit its website at 
http://www.community.gov.yk.ca/corp/securities_about.html 

The Investor must sign 2 copies of this form. The investor and the issuer must each receive a signed copy. 
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EXHIBIT 3 
REPRESENTATION LETTER  

(FOR ELIGIBLE INVESTORS) 

TO: WestStone (Innovation) Trust (the “Trust”) and WestStone (Innovation) Limited Partnership (the “Partnership”) 

In connection with the purchase of trust units of the Trust or limited partnership units of the Partnership (as applicable) 
(collectively, the “Offered Units”), the undersigned subscriber (the “Investor”) hereby represents, warrants, covenants and 
certifies to the Trust and Partnership (collectively, the “Issuers”) (and acknowledges that the Issuers and their counsel are 
entitled to rely thereon) that: 

1. The Investor is purchasing the Offered Units as principal for its own account or complies with the provisions of 
paragraph 3(e) of the Subscription Agreement; 

2. The Investor is and will be at the Closing Time (as defined in the Subscription Agreement) an “eligible investor” 
within the meaning of National Instrument 45-106 - Prospectus Exemptions (“NI 45-106”) by virtue of satisfying 
the indicated criterion as set out in Appendix “A” to this Representation Letter; 

3. The Investor fully understands the meaning of the terms and conditions of the category of “eligible investor” 
applicable to it and confirms that it has reviewed and understands the definitions in Appendix “A” to this 
Representation Letter in respect of the category of “eligible investor” applicable to it and it has reviewed and 
understands the definition of “net assets”, if applicable, contained in Appendix “A” hereto; 

4. The Investor was not created or used solely to purchase or hold securities as an eligible investor; and 

5. Upon execution of this Exhibit 3 by the Investor, this Exhibit 3 shall be incorporated into and form a part of the 
Subscription Agreement and the Issuers and their counsel shall be entitled to rely thereon. 

Dated: _____________________, 2017 

 
 
   
 Print name of Investor 

 
 
By:   
 Signature 

 
 
   
 Print name of Signatory (if different from Investor) 

 
 
   
 Title 

IMPORTANT: PLEASE INITIAL THE APPLICABLE PROVISION 
 IN APPENDIX “A” ON THE NEXT PAGES 
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APPENDIX “A” TO EXHIBIT 3 
CATEGORIES OF ELIGIBLE INVESTOR 

NOTE: THE INVESTOR MUST INITIAL BESIDE THE APPLICABLE PORTION OF THE DEFINITION BELOW. 

In connection with the purchase of Offered Units by the Investor, the Investor (or the signatory on behalf of the Investor) 
certifies for the benefit of the Issuers that the Investor is an “eligible investor” within the meaning of National Instrument 
45-106 – Prospectus Exemptions in the category indicated below: 

 

Initial  

 1. a person whose 

_________ i. net assets, alone or with a spouse, in the case of an individual, exceed $400,000, 

_________ ii. net income before taxes exceeded $75,000 in each of the 2 most recent calendar years and who 
reasonably expects to exceed that income level in the current calendar year, or 

_________ iii. net income before taxes, alone or with a spouse, in the case of an individual, exceeded 
$125,000 in each of the 2 most recent calendar years and who reasonably expects to exceed 
that income level in the current calendar year, 

_________ 2. a person of which a majority of the voting securities are beneficially owned by eligible investors or 
a majority of the directors are eligible investors, 

_________ 3. a general partnership of which all of the partners are eligible investors, 

_________ 4. a limited partnership of which the majority of the general partners are eligible investors, 

_________ 5. a trust or estate in which all of the beneficiaries or a majority of the trustees or executors are 
eligible investors, 

 
Note: If you initialled (b), (c), (d) or (e), then indicate the name and category of eligible investor (by reference to the 
applicable letter above) as follows (attach additional pages if required): 

(b) list all owners of voting securities (and % owned) and directors 

(c) list all partners 

(d) list all general partners 

(e) list all beneficiaries and trustees and executors 

 Name and Title % of Securities Category of Eligible Investor 

    

    

    

    

    

_________ 6. an accredited investor, 

 
Note: If you initialled (f), then Exhibit 5 and Exhibit 6 must be completed (and the Salesperson must complete  
Exhibit 10) 
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_________ 7. a person described in Exhibit 7 (family, friends and business associates); or 

_________ 8. person that has obtained advice regarding the suitability of the investment and, if the person is 
resident in a jurisdiction of Canada, that advice has been obtained from an eligibility adviser. 

 Note: If you initialled (h), then state the name, title and firm of the eligibility adviser. 

 Name  Title Firm 

    

    

For the purposes hereof: 

9. “eligibility adviser” means 

i. a person that is registered as an investment dealer or in an equivalent category of registration under the securities 
legislation of the jurisdiction of a purchaser and authorized to give advice with respect to the type of security being 
distributed, and 

ii. in Saskatchewan and Manitoba, also means a lawyer who is a practicing member in good standing with a law society 
of a jurisdiction of Canada or a public accountant who is a member in good standing of an institute or association of 
chartered accountants, certified general accountants or certified management accountants in a jurisdiction of Canada 
provided that the lawyer or public accountant must not 

(A) have a professional, business or personal relationship with the issuer, or any of its directors, 
executive officer, founders, or control persons, and 

(B) have acted for or been retained personally or otherwise as an employee, executive officer, 
director, associate or partner of a person that has acted for or been retained by the issuer or any of 
its directors, executive officers, founders or control persons within the previous 12 months; 

10. “net assets” means the Investor’s total assets minus all of the Investor’s total liabilities. Accordingly, for the purposes of the 
net asset test, the calculation of total assets would include the value of an Investor’s personal residence and the calculation of 
total liabilities would include the amount of any liability (such as a mortgage) in respect of the Investor’s personal residence; 

11. “person” includes 

i. an individual, 

ii. a corporation, 

iii. a partnership, trust, fund and an association, syndicate, organization or other organized groups of persons, whether 
incorporated or not, and 

iv. an individual or other person in that person’s capacity as a trustee, executor, administrator or personal or other legal 
representative; 

12. “spouse” means, an individual who, 

i. is married to another individual and is not living separate and apart within the meaning of the Divorce Act (Canada), 
from the other individual, 

ii. is living with another individual in a marriage-like relationship, including a marriage-like relationship between 
individuals of the same gender, or 

iii. in Alberta, is an individual referred to in paragraph (i) or (ii) above, or is an adult interdependent partner within the 
meaning of the Adult Interdependent Relationships Act (Alberta); and 

13. “subsidiary” means an issuer that is controlled directly or indirectly by another issuer and includes a subsidiary of that 
subsidiary. 

All monetary references are in Canadian Dollars. 
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EXHIBIT 4 
TO SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT 

Complete and sign one copy of this form for each Investor resident in a Province listed above, who is subscribing under 
the offering memorandum exemption. 

SCHEDULE 1 TO EXHIBIT 4 
Classification of Investors Under the Offering Memorandum Exemption 

Instructions: This Schedule 1 of Exhibit 4 must be completed together with the Risk Acknowledgement Form (Exhibit 2) and Schedule 2 to Exhibit 4 by 
individuals purchasing securities under the exemption (the offering memorandum exemption) in subsection 2.9(2.1) of National Instrument 45-106 
Prospectus Exemptions (NI 45-106) in Alberta, New Brunswick, Nova Scotia, Ontario, Quebec, and Saskatchewan. 

 

How you qualify to buy securities under the offering memorandum exempiion 

Initial the statement under A, B. C or D containing the criteria that applies to you. (You may initial more than one statement.) If you 
initial a statement under B or C. you are not required to complete A. 

A. You are an eligible investor because: Your 
initials 

E
L

IG
IB

L
E

  
IN

V
E

ST
O

R
 

Your net income before taxes was more than $75,000 in each of the 2 most recent calendar years, .and 
you expect it to be more than $75,000 in this calendar year. (You can find your net income before taxes 
on your personal income tax return.) 

 

Your net income before taxes combined with your spouse's was more than $125,000 in each of the 2 
most recent calendar years, and you expect your combined net income to be more than $125,000 in  
this calendar year.  (You can find your net income before taxes on your personal income tax return.) 

 

Either alone or with your· spouse., you have net assets worth more than $400,000. (Your net assets  
are your total assets, including real estate, minus your total debt including any mortgage on your 
property.) 

 

   

B. You are an eligible investor, as a person described in section 2.3 [Accredited investor] of NI 45 - 106 or , as  
applicable in Ontario, subsection 7.3(3) of the Securities Act (Ontario), because: 

Your 
initials 

A
C

C
R

E
D

IT
E

D
  

IN
V

E
ST

O
R

 

Your net income. before taxes was more than $200,000 in each of the 2 most recent calendar years, and 
you expect it to be more than $200,000 in this calendar year. (You can find your net income before 
taxes on your personal income tax return.) 

 

Your net income before taxes combined with your spouse's was more than $300,000 in each of the 2  
most recent calendar years, and you expect your combined net income before-taxes to be more than  
$300,000 in the current calendar year. 

 

Either alone or with your spouse, you own more than $1 million in cash and securities, after  
subtracting any debt related to the cash and securities. 

 

Either alone or with your spouse, you have net assets wotth more than $5 million. (Your net assets 
are your total assets (including real estate) minus your total debt.) 
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C. You are an eligible investor, as a person described in section 2.5 [Family, friends and buisiness associates] of NI 
45-106, because: 

Your 
initials 

FA
M

IL
Y

, F
R

IE
N

D
S 

A
N

D
 B

U
SI

N
E

SS
 A

SS
O

C
IA

T
E

S 

You are: 

1)  [Check all applicable boxes] 

  a director of the issuer of an affiliate of the issuer 
  an executive officer of the issuer or an affiliate of the issuer 
  a control person of the issuer or an affiliate of the issuer 
  a founder of the issuer 

 

OR 

2)  [Check all applicable boxes] 

 a person of which a majority of the voting securities are beneficially owned by or a 
    majority of the directors are, (i)  individuals listed in (1) above and/or (ii)  family  
    members, close personal friends or close business associates of individuals listed in (1) above 

  a trust or estate of which all of the benefisicaries or a majority of the trustees or 
      executors are (i) individuals listed in (1) above and/or (ii) family members, close 
     personal friends or close business associates of individuals listed in (1) above. 

 

You are a family member of ____________________________________[Instruction: Insert the name 
of the person who is your relative either directly or through his or her spouse], who holds the  
following position at the issuer or an affiliate of the issuer: 

__________________________________________ 

 

You. are the _________________________________________ of that person or that person's spouse  
[Instruction: To qualify for this investment, you must be (a) the spouse of the person listed above or (b) 
the parent, grandparent, brother, sister, child or grandchild of that person of that person's spouse] 

 

You are a close personal friend of _____________________________[Instruction:  Insert the name of 
your close personal friend], who holds the following position at the issuer or an 
affiliate of the issuer: 

_________________________________________ 

You have known this person for _____ years. 

 

D. You are not an eligible investor. Your 
initials 

N
O

T
 E

L
IG

IB
L

E
  

IN
V

E
ST

O
R

 You acknowledge that you are not an eligible investor.  
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SCHEDULE 2 TO EXHIBIT 4 
Investment Limits Investors Under the Offering Memorandum Exemption 

Instructions: This Schedule 2 of Exhibit 4 must be completed together with the Risk Acknowledgement Form (Exhibit 2) and Schedule 1 to Exhibit 4 by 
individuals purchasing securities under the exemption (the offering memorandum exemption) in subsection 2.9(2.1) of National Instrument 45-106 
Prospectus Exemptions (NI 45-106) in Alberta, New Brunswick, Nova Scotia, Ontario, Quebec, and Saskatchewan. 

 

SECTION 1 TO BE COMPLETED BY THE PURCHASER 

1.  Investment limits you are subject to when purchsing securities under the offeirng memorandum exemption. 

You may be subject to annual investment limits that apply to all securities acquired under the offering memorandum exemption in a 12-
month period, depending on the criteria under which you qualify as identified in Schedule 1 to Exhibit 4.  Initial the statement that 
applies to you. 

 

A. You are an eligible investor. Your 
initials 

E
L

IG
IB

L
E

  
IN

V
E

ST
O

R
 

As an eligible investor that is an individual, you cannot invest more than $30,000 in all offering 
memorandum exemption investments made in the previous 12 months, unless you have received advice 
from a portfolio manager, \investment dealer or exempt market delaer, as identified in section 2 of this 
schedule, that your investment is suitable. 

Initial one of the following statements: 

 

You confirm that after taking into account your investment of $________ today in this issuer, you have 
not exceeded your investment limit of $30,000 in all offering memorandum exemption investments 
made in the previous 12 months. 

 

You confirm that you received advice from a portfolio manager, investment dealer or exempt market 
dealer, as identified in section 2 of this schedule that the following investment is suitable. 

You confirm that, after taking into account your investment of $________ today in this issuer, you have 
not exceeded your investment limit in all offering memorandum exemption investments made in the 
previous 12 months of $100,000 

 

   

B. You are an eligible investor, as a person described in section 2.3 [Accredited investor] ofNI 45 - 106 or , as  
applicable in Ontario, subsedion 7.3(3) of tbe Securities Act (Ontario), because: 

Your 
initials 

A
C

C
R

E
D

IT
E

D
  

IN
V

E
ST

O
R

 You acknowledge that, by qualifying as an eligible investor as a person described in secton 2.3  
[Accredited investor], you are not subject to investment limites. 
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C. You are an eligible investor, as a person described in section 2.5 [Family, friends and buisiness associates] of NI 
45-106, because: 

Your 
initials 

FA
M

IL
Y

, 
FR

IE
N

D
S 

A
N

D
 

B
U

SI
N

E
SS

 
A

SS
O

C
IA

T
E

S 
You acknowledge that, by qualifying as an eligible investor as a person described in section 2.5  
[Family, friends and business associates], you are not subject to investment limits. 

 

 

 

  

D. You are not an eligible investor. Your 
initials 

N
O

T
 E

L
IG

IB
L

E
  

IN
V

E
ST

O
R

 

You acknowledge that you cannot invest more than $10,000 in all offering memorandum exemption 
investments made in the previous 12 months. 

 

You confirm that, after taking into account your investment of $__________ today in this issuer, you 
have not exceeded your investment limit of $10,000 in all offering memorandum exemption 
investments made in the previous 12 months. 

 

 

SECTION 2 TO BE COMPLETED BY THE REGISTRANT 

2. Registration information 

[Instruction:  this section must only be completed if an investor has received advice from a portfolio manager, investment dealer or 
exempt market dealer concerning his or her investment.] 

First and las name of registrant (please print): 

Registered as: 
[Instruction: indicate whether registered as a dealing representative or advising representative] 

Telephone: Email: 

Name of firm: 
[Instruction: indicate whether registered as an exempt market dealer, investment dealer or portfolio manager] 

Date: 
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EXHIBIT 5 
REPRESENTATION LETTER  

(FOR ACCREDITED INVESTORS) 

TO: WestStone (Innovation) Trust (the “Trust”) and WestStone (Innovation) Limited Partnership (the “Partnership”) 

In connection with the purchase of trust units of the Trust or limited partnership units of the Partnership (as applicable) 
(collectively, the “Offered Units”), the undersigned subscriber (the “Investor”) hereby represents, warrants, covenants and 
certifies to the Trust and Partnership (collectively, the “Issuers”) (and acknowledges that the Issuers and their counsel are 
entitled to rely thereon) that: 

1. The Investor is purchasing the Offered Units as principal for its own account or complies with the provisions of 
paragraph 3(e) of the Subscription Agreement; 

The Investor is and will be at the Closing Time (as defined in the Subscription Agreement) an “accredited investor” within 
the meaning of National Instrument 45-106 - Prospectus Exemptions (“NI 45-106”) or Section 73.3 of the Securities Act 
(Ontario) by virtue of satisfying the indicated criterion as set out in Appendix “A” to this Representation Letter; 

The Investor fully understands the meaning of the terms and conditions of the category of “accredited investor” applicable 
to it and confirms that it has reviewed and understands the definitions in Appendix “A” to this Representation Letter in 
respect of the category of “accredited investor” applicable to it and, in particular, if the Investor is an “accredited investor” 
by virtue of satisfying paragraph (j), (j.1), (k) or (l) of Appendix “A” to this Representation Letter, it has reviewed and 
understands the definitions of “financial assets”, “related liabilities” and “net assets”, as applicable, contained in Appendix 
“A” hereto; 

The Investor was not created or used solely to purchase or hold securities as an accredited investor as described in 
paragraph (m) of the definition of “accredited investor” in NI 45-106 or Section 73.3 of the Securities Act (Ontario) 
(paragraph (m) of Appendix “A” hereto); 

If the Investor is an “accredited investor” by virtue of satisfying paragraph (j), (k) or (l) of Appendix “A” to this 
Representation Letter, it acknowledges that it needs to complete Exhibit 6 to the Subscription Agreement and upon 
execution of Exhibit 6 by the Investor, Exhibit 6 shall be incorporated into and form a part of the Subscription Agreement 
and the Issuers and their counsel shall be entitled to rely thereon; and 

Upon execution of this Exhibit 5 by the Investor, this Exhibit 5 shall be incorporated into and form a part of the 
Subscription Agreement and the Issuers and their counsel shall be entitled to rely thereon. 

Dated: _____________________, 2017 

 
   
 Print name of Investor 

 
By:   
 Signature 

   
 Print name of Signatory (if different from Investor) 

   
 Title 

IMPORTANT: PLEASE INITIAL THE APPLICABLE PROVISION IN  
APPENDIX “A” ON THE NEXT PAGES 
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APPENDIX “A” TO EXHIBIT 5 
CATEGORIES OF ACCREDITED INVESTOR 

NOTE: THE INVESTOR MUST INITIAL BESIDE THE APPLICABLE PORTION OF THE DEFINITION 
BELOW. 

In connection with the purchase of Offered Units by the Investor, the Investor (or the signatory on behalf of the Investor) 
certifies for the benefit of the Issuers that the Investor is an “accredited investor” within the meaning of National Instrument 
45-106 – Prospectus Exemptions or Section 73.3 of the Securities Act (Ontario) in the category indicated below: 

 

Initial    

_____ (a)  i) except in Ontario, a Canadian financial institution, or a Schedule III bank; 

_____  ii) in Ontario, a financial institution described in Section 73.3(1) of the Securities Act (Ontario) as 
described below; 

_____ (b)   the Business Development Bank of Canada incorporated under the Business Development Bank of 
Canada Act (Canada); 

_____ 
(c)   a subsidiary of any person referred to in paragraphs (a) or (b), if the person owns all of the voting 

securities of the subsidiary, except the voting securities required by law to be owned by directors of 
that subsidiary; 

_____ (d)  i) except in Ontario, a person registered under the securities legislation of a jurisdiction of  
Canada as an adviser or dealer; 

_____  ii) in Ontario, a person or company registered under the securities legislation of a province or territory 
in Canada as an adviser or dealer, except as otherwise prescribed by the regulations; 

_____ (e)   an individual registered under the securities legislation of a jurisdiction of Canada as a  
representative of a person referred to in paragraph (d); 

_____ 
(e.1)

 
 an individual formerly registered under the securities legislation of a jurisdiction of Canada, other 

than an individual formerly registered solely as an representative of a limited market dealer under 
one or both of the Securities Act (Ontario) or the Securities Act (Newfoundland and Labrador) 

_____ (f)   the Government of Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada, or any crown corporation, agency or  
wholly owned entity of the Government of Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada; 

_____ 
(g)   a municipality, public board or commission in Canada and a metropolitan community, school  

board, the Comité de gestion de la taxe scolaire de l'île de Montréal or an intermunicipal  
management board in Québec; 

_____ (h)   any national, federal, state, provincial, territorial or municipal government of or in any foreign  
 jurisdiction, or any agency of that government; 

_____ (i)   a pension fund that is regulated by the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions             
(Canada) or a pension commission or similar regulatory authority of a jurisdiction of Canada; 

_____ 

(j)   an individual who, either alone or with a spouse, beneficially owns financial assets having an  
aggregate realizable value that, before taxes, but net of any related liabilities, exceeds  
 $1,000,000; (note: see definition of "financial assets" below and complete Exhibit 6) 
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_____ 
(j.1)  an individual who beneficially owns financial assets having an aggregate realizable value that, before 

taxes but net of any related liabilities, exceeds $5,000,000; (note: see definition of "financial assets" 
below and complete Exhibit 6) 

_____ 
(k)   an individual whose net income before taxes exceeded $200,000 in each of the two most recent    

calendar years or whose net income before taxes combined with that of a spouse exceeded  
$300,000 in each of the two most recent calendar years and who, in either case, reasonably  
expects to exceed that net income level in the current calendar year; (note: complete Exhibit 6) 

(Note: if individual accredit investors wish to purchase through wholly-owned holding companies or similar entities, such purchasing 
entities must qualify under section (t) below, which must be initialled.) 

_____ 
(l)   an individual who, either alone or with a spouse, has net assets of at least $5,000,000; (note:  

complete Exhibit 6 and note that your "net assets" are your total assets (including real  
estate) minus your total debt) 

_____ (m)   
a person, other than an individual or investment fund, that has net assets of at least $5,000,000 as  
shown on its most recently prepared financial statements 

_____ 

(n)   
an investment fund that distributes or has distributed its securities only to 

(i) a person that is or was an accredited investor at the time of the distribution, 
 (ii) a person that acquires or acquired securities in the circumstances referred to in 

sections 2.10 or 2.19 of National Instrument 45-106, or 
(iii) a person described in paragraph (i) or (ii) that acquires or acquired securities 

under section 2.18 of National Instrument 45-106, 

_____ (o)   
an investment fund that distributes or has distributed securities under a prospectus in a jurisdiction 
of Canada for which the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority, has issued a 
receipt; 

_____ 
(p)   

a trust company or trust corporation registered or authorized to carry on business under the Trust      
and Loan Companies Act (Canada) or under comparable legislation in a jurisdiction of Canada   
or a foreign jurisdiction, acting on behalf of a fully managed account managed by the trust  
company or trust corporation, as the case may be; 

_____ (q)   
a person acting on behalf of a fully managed account managed by that person, if that person is  
registered or authorized to carry on business as an adviser or the equivalent under the securities  
legislation of a jurisdiction of Canada or a foreign jurisdiction; 

_____ (r)   
a registered charity under the Income Tax Act (Canada) that, in regard to the trade, has obtained  
advice from an eligibility adviser or an adviser registered under the securities legislation of the  
jurisdiction of the registered charity to give advice on the securities being traded; 

_____ (s)   
an entity organized in a foreign jurisdiction that is analogous to any of the entities referred to in  
paragraphs (a) to (d) or paragraph (i) in form and function; 

_____ (t)   
a person in respect of which all of the owners of interests, direct, indirect or beneficial, except the 
voting securities required by law to be owned by directors, are persons that are accredited investors; 

Note: If you initialled (t), then indicate the name and category of accredit investor (by reference to the applicable letter above) of each of 
the owners of interests (attach additional pages if more than three): 

  
 

 

Name 
 

Category of Accredited Investor 

  ____________________________________ ____________________________________ 

  ____________________________________ ____________________________________ 

  ____________________________________ ____________________________________ 
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_____ (u)   
an investment fund that is advised by a person registered as an adviser or a person that is 
exempt from registration as an adviser; 

_____ (v)   
a person that is recognized or designated by the securities regulatory authority or, except in  
Ontario and Québec, the regulator as an accredited investor; or 

_____ 
(w)   

a trust established by an accredited investor for the benefit of the accredited investor's family  
members of which a majority of the trustees are accredited investors and all of the  
beneficiaries are the accredited investor's spouse, a former spouse of the accredited investor or  
a parent, grandparent, brother, sister, child or grandchild of that accredited investor, of that  
accredited investor's spouse or of that accredited investor's former spouse. 

Note: If you initialled (w), then indicate the name and category of accredited investor (by reference to the applicable letter above) of 
each of the following (attach additional pages if more than three trustees): 

 

  Name Category of Accredited Investor 

 Individual who 
established trust: ________________________________ ________________________________ 

 Trustee ________________________________ ________________________________ 

 Trustee ________________________________ ________________________________ 

 Trustee ________________________________ ________________________________ 

For the purposes hereof: 

1. “affiliate” means an issuer connected with another issuer because 

i. one of them is the subsidiary of the other; 

ii. each of them is controlled by the same person; or 

iii. for the purposes of Saskatchewan securities law, both are subsidiaries of the same issuer; 

2. “bank” means a bank named in Schedule 1 or II of the Bank Act (Canada);  

3. “Canadian financial institution” means 

i. an association governed by the Cooperative Credit Associations Act (Canada) or a central cooperative 
credit society for which an order has been made under section 473(1) of that Act, or 

ii. a bank, loan corporation, trust company, trust corporation, insurance company, treasury branch, credit 
union, caisse populaire, financial services cooperative, or league that, in each case, is authorized by an 
enactment of Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada to carry on business in Canada or a jurisdiction of 
Canada; 

4. “consultant” means, for an issuer, a person, other than an employee, executive officer, or director of the issuer or 
of a related entity of the issuer, that 

i. is engaged to provide services to the issuer or a related entity of the issuer, other than services provided 
in relation to a distribution; 

ii. provides the services under a written contract with the issuer or a related entity of the issuer; and 

iii. spends or will spend a significant amount of time and attention on the affairs and business of the issuer 
or a related entity of the issuer and includes, for an individual consultant, a corporation of which the 
individual consultant is an employee or shareholder, and a partnership of which the individual consultant 
is an employee or partner; 
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5. “control person” has the same meaning as in securities legislation except in Manitoba, Newfoundland and 
Labrador, Northwest Territories, Nova Scotia, Nunavut, Ontario, Prince Edward Island and Québec where control 
person means any person that holds or is one of a combination of persons that holds 

i. a sufficient number of any of the securities of an issuer so as to affect materially the control of the issuer, 
or 

ii. more than 20% of the outstanding voting securities of an issuer except where there is evidence showing 
that the holding of those securities does not affect materially the control of the issuer; 

6. “director” means: 

i. a member of the board of directors of a company or an individual who performs similar functions for a 
company, and 

ii. with respect to a person that is not a company, an individual who performs functions similar to those of 
a director of a company; 

7. “eligibility adviser” means 

i. a person that is registered as an investment dealer or in an equivalent category of registration under the 
securities legislation of the jurisdiction of a purchaser and authorized to give advice with respect to the 
type of security being distributed, and 

ii. in Saskatchewan and Manitoba, also means a lawyer who is a practicing member in good standing with 
a law society of a jurisdiction of Canada or a public accountant who is a member in good standing of an 
institute or association of chartered accountants, certified general accountants or certified management 
accountants in a jurisdiction of Canada provided that the lawyer or public accountant must not 

A. have a professional, business or personal relationship with the issuer, or any of its directors, 
executive officer, founders, or control persons, and 

B. have acted for or been retained personally or otherwise as an employee, executive officer, 
director, associate or partner of a person that has acted for or been retained by the issuer or any 
of its directors, executive officers, founders or control persons within the previous 12 months; 

8.  “executive officer” means, for an issuer, an individual who is 

i. a chair, vice-chair or president, 

ii. a vice-president in charge of a principal business unit, division or function including sales, finance or 
production, or 

iii. performing a policy-making function in respect of the issuer;  

9. “financial assets” means 

i. cash, 

ii. securities, or 

iii. a contract of insurance, a deposit or an evidence of a deposit that is not a security for the purposes of 
securities legislation; 

10.  “financial institution” described in section 73.1(1) of the Securities Act (Ontario) means: 

i. a bank listed in Schedule I, II or III to the Bank Act (Canada); 
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ii. an association to which the Cooperative Credit Associations Act (Canada) applies or a central 
cooperative credit society for which an order has been made under subsection 473(1) of that Act; or 

iii. a loan corporation, trust company, trust corporation, insurance company, treasury branch, credit union, a 
caisse populaire, financial services cooperative or credit union league or federation that is authorized by 
a status of Canada or Ontario to carry o business in Canada or Ontario, as the case may be; 

11. “founder” means, in respect of an issuer, a person who, 

i. acting alone, in conjunction, or in concert with one or more persons, directly or indirectly, takes the 
initiative in founding, organizing or substantially reorganizing the business of the issuer, and 

ii. at the time of the trade is actively involved in the business of the issuer; 

12.  “foreign jurisdiction” means a country other than Canada or a political subdivision of a country other than 
Canada; 

13.  “fully managed account” means an account of a client for which a person makes the investment decisions if that 
person has full discretion to trade in securities for the account without requiring the client’s express consent to a 
transaction; 

14. “investment fund” means a mutual fund or a non-redeemable investment fund; 

15. “jurisdiction” means a province or territory of Canada except when used in the term foreign jurisdiction;  

16. “local jurisdiction” means the jurisdiction in which the Canadian securities regulatory authority is situate; 

17. “net assets” means the Investor’s total assets minus all of the Investor’s total liabilities. Accordingly, for the 
purposes of the net asset test, the calculation of total assets would include the value of an Investor’s personal 
residence and the calculation of total liabilities would include the amount of any liability (such as a mortgage) in 
respect of the Investor’s personal residence; 

18. “non-redeemable investment fund” means an issuer, 

i. whose primary purpose is to invest money provided by its securityholders, 

ii. that does not invest, 

A. for the purpose of exercising or seeking to exercise control of an issuer, other than an issuer that 
is a mutual fund or a non-redeemable investment fund, or 

B. for the purpose of being actively involved in the management of any issuer in which it invests, 
other than an issuer that is a mutual fund or a non-redeemable investment fund, and 

iii. that is not a mutual fund;  

19. “person” includes 

i. an individual, 

ii. a corporation, 

iii. a partnership, trust, fund and an association, syndicate, organization or other organized groups of 
persons, whether incorporated or not, and 

iv. an individual or other person in that person’s capacity as a trustee, executor, administrator or personal or 
other legal representative; 
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20. “regulator” means, for the local jurisdiction, the Executive Director as defined under securities legislation of the 
local jurisdiction; 

21. “related liabilities” means 

i. liabilities incurred or assumed for the purpose of financing the acquisition or ownership of financial 
assets, or 

ii. liabilities that are secured by financial assets; 

22. “Schedule III bank” means an authorized foreign bank named in Schedule III of the Bank Act (Canada);  

23. “spouse” means, an individual who, 

i. is married to another individual and is not living separate and apart within the meaning of the Divorce 
Act (Canada), from the other individual, 

ii. is living with another individual in a marriage-like relationship, including a marriage-like relationship 
between individuals of the same gender, or 

iii. in Alberta, is an individual referred to in paragraph (i) or (ii) above, or is an adult interdependent partner 
within the meaning of the Adult Interdependent Relationships Act (Alberta); and 

24. “subsidiary” means an issuer that is controlled directly or indirectly by another issuer and includes a subsidiary 
of that subsidiary. 

All monetary references are in Canadian Dollars. 
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EXHIBIT 6 
 

FORM 45-106F9  
FORM FOR INDIVIDUAL ACCREDITED INVESTORS 

 
To be completed by individuals investing under categories (j), (k) or (l) of the definition of "accredited investor" in National 
Instrument 45-106 – Prospectus Exemptions or Section 73.3 of the Securities Act (Ontario), which are reproduced in 
Appendix "A" to Exhibit 5 as paragraphs (j), (k) or (l) as applicable. Note that individuals investing under category (j.1) of 
the definition of "accredited investor" in National Instrument 45-106 – Prospectus Exemptions or Section 73.3 of the 
Securities Act (Ontario) do not need to complete this form.  
 

 
 

 
 

SECTION 1 TO BE COMPLETED BY THE ISSUER  

1. About your investment 

Type of securities: Trust Units  
                               LP Units   

Issuer: WestStone (Innovation) Trust 
            WestStone (Innovation) Limited Partnership  

Purchased from:  
 

SECTIONS 2 TO 4 TO BE COMPLETED BY THE PURCHASER 

2. Risk acknowledgement [Instruction: initial all boxes in Section 2] 

 
This investment is risky. Initial that you understand that: 

Your 
initials 

Risk of loss – You could lose your entire investment of $___________  [Instruction: Insert the total dollar 
amount of the investment.] 

 

Liquidity risk – You may not be able to sell your investment quickly – or at all.    

Lack of information – You may receive little or no information about your investment.   

Lack of advice – You will not receive advice from the salesperson about whether this investment is suitable 
for you unless the salesperson is registered. The salesperson is the person who meets with, or provides 
information to, you about making this investment. To check whether the salesperson is registered, go to 
www.aretheyregistered.ca.  

 

3. Accredited investor status [Instruction: initial one or more boxes that apply] 

You must meet at least one of the following criteria to be able to make this investment. Initial the statement 
that applies to you. (You may initial more than one statement.) The person identified in section 6 is 
responsible for ensuring that you meet the definition of accredited investor. That person, or the salesperson 
identified in section 5, can help you if you have questions about whether you meet these criteria.  

Your 
initials 

• Your net income before taxes was more than $200,000 in each of the 2 most recent calendar years, and you 
expect it to be more than $200,000 in the current calendar year. (You can find your net income before 
taxes on your personal income tax return.) 

 

• Your net income before taxes combined with your spouse’s was more than $300,000 in each of the 2 most 
recent calendar years, and you expect your combined net income before taxes to be more than $300,000 in 
the current calendar year. 

 

WARNING! 
This investment is risky. Don’t invest unless you can afford to lose all the money you pay for this 

investment 

http://www.aretheyregistered.ca/
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• Either alone or with your spouse, you own more than $1 million in cash and securities, after subtracting 
any debt related to the cash and securities. 

 

• Either alone or with your spouse, you have net assets worth more than $5 million. (Your net assets are your 
total assets (including real estate) minus your total debt.) 

 

4. Your name and signature 

By signing this form, you confirm that you have read this form and you understand the risks of making this investment as 
identified in this form.  

First and last name (please print): 

Signature:  Date: 

SECTION 5 TO BE COMPLETED BY THE SALESPERSON 

5. Salesperson information  

[Instruction: The salesperson is the person who meets with, or provides information to, the purchaser with respect to 
making this investment. That could include a representative of the issuer or selling security holder, a registrant or a 
person who is exempt from the registration requirement.] 

First and last name of salesperson (please print): 

Telephone:  Email: 

Name of firm (if registered): 

SECTION 6 TO BE COMPLETED BY THE ISSUER OR SELLING SECURITY HOLDER 

6. For more information about this investment 

WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) LIMITED PARTNERSHIP and WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) TRUST 

c/o Boughton Law at Suite 700 – 595 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V7X 1S8 
Fax: 604-498-1959 
email: info@innovationbyweststone.com 

For more information about prospectus exemptions, contact your local securities regulator. You can find contact 
information at www.securities-administrators.ca. 
 

Form instructions: 

1. The information in sections 1, 5 and 6 must be completed before the purchaser completes and signs the form.   
 

2. The purchaser must sign this form. Each of the purchaser and the issuer must receive a copy of this form signed by the 
purchaser. The issuer is required to keep a copy of this form for 8 years after the distribution.  

 

 

http://www.securities-administrators.ca/
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EXHIBIT 7 
FAMILY, FRIENDS, AND BUSINESS ASSOCIATES 

In connection with the purchase of trust units of the Trust or limited partnership units of the Partnership (as applicable) 
(collectively, the “Offered Units”), the undersigned subscriber (the “Investor”) hereby represents, warrants, covenants and 
certifies to the Trust and Partnership (collectively, the “Issuers”) (and acknowledges that the Issuers and their counsel are 
entitled to rely thereon) that the Investor is a person described in the category indicated below: 

Note: All Ontario Investors must also complete Exhibit 8 and all Saskatchewan Investors relying on a “close personal 
friend” or “close business associate” relationship must also complete Exhibit 8. 

[INITIAL THE APPROPRIATE CATEGORY] 

      Initial    
 

  
(A) a "director", "executive officer" or "control person" (as such terms are defined in NI 

45-106 and reproduced in Exhibit 5 hereto) of the Issuers, or of an affiliate of the 
Issuers; or 

  (B) a spouse (as defined in Exhibit 5 here), parent, grandparent, brother, sister, child or 
grandchild of any person referred to in subclause (A) above; or 

  (C) a parent, grandparent, brother, sister, child or grandchild of the spouse of any person 
referred to in subclause (A) above; or 

  

(D) a “close personal friend” (within the meaning thereof as set out in the Companion 
Policy 45-106CP to NI 45-106) of any person referred to in subclause (A) above and 
has described and certifies to the Issuers, the details of that relationship in the 
questionnaire below and, if the Investor is resident in Saskatchewan or is otherwise 
subject to the applicable securities laws of Saskatchewan, it has completed Exhibit 8 
hereto; or 

  

(E) a “close business associate” (within the meaning thereof as set out in Companion 
Policy 45-106CP to NI 45-106) of any person referred to in subclause (A) above and 
has described and certifies to the Issuers, the details of that relationship in the 
questionnaire below and, if the Investor is resident in Saskatchewan or is otherwise 
subject to the applicable securities laws of Saskatchewan, it has completed Exhibit 8 
hereto; or 

  

(F) a founder (as such term is defined in NI 45-106 and reproduced in Exhibit 5 hereto) 
of the Issuers or a spouse, parent, grandparent, brother, sister, child, grandchild, close 
personal friend or close business associate of a founder of the Issuers and has 
described and certifies to the Issuers, the details of that relationship in the 
questionnaire below in this Exhibit 7 and, if the Investor is resident in Saskatchewan 
or is otherwise subject to applicable securities laws of Saskatchewan and is relying 
on a “close business associate” or “close personal friend” relationship, the Investor 
has completed Exhibit 8 hereto; or 

  (G) a parent, grandparent, brother, sister, child or grandchild of the spouse of a founder 
of the Issuers; or 

  

(H) a person or company of which a majority of the voting securities are beneficially 
owned by, or a majority of the directors are, persons referred to in subparagraphs (A) 
to (G) above and in the case of subparagraphs (D), (E) and (F), has described, and 
certifies to the Issuers, the details of that relationship in the questionnaire below and, 
if the Investor is resident in Saskatchewan or is otherwise subject to the applicable 
securities laws of Saskatchewan, it has completed Exhibit 8 hereto; or 

  

(I) a trust or estate of which all of the beneficiaries or a majority of the trustees are 
persons described in subparagraphs (A) to (G) above and in the case of 
subparagraphs (D) (E) and (F), has described, and certifies to the Issuers, the details 
of that relationship in the questionnaire below and, if the Investor is resident in 
Saskatchewan or is otherwise subject to the applicable securities laws of 
Saskatchewan, it has completed Exhibit 8 hereto. 
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Note: For the purposes of categories (D), (E), (F), (H) and (I) above, a person is not a “close personal friend” solely because the 
individual is a relative or a member of the same organization, association or religious group or because the individual is a client, 
customer or former client or customer, nor is an individual a close personal friend as a result of being a close personal friend of a close 
personal friend of one of the listed individuals above, rather the relationship must be direct. A close personal friend is one who knows the 
director, executive officer, founder or control person well enough and has known them for a sufficient period of time to be in a position to 
assess their capabilities and trustworthiness. 

Further, for the purposes of categories (D), (E), (F), (H) and (I) above, a person is not a “close business associate” if the person is a 
casual business associate or a person introduced or solicited for purposes of purchasing securities nor is the individual a close business 
associate solely because the individual is a client, customer, former client or customer, nor is the individual a close business associate if 
they are a close business associate of a close business associate of one of the listed individuals above, rather the relationship must be 
direct. A close business associate is an individual who had sufficient prior dealings with the director, executive officer, founder or 
control person to be in a position to assess their capabilities and trustworthiness. 

Questionnaire 

To be completed by Investors to whom section (D), (E), (F), (H) or (I) applies or by Investors who are relying on a “close 
personal friend” or “close business associate” relationship. 

______________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Name of director, trustee, executive officer, control person or founder of whom Investor is a close personal friend/close 
business associate 

______________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Length of relationship 

______________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Details of relationship or prior business dealings 

______________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
The undersigned understands that the Issuers are relying on this information in determining to sell securities to the 
undersigned in a manner exempt from the registration and prospectus requirements of applicable securities laws. 

Dated:____________________________________________________, 20___. 

   
 Print name of Investor 

 
 
By:   
 Signature 

 
 
   
 Print name of Signatory (if different from Investor) 

 
 
   
 Title 
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EXHIBIT 8 

RISK ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
CLOSE PERSONAL FRIENDS AND CLOSE BUSINESS ASSOCIATES 

The undersigned (the “Investor”), a resident of Saskatchewan, hereby represents and warrants, as an integral part of the 
attached subscription agreement, that he, she or it in all respects acknowledges and understands the following. 

FORM 45-106F5 
 

·I acknowledge that this is a risky investment: 

· I am investing entirely at my own risk. 

· No securities regulatory authority has evaluated or endorsed the merits of these securities.  

· I will not be able to sell these securities except in very limited circumstances. I may never be able to 
resell these securities. 

· I could lose all the money I invest. 

· I do not have a 2-day right to cancel my purchase of these securities or the statutory rights of action for 
misrepresentation I would have if I were purchasing the securities under a prospectus.  I do have a 2-
day right to cancel my purchase of these securities if I receive an amended offering document.  

I am investing $____________ [total consideration] in total; this includes any amount I am obliged to pay in 
future.  

I am a close personal friend or close business associate of ________________________ [state name], who 
is a ________________________ [state title - founder, director, executive officer or control person] of 
WestStone (Innovation) Trust or WestStone (Innovation) Limited Partnership. 

I acknowledge that I am purchasing based on my close relationship with ________________________ [state 
name of founder, director, executive officer or control person] whom I know well enough and for a 
sufficient period of time to be able to assess her/his capabilities and trustworthiness. 

I acknowledge that this is a risky investment and that I could lose all the money I invest. 

     
Date  Signature of Purchaser 

     
  Print name of Purchaser 

Sign 2 copies of this document.  Keep one copy for your records. 

 
  

W
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You are buying Exempt Market Securities. They are called exempt market securities because two parts of securities law 
do not apply to them. If an issuer wants to sell exempt market securities to you: 

• the issuer does not have to give you a prospectus (a document that describes the investment in detail and gives you 
some legal protections), and 

• the securities do not have to be sold by an investment dealer registered with a securities regulatory authority. 

There are restrictions on your ability to resell exempt market securities. Exempt market securities are more risky than other 
securities. 

You may not receive any written information about the issuer or its business. 

If you have questions about the issuer or its business, ask for written clarification before you purchase the securities. You 
should consult your own professional advisers before investing in the securities. 

The issuer of your securities is a non-reporting issuer. 

A non-reporting issuer does not have to publish financial information or notify the public of changes in its business. You 
may not receive ongoing information about this issuer. You can only sell the securities of a non-reporting issuer in very 
limited circumstances. You may never be able to sell these securities. 

The securities you are buying are not listed. 

The securities you are buying are not listed on any stock exchange, and they may never be listed. There may be no market 
for these securities. You may never be able to sell these securities. 

For more information on the exempt market, refer to the Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission’s website at 
http://www.sfsc.gov.sk.ca. 
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EXHIBIT 9 
FORM 45-106F12 

RISK ACKNOWLEDGEMENT FOR ONTARIO FAMILY, FRIENDS AND BUSINESS ASSOCIATES 

WARNING! 
This investment is risky. Don't invest unless you can afford to lose all the money you pay for this investment 

SECTION 1 TO BE COMPLETED BY THE ISSUER  

1. About your investment 

Type of securities: Trust Units    
                               LP Units       

Issuer: WestStone (Innovation) Trust 
            WestStone (Innovation) Limited Partnership  

Purchased from:  

SECTIONS 2 TO 4 TO BE COMPLETED BY THE PURCHASER 

2. Risk acknowledgement [Instruction: initial all boxes in Section 2] 

 
This investment is risky. Initial that you understand that: 

Your 
initials 

Risk of loss – You could lose your entire investment of $___________ . [Instruction: Insert the total dollar 
amount of the investment.] 

 

Liquidity risk – You may not be able to sell your investment quickly – or at all.    

Lack of information – You may receive little or no information about your investment.   

Lack of advice – You will not receive advice from the salesperson about whether this investment is suitable 
for you unless the salesperson is registered. The salesperson is the person who meets with, or provides 
information to, you about making this investment. To check whether the salesperson is registered, go to 
www.aretheyregistered.ca.  

 

3. Family, friend or business associate status [Instruction: initial one or more boxes that apply] 

You must meet at least one of the4 following criteria to be able to make this investment. Check and initial the 
statement that applies to you. 

Your 
initials 

A) You are: 
1. [check all applicable boxes] 

 a director of the issuer or an affiliate of the issuer 
 an executive officer of the issuer or an affiliate of the issuer 
 a control person of the issuer or an affiliate of the issuer 
 a founder of the issuer 

OR 
2. [check all applicable boxes] 

 a person of which a majority of the voting securities are beneficially owned by, or a majority of the 
directors are, (i) individuals listed in (1) above and/or (ii) family members, close personal friends or close 
business associates of individuals listed in (1) above 

a trust or estate of which all of the beneficiaries or a majority of the trustees or executors are (i) individuals 
listed in (1) above and/or (ii) family members, close personal friends or close business associates of 
individuals listed in (1) above 

 

B) You are a family member of_________________________ [Instruction: Insert the name of the person who 
is your relative either directly or through his or her spouse], who holds the following position at the issuers or 
an affiliate of the issuers:_____________________________. 
You are the _______________________________of that person's spouse. 

 

http://www.aretheyregistered.ca/
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[Instruction: To qualify for this investment, the person listed above must be (a) your spouse or (b) your or 
your spouse's parent, grandparent, brother, sister, child or grandchild.] 

C) You are a close personal friend of________________________[Instruction: Insert the name of your close 
personal friend], who holds the following position at the issuers or an affiliate of the 
issuers:_____________________________. 
You have known this person for _______years. 

 

D) You are a close business associate of________________________[Instruction: Insert the name of your 
close business associate], who holds the following position at the issuers or an affiliate of the 
issuers:_____________________________. 
You have known this person for _______years. 

 

4. Your name and signature 

By signing this form, you confirm that you have read this form and you understand the risks of making this investment as 
identified in this form. You also confirm that you are eligible to make this investment because you are a family member, 
close personal friend or close business associate of the person identified of section 5 of this form 

First and last name (please print): 

Signature:  Date: 

SECTION 5 TO BE COMPLETED BY A PERSON WHO CLAIMS THE CLOSE PERSONAL 
RELATIONSHIP, IF APPLICABLE 

5. Contact person at the issuers or an affiliate of the issuers 

[Instruction: To be completed by the director, executive officer, control person or founder with whom the purchaser has 
a close personal relationship indicated under Sections 3B, C or D of this form.] 

By signing this form, you confirm that you have, or your spouse has, the following relationship with the purchaser: 
[check the box that applies] 

family relationship as set out in section 3B of this form 
close personal relationship as set out in section 3C of this form 
close business associate relationship as set out in section 3D of this form 

First and last name of contact person (please print): 

Position with the issuers or affiliate of the issuers (director, executive officer, control person or founder): 
 

Telephone:  Email: 

Signature:  Date:  

SECTION 6 TO BE COMPLETED BY THE ISSUER  

6. For more information about this investment 

WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) LIMITED PARTNERSHIP and WESTSTONE (INNOVATION) TRUST 

c/o Boughton Law at Suite 700 – 595 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V7X 1S8 
Fax: 604-498-1959 
email: info@innovationbyweststone.com 

For more information about prospectus exemptions, contact your local securities regulator. You can find contact 
information at www.securities-administrators.ca. 

Signature of executive officer of the issuer (other than the purchaser): Date:  

http://www.securities-administrators.ca/
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Form instructions: 

1. The information in sections 1, 5 and 6 must be completed before the purchaser completes and signs the form. 

2. The purchaser, an executive officer who is not the purchaser and, if applicable, the person who claims the close 
personal relationship to the purchaser must sign this form. Each of the purchaser, contact person at the issuer and the 
issuer must receive a copy of this form signed by the purchaser. The issuer is required to keep a copy of this form for 8 
years after the distribution. 

3. The detailed relationships required to purchase securities under this exemption are set out in section 2.5 of National 
Instrument 45-106 Prospectus Exemptions. For guidance on the meaning of “close personal friend” and “close 
business associate”, please refer to sections 2.7 and 2.8, respectively, of Companion Policy 45-106CP Prospectus 
Exemptions
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EXHIBIT 10 

ACCREDITED / ELIGIBLE INVESTOR SUPPORTING CHECKLIST 
 

To be completed by the person meeting with or providing information to the investor (the "Salesperson") that is subscribing 
for securities as an "accredited investor" or "eligible investor". The issuer is required to keep a copy of this form and any 
supporting documentation (if any was received) for 8 years after the distribution.  
 

1. Investor Information 

Name of Investor: Issuer: WestStone (Innovation) Trust 
            WestStone (Innovation) Limited Partnership  

Name of Representative of Investor (for non-individual investors) 
 

Security: Trust Units   
                LP Units  

2. Salesperson Information  

Print first and last name of Salesperson: 

Date:  

3. Support for Accredited Investor / Eligible Investor Status 

(a): Describe how the investor was identified or located: 

(b): How long have you known the investor? 

(c): Describe the details of your relationship with the investor or prior business dealings:  

(d) Indicate the category or categories of "accredited investor" or "eligible investor" that the 
investor certified apply to the investor in the investor's subscription agreement in the box on 
the right:  

Note: If the category of “accredited investor” is based on a financial threshold, then you must ask the 
investor whether the investor has “net income before taxes”, “net assets” or “financial assets” (as 
applicable) that exceed the applicable threshold and you must explain that: 

“financial assets” are cash and securities, after subtracting any debt related to the cash and 
securities.  
“net assets” are total assets (including real estate) minus the investor’s total debt; and 
“net income before taxes” is available on the investor’s tax returns.  

 
 

___________ 
Investor Category 

 
Note: indicate the 

paragraph(s) indicated on 
Appendix A to Exhibits 5 or 

6 of the investor's 
Subscription Agreement 

(e) Did the investor appear to understand the category or categories of “accredited investor” or 
“eligible investor” that the investor certified apply to the investor, including, if applicable, the 
definition of “net income”, “financial assets” or “net assets”? 
 
Note: You must ask the investor questions regarding the investor’s net income before taxes, net assets 
and/or financial assets (as applicable) to determine that the investor meets or exceeds the financial 
threshold in the applicable category of accredited investor or eligible investor.  

 
             

Yes          No 
 
Note: If "no" then complete 

part (f) 

(f)  Do the investor’s initial responses to the questions asked in part (e) seem reasonable, 
including whether the investor meets the category of “accredited investor” or “eligible 
investor” that the investor certified on the subscription agreement? 
 
Note: If “no” you must make further inquiries regarding the investor’s financial circumstances and if the 
response to this part (f) remains “no” then you must complete part (g) to proceed with the subscription.
  

 
             

Yes          No 
 
Note: If "no" then complete 

part (g) 

(g) If the response to the question in part (f) is “no” then you must ask the investor to show you supporting 
documentation to support the investor’s status as an “accredited investor” or “eligible investor” and you must describe 
the supporting documentation below: 
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BOUGHTON LAW CORPORATION 

WIRE TRANSFER INSTRUCTIONS 
(Canadian Dollar Trust Account) 

 

Bank Name: Bank of Montreal 
 595 Burrard Street 
 Vancouver, B.C. 
 Canada, V7X 1L7 
 Tel: +1-877-262-5907 

Account Name: Boughton Law Corporation 
 700 – 595 Burrard Street 
 Vancouver, B.C. 
 Canada, V7X 1S8 

Swift Code: BOFMCAM2 

Institution Number: 001 

Branch/Transit No.: 00040 

Account No.: 00041199562 

Reference: Attn: Sean O'Neill; Re Weststone - File #86897.6 
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	Amendments.
	The Partnership Agreement may be amended by the General Partner, without prior notice to or consent of any Limited Partner, in order to reflect the admission, resignation, withdrawal or other change of any Partner or the transfer or assignment of a LP...
	Accounting and Reporting.

	4.3 Earn-In Agreement
	4.4 Co-Ownership Agreement
	4.5 Pre-Development Agreement
	4.6 Funding Agreement

	ITEM 5 - InTERESTs of DIRECTORS, MANAGEMENT, PROMOTERS AND PRINCIPAL HOLDERS
	5.1 Compensation and Securities Held
	5.2 Management Experience
	5.3 Penalties, Sanctions and Bankruptcy
	5.4 Loans

	ITEM 6 - CAPITAL STRUCTURE
	6.1 Capital of the Issuers
	6.2 Long Term Debt Securities
	6.3 Prior Sales

	ITEM 7 - securities offered
	7.1 Terms of Trust Units
	7.2 Terms of LP Units
	Non-Transferability and Right of First Refusal..
	Except as provided in the Partnership Agreement or as may be consented to in writing by the General partner in its sole discretion, a Partner will not transfer, assign, pledge, encumber or dispose of its LP Units. No Partner may sell, transfer or disp...

	7.3 Subscription Procedure

	ITEM 8 – INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES AND RRSP ELIGIBILITY
	8.1 Income Tax Consequences Relating to the Trust
	8.2 Eligibility for Investment in Trust Units by Deferred Plans
	8.3 Income Tax Consequences Relating to the Partnership
	8.4 LP Units are Not Eligible for Deferred Plans

	ITEM 9 - COMPENSATION PAID TO SELLERS AND FINDERS
	ITEM 10 - RISK FACTORS
	ITEM 11 - reporting obligations
	ITEM 12 - resale restrictions
	12.1 General
	12.2 Restricted Period
	12.3 Manitoba Resale Restrictions

	ITEM 13 - PURCHASERS’ RIGHTS
	13.1 Two Day Cancellation Right
	13.2 Statutory Rights of Action in the Event of a Misrepresentation
	13.3 Rights of Purchasers in Alberta
	(a) the Issuers to cancel your agreement to buy these securities, or
	(b) for damages against the Issuers, every person who was a director or acting in a similar capacity of the Issuers at the date of this Offering Memorandum and every other person who signed this Offering Memorandum.

	13.4 Rights of Purchasers in British Columbia
	(a) the Issuers to cancel your agreement to buy these securities, or
	(b) for damages against the Issuers, every person who was a director or acting in a similar capacity of the Issuers at the date of this Offering Memorandum and every other person who signed this Offering Memorandum.
	This statutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the misrepresentation. However, there are various defences available to the persons or companies that you have a right to sue. In particular, they have a defence if you knew ...
	If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict time limitations. You must commence your action to cancel the agreement within 180 days after the date that you purchased the securities. You must commence...

	13.5 Rights of Purchasers in Saskatchewan
	(a) the Issuers to cancel your agreement to buy these securities, or
	(b) for damages against the Issuers, every promoter of the Issuers, every person who was a director or acting in a similar capacity of the Issuers at the date of this Offering Memorandum, every person whose consent has been filed respecting the offeri...
	This statutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the misrepresentation. However, there are various defences available to the persons or companies that you have a right to sue. In particular, they have a defence if you knew ...
	If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict time limitations. You must commence your action to cancel the agreement within 180 days after the date that you purchased the securities. You must commence...

	13.6 Rights of Purchasers in Manitoba
	(a) the Issuers to rescind your agreement to buy these securities, or
	(b) for damages against the Issuers, every person who was a director or acting in a similar capacity of the Issuers at the date of this Offering Memorandum and every other person who signed this Offering Memorandum.
	This statutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the misrepresentation. However, there are various defences available to the persons or companies that you have a right to sue. In particular, they have a defence if you knew ...
	If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict time limitations. You must commence your action to rescind the agreement within 180 days after the date that you purchased the securities. You must commenc...

	13.7 Rights of Purchasers in Ontario
	(a) the purchaser has a right of action for damages against the Issuers, or
	(b) where the purchaser purchased the securities from a person or the Issuers referred to in clause (a), the purchaser may elect to exercise a right of rescission against the person or the Issuers, in which case the purchaser has no right of action fo...

	13.8 Rights of Purchasers in Quebec
	(a) the investor purchased the Trust Units with knowledge of the misrepresentation; or
	(b) in an action for damages, that they acted prudently and diligently (except in an action brought against the Issuers).
	No action may be commenced to enforce such a right of action:
	(a) for rescission or revision of price more than three years after the date of the purchase; or
	(b) for damages later than the earlier of:
	(i) three years after the purchaser first had knowledge of the facts giving rise to the cause of action, except on proof of tardy knowledge imputable to the negligence of the purchaser; or
	(ii) five years from the filing of this Offering Memorandum with the Autorité des marches financiers de Québec.

	13.9 Rights of Purchasers in Nova Scotia
	(a) the Issuers to cancel your agreement to buy these securities, or
	(b) for damages against the Issuers, every person who was a director or acting in a similar capacity of the Issuers at the date of this Offering Memorandum and every other person who signed this Offering Memorandum.
	This statutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the misrepresentation. However, there are various defences available to the persons or companies that you have a right to sue. In particular, they have a defence if you knew ...
	If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict time limitations. You must commence your action to cancel the agreement within 180 days after the date that you purchased the securities. You must commence...

	13.10 Rights of Purchasers in New Brunswick
	(a) the Issuers to cancel your agreement to buy these securities, or
	(b) for damages against the Issuers or the seller.
	If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict time limitations. You must commence your action to cancel the agreement within 180 days after the date that you purchased the securities. You must commence...

	13.11 Rights of Purchasers in Newfoundland and Labrador, Nunavut or Prince Edward Island
	(a) the Issuers to rescind your agreement to buy these securities, or
	(b) for damages against the Issuers, every person who was a director or acting in a similar capacity of the Issuers at the date of this Offering Memorandum and every other person who signed this Offering Memorandum.
	This statutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the misrepresentation. However, there are various defences available to the persons or companies that you have a right to sue. In particular, they have a defence if you knew ...
	If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict time limitations. You must commence your action to cancel the agreement within 180 days after the date that you purchased the securities. You must commence...


	ITEM 14 – FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
	ITEM 15 – DATE AND CERTIFICATE
	SCHEDULE A – SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT
	Subscription Agreement.pdf
	(a) Exhibit 1 and 2 - All Investors subscribing under the “offering memorandum exemption”.
	(b) Exhibit 3 - Investors subscribing under the “offering memorandum exemption” that are resident in Alberta, Saskatchewan, Manitoba, Ontario, Northwest Territories, Nunavut, Yukon or Prince Edward Island whose acquisition cost exceeds $10,000.
	i. Note: Investors using the relationship of “close business associate” or “close personal friend” to establish that they are “eligible investors” must also complete Exhibit 7 and if the Investor is resident in Saskatchewan, then they must also comple...
	ii. Note: Investors using the status of “accredited investor” to establish that they are “eligible investors” must also complete all applicable accredited-investor Exhibits, which are Exhibit 5 and Exhibit 6.
	iii. Note: If the Investor is subscribing for securities as an “eligible investor” or “accredited investor” then the person meeting with or providing information to the Investor must complete Exhibit 10 in respect of such investor.
	(c) Exhibit 4 – Investors subscribing under the “offering memorandum” exemption that are resident in Ontario and must complete both Schedules 1 and 2 of Exhibit 4 and meet the investment limits specified therein, AND if the Ontario Investor is relying...
	(d) Exhibit 5 – All Investors subscribing under the “accredited investor exemption”.
	(e) Exhibit 6 – All Investors subscribing under the “accredited investor exemption” who are individuals, (unless investing under category J.1 of “accredited investor” in which case Exhibit 6 is not required).
	(f) Exhibit 7 - All Investors subscribing under the “family, friends and business associates” exemption, and if the Investor is a “close personal friend” or “close business associate” then the questionnaire in Exhibit 7 must be completed.
	(g) Exhibit 8 – all Saskatchewan Investors that are relying on a “close personal friend” or “close business associate” relationship.
	(h) Exhibit 9 – all Ontario Investors that are relying on the “family, friends and business associates” exemption.
	i. Note: Exhibit 9 must be signed by all of the following:(i) the Investor; (ii) an executive officer of the Issuers other than the Investor; (iii) if the Investor is a person referred to under category B on Exhibit 9, the director, executive officer ...
	(i) Exhibit 10 - If the Investor is subscribing for securities as an “eligible investor” or “accredited investor” then the person meeting with or providing information to the Investor must complete Exhibit 10 in respect of such investor.
	Definitions
	1. In this Subscription Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires:
	(a) “Closing” means the completion of the issue and sale by the Trust or Partnership (as applicable) and the purchase by the subscribers of Offered Units pursuant to the subscription agreements, substantially in the form of this Subscription Agreement...
	(b) “Closing Date” means such date or dates as the Issuers may determine. The Investor acknowledges that multiple Closings may occur with multiple subscribers;
	(c) “Closing Time” means the closing time on the Closing Date as the Issuers may determine;
	(d) “insider” means:
	i. a director or officer of the Issuers;
	ii. a director or officer of a person or company that is itself an insider or subsidiary of the Issuers; or
	iii. a person that has: (A) beneficial ownership of, or control or direction over, directly or indirectly; or (B) a combination of beneficial ownership of and control or direction over, directly or indirectly, securities carrying more than 10% of the ...
	(e) “Offered Units” has the meaning ascribed thereto on the face page of this Subscription Agreement;
	(f) “Offering” has the meaning ascribed thereto in subparagraph 2(a) hereof; and
	(g) “registrant” means a person registered or required to be registered pursuant to the Securities Laws applicable to such person.


	Terms of the Offering
	2. The Investor acknowledges that:
	(a) this subscription is subject to rejection or allotment by the Issuers in whole or in part; and
	(b) the Offered Units subscribed for by it hereunder form part of a larger issuance and sale by the Issuers of Offered Units (the “Offering”); and
	(c) the Offering is not subject to any minimum subscription level, as such, any funds invested will be available to the Issuers and will be paid to the Issuers on the Closing Date and need not be refunded to the Investor; and
	(d) in the event that the Issuers reject the Subscription Agreement, the subscription proceeds will be promptly returned to the Investor at the address of the Investor set out on the face page hereof, without interest or deduction; and
	(e) it acknowledges that: (i) the Issuers are not “reporting issuers” (or equivalent thereof) under the securities laws of any province or territory of Canada; (ii) there is no assurance that the Issuers will become a reporting issuer under the securi...
	(f) by executing this Subscription Agreement, the Investor agrees that if the Investor transfers such Offered Units during any applicable hold periods, the Investor will advise such transferee of the resale restrictions applicable to such Offered Units.


	Representations, Warranties and Covenants by Investor
	3. The Investor (on its own behalf and, if applicable, on behalf of each person on whose behalf the Investor is contracting hereunder) represents, warrants and covenants to the Issuers and their counsel (and acknowledges that the Issuers and their cou...
	(a) Offering Memorandum Exemption: the Investor is a resident of a province or territory of Canada other than Quebec; and:
	i. the Investor has received, reviewed and understands the Issuers’ confidential offering memorandum dated February 2017, as updated, amended or restated from time to time prior to the date of this subscription (the “Offering Memorandum”) it has compl...
	ii. it has completed and signed two copies of the Risk Acknowledgement form attached as Exhibit 2; and
	iii. the Investor is resident in British Columbia, New Brunswick, Nova Scotia or Newfoundland and Labrador; or
	iv. the Investor is resident in Alberta, Saskatchewan, Manitoba, Northwest Territories, Nunavut, Yukon or Prince Edward Island and either:
	(A) the acquisition cost to the Investor does not exceed $10,000; or
	(B) the Investor is an “eligible investor” as such term is defined in National Instrument 45-106 - Prospectus Exemptions and it was not created or used solely to purchase or hold securities as an “eligible investor” in NI 45-106, and it has concurrent...

	v. the Investor is resident in Ontario and either:
	(A) the acquisition cost to the Investor does not exceed $10,000; or
	(B) the Investor is an “eligible investor” as such term is defined in National Instrument 45-106 - Prospectus Exemptions and it was not created or used solely to purchase or hold securities as an “eligible investor” in NI 45-106, and it has concurrent...

	(b) Accredited Investor Exemption: the Investor is a resident of Quebec or otherwise relying on the “accredited investor” exemption and it is an “accredited investor”, as such term is defined in NI 45-106 or section 73.3 of the Securities Act (Ontario...
	(c) Family, Friends and Business Associates Exemption: the Investor is a resident of or otherwise subject to all applicable securities laws of a Province or Territory of Canada and it meets and has initialled one or more of the categories on Exhibit 7...
	(d) No Undisclosed Beneficiaries and Jurisdiction:
	i. unless it is purchasing pursuant to subparagraph 3(e) hereof, it is purchasing the Offered Units as principal for its own account, not for the benefit of any other person, for investment only and not with a view to the resale or distribution of all...
	ii. the Investor does not act jointly or in concert with any other person or company for the purposes of acquiring securities of the Issuers; and
	(e) Exempt Status of Disclosed Beneficial Purchaser: subject to securities laws applicable to the Investor, if it is acting as agent for one or more Disclosed Beneficial Purchasers, each of such Disclosed Beneficial Purchasers is purchasing as princip...
	(f) Risk Acknowledgment: it (and any Disclosed Beneficial Purchaser for whom it is acting) acknowledges that:
	i. no securities commission or similar regulatory authority has reviewed or passed on the merits of the Offered Units; and
	ii. there is no government or other insurance covering the Offered Units; and
	iii. there are risks associated with the purchase of the Offered Units; and
	iv. there are restrictions on the Investor’s ability to resell the Offered Units and it is the responsibility of the Investor to find out what those restrictions are and to comply with them before selling such Offered Units; and
	v. the Issuers have advised the Investor that the Issuers are relying on an exemption from the requirements to provide the Investor with a prospectus and to sell securities through a person or company registered to sell securities under applicable sec...
	vi. the investment in the Issuers is a highly speculative investment and involves a high degree of risk of loss of the entire investment; and
	vii. there is no guarantee that any gain will be realised from its investment in the Issuers; and
	viii. without limitation, no representation, guarantee or warranty has been made or given to the Investor by the Issuers, their officers, agents or employees or any other person, expressly or by implication, as to:
	(A) the approximate or exact length of time that the Investor will be required to remain as an investor in the Issuers;
	(B) the financial viability of the business of the Issuers; or
	(C) the future profitability of the business of the Issuers; and

	ix. it confirms that neither the Issuers nor any of its directors, trustees, officers, employees or representatives, has made any representations (oral or written) to the Investor:
	(A) that any person will resell or repurchase any of the Offered Units;
	(B) that any person will refund the purchase price of the Offered Units; or
	(C) as to the future price or value of the Offered Units; and

	x. it has such knowledge of financial and business affairs as to be capable of evaluating the merits and risks of its investment and is able to bear the economic risk of loss of its investments; and
	xi. except for this Subscription Agreement and the Offering Memorandum, it has not relied upon any oral or written representation as to fact or otherwise made by or on behalf of the Issuers; and
	xii. the Issuers have not provided or purported to provide any or all of the information which may be required to evaluate and make an informed assessment of an investment in the Issuers and the Investor is responsible for making its own investigation...
	xiii. its offer to subscribe for Offered Units has not been induced by any representations with regard to the present or future worth of the Offered Units; and
	xiv. it, either alone or together with the Investor’s financial advisor, has sufficient financial knowledge and experience to evaluate the merit and risks of an investment in the Issuers on the basis of information presented to the Investor; and
	xv. it understands, acknowledges and is aware that the Offered Units are being offered for sale only on a “private placement” basis and that the sale and delivery of the Offered Units is conditional upon such sale being exempt from the requirements un...
	xvi. the Investor understands that no securities commission, stock exchange, governmental agency, regulatory body or similar authority has made any finding or determination or expressed any opinion with respect to the merits of investing in the Offere...
	xvii. it is capable of bearing the economic risks of an investment in the Offered Units and the Investor’s present financial condition is such that the Investor is under no present or contemplated future need to dispose of any of the Offered Units to ...
	(g) Restrictions on Resale:
	i. it has been independently advised as to restrictions with respect to trading in the Offered Units imposed by applicable securities laws in the jurisdiction in which it resides or is otherwise subject, confirms that no representation (written or ora...
	ii. the Investor is aware that there is no market upon which the Offered Units trade and there is no assurance that the Offered Units will be listed and posted for trading on a stock exchange or dealer network in the future; and
	iii. the Investor is aware it may be subject to certain escrow requirements of a stock exchange or applicable securities laws which restrict the trading in the Offered Units for directors, officers, insiders and their affiliates in the event that the ...
	iv. it will not resell the Offered Units, except in accordance with the provisions of applicable securities legislation, regulations, rules, policies and orders and applicable stock exchange rules; and
	(h) No connection to U.S.:
	i. it is aware that the Offered Units have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (“U.S. Securities Act”) or the securities laws of any state of the United States and that these securities may no...
	ii. the Offered Units have not been offered to the Investor in the United States, and the individuals making the order to purchase the Offered Units and executing and delivering this Subscription Agreement on behalf of the Investor were not in the Uni...
	iii. it is not a U.S. Person (as defined in Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act, which definition includes, but is not limited to, an individual resident in the United States, an estate or trust of which any executor or administrator or trustee...
	iv. it (and, if applicable, any Disclosed Beneficial Purchaser) undertakes and agrees that it will not offer or sell any of the Offered Units in the United States unless such securities are registered under the U.S. Securities Act and the securities l...
	(i) Existence of Investor & Authority to Subscribe:
	i. if it is a corporation, partnership, unincorporated association or other entity, it has been duly incorporated, formed or created and is valid and subsisting under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation, formation or creation and it has ...
	ii. if an individual, it is of the full age of majority and is legally competent to execute this Subscription Agreement and take all action pursuant hereto; and
	iii. this Subscription Agreement has been duly and validly authorized, executed and delivered by and constitutes a legal, valid, binding and enforceable obligation of the Investor; and
	iv. in the case of the subscription by it for Offered Units acting as agent for a Disclosed Beneficial Purchaser, it is duly authorized to execute and deliver this Subscription Agreement and all other necessary documentation in connection with such su...
	v. the entering into of this Subscription Agreement and the completion of the transactions contemplated hereby do not and will not result in a violation of any of the terms or provisions of any law applicable to the Offered Units, and if the Investor ...
	vi. no authorization, consent, order, approval or notice of any federal, provincial, territorial, municipal or foreign regulatory body or official must be obtained or given, and no waiting period must expire, in order that this Subscription Agreement ...
	vii. it acknowledges that the Issuers may complete additional financings in the future in order to develop the business of the Issuers and to fund its ongoing development; that there is no assurance that such financings will be available and, if avail...
	(j) Further Assurances: if required by applicable securities laws, regulations, rules, policies or orders or by any securities commission, stock exchange or other regulatory authority, the Investor will execute, deliver, file and otherwise assist the ...
	(k) Investor is not a Control Person: the acquisition of the Offered Units hereunder by the Investor will not result in the Investor becoming a “control person”, as defined under applicable securities laws; and
	(l) Independent Legal Advice:
	i. it acknowledges that the Issuers’ counsel is acting as counsel to the Issuers and not as counsel to the Investor; and
	ii. the Investor acknowledges that it has had the opportunity to obtain independent legal, income tax and investment advice with respect to its subscription for the Offered Units and accordingly, has had the opportunity to acquire an understanding of ...
	(m) Status under Tax Act: the Investor:
	i. is not a non-resident of Canada for purposes of the Income Tax Act (Canada), together with any and all regulations promulgated thereunder, as amended from time to time (the “Tax Act”); and
	ii. deals at arm’s length, within the meaning of the Tax Act, with the Partnership and will continue to deal at arm’s length with the Partnership at all material times; and
	iii. it is not a “tax shelter investment” within the meaning of the Tax Act; and
	iv. it has not financed its acquisition of Offered Units with a financing for which recourse is or is deemed to be limited within the meaning of the Tax Act and for the purposes hereof, limited recourse amount means the unpaid principal amount of any ...
	v. bona fide arrangements, evidenced in writing, are made at the time the debt arose for the repayment by the borrower of the principal and interest on the debt within a reasonable period of time, not greater than 10 years; and
	vi. the debt is not a part of a series of loans and repayments that ends more than 10 years after it begins; and
	vii. interest on the debt is payable at least annually, and is actually paid no later than 60 days after the end of the borrower’s taxation year, at a rate equal or greater than the lesser of:
	viii. the prescribed interest rate for purposes of the Tax Act in effect at the time when the debt arose; and
	ix. the prescribed interest rate for purposes of the Tax Act applicable from time to time during the term of the debt;
	x. will maintain the status set out in (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) above during such time as the Offered Units are held; and
	(n) Covenant of Investor Regarding No Market for Units: the Investor covenants and agrees not to take any actions or steps which are intended to or may result in there being any “public market” for the Units within the meaning of the Tax Act, includin...
	(o) Legitimate Source of Funds: the funds representing the Aggregate Subscription Price which will be advanced by the Investor to the Issuers hereunder will not represent proceeds of crime for the purposes of the Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) a...


	Closing
	4. The Investor agrees that this Subscription Agreement (including applicable Exhibits) and a personal cheque, certified cheque, bank draft, wire transfer, or electronic funds transfer payable to “Boughton Law Corporation, In Trust” or “WestStone (Inn...
	5. The Issuer may complete the Offering in one or more Closings. At the Closing Time, the Issuer will deliver, or cause to be delivered, according to the instructions set out under Delivery Instructions herein confirmation of the issuance of the Units...
	6. If the Investor delivers all or part of the aggregate subscription price to the Issuer, or to the Issuer’s legal counsel, Boughton Law Corporation, before Closing, such monies will be for all purposes a loan to the Issuer by the Investor, which loa...
	7. If this Subscription Agreement is rejected in whole or in part, the Investor acknowledges that the unused portion of the subscription amount will be promptly returned to it without interest or deduction.
	8. The sale of the Offered Units pursuant to this Subscription Agreement will be completed at the Closing

	Time and the Closing Date(s).
	9. The Trust shall be entitled to rely on delivery of a facsimile or electronically scanned (PDF) copy of executed Subscription Agreements, and acceptance by the Issuers of such facsimile or PDF subscriptions shall be legally effective to create a val...

	General
	10. The Investor agrees that the representations, warranties and covenants of the Investor herein will be true and correct both as of the execution of this Subscription Agreement and as of the Closing Time and will survive the completion of the issuan...
	11. The Investor hereby irrevocably authorizes the Issuers, in their sole discretion: (a) to act as its representative at the Closing and to execute in its name and on its behalf all closing receipts and documents required; (b) to complete or correct ...
	12. The Investor acknowledges that this Subscription Agreement and the Exhibits hereto require the Investor to provide certain personal information (the “Information”) to the Issuers. Such Information is being collected by the Issuers for the purposes...
	13. The Investor acknowledges that the Issuers will be required to file a report of exempt distribution with all applicable securities regulatory authorities in one or more jurisdictions containing personal information about the Investor including the...
	(a) the full name, residential address and telephone number of the Investor;
	(b) whether the Investor is an insider or a registrant (as defined in applicable securities legislation);
	(c) the number and type of securities purchased;
	(d) the total purchase price (in Canadian dollars);
	(e) the exemption relied on; and
	(f)  the date of distribution.

	14. Each Investor in Ontario authorizes the indirect collection of the Information by the Ontario Securities Commission and confirms that it has been notified by the Issuers:
	(a) that the Issuers will be delivering the Information to the Ontario Securities Commission;
	(b) that such Information is being collected indirectly by the Ontario Securities Commission under the authority granted to it in applicable securities laws;
	(c) that such Information is being collected for the purpose of the administration and enforcement of applicable securities laws; and
	(d)  that the title, business address and business telephone number of the public official in the Province of Ontario who can answer questions about the Ontario Securities Commissions indirect collection of such Information is as follows:

	15. If the Investor (or if applicable a Disclosed Beneficial Purchaser) is resident in or otherwise subject to the applicable securities laws of British Columbia, the Investor authorized the indirect collection of the Information by the British Columb...
	(a) the Issuers may deliver to the British Columbia Securities Commission the Information;
	(b) the Information is being collected indirectly by the British Columbia Securities Commission under the authority granted to it in securities legislation;
	(c) the Information is being collected for the purposes of the administration and enforcement of the securities legislation of British Columbia;
	(d) certain of the Information pertaining to the Investor will be available for public inspection at the British Columbia Securities Commission during normal business hours, including the Investor’s full name, whether the Investor is an insider of Tru...
	(e) the Investor may contact the following public official in British Columbia with respect to questions about the British Columbia Securities Commission’s indirect collection of such information at the following address and telephone number:

	16. The obligations of the parties hereunder are subject to acceptance of the terms of the Offering by any required regulatory approvals.
	17. The Investor acknowledges and agrees that all costs incurred by the Investor (including any fees and disbursements of any special counsel retained by the Investor) relating to the sale of the Offered Units to the Investor shall be borne by the Inv...
	18. The contract arising out of this Subscription Agreement and all documents relating thereto, which by common accord has been or will be drafted in English, shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Province of British Co...
	19. This Subscription Agreement represents the entire agreement of the parties hereto relating to the subject matter hereof and there are no representations, covenants or other agreements relating to the subject matter hereof except as stated or refer...
	20. The terms and provisions of this Subscription Agreement shall be binding upon and enure to the benefit of the Investor and the Issuers and their respective heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns; and this Subscription Agreement s...
	21. The Investor agrees that this subscription is made for valuable consideration and may not be withdrawn, cancelled, terminated or revoked by the Investor, on its own behalf and, if applicable, on behalf of others for whom it is contracting hereunder
	22. Subject to section 9, neither this Subscription Agreement nor any provision hereof shall be modified, changed, discharged or terminated except by an instrument in writing signed by the party against whom any waiver, change, discharge or terminatio...
	23. The invalidity, illegality or unenforceability of any provision of this Subscription Agreement shall not affect the validity, legality or enforceability of any other provision hereof.
	24. The headings used in this Subscription Agreement have been inserted for convenience of reference only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of this Subscription Agreement or any provision hereof.
	25. The covenants, representations and warranties contained herein shall survive the closing of the transactions contemplated hereby.
	26. Time is of the essence hereof.
	27. In this Subscription Agreement (including the Exhibits attached hereto), references to dollar amounts are to Canadian dollars.
	1. The Investor is purchasing the Offered Units as principal for its own account or complies with the provisions of paragraph 3(e) of the Subscription Agreement;
	2. The Investor is and will be at the Closing Time (as defined in the Subscription Agreement) an “eligible investor” within the meaning of National Instrument 45-106 - Prospectus Exemptions (“NI 45-106”) by virtue of satisfying the indicated criterion...
	3. The Investor fully understands the meaning of the terms and conditions of the category of “eligible investor” applicable to it and confirms that it has reviewed and understands the definitions in Appendix “A” to this Representation Letter in respec...
	4. The Investor was not created or used solely to purchase or hold securities as an eligible investor; and
	5. Upon execution of this Exhibit 3 by the Investor, this Exhibit 3 shall be incorporated into and form a part of the Subscription Agreement and the Issuers and their counsel shall be entitled to rely thereon.
	9. “eligibility adviser” means
	i. a person that is registered as an investment dealer or in an equivalent category of registration under the securities legislation of the jurisdiction of a purchaser and authorized to give advice with respect to the type of security being distribute...
	ii. in Saskatchewan and Manitoba, also means a lawyer who is a practicing member in good standing with a law society of a jurisdiction of Canada or a public accountant who is a member in good standing of an institute or association of chartered accoun...
	(A) have a professional, business or personal relationship with the issuer, or any of its directors, executive officer, founders, or control persons, and
	(B) have acted for or been retained personally or otherwise as an employee, executive officer, director, associate or partner of a person that has acted for or been retained by the issuer or any of its directors, executive officers, founders or contro...

	10. “net assets” means the Investor’s total assets minus all of the Investor’s total liabilities. Accordingly, for the purposes of the net asset test, the calculation of total assets would include the value of an Investor’s personal residence and the ...
	11. “person” includes
	i. an individual,
	ii. a corporation,
	iii. a partnership, trust, fund and an association, syndicate, organization or other organized groups of persons, whether incorporated or not, and
	iv. an individual or other person in that person’s capacity as a trustee, executor, administrator or personal or other legal representative;

	12. “spouse” means, an individual who,
	i. is married to another individual and is not living separate and apart within the meaning of the Divorce Act (Canada), from the other individual,
	ii. is living with another individual in a marriage-like relationship, including a marriage-like relationship between individuals of the same gender, or
	iii. in Alberta, is an individual referred to in paragraph (i) or (ii) above, or is an adult interdependent partner within the meaning of the Adult Interdependent Relationships Act (Alberta); and

	13. “subsidiary” means an issuer that is controlled directly or indirectly by another issuer and includes a subsidiary of that subsidiary.
	1. The Investor is purchasing the Offered Units as principal for its own account or complies with the provisions of paragraph 3(e) of the Subscription Agreement;
	The Investor is and will be at the Closing Time (as defined in the Subscription Agreement) an “accredited investor” within the meaning of National Instrument 45-106 - Prospectus Exemptions (“NI 45-106”) or Section 73.3 of the Securities Act (Ontario) ...
	The Investor fully understands the meaning of the terms and conditions of the category of “accredited investor” applicable to it and confirms that it has reviewed and understands the definitions in Appendix “A” to this Representation Letter in respect...
	The Investor was not created or used solely to purchase or hold securities as an accredited investor as described in paragraph (m) of the definition of “accredited investor” in NI 45-106 or Section 73.3 of the Securities Act (Ontario) (paragraph (m) o...
	If the Investor is an “accredited investor” by virtue of satisfying paragraph (j), (k) or (l) of Appendix “A” to this Representation Letter, it acknowledges that it needs to complete Exhibit 6 to the Subscription Agreement and upon execution of Exhibi...
	Upon execution of this Exhibit 5 by the Investor, this Exhibit 5 shall be incorporated into and form a part of the Subscription Agreement and the Issuers and their counsel shall be entitled to rely thereon.
	1. “affiliate” means an issuer connected with another issuer because
	i. one of them is the subsidiary of the other;
	ii. each of them is controlled by the same person; or
	iii. for the purposes of Saskatchewan securities law, both are subsidiaries of the same issuer;

	2. “bank” means a bank named in Schedule 1 or II of the Bank Act (Canada);
	3. “Canadian financial institution” means
	i. an association governed by the Cooperative Credit Associations Act (Canada) or a central cooperative credit society for which an order has been made under section 473(1) of that Act, or
	ii. a bank, loan corporation, trust company, trust corporation, insurance company, treasury branch, credit union, caisse populaire, financial services cooperative, or league that, in each case, is authorized by an enactment of Canada or a jurisdiction...

	4. “consultant” means, for an issuer, a person, other than an employee, executive officer, or director of the issuer or of a related entity of the issuer, that
	i. is engaged to provide services to the issuer or a related entity of the issuer, other than services provided in relation to a distribution;
	ii. provides the services under a written contract with the issuer or a related entity of the issuer; and
	iii. spends or will spend a significant amount of time and attention on the affairs and business of the issuer or a related entity of the issuer and includes, for an individual consultant, a corporation of which the individual consultant is an employe...

	5. “control person” has the same meaning as in securities legislation except in Manitoba, Newfoundland and Labrador, Northwest Territories, Nova Scotia, Nunavut, Ontario, Prince Edward Island and Québec where control person means any person that holds...
	i. a sufficient number of any of the securities of an issuer so as to affect materially the control of the issuer, or
	ii. more than 20% of the outstanding voting securities of an issuer except where there is evidence showing that the holding of those securities does not affect materially the control of the issuer;

	6. “director” means:
	i. a member of the board of directors of a company or an individual who performs similar functions for a company, and
	ii. with respect to a person that is not a company, an individual who performs functions similar to those of a director of a company;

	7. “eligibility adviser” means
	i. a person that is registered as an investment dealer or in an equivalent category of registration under the securities legislation of the jurisdiction of a purchaser and authorized to give advice with respect to the type of security being distribute...
	ii. in Saskatchewan and Manitoba, also means a lawyer who is a practicing member in good standing with a law society of a jurisdiction of Canada or a public accountant who is a member in good standing of an institute or association of chartered accoun...
	A. have a professional, business or personal relationship with the issuer, or any of its directors, executive officer, founders, or control persons, and
	B. have acted for or been retained personally or otherwise as an employee, executive officer, director, associate or partner of a person that has acted for or been retained by the issuer or any of its directors, executive officers, founders or control...


	8.  “executive officer” means, for an issuer, an individual who is
	i. a chair, vice-chair or president,
	ii. a vice-president in charge of a principal business unit, division or function including sales, finance or production, or
	iii. performing a policy-making function in respect of the issuer;

	9. “financial assets” means
	i. cash,
	ii. securities, or
	iii. a contract of insurance, a deposit or an evidence of a deposit that is not a security for the purposes of securities legislation;

	10.  “financial institution” described in section 73.1(1) of the Securities Act (Ontario) means:
	i. a bank listed in Schedule I, II or III to the Bank Act (Canada);
	ii. an association to which the Cooperative Credit Associations Act (Canada) applies or a central cooperative credit society for which an order has been made under subsection 473(1) of that Act; or
	iii. a loan corporation, trust company, trust corporation, insurance company, treasury branch, credit union, a caisse populaire, financial services cooperative or credit union league or federation that is authorized by a status of Canada or Ontario to...

	11. “founder” means, in respect of an issuer, a person who,
	i. acting alone, in conjunction, or in concert with one or more persons, directly or indirectly, takes the initiative in founding, organizing or substantially reorganizing the business of the issuer, and
	ii. at the time of the trade is actively involved in the business of the issuer;

	12.  “foreign jurisdiction” means a country other than Canada or a political subdivision of a country other than Canada;
	13.  “fully managed account” means an account of a client for which a person makes the investment decisions if that person has full discretion to trade in securities for the account without requiring the client’s express consent to a transaction;
	14. “investment fund” means a mutual fund or a non-redeemable investment fund;
	15. “jurisdiction” means a province or territory of Canada except when used in the term foreign jurisdiction;
	16. “local jurisdiction” means the jurisdiction in which the Canadian securities regulatory authority is situate;
	17. “net assets” means the Investor’s total assets minus all of the Investor’s total liabilities. Accordingly, for the purposes of the net asset test, the calculation of total assets would include the value of an Investor’s personal residence and the ...
	18. “non-redeemable investment fund” means an issuer,
	i. whose primary purpose is to invest money provided by its securityholders,
	ii. that does not invest,
	A. for the purpose of exercising or seeking to exercise control of an issuer, other than an issuer that is a mutual fund or a non-redeemable investment fund, or
	B. for the purpose of being actively involved in the management of any issuer in which it invests, other than an issuer that is a mutual fund or a non-redeemable investment fund, and

	iii. that is not a mutual fund;

	19. “person” includes
	i. an individual,
	ii. a corporation,
	iii. a partnership, trust, fund and an association, syndicate, organization or other organized groups of persons, whether incorporated or not, and
	iv. an individual or other person in that person’s capacity as a trustee, executor, administrator or personal or other legal representative;

	20. “regulator” means, for the local jurisdiction, the Executive Director as defined under securities legislation of the local jurisdiction;
	21. “related liabilities” means
	i. liabilities incurred or assumed for the purpose of financing the acquisition or ownership of financial assets, or
	ii. liabilities that are secured by financial assets;

	22. “Schedule III bank” means an authorized foreign bank named in Schedule III of the Bank Act (Canada);
	23. “spouse” means, an individual who,
	i. is married to another individual and is not living separate and apart within the meaning of the Divorce Act (Canada), from the other individual,
	ii. is living with another individual in a marriage-like relationship, including a marriage-like relationship between individuals of the same gender, or
	iii. in Alberta, is an individual referred to in paragraph (i) or (ii) above, or is an adult interdependent partner within the meaning of the Adult Interdependent Relationships Act (Alberta); and

	24. “subsidiary” means an issuer that is controlled directly or indirectly by another issuer and includes a subsidiary of that subsidiary.

	1. a person whose
	i. net assets, alone or with a spouse, in the case of an individual, exceed $400,000,
	ii. net income before taxes exceeded $75,000 in each of the 2 most recent calendar years and who reasonably expects to exceed that income level in the current calendar year, or
	iii. net income before taxes, alone or with a spouse, in the case of an individual, exceeded $125,000 in each of the 2 most recent calendar years and who reasonably expects to exceed that income level in the current calendar year,

	2. a person of which a majority of the voting securities are beneficially owned by eligible investors or a majority of the directors are eligible investors,
	3. a general partnership of which all of the partners are eligible investors,
	4. a limited partnership of which the majority of the general partners are eligible investors,
	5. a trust or estate in which all of the beneficiaries or a majority of the trustees or executors are eligible investors,
	6. an accredited investor,
	7. a person described in Exhibit 7 (family, friends and business associates); or
	8. person that has obtained advice regarding the suitability of the investment and, if the person is resident in a jurisdiction of Canada, that advice has been obtained from an eligibility adviser.
	i)
	except in Ontario, a Canadian financial institution, or a Schedule III bank;
	ii)
	in Ontario, a financial institution described in Section 73.3(1) of the Securities Act (Ontario) as described below;
	the Business Development Bank of Canada incorporated under the Business Development Bank of Canada Act (Canada);
	a subsidiary of any person referred to in paragraphs (a) or (b), if the person owns all of the voting securities of the subsidiary, except the voting securities required by law to be owned by directors of that subsidiary;
	i)
	except in Ontario, a person registered under the securities legislation of a jurisdiction of Canada as an adviser or dealer;
	ii)
	in Ontario, a person or company registered under the securities legislation of a province or territory in Canada as an adviser or dealer, except as otherwise prescribed by the regulations;
	an individual registered under the securities legislation of a jurisdiction of Canada as a representative of a person referred to in paragraph (d);
	(e.1))

	an individual formerly registered under the securities legislation of a jurisdiction of Canada, other than an individual formerly registered solely as an representative of a limited market dealer under one or both of the Securities Act (Ontario) or the Securities Act (Newfoundland and Labrador)
	the Government of Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada, or any crown corporation, agency or wholly owned entity of the Government of Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada;
	a municipality, public board or commission in Canada and a metropolitan community, school board, the Comité de gestion de la taxe scolaire de l'île de Montréal or an intermunicipal management board in Québec;
	any national, federal, state, provincial, territorial or municipal government of or in any foreign  jurisdiction, or any agency of that government;
	a pension fund that is regulated by the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions            (Canada) or a pension commission or similar regulatory authority of a jurisdiction of Canada;
	an individual who, either alone or with a spouse, beneficially owns financial assets having an aggregate realizable value that, before taxes, but net of any related liabilities, exceeds  $1,000,000; (note: see definition of "financial assets" below and complete Exhibit 6)
	(j.1)
	an individual who beneficially owns financial assets having an aggregate realizable value that, before taxes but net of any related liabilities, exceeds $5,000,000; (note: see definition of "financial assets" below and complete Exhibit 6)
	an individual whose net income before taxes exceeded $200,000 in each of the two most recent    calendar years or whose net income before taxes combined with that of a spouse exceeded $300,000 in each of the two most recent calendar years and who, in either case, reasonably expects to exceed that net income level in the current calendar year; (note: complete Exhibit 6)
	(Note: if individual accredit investors wish to purchase through wholly-owned holding companies or similar entities, such purchasing entities must qualify under section (t) below, which must be initialled.)
	an individual who, either alone or with a spouse, has net assets of at least $5,000,000; (note: complete Exhibit 6 and note that your "net assets" are your total assets (including real estate) minus your total debt)
	Note: If you initialled (t), then indicate the name and category of accredit investor (by reference to the applicable letter above) of each of the owners of interests (attach additional pages if more than three):
	Name
	Note: If you initialled (w), then indicate the name and category of accredited investor (by reference to the applicable letter above) of each of the following (attach additional pages if more than three trustees):
	Name
	Category of Accredited Investor
	Individual who established trust:
	Trustee
	Trustee
	Trustee
	(A) a "director", "executive officer" or "control person" (as such terms are defined in NI 45-106 and reproduced in Exhibit 5 hereto) of the Issuers, or of an affiliate of the Issuers; or
	(B) a spouse (as defined in Exhibit 5 here), parent, grandparent, brother, sister, child or grandchild of any person referred to in subclause (A) above; or
	(C) a parent, grandparent, brother, sister, child or grandchild of the spouse of any person referred to in subclause (A) above; or
	(D) a “close personal friend” (within the meaning thereof as set out in the Companion Policy 45-106CP to NI 45-106) of any person referred to in subclause (A) above and has described and certifies to the Issuers, the details of that relationship in the questionnaire below and, if the Investor is resident in Saskatchewan or is otherwise subject to the applicable securities laws of Saskatchewan, it has completed Exhibit 8 hereto; or
	(E) a “close business associate” (within the meaning thereof as set out in Companion Policy 45-106CP to NI 45-106) of any person referred to in subclause (A) above and has described and certifies to the Issuers, the details of that relationship in the questionnaire below and, if the Investor is resident in Saskatchewan or is otherwise subject to the applicable securities laws of Saskatchewan, it has completed Exhibit 8 hereto; or
	(F) a founder (as such term is defined in NI 45-106 and reproduced in Exhibit 5 hereto) of the Issuers or a spouse, parent, grandparent, brother, sister, child, grandchild, close personal friend or close business associate of a founder of the Issuers and has described and certifies to the Issuers, the details of that relationship in the questionnaire below in this Exhibit 7 and, if the Investor is resident in Saskatchewan or is otherwise subject to applicable securities laws of Saskatchewan and is relying on a “close business associate” or “close personal friend” relationship, the Investor has completed Exhibit 8 hereto; or
	(G) a parent, grandparent, brother, sister, child or grandchild of the spouse of a founder of the Issuers; or
	(H) a person or company of which a majority of the voting securities are beneficially owned by, or a majority of the directors are, persons referred to in subparagraphs (A) to (G) above and in the case of subparagraphs (D), (E) and (F), has described, and certifies to the Issuers, the details of that relationship in the questionnaire below and, if the Investor is resident in Saskatchewan or is otherwise subject to the applicable securities laws of Saskatchewan, it has completed Exhibit 8 hereto; or
	(I) a trust or estate of which all of the beneficiaries or a majority of the trustees are persons described in subparagraphs (A) to (G) above and in the case of subparagraphs (D) (E) and (F), has described, and certifies to the Issuers, the details of that relationship in the questionnaire below and, if the Investor is resident in Saskatchewan or is otherwise subject to the applicable securities laws of Saskatchewan, it has completed Exhibit 8 hereto.



